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STATE OF MARYLAND

EDWARD NERO
:*)t*

STATE'S MOTION TO COMPEL A WITNESS TO TESTIFT PURSUANT TO SECTION
9-123 OF TIIE COURTS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ARTICLE

Now comes the State of Maryland, by and through Marilyn J. Mosby, the State's Attorney

for Baltimore City, and pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Afticle

moves this Court to issue an order requiring Offrcer William Porter, D.O.B. 6126/19&9, in the

above-captioned case to give testimony which he is likely to refuse to give on the basis of his

privilege against self-incrimination. In support of this Motion, the State avers the following:

1. The State may call O{ficer William Porter to testifo as a witness in the above-captioned

criminal proceeding being held before this Court.

2. The State's Attomey for Baltimore City has determined that the testimony of Officer

William Porter in the above-captioned case may be necessary to the public interest.

3. O{ficer William Porter is likely to refuse to testiff in the above-captioned case on the

basis of his privilege against self-incrimination because he has previously stated that he

would refuse on those grounds to testiff in cases involving the same underlying set of

events as the present matter, namely the cases of State v. Caesar Goodson (# 115141032)

atd State v. Alicia Wile (# I15141036).

4. The State's Attorney for Baltimore City seeks to compel OfEcer William Porter to

testifu in the above-captioned case.

iNTHE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR
BALTIMORE CITY
CASENo. 115141033
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Tfhcreforc, the State r€qu€sts thd this Court isguc an order requiring OfEcer William

Porter in the abovecaflioned case to give testimony which he is likely to refusc to give on the

basis of his privilege agninst self-insriminatiotr.

Baltimorc, Ivlaryhnd 21202
(,143) 98+6000 (relephone)
(,{43) 98+6256 (frcsimile)
puil@swnnq.ory

(#s8990)
State's for Baltimore City
120 East
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

f heriy certiff that on this 14th day of January, 2016, a copy of the State's Motion to
Compel a Witness to Testifu Pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings
article was mailed and e-mailed to:

Joseph Murtha
Murtha, Psoras & Lanasa, LLC
1301 York Road, Suite 200
Lutherville, Maryland 2 1 093
(410) s83-6969
imurtha@mpllawyers.com
Attomey for Officer William Porter

Marc L. Zayon
Roland Walker & Marc L. Zayorq P.A.
201 N. Charles Street, Suite 1700
Baltimore, Maryland 2 l20l
(4ro) 727-3710
mza]'on@rralkerz avon, com
Attomey for Officer Edward Nero

Gary Proctor
Gary E. Proctor, LLC
8 E. Mulberry St.
Baltimore, MD 21202
410-444-t500
earyeproctor@Email.com
Attorney for Officer William Porter

Baltimore, Marylallrd 2 lzD
(,143) 984-6000 (telephone)
(443) 984-625 6 (facsimilQ
mail(dstattornev.ore
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STATE OF MARYLAND

EDWARDNERO
,t** t+*

ORDER

IN THE
CIRCUITCOURTFOR
BALTIMORE CITY
CASENo. 115141033

Having reviewed the State's Motion to Compel a Witness to Testify Pursuant to Section

9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article, in which the State's Attomey for Baltimore

City seeks to compel Officer William Porter, D.O.B. 6126/1989, to testifu in the above-captioned

criminal proceeding; finding that the State's Attomey for Baltimore City has determined that

OfEcer William Porter may be called by the State as a witness to testify in the above-captioned

criminal proceeding but that Offrcer William Porter is likely to refuse to testifu on the basis of

his privilege against self-incrimination; further finding that the State's Attorney for Baltimore

City has determined that the testimony of Officer William Porter may be necessary to the public

interest; and further finding that the State's Motion to Compel Officer William Porter's

testimony complies with the requirements of Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial

Proceedings Article, it is this _ day of

Baltimore City

2016, by the Circuit Court for

ORDERED that the State's Motion to Compel a Witness to Testifu Pursuant to Section

9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article be and hereby is GRANTED; and it is

further

Page I of z
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ORDERED that OfEcer William Porter, D.O.B. 6/26/1989, shall testifu as a witness for

the State in the above-captioned criminal proceeding and may not refuse to comply with this

Order on the basis ofhis privilege against self-incrimination; and it is further

ORDERED that no testimony of Officer William Porter, D.O.B. 612611989, compelled

pursuant to this Order and no information directly or indirectly derived from the testimony of

Officer William Porter compelled pusuant to this Order may be used against Offrcer William

Pofter in any criminal case, except in a prosecution for perjury obstruction of justice, or

otherwise failing to comply with this Order.

Judge
Circuit Court for Baltimore City

Page Z of Z
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STATEOFMARYLAND

EDWARDNERO
+t*

STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT EDWARD NERO'S OPPOSITION TO THE
STATE'S MOTION TO COMPEL A WITNESS TO TESTItr"Y PIJRSUANT TO

SECTION 9-123 OF THE COURTS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS ARTICLE

Now comes the State of Maryland, by and through Marilyn J. Mosby, the State's

Attorney for Baltimore City; Michael Schatzow, Chief Deputy State's Attomey for Baltimore

City; Janice L. Bledsoe, Deputy State's Attorney for Baltimore City; and Matthew Pillion,

Assistant State's Attomey for Baltimore City; and responds herein to Defendant Edward Nero's

Opposition to the State's Motion to Compel a Witness to Testiry Pursuant to Section 9- 123 of the

Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article.

1 . Backeround

On January 14,2016, the State filed in the above-captioned case a Motion to Compel a

Witness to Testiff Pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article. The

witness in question was Officer William Porter. The State's Motion, submitted and signed by

the State's Attorney herself, averred that the State may call Officer Porter to testiry against the

Defendant and set forth her determinations that Officer Porter's testimony may be necessary to

the public interest but that he is likely to refuse to testift on the basis ofhis privilege against self-

incrimination given his similar refusal to testifo in the related cases of .Srare i. Caesar Goodson

alnd State v. Alicia lIlhite.

On January 15,2016, the Defendant filed his Opposition to the State's Motion to

Compel. The Defendant attacks the State's Motion as lacking an explanation of 'hhy Officer

l"li." : ' , ^ .. rn
rN fYIE
CIRCUIT COURT FOR
BALTIMORECIry
CASENo. 115141033
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Porter is either necessary or material to the trial of Defendant Miller or how it is necassary to

serve the public interest." Def. Opp. at 1. The Defendant argues that Officer Porter's testimony

is, in fact, not Decessry to the public interest based on his assessment ofthe State's reasons for

filing the Motion and his view of the Motion's effect on both his and Officer Porter's

constitutional rights. Def. Opp. at 2-3. As such, he urges the Court to deny the Motion.

2. The Defendant Lacks Standing to Obiect that it is not Necessarv to the Public Interest to

Compel Ofhcer Porter to Testify as a Witness

The Defendant's Opposition should pose no barier to this Court's granting the State's

Motion to Compel because, in short, the Defendant lacks standing to object that it is not

necessary to the public interest to compel Officer Porter to testifu as a witness. Indeed, nowhere

in CJP $ 9-123's provisions does there even exist any right for the subject of the criminal

prosecution----or the witness to be compelled-to file a responsive pleading or otherwise be

heard to object to the merits of the State's Motion to Compel. Instead, the statute sets forth the

following as the only prerequisites to a court order compelling testimony:

(c) Order requiring testimony

(1) If an individual has been, or may be, called to testifu or provide other
information in a criminal prosecution or a proceeding before a grand jury of the
State, the court in which the proceeding is or may be held shall issue, on the
request of the prosecutor made in accordance with subsection (d) of this section,
an order requiring the individual to give testimony or provide other information
which the individual has refused to give or provide on the basis of the individual's
privilege against self-incrimination.

(2) The order shall have the effect provided under subsection (b) of this section.

CJP $ 9-123(c) (emphasis added). Subsection (d) outlines what such a prosecutorial request

should entail:
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(d) Prerequisites for order. - If a prosecutor seeks to compel an individual to
testiff or provide other informatiorl the prosecutor shall request, by written
motion, the court to issue an order under subsection (c) of this section when the
prosecutor determines that:

(1) The testimony or other information from the individual may be necessary to
the public interest; and

(2) The individual has refused or is likely to refuse to testi$ or provide other
information on the basis of the individual's privilege against seltincrimination.

CJP $ 9-123(d). Absent from this subsection is any requirernent that the State even file the

Motion with the Clerk, much less does the statute require that the State explain in any additional

detail its determination to seek immunity and then permit the defendant or the witness to argue

against the grant of immunity. So long as the State's immunity request complies with the

pleading requirements under subsection (d), the Cotrt "shall issue" an immunity order. The

immunity statute does not grant a defendant or a witness standing to object, nor does the statute

permit the Court to consider such objections, even if made.

While Maryland's appellate courts have yet to construe CJP $ 9-123 on the question of

standing to object, the federal courts have had occasion to consider standing under the federal

immunity statutes-which are viitually identical to Maryland's $ 9-123-and have viewed thern

as deliberately denlng standing to a defendant or witness to object to a prosecutor's immunity

decision and as limiting judicial review to veriffing prosecutorial compliance with the statute's

formal prerequisiles. \n United States v. Herman,589 F.2d 1191, 1200-01 (3d Cir. 1978), the

United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit rejected the notion that a defendant had

standing to seek judicial review ofthe government's decision about whether it is in the "public

interest" to seek compelled testimony under a grant of immunity authorized in 18 U.S.C. $$

6002-6004. The Court considered that such review would not only involve an impermissible
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intrusion into prosecutorial discretion in violation of separation of powers principles but that

allowing review ofsuch objections would be contrary to the purpose of immunity statutes:

The legislative history of the immunity statutes also shows no sign ofa purpose to
benefit defendants. The narrow purpose of the use immunity provisions was
twofold: to eliminate those federal immunity statutes that required conferral of
transactional rather than use immunity and to reduce the number and complexity
of immunity statutes. The shift to use immunity was intended to take advantage of
the more favorable view of use immunity expressed by the Suprane Court in
Murphy v. Waterfront Commission,3T8 U.S. 52, 84 S. Ct. 1594, 12L.Ed,.2d 678
(1964). See Kastigar v. United States, 406 U.S. 441,455-59,92 S. Ct. 1653,32
L. Ed. 2d 212 (1972). The clear intent of the shift to use immunity was to make it
less costly for the United States Attomey to grant immunity, by allowing for fuller
prosecution of both the defendant and the immunized witness. In broader
perspective, it is apparent that the immunity statute was part of a massive program
of legislation whose central purposg as its opponents recognized, was to
strengthen the hand of the prosecution and to weaken that of the criminal
defendant, in many cases to the full extent permitted by the protections of the Bill
ofRights.

Id. at 1202.

The Third Circuit also drew upon the reasoning of the Supreme Court's construction ofa

predecessor immunity statute in Ullmann v. United States, 350 U.S. 422 (1956). There the

Supreme Court considered the question of whether a witness could properly request a judge to

deny an immunity application that otherwise comported with the statutory pleading prerequisites,

which at the time required an averment that 'tn the judgnent of a United States Attomey, the

testimony of [the] witness . . . is necessary to the public interest" and also required that the

United States Attorney obtain "the approval of the Attomey General- before making an

application to the court. Id. at 423-424. The Govemment argued 'that the court has no

discretion to determine whether the public interest would best be served by exchanging

immunity from prosecution for testimony [and] that its only function is to order a witness to

testifu if it determines that the case is within the framework of the statute." Id. at 431. The

E. 71



Supreme Court agreed that "[a] fair reading of [the immunity stahrte] does not indicate that the

district judge has any discretion to deny the order on the ground that the public interest does not

warrant it"; rather, the court's "duty under [the statute] is only to ascertain whether the statutory

requirements are complied with by . . . the United States Attomey and the Attomey General . . .

." Id. at 432-34.

The reasoning of the Suprerne Court and the Third Circuit holds true for CJP $ 9-i23.

Certainly nothing within CJP $ 9-123's provisions indicates that it was intended in any way to

confer any rights on a defendant. The statute is a prosecutorial tool granted by the legislature

requiring only a few prerequisites to its use. Here, the State's Motion to Compel unquestionably

complied with $ 9-123(d). The Motion was submitted in writing to the Court and signed by the

State's Attomey herself, setting forth her averred determinations that Officer Porter's testimony

may be necessary to the public interest but that he is likely to testify based on his prior refusal to

do so in related cases. The Court needs no more before issuing its Order and, indeed, is

statutorily required to issue the Order upon finding those facts properly presented. As such, the

Defendant's Opposition-which does not dispute that the State has met the statutory pleading

requirements-raises no cognizable objection and should not be considered by this Court.

Wherefore, the State requests that this Court grant the State's Motion to Compel a

Witness to Testifu Pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article

notwithstanding the Defendant's Opposition thereto.
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on this 20th day of January, 2016, a copy of the State's Response to

Defendant Edward Nero's Opposition to the State's Motion to Compel a Witness to Testiff

Pursuant to Section 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article was mailed and e-

mailed to:

MarcL.Zayon
Roland Walker & Marc L. Zayon, P.A.
201 N. Charles Street, Suite 1700
Baltimore, Maryland 21 201
(410) 727-3710
mzayon@sralkerz avon. com

Respectfi.rlly submitted,

Attorney for Officer Edward Nero

Marilyn J. Mosby

120 East Baltimore Street
The SunTrust Bank Building
Baltimore, Marylafi 2 I 202
(443) 984- 6012 (telephone)
(443) 984-6256 (facsimile)
ible{bactfu lla t t o r n e v. o r g

J /Bledsoe (#68776)
-ty 

State's Attomey
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State
January 20,

PROCEEDINGS

(On the record - O2tO6t52 p.m. )

THE CLERK: All rise. The Circui.t Court For

Baltimore City, Part 3L, will start the morning session.

The Honorable Barry G. Williams presiding.
THE COURT: The afternoon session, too.
THE CLERK: Say it again?

THE COURT: Maybe the afternoon session, too.
Everyone can be seated.

Y,>u said mornlng.

THE CLERK: Oh, I did? Okay.

THE COLIRT: Cal] the case, please.

MR. SCHATZOW: Good afternoon, Your Honor. CaIl
the case of State versus Alrcia g!,hite, Number 115141036.

Present on behalf of the State i.s myself, Mr-chae1

Schatzow, Deputy State's Attorney Janice Bledsoe and

Assistant Staters Attorney Matthew Pillron and John

Butler.
THE COURT: Good afternoon.
MR. SCHATZOW: Good af ternoon, Yr-,ur Honor .

MR. PILLION: Good afternoon.
MR. BATES: (;ood afternoon, Your Honor. My name

rs Ivan Bates. I represent Sergeant Alrcia lihite
standrng to the left of me at the trial table.

THE COURT: Go,)d af terno,)n. And you're here,
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January 20,

v. Nero, Miller,
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too, so say --
MR. MURTHA: Good afEernoon, Your Honor.

Murtha on behalf of Officer Porter.
Joseph

THE COURT: AJ.I right. Good afternoon to all.
Mr. Bates filed a moElon Eo strike the court's order

compelling Officer Porter's testimony during Alici.a
Whiters trial. Court has had an opportunity to review

it. I've seen the response from the Defense.

Mr. Bates, do you want to be heard at all, sir?
MR. BATES: Yes, I do, Yor:r Honor. First of

aII, Your Honor, I would like to st.ate that I do feel
that we do have standing. Do feel at this moment i.n time

thls case is a Little different in the sense that the

SEate h,ishes to introduce evidence that we feel i.s not

admissible in the trial.
One of the rssues we look at, Your Honor, with

lhi-s order, i-t states that under subsection D, Your

Honor, D-L, the testrmony or other rnformatrorr from an

individual may be necessary to the public interest.
Well, Your Honor, one of the things we have to do --
hefore we were jrrdges, prosecutor or defense atlorneys we

were lawyers, brand new lawyers. In lcokrng it the
preamble, whal-- i l-- states is l'-hat a lawyer shall arC the

Iegal professron :.n pursulng these oblectrves and should

trelp ttre bar regulate itself in the public interest.
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What is important, Your Honor, is to sit down

and look at the rules of professional candor, 3.3.
THE COURT: Wel1, actually, Mr. Bates, h,hat I'm

more concerned about Is whether or noE. when the Goodson

matter was called, and Mr. Murtha made it clear to thrs
Court that hrs client wasn't going to testify and that he

made it c1ear, because there was a subpoena 1n your case

a1so, that he wasn't gor.ng to testify in your case afso,
whether it was appropriate for me to allow basically the
State and Mr. Murtha to make the same arguments that he

made rn Goodson which were approprrate t,) make, to make

them in your case. I L'el:.eve that it was appropriate,
but t"rhat I wrll ackrrowledge that it h,as lnappropriate for
me not to allow you to be there. So for that, I will
apologi ze.

MR. BATES: Yes, s:.r.
THE COURT: So --
MR. BATES: But Your Honor, we do feel that iE.rs

inappropriate -- we do feel that vre have stand:.ng to make

the argumenl--s, some of whrch that Mr. Murtha may have

made to the Court, Your Honor.

THE COUPT: Well, what clo you mean you have

standing to make r-he -- what do you -- I don't urrdersiand

what you're sayrng.

MR. BATES: WeII, we feel that. because the Sr-ate
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State
January 20,

wishes to call Officer Porter, that as an officer of the

court, when we sit down and we see something Ehat we view

as unethical in terms of the rules of professional

candor, that we must bring those issues to the Court.

However, these issues directly affect my cl:.ent. !{hen

you sit ,lc,wn and look, the rules are clear. You

cannot -- in reference to false evidence, when evidence

that a lawyer knows t.o be false is provided by a person

who i.s not the client, the lawyer must refuse to offer i!
regardless of the client's wishes. Here --

THE COUP.T: So basically, Mr. Bates, what I
understand rs you're saying --

(Loud nor se )

THE COIIRT: That's my cane fallrng. Don't worry

about rt. I'11 probably blame that on you, too, thot,lgh.

MR. BATES: That's fine. Irm used to It.
THE COURT: I know you are. What you're sayrrrg

is r-hat the State is offering rnformation and wouL,l be

offering informatron rn your case that they can't offer.
Is lhat effectively what you're saying?

MR. BATES: That- is effectively, Your Honor.

lrrrCer the proressronal rules --
THE COURT: But isn't- that- a trlal tssue? And

that. wculd be for the Court to make a determinati.on

whether rt's approprrate to allow the evidence ln or n,)t,

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-4 66-2033 410-494-7015
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State
January 20,

noE for you, as a lawyer -- you're talking about when we

sEarted out -- as a lawyer tooking aE the canons of
ethics? Isn't that more appropriate?

MR. BATES: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. BATES: Irlell, because what it states under

the 9-123 that it must be for the public interest. And

one of the problems we have wtth the public interest, the

State has already called Officer Porter a liar. Based on

that, it's important that the jud1c1al system is not seen

as caving in to the State's wishes in which they try to

man:,pulate the system. What we have --
THE COURT: I'11 take lhat as a lab at me but gu't

ahead. Here's what I'm going to say. The Court granted

the motion from the State in the Go,ldsc,n matter based on

the arguments that were presented, and I granted the

mocr.on in the lirhite matr-er based on the arguments that
were presented on that day. Goodsorr was here because it
was pretriaL motions. You were not here, as I noted,

because didn't expeL't, candrdly speaking, the C,)urt of
Spe,:ial Appeals to take this case in the manner in which

they drd. They dr,1 . Ottrerwise, you wc,uld have had an

c,pportunity aL your trial to make the arguments that you

warrted to make wherever I believed rt would be

apprc,priate to do so.
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Under the circumstances as presented here,

again, I've already apologized to you for not allowing
you lo be at the hearrng, but I do not believe that
necessarily you had a right to make any arguments at all.
But also, I do not believe Ehat rt would be appropriate
to grant your motion given the clrcumstances that we find
ourselves in where the Court of Special Appeals has

accepted the Goodson matter, and they're going to have

hearings in March and that I do believe that the factual
scenario and the legal issues presented in the white case

are eztremely similar. So for those reasons, I'm gorng

to deny your mot ion.
And rf at the approprlate time, when you are

before me for a trial, Irm going to kind of guess that
you're gor.ng to have a number of arguments that you want

to make. Am I right j.n that?
MR. BATES

THE COURT

for this moment --
MR. BATES

THE COURT

MR. BATES

THE COIJRT

faIls.
MR. BATES

Yes, Yc,ur Hc,nor .

I kind of figured that. Okay. So

I do have one --
Every time you EaIk --
That was my fault.
-- every time you talk that thirrg

Vle I l, that's because --
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THE COURT: EverY single time.

MR. BATES: -- the cane is telling you that
you're wrong on che ruling, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Is that what the cane is telling me?

MR. BATES: So it. falls because you're wrong.

THE COURT: okay. I'Il accePt that.
MR. BATES: Respectfully. Respectfully.
THE COURT: And you know I hate when lawyer say

"respectfully" because it means the exact opposite.

MR. BATES: I know. I know.

THE COURT: The exact opposite. So your motion

rs denred.

MR. BATES: Yes, sr-r. I do have one question.

I guess we'11 deal with scheduling at a later ti-me

period, correct?

e:icu sed ?

Absolutely.
Thank you, Your Honor. May I be

You don't want to strck around?

I'm going to strck around but just

excused from the trial table.
THE C()LIRT: You can move on. Thank you.

MR, BATES: Thank you.

THE COURT: AII rrght. 'And as long as we're

stiLl on lhis parl--ru'ular tssue, I do n,lte that,

THE COURT

MR. BATES

THE COURT

MR. BATES
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Mr. Murtha, you filed a request for injunction pending

appeal in the Whiie case. Clearly, the matter is already

before the Court of Specral Appeals in the Goodson

matter. Based on the Court's rultngs, I do believe that
under the circumstances rt would be appropriate for me to

grant your request. I note there's no objection from the

State. So the r.njunctron in the Alj.cia White matter,

that wi 1l be granted.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: AIl right. You can call Ehe other
three now.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, just with regard to

that, just so I -- you're staying not lust your order rn
the case, but you're staying the trial as well?

THE COURT: 9{e11, given the fact that the Court

of Special Appeals --
MR. SCHATZOW: Yes.

THE COURT: -- krnd of told me that they wanted

that. in the Goo.Cson mat ter -- oh, sit /down.

MR. BATES: Your Honor, just for the recor.C, I
want 1t to be clear that we obie!-t on behalf of Alrcia
White. We rnvoke our speedy trral ri,lhts.

THE COURT: How ab,lut I assume that you oblect

to everythrn.j t ,lol

MR. BATES: That woul,l L'e perfect, Your Honor.
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THE COURT: There we go. Appreciate that, A11

r].ght.
MR. SCHATZOW: Your Hon,)r, do you want me to

call all three of the other cases now at once?

THE COURT: I dO. UM-hUM.

MR. SCHATZOW: Very well. Your Honor, then

State would call the following three cases: StaEe versus

Mi1ler, Number 115141034, State versus Nero, Number

115141033, and State versus Rice, Number 115141035.

Again, Your Honor, on behalf of the State, Michael

Schatzow, Deputy State's Attorney Janice Bledsoe ancl

Assrstant Staters Attorneys Matthew Prllron and John

Butler.
THE COURT: You may as well speak first.
MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor. Good

af r-ernoon again, Your Honor. Joseph Murtha on behalf of
0rlrlliam Porter. I wrl] note thaE Officer Porter ts not

here with r-he Court's permrssron. He has warved his
appearance consistent w1th what he has done in the past

when permitted r-o do so, Your Honor.

MS. FLYNN: Good afr-ernoon, Your Honor.

Carherrne Flynn and Brandon Mea,l here on behalf of
Offrcer Miller who's standing to my right.

MR. ZAYON: Tour Honor, good afternoon. For the

record, Marc Zayon and Allison Levine present on behalf

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCP.IPTION SERVICE
410-4 66-2033 410-494-7015

v. Nero, Miller,
2016 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIAI,IS

1

?

1

4

q

6

'7

I
9

10

11

L2

13

L4

L5

16

t7

18

t9
20

2L

:2
23

24

25

E. 86



13

State
January 20,

of Officer Edward Nero.

MR. BELSKY: Good afternoon, Your Honor.

Michael Belsky and Chaz BaII on behalf of Lieutenant Rice

who's present and standing behrnd me.

THE COURT: All right. llle are here because --
rf you brant to just sit down, however you lrant to set up

doesn't really matter to me. We are here because the

State has filed a request to compel Officer Porter's
testimony r-n the trlals of Officer Miller, Nero and Rice.

Mr. Murtha, I'11 hear from you.

MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor. Your Honor,

this is unlike the two other cases which the Court has

actually heard. In the Goodson matter, the White matter,

those two individuals that were go:.ng to trial,
previously the State had clearly iderrtified that they

anticipated that Offlcer PorEer would be a material
witness :.n both of lhose cases and had put us on advance

notice.
And for the purpose of the record, there has

been an opposltron to the motion to compel thal-- has been

filed wit-h the Court. I would ad,>pt and incorporate by

reference that ,1,),rument. There is an attachment. That

ar-tachment is the moLLon to quash the subpoena that
has -- that was serve,l rn both the White and Goodson

cases. I would rrote that no subpoena has k'een served in
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regard to officer Miller, Officer Nero and Lieutenant

Rice's cases, but the arguments were incorporaEed by

reference for the purpose of the record and once --
THE COURT: Mr. Murtha, I'm going to make your

3ob a little brt easier at the moment. Can you proffer
to the Court what your client's testimony would be or
position would be as far as testifying in the cases of
Mi1ler, Nero and Rice?

MR. MURTHA: If he would be called to the

wLtness stand right now, he would rndicate to the Court

that he would rnvoke his Fifth Amendment privilege.
THE COURT: Thank you. You may be seate.C.

right now.

MR. MLIRTHA: May I be heard at all, Your Honor?

THE COURT: You will at some point, but noE

MR. MURTHA: Okay.

THE COLIRT: State?

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, ].n lIght of that-, we

renew our motron to compel . The motion sets forth in the

words of the statute what the two prerequlsites, thal is,
that the state's Attorney for Baltimore clty has

determrned E.hat the testimony of officer Porter rnay be

necessary to the publrc l-nterest. And we also assert

that the State's AEtorney determrned that Officer Porter

rs lrkely to refuse to testify, which his counsel has

E. 88



15
SEate

January 20,
v. Nero, Miller,

2016 BEFORE JUDGE
Rice, White

BARRY G. WILLIAMS

L

2

3

4

J

b

7

8

9

10

11

t2

13

t4

15

16

L'7

l8
19

20

2L

2:
.t.f

24

:5

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-466-2033 410-494-7015

lust represented.
The statutory prereguisites having been met,

Your Honor, we believe that the Court should grant the

immunity orders. The issues rarsed by Mr. Porter are

lssues that A, the CourE of Special Appeals is looking
at, and B, are issues that are for the Kastigar hearin,;,
not for this stage of the proceedings.

And with regard to the -- I don't kno!, if you

want to hear me yet on thi.s, and if you don't, I'm sure

you'11 tell me. But with regard to the Defendants'

motlons, our -- the Staters position i.s they have no

stand:,ng to make these arguments. Their concerns, as you

menti.oned, are trial concerns which are co be raised at
trial. They have no standing --

THE COURT: WeIl, as I mentioned for Mr. Bates I

argument --

others,

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes.

THE COURT: -- I didn't say anythrng about the

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes. But I thlnk logrcally the

same thin,l ].s true, Your Honor, when the State -- when

the State wishes to have a witness immuni red, obviot:sly
the Court -- only the Court has the authorrty to do i!,
the State make! the molion lc'the Court but we -- but r,n

analogous sr.tuatr.ons, there's no room for the Defense,
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If vre're conducting a grand jury investigation, and we

want to immunize a grand lury wieness, we don't have to
consul! hrith a putat1ve defendant about It.

right?
THE COURT: We have actual Defendants here,

MR. SCHATZOII: We do have actual Defendants.

You're right, Your Honor. But if you look at the Herman

case, which we cited in the oppositions that we filed
this morni.ng to the Defendants', the three Defendants'

moti,)ns, Third Ci-rcuit relying on an old Supreme Court

case whi.ch was deciderd before there was use and

derrvalive use immunj-ty but based r.rn transactj.onal
rmmunity, b,)th the Supreme Court and the Third Circuit
came to the same posltion, thac the immunity statute was

not designed to confer rights upon defendants. Their

rights are trr.al rr,ghts. Therr rights are not to
interfere wrth the State's abtlrty to ma):e reasoned

judgments about what may ,)r may not be necessary an,l what

may or may not be in the publrc lnterest rn terms of
making those, you know --

THE COURT: WelI, can you proffer to the Court

what's the reas!-rned ;udgment tor Porter's testlmony in
Of f i-cer Miller's ,--asc arrd Offlcer Nero's case and Officer
Rrce's r-'ase?

MR. SCHATzo!{: Yes, Yc,ur Honor, I can, although

E. 90



t1
State

January 20,

just -- if I might for the record say, Your Honor, I'm
going to do that. I'm going to do it willingly but as --
just for the record, as a matter of Law, we don't think
1t's neu-essary once the Stateis Attorney has made that
determination. But I'm going to proffer it.

THE COURT: WeII, 1et me ask you something. If
the State's Attorney makes the determination, but the
Court finds ttrat it's a ruse and subterfuge, what would

the Court have to do at that point in time?

MR. SCHATZOW: Wel1, Your Honor, that's arr

interesr-ing guestion. And I certainly don't want to
suggest that the court 1s wlthout power to deal wrth

ruses arrd subterfuges. That's not what we have here.

But rt Is true that both the Supreme Court of the United

States and the Third Ci.rcuit have said that as long --
that that rs a decision that's entrusted to the State's
Attorney and that the -- that it would be a violation of
lhe separation of powers to rnterfere wit.h that
determrnatron.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: So I'm not sayr.ng that, Your

Hon()r, to insult yc,u ,rr L,ecause I'm not gGrng t.,, answer

your quest1an --
THE COURT: And you're saying it respectfully,

I'm sure I ust --
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MR. SCHATZOW: I'm not going to use that word.

I was going to use that but --
THE COURT: Everyone uses 1t.
MR. SCHATZOW: I'11 lust say it t"rith a great

deal of respect. And --
THE COURT: Thanks.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- so lhatrs our legal position,
Your Honor.

BUE to answer your question, to anslrer your

questlon, there are two areas --
THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- In whrch this testimony

becomes signifrcant and in t-he publrc interest. The

first is the failure to seatbelt at the second stop. And

r^rhat Mr. Porter has to say about that in his papers

because he was aware, Your Honor, just, you know, that
we --

THE COURT: Are you talking about his statemenl--

or hrs trral testinrony?

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes. His staLement beu-ause his

trral testimony --
THE COLIRT: OLay .

MR. SCHATZOW: -- no. There was no testimony

about it. But ].t is in the transcriF,t that we used as a

demonstrative aid dr,rrrng the trral of Mr. Porter. At
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both pages 39 and page 71, he indicates that the --
Mr. Gray, Ehe decedent --

THE COURT: And ?I?

MR. SCHATZOW: And 71, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: It's very clear on 39. Seventy-

one is a little broader, but it's clear on context.
THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: Pages 39 and 71 says he was not

seatbelted.
THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. SCHATZOW: The --
THE COURT: WeIl, doesn't page 40 say, "But

agarn, I drdn't watch the entire ordeaI. "?

MR. SCHATZOW: Thatts what he says then and we

also -- of course, we also have the video where he's
standing there as hers put in the wagon, and LieuEenant

R.r-ce rs cr-.,hln9 out of the wagon so --
THE COURT: So basically what you're sayrng is

you're profferrng to the court that in the case of
offrcer Mrller, Nero and Rice, you need Porter to testrfy
that he was never seatbelted in?

MR. SCHATZOWT That's right, Your Hon,)r, because

they're all -- each of them -- each of thein are charged

wilh assaulr- and -- just give me one second. ReL-kless --
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excuse me, not assault. Take that back. Each of the
three are charged with recklessness -- with reckless
en,langerment and mlsconduct for the farlure to seatbelt
at that. stop. And irr addition, Lieutenant, Rice is
charged wlth manslaughter and assault which we contend

sEem from the failure to seatbelt at the second stop. So

that's one of the two bases, Your Honor, is the failure
to seaEbelt at the second sEop.

THE COURT: So what's the secc,nd one?

MR. SCHATZOW: The second one is the place where

l-he injury occurred.
THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: As I'm sure you recall, there
was -- the SEaters position, whrch has been relied on by

both its experts and the State in proving its case, is
that the rnjury to Mr. Gray that proved fatal took place

between the second stop and the fourth stop. And the
Defense has contended that the inlury too\ plau'e between

the fifth stop and the sixth stop and that is -- lhe
State does not contend that thatis --

THE COURT : [tle 11 , I 'm sor ry . E:{cuse me orre

seconcl . You sard that you nee,1 Of f r,:er Porter's
testimony based on hrs stat-ement on pages 39 and 71?

MR. SCHATZOVI: Yes, Your llonor.
THE COURT: Okay. Co ahead.
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MR. ScHATzOw: Excuse me. So in terms of the --
and that was related to the second stop, failure to
seatbelt, Your Honor -

THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. SCHATZOW: In terms of the place of inlury,
Officer --

THE COURT: tlell, I'm -- I got to back up. I'm

sorry. You're talking about page 71, but rf you look at
page 70, the question has to do with what Goodson drd.

So how does that have any relevance to Nero, MilLer and

Rice for page 70 and ?1?

MR. SCHATZOVI: My recollectlon, Your Honor, and

I don't trave rt Ln front of me, my recollectLon was

that --
THE COURT: I do.

MR. SCHATZO&I: I know you do. My recollection
was that irr t.he u-ont€yt of ?0 and 71, theyr re talkrng
aLrout the totalily, ncrt- just at the fourth stop, blrt the

totality --
THE COURT: Page ?0, lrne 10, Detective

Anderson, "So what -- what was Goodson dorng? I tnean,

,Crd he seaLbel t hrm rrr?"

Offrcer Porter, "We11, he -- I -- I -- I guess
' he ,lidn ' t sea Lbelt hr-m af ter I lef t . No . "

Agaln, Anderson, "So he -- so he wasntt
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seatbelted in? Okay. "
Detective TeaI, "Do you own a taser?"

Officer Porter, "No. I don't have one."

And so Detective Anderson again, down at

line LL, "Al1 rrght. So at no time did you see him

seatbelted in?"

"No. RIght." Any further questlon, Detective

An,lerson. That's what's there.
MR. SCHATZOI{: Yes, Your Honor. "So at no time

drd you see him seatbelted rn?" Your Honor. When I was

referring to, rt was broader in contei:t than lust r-he

second stop. He's sayrng at no time on that day --
thrs -- page 71 r.s near the very end of the interview, as

I recall. And so he's summing -- Detective Anderson j-n

his questlon is summing up on an overall basis what rs

set forth in terms of --
THE COURT: llell, rs Detectlve Anderson goLng to

test-iiy to that, that he was summing up?

MR. SCHATZOW: I can't tell you, Y'-,ur Honor,

r-hat I've asked him thst specific questton. All I can

tell yor.r is we -- that's how we read the transcrlpt --
THE COUFT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- In addition t,.) what ' s ,)n

page 39 whrch i.s specific l--o the seL-ond stop.

THE COURT: And page 40.
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MR. SCHATZOW: Yeah. This continues on.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: Yes.

THE COURT: Go ahead.

MR. SCHATZOW: Okay. So that's one discrete
area. And the second area, Your Honor, the second

discrete area invoLves the place of i.njury.
THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: And there is a dispute, as you're
well aware, E.hat -- between the St.ace, which contends

that the fatal i-n juries took place between the second

stop and the fourth stop, and the Defense, which contends

that the injuries tool: place between the fifth sEop and

the sizth stop. And part of what the State relres on and

part of what the State's experts rely on are Offrcer
Porter's descriptron of what occurred at the fourth
stop --

THE COURT: And you're tal):rng about in his
statement or l- rr the tr1al testimony?

MR. SCHATZOW: In both.
THE COURT: O}:ay.

M9.. S'--HATZOW: In L'olh. In both. And so we

,1,:'n't contend, Your Honor, that 1t rs legalIy ,Jrspositive
of every si.ngle charge against each of Mr. -- Messrs.

M:.ller, Nero and Rrce. But we do think it's lmportant,

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-466-2033 410-494-7015

v. Nero, Miller,
2OL6 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIAMS

1

2

3

4

5

6

1

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

L'7

L8

19

20

2L

l:
)1

24

25

E. 97



24

StaEe
January 20,

when Ehere's a dispute like that, it's important to the
jury when they start weighing how they're going to decide

the case. And --
THE COURT: !{e11, didn't the dispute start when

he gave hIs statement? What I'm obviously concerned h,ith

is you made it very clear to this Court when this case

st.arted back when I got i.nvolved, sometime in June, what

your order was going to be and why. You made it clear
that you needed Offrcer Porter's testimony for Gc,odson

and for 9lhite. whether the Court agreed with that or not

was lrrelevant. Doesn't matter but you made that clear.
At no point at all did you ever make it clear to me --
you may have talked to the Defense attorneys, I don't
know -- but you never made 1t clear !o the court that
there would be a reason for Offrcer Porter to effectively
testrfy rn every single case.

So it's either the issue of you didn't know,

and you didn't frgure it out until afcer the trIal,
although you had his statement, or for some other reason.

Se'' I don't understand so explain.
MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, what you just sard is

a,:curate. 9{e didn't take that posr-tlon. But we trled te
Learrr somethrng from our experlence in tryj,ng Mr. Porter,
and we trre,l !o learn son,et-hir,g abouc what was ef f ect ive
in what we did, what was effectrve in what the Defense
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did, what we tried to read into what the jury did. And

we think we have the ri.ght to change our mind, Your

Honor. And we acknowledge werre --
THE COURT: Sure.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- changing our m:.nd.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: Nobody's trying to mislead you,

and we haven't tried to mrslead you, and we're not
misleading you no!r. You are absolutely right rn what you

described as the order that we presented. It's still- the

order that we want -- would lrke to try the cases in
ultimately. That would be a question for you and -- but

the --
THE COURT: More so the Court of Special

Appeals, but we'11 see about that, too.
MR. SCHATZOW: And the Court of Special Appeals.

But v're do thrnk, havrng watched the case play out, that
it's goirrg to become important partrcrrlarly because in
the case of the -- of Miller, llero End Rrce, If the lury
believes and concludes that the injury frappened betweerr

stops two and four, I think they look at their
culpaL'rl:.ty rn a much drfferent way than rf they believe
the injury happened between five and six. It may noL be

legally'd1spositlve, bdt I thrnk rt's very important for
the jury. And I think thatrs somethr.ng that got hammered
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home to us as we Iooked back on our experience in the

Porter case and watched the trial unfold and that t s

the -- those are the twc, reasons, Your Honor. Itis as

simple as that is, or whether it's complicated or simple,

that's brhat the reasons are.
THE COURT: Al1 right. So as far as the

seatbeltrng, you say that you need Officer Porter's
testimony. At what stop you're talking about?

MR. SCHATZOW: Two.

THE COURT: Stop two. That's where the vldeo

is, cor recE ?

MR. SCHATZOW: Correct, Your Honor. That t'ras

the -- yeah, the video with him being -- you know, where

they show Mr, Gray on hrs knees and the 1eg charns on him

and puttlng hi.m in the van.

THE COURT: So ]-f I understand what you're

talking about there, the video showed Officer Porter
closer to the van. Officer Porter rnd:.cate,l that he

wasn't close to the van and couldn't see anythi.ng. So

what rs r.t that you need hrm to say?

MR. SCHATZOW: That- he did not -- ei:actly what

he says ln hrs statement-. He did nct see hirn seatbeLLed

in ttrat van, and we can show where he was at the tlme and

what hr! opp..rrtunrty t r., observe was artd he can -- and

tre'Il say, we assume, if he test].fres consistently w].th
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his statement, thaE, he was not -- he did not see him

seatbelted.
THE COURT: So what you're saying is you believe

that the testimony that you're -- you're offering
immunity in the case of Nero, Miller and Rice for the
purpose of Mr. Porter to come rn and state that I never

saw them seatbelt him in; is that correct?
MR. SCHATZOW: At stop two.

THE COURT: At stop two.

MR. SCHATZO0,: Yes.

THE COURT: But then we know that if we go to
the ne:<t page of his statement, "But again, I didn't
wat-ch the entire ordeal." So my question to you is how

is that statement going to be admrssrble and relevant?
MB. SCHATZOV{: Well, I think it will be

admrssible and relevant because he says he drdn't see him

and the -- drdn't see him seatbelted, and the video wrll
show what his opportunity to c,Eserve was, when the
opportunrty began, when the opportuniLy ended. And that
will allow us to prove that he was noL seatE''elted :.n

the --
THE '--CrttRT: WeIl, leL nre stop ycu i-h€r€, How

does that prove thst grven that the vrdeo doesn't shc,w

rnsi.de the van, corr ect ?

MR. SCHATZOW: No. It doesn't show insrde the
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van. You're right, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. SCHATZOW: But what it shows is Lleutenant
Rice stepprng out of the van and Mr. Porter stepping back

to allow Lieutenant Rice out of the van, and there's no

evidence that anybody else ever went into the van. So if
he lrasn't seatbelted then at stop two, he was not

seatbelted at stop two.

THE COURT: WeI1, does the vr.deo show the entire
time from Mr. Gray be:.ng placed into the van and

Mr. Gray -- the van door closrng?
MR. SCHATZOW: I can't say that, Your Honor. If

you'11 recall, I thrnk there's some times when the vrdeo

is pointing down at the street. So I'm not going to say

that it proves it to a mathematical certarnty but --
THE COURT: Well, of course. And I don't need

you to do that. What. I'm trylng to frgure ou!, before I
make my ruling, is what it is that you want to get

L''ecause - -
MB. SCHATZOW: Right. But --

agree, the statute is relatively clear stating when the
proseL-utor determrnes that the testim,:,ny may be necessary

to the public r.nterest, the Court shall issue arr order
requrrrng the rndrvrdual give testimony. 'But I also note'
that common sense also Cictates looking at the Maryland
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Ru1es, Rule 401 which defines relevant evidence,

Rule 5-402 which talks about alI relevant evidence is
admissible, and thrngs that are not relevant are not

admissible, and Ehen the more important one, 5-403 makes

it clear that although relevanE evidence may be --
although relevant evidence may be excluded if its
probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger

of unfa:.r prejudice, confusion of the i-ssues, misleadrng

the jury or by considerations of undue de1ay. And I'm
sure that If I let the Defendants stand up, they're going

to talk abou! their speedy trial issues and other things.
So answer that f or me no!,r.

MR. SCHATZOW: Well, I -- In terms of speedy

trial, Your Honor, I --
THE COURT: Well, when I say answer that for me

DC,r,rr 1t really wasn't --
MB. SCHATZO[,f : Oh.

THE COURT: -- that part of ].t. Just sayrng why

should I allow it?
MR. SCHATZOW: Because we are making the

request. We are making it in good faith. I've e:<plained

i-o y,)u the two bases -- the twc, separace Eases on wh:.ch

we have concluded that this r-estimony rs tn the publrc

interest. Arrd I thrnk that these -- these are not sort
of friv,>lous ,>r mEde up arguments. They're real
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arguments, and Ehe staEute enErusts the Staters
Attorney's Office to make the decision of whether it's in
the public interest. And I understand Your Honor's

desi.re to make sure that there's not a ruse or some

subterfuge going on here. And I assure you there l-sn't,
and I've explarned to you why there isn't.

But once you're past that, Your Honor, then I
think rt's separatlon of powers. It's the intent of the
legislature. Itrs the constitutional Iaw. This 1s the

State's Attorney's decision to make, and once they make

it, and they make rt in good faLth, then we're done.

Now you have other issues. We're only talking
right now, Your HLlnor, about the quest1,ln of grantrng the

motion to compel. f'm not saying that because you

irnmunize him that means you're nc, longer the ludge at

trial; you can't make ruli.ngs on what's admissrble and

whatis not --
THE COURT: If on1y.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- rnsofar as hrs testimony is --
goes. But hrhat I am saying very strongly, Yr-rur Honor,

that's prenrature. Those are issues that you'11 decide

when he's ,)n the wrtness s'Lan,l, an,l we ask a questron,

and somebocly objecl-s, and therr you'J.l make a ruling. And

you will not hear nie say that because you lmmunize him

r-hen that means he -- you carr't control the evidence
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presented to the jury. Irm just saying that it's
premature on this particular issue thatrs before you

today right now.

THE COURT: And of course, j.f I granl him -- if
I grant ifiununity in each of those cases, the next steF,

Ehat you've asked this Court to d,) is to postpone the

cases.

MR. SCHATZOW: That's correct, Your Honor,

THE COURT: And teII me why I would do that.
MR. SCHATZOW: WeIl, for -- I think for a -- two

drfferent reasons although theyr re all -- t.hey're kind of
related. First off, I thi.nk and would submit to the

Court that rt's the most practt-cal thing to do for these

three reasons. One i-s if you put off these cases, bre

ultimatel-y get a decisron from the Court of Special

Appeals, and they tell us what we're -- what to do, and

we're all go].ng to do what they tell us what to ,lo.

Then we would have the opportunity, Your

Honor -- you would have the opportunlty to schedule the

retrial of Mr. Porter first. And if yorr were to do that,
Your Honor, that would have at least three impacts. It
would elrmrrrate thE need for a fiastJ.gar hearrng, whrch

could be complex, could be simple, but it could be

complex, and 1t's gorng to defr-n1teIy take t1me n,) matter
what. It will allow the State to avoid the expense and
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problems associated with putting together a clean team

sometime before Mr. Porter teslifies under immunity and

those -- that's -- Ehat is clearly in ttre public interest
to save --

THE COURT: WeIl, couldn't you have figured that
out when you charged these six offrcers that you would

need that, if you wanted their testimony?

MR. SCHATZOW: WelI, I don't thlnk we assumed,

Your Honor, that the first case would end in a mrstrlal
an,l - -

THE COURT: Why wouldn't you assume that that's
a possik'r1rty?

MR. SCHATZOW: We drd assume rt uras a --
THE COURT: Mistrial, not guilty, guilty --
MR. SCHATZOW: vle did assume --
THE COURT: -- those are t-he three opEions.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- we did assume rt was a

possibility, Your Honor. We did assume tfrat. And Your

Honor, I know you don't thrnk so, but we really do pay

attention to what you say and you made -- when you were

talking before, you made it fairly clear -- I know you

welen' t prel udgrrrg anythlng. I 'm rrr-,r t aL-!-usrng that . But

that r.t would be necessary for us !o have a taint team.

And the fact -- a clean -- call it a L'lean team. You

know what. I'm tall:rng -- a team that's not exposed to the
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immunized tesElmony.

And okay, we heard you, Your Honor. The fact
rs in federal --

THE COURT: WeII, it's not me. It's the

Court -- the Supreme Court made it clear chat if you want

to use rmmunized testlmony how it.'s done. I had nothing
to do with that. That goes way back.

MR. SCHATZOW: lilell, no. But it is true, Your

Honor, there's a spliE. in circuits about whether -- r.n

the federal circuits there's a split about whether the
mere fact that the prosecutor has access to the immunized

testimony is actual derivative use if the prosecutor

d,>esn't go out and get evrdence based on that.
THE COURT: Bu! of course, you have to prove

that.
MR. SCHATZOW: Yes. And we'd have to prove that

at a Kast1gar hearing.
THE COURT: Right.
MR, SCHATZOW: And y,>u're absolutely rrght.

It's mr:ch easier to prove that if you have a clean team,

alrd you don't have tainted prosecutors. So we

ant].,ripated -- we drdn't antrcrpate, Your Honor, that we

worlld have such a strong impression that we needed to
have a u-lean team beu-ause we can accounL, in a retriaL
for Mr. Porter, of all -- tor all the evidence because we

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-4 66-2033 4LO-494-'7015

State
January 20,

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIAMS

1

2

3

4

e

6

1

9

10

1.1

t2

l3
14

15

16

L'7

1S

19

:0
2L

22

:J

24

25

E. 107



34
State

ilanuary 20,
v. Nero, MiIler,

20)-6 BEFORE JUDGE
Rice, white

BARRY G. WILLIAT,IS

L

2

3

4

5

6

't

I
9

L0

t1

1:
t3

t4

15

16

L'7

18

L9

:0
:1
22

__1

24

21

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
4to-466-2033 410-494-7015

already have put the evidence in. And so thatis exactly
what our thinking was in response to that. So it would

avoid that.
And then secon,Cly, Your Honor, in terms of

virtually every objection Mr. Porter has made, both

before you and the Court of Special Appeals, if his case

were tried before the others, before he was compelled to
testify, virtually every one of those objections goes

away.

THE COURT: There. I want to do that, dorr't I?

That's my concern to help the State out.
MR. SCHATZOW: No. Well, it's not to help the

State out, Your Honor. It's to help --
THE COURT: I mean, yes, of course it Is. It

absolutely, positively -- Mr. Schatzow, it absolutely,
posi-tivel-y is. There's no other reason for you to say

that. I don't care whether you have to have a clean team

or a dirty team. I don't care if you get a gurlty, a not
gurlty, a hung jury. I don't care rf the Defendants are

found guilty or not guilty. That's for the process.

But for you to si.E here and knowrng full well
that- I sard n,r, i'm n,lt goin,l tc, try Mr. P,)rter's case

ne\t because these other DefendanLs have a right tr.., 90 to
trral, and then for you at this Iater pornt in time to
say oh, by the way, you know whal, we never though! about
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using Porteri we investigated this case for the time that
we did; we looked at these casesi we charged the six
Defendantsi we never, ever thought that we'd possibly

have to use Porter's lestimony in every case, sounds

scrange to the Court.

So with all that said, yes, you should have

figured this out. Yes, ].trs your lob to do these things.
You didn't do it and that's fine. This is where lre are.

So sort of apologize for the outburst, but by

you saying that you didn't know and that It would help
you not to have a talnted team k'ecause you think that's
what I'm requiring, the law requrres rt. It would help
you so that all the concerns tha! Mr. Porter has would gr't

by the wayside, not my concern. So please continue.
MR. SCHATZOW: Yes, Your Honor. f'm not tryinq

to suggest it wasn't rn the Stateis interest. I'm not

trylng to suggest that at all, Your Honor. I guess vrhat

I am trying to suggest r.s that 1t's aLso ln the public
interest ].f the Defendants' rights are protected Eo

aII -- to have the case go wrth a minimum expendrture of
public resources. That's all I'm trylng to suggest, Your

Honor. It's !-ertalnly rrr the star-e's interesL, and I
don't want yorl to irrterpret what I'm saying as not being

r,n the Statets interest. Of course, it is in the State's
rnierest, but the State is not just some ordinary party

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
4r-0-4 66-2033 410-494-7015

v. Nero, MiIler,
2016 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIAMS

1

2

)

4

5

6

't

I
9

L0

11

t2
13

l4
t5

16

L1

18

L9

20

2L

22

23

24

25

E. 109



36
Rice, White

BARRY G. WILLIAMS

to the proceedings. lle're no more important, we're no

more special the Defendants are, but we're not just a

private citizen making an argument. And so that's one

set of reasons.

And the other set of reasons relates to lhe
things that I said before, these two substantive areas

where we think itts in the public interest to have the
benefit of hrs testrmony. And Your Honor, I hear you

Ioud and clear and --
THE COURT: WeLl, I know you always do,

Mr. Schatzow. You're f irre.

MR. SCHATZOW: What?

THE COURT: I said I know you always do.

MR. SCHATZOW: So we do think, for the reasons I
sard before, those two dlscrete areas, that it makes

sense. And you know, aI1 I can do is say this, Judge. I
think I've trled to demonstrate it. We're aL't1ng rn good

farth here. Whether someone, i.ncluding you, thinks that
we shouL,i have figured all th1s out earlrer, I don't know

what we woul..l have -- welL, I do know what we would have

done differerrtly. We would have told you in the

begrnrrrn,J that ere $ranted Porter rn €dr-'h and every trral.
That's !,rhaL we would have done dif ferently.

But we are where we are, and rf somebody is
going lo be blamed for not havrng the suffrcrent

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
4L0-466-2033 410-494-7015

Stat.e
January 20,

v. Nero, Miller,
2016 BEFORE JUDGE

1

2

3

4

c

6

'7

t,

9

10

LL

1:

13

L4

15

16

17

18

19

20

2l
t.)

23

24

25

E. 110



31
State

January 20,

foresight, that should be me. But that's where we are,

and I urge you to grant these motions. They're being

made in good faith. They comply with the statute. They

comply wi.th the constieution. And if you have no other
questions, Your Honor, I would subm:.t on what I've said
rn our papers.

And I would also like Your Honor to
j.ncorporate, as Mr. Murtha did, the arguments we made in
the Goodson case as well as our hrritten c,pposition to the

motion to quash filed in the Goodson and White cases.

THE COURT: Very wel1. WelI, In these cases,

you did not file a -- there's no subpoena in these cases.

MR. SCHATZOW: We haven't frled a subpoena, Your

Honor, because --
THE COURT: Okay. Just wanted to make sure.
MR. SCHATZOW: -- quite frankly, because where

we are In the schedulrng.
THE COURT: I urrderstand. A11 rrght. I lust

wanted to make sure that I didn't mrss something.

MR. SCHATZOW: That's acu-urate. Vle have not

issued the subpoenas. 9le assume that that part hre wrll
k,e able to work out wrth Mr. Murtha.

THE COURT: A11 righr-. And I do have one more

question.

MR. SCHATZOVI: Sure.
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THE COURT: The issue concerning the seatbelt
again for officer Porter, if he testifies Ehe vray you

want him to, are you no! setting him up for perjury?
MR. SCHATZOW: I don't see how, Your Honor,

because agaln, thrs whole -- the perlury --
THE COURT: WelI, you --
MR. SCHATZOW: -- Your Honor, I would just --
THE COLIRT: -- you need him to say --
MR. SCHATZOW: -- I'd just like to get him

convicted for what I've charged hi.m with --
THE COURT: I understand.

MR. SCHATZOW: -- before I worry about somethrng

else. You know, 1n terms of the way my understanding,
which I think is correct, about the way this works, we

cannot use his rmmunized testimony to prosecute him for
perlury that he u'orunl tted before hrs immunized testrmony

if he commj-tted such perjury. So I don't see how we're
setting hrm up, for perSury. He has no Fifth Amendment

pri-vilege to perjure himself. He's got to tell the

truth.
THE COURT: WeII, but here's the problem that I

see. Under thrs factusl scenarlo that you've preserrterl

l-he CourL, no[ Lhe factual scerrario for Goodson and

Whrr-€r but under the scenario Ehat you have here,

effectively each Defendant has a right Eo cross-eramine
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Mr. Porter, and if he wants to say something different,
it kind of impacts their ability to cross. You have the

ability to ask questions the way you want, but also
there's a right to cross-examine. And you're saying

you're granting immunity, but iE seems problematic that
you get to say aIl right, we want him to say X, and as

Iong as he says X, everyt,hing is fine. But then lrhen

he's gc,ing to be crossed, he's going to take the Fifth.
You're saying weII, you know, he's sayrng something

different now. So where are vre with that?
MR. SCHATZOVI: Your Honor, maybe I have a

fundamental mrsunderstanding. I think when -- his
compelled testrmony is all of his testimony. In ,)ther

words, if he says a stoplight was red on direct, and he

says 1t's -- and on cross he says It was rainrng, I think
the raining is also the subject of the compelled

testimony. In other words, you're not going to let him

get on the stand and say just answer the prosecutor's
questions, and now you can t.ake the Flfth for the --

THE COURT: No. I wouldn't do that.
MR. SCHATZOW: No. So my understanding is we --

hrs rmmunrty applres to hrs compelled testimony. Hrs

compelled testimony begins when we start askirrg hinr, and

r.t ends when you excuse him from the vritness stand. So I
don't see -- you know, so in other words, I want to be
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clear here, Judge. Yeah. Nobody is asking you and we

are not giving and we are not seeking a license for him

to get on the stand and cormit perjury. tle're asking to
compel his truthful testimony, and we assume that the
testimony will be the same regardless of whether we ask

the questions or the Defense asks the guest:.ons.

THE COURT: The same consistent with this
statement, correct?

MR. SCHATZOW: WeIl, yes. Thatrs our basis for
believing what he's going to say because he's already
said it. Yes.

THE COURT: Mr. Murtha?

MR. MURTHA: May h,e lust approach very briefly?
And it's just a Porter issue so --

THE COURT: That's frne.
BENCH CONFERENCE

(Bench Conferen,:e k'egins - 02:46:1o p.m. )

(The parties approach the bench where the following
ensues: )

THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. MUFTHA: Your Honor, because I know the
Court rnstructed us not t-o apperli the January l3th, 2015

letter l--o arry plea,Jing, but rn the January 13th, 2015

Ietter to the Cburt, the representatj-on that the State
made was that they were relying upc,n the testimony and I
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will -- if the Court has a copy of the letter --
THE COURT: I do.

MR. MURTHA: And it's on the second page. And

so I read and reread. Itts on the second page, first
paragraph. And the State makes the representation not

that they're relying upon the statement, but they're
relying upon his testimony. Whrch now there's a shifting
sand that, you l:now, adjusts the foundation upon whrch I
stand upon.

But I would mark as an ezhibr.t hrs trial
iestimony for the purpose of the hearing, in light of the

representation that had been made, and just admit it to
show that there is literally an absence of any testimorry

relating to brhether or noE Officer PorEer made an

observation about whether Mr. Gray bras seatbelted or not

seatbelted.
THE CoURT: Here's the situatron that I fr.nd us

in. You're right. We do have the letter here. hlhich

number rs the September letter? I know I have it --
MR. MURTHA: September t.he 15th I --
THE COURT: Yeah. No. I'm lust saying whether

it was in or not before. It's one of the few limes I did
allow you to wrrte me as opposed to a motion.

MF. SCHATZO&I: Your Honor, I believe lhe
September 15th letter was attached as an exhrbr.t to --
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THE COURT: I thiNK SO.

MR. SCHATZOII: -- somebody's papers. I can't
tell you --

THE COURT: That's fine. '/eah, yeah.

MR. MURTHA: It was --
THE COURT: Okay. That's fine.
MR. MURTHA: -- for schedulrng. It was actually

to all of -- all of the opposltlons included the

September the 15th letter.
THE COURT: Wel], here's the thi.ng. All this

may be in another court anyway. You effectively read

thrs rnto the record lust -- f'm not bothered by it. I'm
jusE. saying you referred to everything in here. That's
fine. I'11 let it be an exhibit --

MR. MURTHA: Okay.

THE COURT: -- that you carr reference. And then

I have no problem with it. That's all. So that's fine.
MR. MURTHA: Thank you, Yor.rr Honor.

THE COURT: Okay.

(Bench Conference concluded - 02:48:L2 p.m.)

(The partres return to the trial r-ables where the

followrng ensues : )

THE COURT: So Mr. Murtha, you'te making

reference to hrhat now?

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-466-2033 410-494-7015

v. Nero, Miller,
2016 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIA},IS

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

o

10

11

L2

13

L4

15

1tr

L7

18

19

20

2L

23

24

:5

E. 116



43

State
January 20,

MR. MURTHA: Your Honor, I would ask -- and I
actually have a copy; it's highlighted. It the State

does not oppose the highlighted version, I could

substitute iE. That there be marked as Officer Porter's
Exhiblt A whrch is a January the L3th, 2016 letter.

THE COURT: It will be Exhibit L.

MR. MURTHA: Exhibit L, rf I nay approach. I
have stickers.

THE COURT: Any objection to the highlighted
one, or do you have a clean one over there, Mr. Schatzow?

MR. MURTHA: I have --
MR. SCHATZOW: Oh. Do they have -- I have a --
MR. MURTHA: I have a clean one.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. MURTHA: If I may approach, Your Honor.

Exhibit l. I'm sorry. I didn't fill out these stickers.
That would be the January the 13th, f016 letter to the

Court from Mr. Schalzow advising the Court of essentially
what has j r.rst been argued.

And I wourd note that on page 3 of that letLer,
in the frrst paragraph in the representatj.on to the

Court, the State say.r that they woul,l be relying upon the

testimony of Offrcer Porter. So in antl-L-lpation of
tc,day's hearing and searu'hrng for why it. w6uld be that
they would rely upc,n lestrmony that literally never

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-4 66-2033 410-494-7015

v. Nero, MiIler,
2OL6 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIAMS

1

2

3

4

q

6

7

I
9

L0

1t

1:

13

L4

15

16

L'7

18

19

20

2t

2?

-J

24

25

E. 117



44

State v.
January 20, 2016

addressed the issue of seatbelting I would -- I have

marked and asked that it be admitted as Defendant's

Exhr.bit 2, and that is the trial testimony of Officer
Porter. And I would proffer that --

THE COURT: Any objectlon, just for the record?

MR. SCHATZOW: For the leiter going in? No,

Your Honor.

THE COURT: And the transcript.
MR. SCHATZOW: Oh, and the transcript? No, Yor:r

Honor.

THE COURT: Okay. So entered.
(Defendant Porter's Exhibits 1 and 2 are marked for

rdentif rr--ation an,l adm1tted into evrdence. )

MR. MURTHA: And that reason that becomes

rmportant :.s because seven days later, we're in a

poslt1on where the State has said -- after havlng the

benefit of actually reading the responsive pleadings

rncludrng the responsive pleading of Offrcer Porter
opposing the motion to compel, saying that nowhere withrn
that trr-al transcrr.pt 1s there actually any testrmony

that relales to seatbelt or not seatbeltrng. And I thrnl:
that's srgnlf rcant because -- an,J r-r-rs not always easy l-. o

make au-cusatLons of thrngs such as pretevt, subterfuge

and ruses, but that's what thrs is.
And l--he reason being is clearly the Court
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had -- or excuse me, the state had comnunicated to the

Court previously an interest in trying the cases of
Officer Miller, Officer Nero and Lieutenant Rice after
the retrial of Offrcer Porter. The Court was not

inclined to do that, and I don't think there was ever a

formal postponement. And then after a triaL on Officer
Porter, and after, not at a time of Officer Goodson's

trial or Officer Whlte's trlal but only after inlunctive
relief had been granted by the Court of Special Appeals,

does It become important for the State to actually call
Officer Porter as a witness about stop two.

Now I think 1n the -- it will be refLected in
the cross-e:(ami. na t j,on by Mr. Schatzow and also in the

closing arguments -- the State ridiculed Officer Porter
because Officer Porter indicated when he got out of his
car he couldn't see what was golng on, and he was

vj.gorously cross-esamined about how close he was an,l then

aLso asked why he ,:oul,ln't rdentify who Ehe people were.

So here the Staters maki.ng a representatlon to the Court

that he's a vrtal materlal wltness of a fact, one, that
1s never testlf 1e,l t,>, an,l two, where it being subject to
cross-esaminatiorr, Lhe State held hi.rn rrr L'ontempt for not

being able to see what was a,:tuaIly golng on. In fact,
in the videotape that's being referenced by the State, he

turns his back, and he ar--tually approaches the crowd
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because he engages in crowd control .

Now adopting the StaEe's theory of the use of a

Defendant as a witness, it would be much easier for the

State to look down this trial table and to say you know

what, stop two, who could we use? WelI, let's see. vle

have Officer Garrett Miller's flrst, and what we're going

lo do is we're going to immunize Officer Nero, and we're
going to call him because that's our theory. tle want the

most important witness that can testify !o that. Or

maybe we even rmmunize Lreutenant Rice because he's
thi rd.

How does Offrcer Porter, whose back is turned

to the van before the doors close, who doesn't know

whelher or not he was seatbelted, become a material
britness ab,)ut stc,F, twc,? That -- it's a disingenuous

prel--ext fo! the purpose of getting a postponement. And

it's actually -- it's offensrve rn the sense that the

State stands up here and makes Lhe r epr esenta t r.ons that
they do, suggestlng t.hat it really 1sn't for lhe purpose

of getting a postponement.

In regard to the fourth stop, there are l-hree

offrcers that have actually been grven rrnmunlty, Crf f icer
l.lovak -- and Officer Novak has been identified as a State

wr.tness. Of f rr'er Novak drd not testify for Che State.
He's testif :-ed for the Defense, But Officer Novak
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testifies very clearly of his involvement 1n stop two.

He's already been granted immunlty. He was a participant
rn the arrest of Mr. Gray at st-op tr.ro. He had a bi rd' s-
eye view of what transpired. They had a sufficient
wj-t,ness who could actually test].fy.

In regard to the fourth stop, there's Officer
Gladhill and there's Officer Wood. Those are other
offrcers actually or Offrcer Gladhrl1, another officer --

THE COURT: And you think you have the authority
to tell the State whlch rn,itnesses to call?

MR. MURTHA: I can't but all these arguments are

being made for the purpose of argurng that th1s is a

pretextual effort by the State to postpone the cases and

subject Officer Porter -- actually, and I've said rt in
the pleadings, what they want to do is they wan! to take
him hostage for five cases, and then torture him in his
own tr:.aL, having 1a:.d a mrnefreld of suggestrons that
hers aclually perjured himself. And as r-he State has

acknowledged, and as the Court actually rnqurred in
regard to the extent of cross -eyamrna t ion, Ehere are

limits. We have no -- we are lrterally powerless in
re,Jard to corrtrollrng the naLure of the testimony or
objecting to the arr of questlonlng when he's called as a

lrrtness for the State and subject to cross-exanri na t ion by

the Defense.

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-4 66-2033 410-494-7015

v. Nero, Miller,
2016 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, $lhite
BARRY G. WILLIAMS

1

2

1

4

6

'7

I
9

10

L1

t2

L3

14

L5

L6

l?
18

l9
20

2t

?2

a2

:4
tq

E. 121



48

State
January 20,

So it really -- as a zealous advocate for
officer Porter, it's offensive that now hers going to be

drawn lnto becomi.ng a material witness when never before

has he ever been recognized as a material witness-

Your Honor, I've put in our papers. In fact,
paragraph 13, page 5 of the papers is a comment by Chief

Judge Murphy about hrs observations, how the nature of
the immurrity that is extended by Courts and Judici.al
Proceed:.ngs 9-123 really isn't sufficient and suggests

that the legislature expand iE for the purpose of
prc,teL-ting people who are called as witnesses. And

that's why, for all the reasons that have previously been

staled, that ir- -- the protections are not adequate urrder

the circumstances of this case.

The Court is now powerless. I understand the

State says separatlon of powers. The Cor.lr! actually --
once we check A, B and C, the Court has to grant il-. But

the Court asked very rnsrghtful questions --
THE COURT: Thanks.

MR. MURTHA: -- specifically -- and I'm always

respectful, folks, so I'm not going to use --
THE TIOUFT: There we go. There it Is.
MR. MURTHA: But, well, you asked questiorrs that

I would have asked if I had the opportunlty. They're
questions that -- answered but aren't complete. There's
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a case f,rom 2002 Ehat Judge Moylan actually wrote the

opinion in. And it's actually Charity v. State, and it's
132 Md. App. Reports 598.

Noh, Charlty v. State Is a case where there was

a Maryland State trooper who under the whren doctrine
that $ras announced by the Supreme Court in regard to a

polrce officer's opporlunity to actually make a traff:.c
stop and even if there was a legitlmate basis for r-he

traffic stop that allowed them to get to the car.
Prev:.ously, arguments had been made that the officer's
actions were pretextual.

lieLl, Judge Moylan, in this case, chastLses the

law enforcement efforts to abuse the prrvllege that had

been extended by the Supreme Court in Whren. And Judge

Moylan says if there's a lesson to Ee learned from this
case, It Is that when the police, and in th:.s case we can

substitute prosecutors, are permicted a very broad,

perslstentLy controversial investigative prerogat1ve,

Lhey would well be off used (sic) when not lit.eral1y
requrred to do so to exercise r-heir prerogatlve w]-th

restraint and moderatron, lest they lose it. fn fau't, he

later on goes to say that should the State or law

enfor,:ement contrnue to push the envelope out, 1t may

lose the goose that has laid Lhe golden egg.

And the reEson I clte the Charity case, beu-ause
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itrs the only case I could find where the judiciary says

to the State you're right. You do have a legitimate
basis for coming before the Court and saying that it was

valid. But you have pushed the envelope so far out that
you're at the point of explorting the prrvrlege that has

been eztended to you. And that's what we have here.

And r don't thrnk the Court is powerless to
actually just buy wholesale -- the State makes the

representations, but the State also knows the history of
these cases. It knows that in September of 2015, the

State identrfied the lrneup of the cases and how

importanE it was for Officer Porter to go first because

hrs percerved Frfth Amendment privi.Iege. But now hrs

Frfth Amendment privilege is disregarded, whether or not

he can protect hrmseLf and his Si-zth Amendment right to a

fair trial later on because --
THE coURT: WeLI, the Court of Special Appeals

will determine that. I nrade the ruling as I drd in the

Goodson and !,lh:.te matters. I'11 make a ruling in thls
case based on what. is presented. But as far as his
prote!-trons, the Court of Special Appeals has made iE

clear theyrre lrrtcrested rn It, and lhey're goirrg to mal:e

a decrsron so --
MR. MURTHA: They are. But the Court,

understandrng alI the information, can make a finding,
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and that's how new case law is made all the time. The

Court can make a finding that based on the hisEory of
thLs case and on the facts presented that it really isn't
i-n the public interest.

Looking down the lineup here, there could be

several other Lritnesses who provide much more material

testim,)ny, and they could receive the benefrt of use and

derivative use testlmony to give a much clearer
observati,>n in --

THE COURT: wel1, but once again, thatrs not

y,>ur job. That's solely withrn the area of Ehe State's
Attorney's Office to make a decision lrhlch witnesses they

wrll call in thelr case. You have nothing to do lrith
that. Please move on.

MR. MURTHA: That'S true. But in protectrng my

cl1ent --
THE COURT: Which you have a right to do,

obviously.
MR. MURTHA: I assert that because there's no

Coubt rn my mInd, and the Court may rule favorably for
the State and say Mr. Murtha, nice try, but rt lust isn't
enough l-o carry t.he day. But I do heLleve that iL ls a

prete).tual eff,)rt by the SEale to seek a postponement.

Now the State r.s aL-tual]y assuming a fact that
will not have been deEermrned as of l--oday because they
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asked for a postponement. There is a presumption that

the State is maki.ng that Officer Porter, after
contemplaEing the Court's decision, will seek rnjunctive
relief and appeal each of lhe Court's orders if the Court

orders him to compel . He didn't see anything at stop

two. He wasn't a partrcipant with Officer Nero and

Offj-cer Mi]ler. So we have to assess what we're going to

do next.
So the State should presume that automatically

the Court's order co compel the testimony in each one of
these cases automatically should result in postponement-

I'm only saying that because, well, one is Mr. Proctor is
out of the country rtght now, and we haven't assessed

what officer Porter would like to do. It very welL --
the logic would be that there would be injunctive relief
sought and an appeal filed with the Court of Special

AppeaLs. That would he the conventronal wisdom. And I'm

not sayrng that that's not going to happen, but I think
the State has actually put the cart before the horse, so

to speak, rn asking for a postp,)nement today when a

cril--ical decrsron has not been made that would cause the

C,)urt !o bel ieve that the cases shor]ld be postponed.

That 1s not my argument. That's the argument for the

u-ounS€l for each of the Defendants.

Bur I would ask the court to find that the
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State's efforts to call Officer Port.er are pretextual in
nature, they are for the purpose of obtaining a

poslponement, and thrusting Officer Porter ].nto being not

just the first case tried but the second case tried and

in the process. trampling upon his ability to ulEimately

have a fair trial in the future, having been subjected to

the torture of berng a witness in other cases. So for
those reasons, Your Honor, I respectfully request the

Court not grant the SEate's request in the three u-ases

where they've sough! an order compelling his testimony as

a witness. Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COUBT: Okay. All right. Counsel for
Mi.ller, Nero and Rrce, from my perspectlve, the -- I have

read what you filed. The only issue I think would be

approprlate -- I mean, the State disagrees you don't have

any standing. I disagree with that to some degree. But

I wrll hear you solely on the issue -- want to E,e heard

on lhe issue of speedy trial, rf you want to be heard on

that or not.
MS. ELYNN: Thank you, Your Honor. Catherine

Flynn on behalf of Officer Mr.1Ier.

name aga1n, ma'am?

k,e Catherine Flynn, Your

Honor.

THE COURT: What's your

MS. FLYNN: That would

THE COURT: Thank you, ma ' am. Go ahead.
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MS. FLYNN: Thank you. I understand the State

has not actually formally requested a postponement, but

essentialLy I guess that-'s why I'm here on behalf of
Officer Miller.

THE COURT: SorT of.
MS. FLYNN: A11 right. So I want to clarify.

Itrs my understanding that the State's position with
Officer Porter is that hets a material witness in the
prosecution of Officer Goodson and Sergeant White and

that the failure to be able to call Officer Porter

essentially guts the prosecution of Officer Goodson and

Sergeant White. That's my understanding of the State's
position as opposed to their position j,n calling Offrcer
Porter in Offrcer Mi11er's case, that they would like to
call Officer Porter. They may call Officer Porter. But

they have not rdentified him --
THE COURT: It may be necessary to the public

interest which is strar.qht from the statute.
MS. FLYNN: Yes. But they haven't :.dentrfied

him in the same way that they dld in the Goodson and

Idhite case as a material witness and hrithout him they --
the prosecution wor:L,i be gutted of Ctfficer Mi1ler.

I do want to clarify that at stop two, my

clrent made a statement, and he was asked what he was

doing at stop two, and he indicar-ed that he was filling
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out the to!, tag which is the docunentation regarding the

arrest of Mr. Gray. He indicated he never went into the

wagon and that he lras outside of the wagon the enli-re
time.

For the sake of argument, I would proffer tha!
we could enter a sEipulation about Officer Miller and the

seatbelt at stop two, From hrhat I gather, Off iu-er

Porter's testlmony was that he didn't really see exactly
what was going on. And it sounds to me like the Slate
may lrant to call him to impeach him. But if the only
issue rs whether or not of fi.cer Mrl-ler was invoLved rn

seatbelting Mr. Gray at stop two, if asked, f could enter
a str-pulatLon to that fact because Officer Miller gave a

statement indicating exactly what he was doing at stop

two.

The issue about stop --
THE COUBT: well, the lssue that I want !o hear

from you has to do with postponement.

MS. FLYNN: Okay. So the State ].s saying that
they need a postponement because they want to call --
they v,,ant to try Of f icer Porter's case --

THE COUPT: We1I, I know why they're askrng.

MS. FLYNN: -- first.
THE COURT: My questron for you is are you

objectrng to a postponement? You're scheduled for --
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MS. FLYNN: March 7th.

THE COURT: March ?th.
MS. FLYNN: I was contacted by the Court lasE

week and glven that date, and we are prepared to go

forward on March 7th. We are prepared to file all of our

pretrial motions as requrred. What the State I think is
failing to --

THE COURT: And you're objecting to -- r.f the

Court were to grant the motion to compel, and if the

Court were to stay the case and postpone all the cases,

you're objecting to that, r.s that c,lrrect?
MS. FLYNN

THE COURT

MS. FLYNN

THE COURT

MS. FLYNN

Yes, Your Honor.

Thank you. Nevt?

If I could, Your Honor --
Could what?

The State is basrcally saying that
rri thout --

THE COURT: I don't want -- agaln, your issue --
your purpose here i-s whether yc,u agree or not agree with
the postpc,nement request.

MS. FLYNN: I understand that, Your Honor. BUE

the State is sayi.rr,; that they need a successful
prosecutr,)n one way or another for Oificer Porter --

THE COUP.T: I don't really care whaE Ehey have

to say aL">ut that. And I'm not being funny at all.
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MS. FLYNN: Okay.

THE coURT: I don't care about that because the

issue has to do with whether they had the right to do

this and the basrs for it. So I've got that.
MS. FLYNN: And certainly --
THE COURT: Thank you very much, ma'am. Ma'am,

thank you so much.

Ne:'(t -

MR. ZAYON: Your Honor, t.hank you. Yes. So

obviously on behalf of Officer Nero, we would oblect to
any postpc,nements. I'm reaffirming his rrght to a speedy

trial at this moment, and I would adopt all of the

arguments that Mr. Murtha has made as they apply to my

client with regard to why we are objecting to Officer
Porter even being compelled as a wltness in this case.

I thlnk I'm set for February 22nd, and there

are some scheduling issues with regard to that separate

f rorn these issues. But I guess we can discuss that at a

later time or at this time, whatever Your Honor --
THE CoURT: You may want to be ready to talk,
MR. ZAYON: I'm ready when the Court's ready.

THE COUFT : llez t. .

MR. BELSKY: Good afternoon, Your Honor. On

behalf c,f Lleutenant Rice, we are prepare,l for trial. lle

would asserL our speedy trial rlghts and will tell this
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court under the guise of speedy trial, my client is
actually suspended wit.hout Pay at t,his point. He has

f or,lr children. He has no income coming 1n relative to
his police capacity. He's in hard times right now. He

has every interest in getting this case heard at a

speedy -- as speedy as possible, and w€ wlruld assert our

speedy trial rights. We're ready to go to trial.
THE COURT: Thank you. You can respond.

MR. SCHATZOW: Your Honor, just very brrefly to
clear up the record. When Mr. Murtha was referring to
Mr. Novak havrng a bird's-eye view of the arrest at stop

two, I thrnk he meant stop one. Stop two rs Baker and

Mount. Presbury an,l Mount is where the arrest took place

and where Mr. Novak was involved.
When Mr. Murtha said that Offir-'er GIadhiIl and

others were at stop four, stop four was Druid HiIl and

Dolphin. Officer GIadhill was not present. Offrcer
Porter was the only one present other than Officer
Goodson and I --

THE COURT: well, stop four has nothing lo do

wrth this, r--orr€ct1 because Mi1ler, Nero and Rice weren't

Lhere. That's lust involvrng Goodson.

MF. SCHATZOW: lilell, except it rnvoLves Miller
in l--erms of our secon,l point. gfe'vb heard abL..'ut --
people have addressed the seatbelt. Nobody really has
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addressed the point about where the injury took place,

and that's why stop four is relevant for Miller, Nero and

Rice because, as I point out in ny letter and

according -- the Williams case and the standard jury
instruction, it's relevant to the issue of reckless

endangerment and It's also -- it's dire,:tly relevant,
important to the jury because If they didn't seatbelt at
stop two, that was the last chance to seatbell before the

injury occurred. That's where --
THE COURT: And you're saylng the injury

occurred when?

MR. SCHATZO9{: Between 2:00 and 4:00, between

Baker and Mount and Dolphrn Hill (sic) and Drurd Avenue.

THE COURT: But you don't know where. It could

have been af ter stop t.wo. It coul,d have L'een af ter stop

three.
MR. SCHATZOW: Possibly.
THE COURT: It could have been after -- or by

stop four, correct ?

MR. SCHATZOW: Cor.rld have L,een but yeah, by --
we contend it happened by stop four and after stop two.

Yes.

THE COIJRT: O):ay.

MR. SCHATZOII: And the only other thlng I wanted

to respond to -- well, 1ve et-her thtngs very briefly,
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Your Honor. glhen Mr. Murtha talks about paragraph 13 of
his papers and what Chref Judge Murphy said when he was

part of the -- speaking on behalf of the Criminal Lahr

Artr.cle Review Co(uuttee, it's ironic because he was

talking about a transactional inununity statute which he

said did not go far enough to provide irnmunity. It
wasn't constitutional k'ecause it needed r-o provide, in
the context of the cases he's crting to, Evans and in re

Criminal Investigations, because it didn't provLde use

and deri.vati.ve use. what Chief Judge Murphy rs saying

there, and this goes to the substance, Your Honor, and so

it completely undermrnes Mr. Murtha's substantive
arguments because he was speaking in favor of use and

derivative use immunity, and he was equating Article 22

to Section 5. And itts right there rn the notes that
Mr. Murtha references whrch are part of the comments to
Section 9-204.

And, you know, the point I make about stop

four, t-he reckless endangerment actually requires proof

that the risky ,:ondu,:t ,:ould lead to a significant
rnjuly. And we thrnk the proof that it did lead to a

si.gnif icarri irr j ury rs such proof .

Wrth regard to the speedy trral argument-s, 'iour

Honor, I would simply poj,nt out that these cases are -- I
thrnk tomorrow -- I mr-ght be off by a day or twc,, but I
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think tomorrow is the eight month anniversary of when the
grand jury indictment was returned. And while the State
would love to get the cases tried guickly, and we're not

asking for some inordinate delay, and I'm sure the Court

of Special Appeals wrll move wi.th whaE they consider to
be promptness and speed. we are not talklng, you know,

we're not talking abou! a two-year delay. !{e're not

talkrng about putting things off for --
THE COURT: WeIl, what happens if after the case

comes back and you -- if I were to grant lrhat you asked.

you try Porter, and it's the same result?
MR. SCHATZOW: WeII, you know, Your Honor, I

would say that we would have to re-e:<arnine j.L. We

recognize that your patience is not unLimited and we

recognize that --
THE COURT: Certa1nly It rs.
MR. SCHATZOW: Wel1, you've demonstrated 1t to

be unlrmrted. I'Ll say that. But I'm nov', tryrng to look

far into the future. And look, Judge, j.f the case were

tc, mls-try tr"ro cases in a row because ,rf hung luries on

all counts, obviousiy we'd have to take a look -- a very
serior:s look at it. And our abilit-y to go back to the
well repeatedly to ask f,rr the same thlng, Your Hc,nor, is
limited by the practicalities and r-he fact that we aIl
lrve :,rr the real world. But where we are ri,lht now, ].n
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terms of right now, we're a day short by my calculations,
although I could be off, we're a day short of being eight
months out from the indictment. That is not an

extraordrnary l,lnq trme. To the cont.rary, it's a pretty
short time in this court for cases of this magnitude.

And so I understand the Defendants are making

an objection, and I understand that that's their right to

make an obler--tion. But I don't think that they meet the

four-part test for a speedy trial violation at thr.s

point, and I doubt very seriously that they wrll be able

to when the Court promptly schedules the cases in for
trraL, If the Court were to grant the relief we request,

and the Court of Specral Appeals speaks to the issue.

THE COURT: Thank you.

MR. SCHATZOW: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: AII right. This Court is very clear
that the State has broad power to seek rrununity, and when

the request is pursuant to Maryland Courts and Judicral-

Proceedings 9-123, agaln. as I read a number of times,

and the prc,secutor delernrines that the testimony may be

necessary to the public inr-erest, the c,)urt shall issue

an order reqr:rrrng the ].ndr.vi,lual tg give testtmony.

Certarnly thls Caurt found in t.he Whrte case and the

Goodson case that r-t was approprraEe based on the proffer
of the State.
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The State effectively argues that Ehey don't
believe t.hey're reguired to proffer anything. Of course,

that's for another day for someone to determine whether

it's a requirement or not. The Court of Special Appeals

wrll- make 1t clear. The Court of Appeals or Supreme

Court will make it clear whether there's a requrrement

for the State to proffer to the Court brhat che

rnformation is tha! theyrre using. Or is it simply a
matter of the Court being a rubber stamp once the

Ezecutive Branch says we find that It is necessary to the

public interest that the Court is reguired to grant

irununity?

I don't believe that rt's that simple. I thrnk
under the clrcumstances presented in the !{hite and

Goodson matter, although obvrously people disagree wrth

t.he Court, based on the way it was presented I ,lo believe
It was appropriate. This case is a lltEle different and

may get to the same result, may not. But this rs

drfferent h'ecause at rro point uncIl JEnuary 13th Crd the

State make rt clear that Miller, Nero and Rrce wouLd be

cases where Mr. Porter's testimony would be needed.

Mr, Schat:ow indj.cates that they reassessecl

l-hings, and I belreve that actually happerred, that thlngs
were resssessed, and tirey made a deterhrnation. BuL I
also do note that the request for immunity for Offrcer
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Porter is directly tied Eo the State's request to
postpone the matters until they can get a more favorable

outcome whrch is what both sides want. Both sides want. a

favorable outcome to each of the scenarios that are

presented for Porter, Goodson, tl|hite, MrIler, Nero and

Rice. So all sides are doing what they believe is
appropriate.

This Court, looking at the evidence that the

State has proffered, noting that iE's for two issues, for
the seatbelt issue for Nero, Mrller and Rice and for the

place of injury. I do note that ln the January 13th

letter, the Stat.e referenced thal is important -- aLso

lmportant is Porl--er I s testimony.

Now one could say we're splitting hairs. Is
leseimony trial testimony, or r-s testimony, a statement?

Er.ther way, I have taken the time i-o go through Mr.

Porter's statement and to go through Mr. Porter's trtal
testimony. And as the State pointed out on page 39 of
his statement, Mr. Porter rndtcates, "I never saw them

seatbelt him agarn. But again" -- to page 40, says, "But

agaln, I drdn't watch the entire ordeal. " To allow the

-itate to prrt tha L testimorry rn during a crial aga inst
Nero, Mrller or Rrce certarnly would be possrbly

problematic with 5-403, unfarr prejudrce, confusion of
the issues, mrsleading the lury or consideratLon of undue
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deIay.
Undue delay in relationship to the time when

these cases are tried, I don't know. we have some lrial
schedr:Ied for February, that's for Nero. For Miller and

Rlce, we are scheduled for March, and I do acknowledge

that Lhe Court of Special Appeals will not come back vJi.th

its decision until obviously sometime after the arguments

which are March 4th. So I don't know when those cases

wi 1l come back .

But the State, in the manner in whrch it's
seeking to immunize Mr. Porter for Miller, Nero and Rlce,

it does seem to thrs Court, candrdly speakrng, thaL it's
for a dual purpose: to get the postponement that they

want, to get around this Court's ruling that these cases

need to concinue and possibly for the reason state,C, that
Mr. Porter's lestimony is relevant. to the seatbel! issue

and relevant to the place of injury.
Based on the proffer that's presented by the

Star-e and havrng gone through Mr. Porter's statement and

Mr. Pc,rter's trral l-est-imony, I don't necessarily see the

seatbeLt issue playing out the way the State envisions

rt. Now does that mean that I can't grarrt them the

request? No. It ,Joesn't nlean that. But of course, I
hdLve to assess it because agaIn, I say 5-403 Ls relevant

and 5-402 Is relevant.
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If Mr. Porter qets on the stand and testifies
consistent to his statement, there may be issues, there

may not be. I don't know. But the issue with White and

Goodson was a simple one, from this Court's perspectlve.

The issue here for Mi.Iler, Nero and Rrce is not simple.

I do not believe that based on the proffer presented by

the Stat.e for the seatbelt issue and the place of injury,
the concerns that thts Court has wilh the speedy trial
rights of the Defendants, the concern that this Court has

with the position that Mr. Porter will be placed :-n by

the requesc of the State and agat n, I guess most

importantly, finding that the reguest for irununr.ty has

more to do with getting around the Courtts postponement

request than anything else, I do not find It is
approprlate, and the request for lrnmunrty for Mr. Porter

for Miller, Nero and Rrce is deniecl .

Thank you.

MR. SCHATZOW: Thank you, Tour Honor.

MP. MURTHA: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Counsel, approach. All counsel

approach. WeJ.1, all --
MR. MIIRTHA: T'1I --
THE COURT: One representat ive for each c,ne. I

just want to quickly --
MR. MURTHA: Well, actually, I should --
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THE COURT: Even you. Even you. Even you.

It's a quick question.

BENCH CONFERENCE

(Bench Conference begins - 03:18:19 p.n.)
(The parties approach the bench where the followrng

ensues : )

MR. ZAYON: Should be six.
THE COUBT: Yeah. I $ras just checking. Is

anyone planning to respond to the motion to intervene?

MS. BLEDSOE: I can't hear him.

MR. ZAYON: I didn't hear -- the motion?

MS. BLEDSOE: I can hear --
THE COURT: Is anyone plannrng to respond to the

motlon to intervene? Irm just curious.
FEMALE SPEAKER: Mot].on to },hat?

MS. BLEDSOE: For the media.

MR. SCHATZOW: Oh, for the media.

MALE SPEAKER: Intervening.
MS. BLEDSOE: Oh.

MALE 3PEAKER: No,

THE COURT: OI:ay. I know someone --
MALF SPEAKERs Is --
THE CC)URT: -- had sard they were so I --

before --
MB. SCHATZOII: Ilot at this point .

ACCUSCRIBES
410- 4 66-2 03 3

TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
410-4 94 -7015

v. Nero, Miller,
20)-6 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, lilhite
BARRY G. WILLIAMS

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

S

9

10

11

t2

13

14

15

16

t'7

18

19

30

2L

t:2

23

24

:5

E. 141



68

State
January 20,

v. Nero, MiIIer,
2OL6 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIAMS

1

2

3

4

5

6

'l

9

10

tt
L2

13

L4

15

L6

L1

18

19

20

2L

22

23

24

25

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
4L0-466-2033 410-494-7015

?HE COURT: Okay. That's all I cared about.

You may as well stay here. No, we can do it on the
record. I just want to -- as far as Postpone, I'm not
postponing anything unless -- well, I'm not so --

Okay.

-- steP back.

Okay.

Okay.

Okay.

(Bench Conference concluded - 03:18:51 p.m.)

(The parties return to the trial tables where the

following ensues : )

THE COURT: Let's see. Excuse me one second.

BENCH CONFERENCE

(Bench Conference begins - 03:19:05 p.m.)

(A woman approaches the bench where the following
ensues: )

THE COURT: Do I have to do anything?
PEMALE VOICE: (Inaudiblc) .

THE COURT: I did. That's what I just did. I
jusE don't know -- I bras wondering if -- okay.

(Bench Conference concluded - 03:19:14 p.m.)

(A hroman leaves the bench where the followrng
ensues : )

THE COURT: A11 right. Anything else from any

MR. ZAYON

THE COURT

MR. ZAYON

THE COURT

THE COURT
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of the parties?
MR. SCHATZOW: No, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Thank You.

MS. FLYNN: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. MURTHA: Excuse me.

THE COURT: What?

MS. FLYNN: Well, I have a tr1al date, and are

we going to schedule a motrons --
THE COURT: Yeah. vle L-ertainly are. Your trial

is scheduled, as far as f kno$r, and certainly the nevt

one up is Nero. You're after Ner,), and you're after
Miller. So as far as this Court is conL-erned, h,e're

continuing.
MR. BELSKY: I hate to do this but can we --
THE COURT: I can't hear you.

MR. BELSKY : Can we approar--h f or one second?

I'm sorry.
THE COURT: Ol:ay. Frne.

BENCH CO}IFERENCE

(Bench Conference begins - 03:L9:52 p.m.)

(The parties approach the bench where the following
ensues : )

MB. BELSKY: I apologize. Rr.ght now my trial is
scheduled for March 9th. I'm tryrng tc, schedule a

surgery at thrs polnt. Ms. Flynrr's clrent rs scheduled

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCP.IPTION SERVICE
4L0-466-2033 4r0-494-70L3

v. Nero, Miller,
2016 BEFORE JUDGE

Rice, White
BARRY G. WILLIA}4S

1

2

3

4

5

6

'7

I
9

10

11

),2

13

14

15

r.6

L'7

L8

l9
:0
2L

22

23

:4

25

E. 143



70

1

2

3

4

q

6

'7

I
9

10

11

t2

13

L4

15

L6

L7

18

19

20

2L

:3
24

25

StaEe
January 20,

v. Nero, MiIIer, Rice, White
2016 BEFORE JUDGE BARRY G. WILLIAMS

to go March ?th. Am I to assume in scheduling that I'm
not going March 9th or --

THE COURT: I have no clue at this point.
MR. BELSKY: Okay.

THE COURT: Rr-ght novr, I'm -- all I'm more

concerned with -- aII I'm more concerned with; thatis not

even grarunatically correct. I'm more concerned with
Nero's case because that's the next one up.

MR. BELSKY: Sure.

THE COURT: llow certainly we'11 frnd, after we

deal with Nero, where are we with Mrller. Is it likely
that 1t wrll be postponed? I donrt know. But I don'l:

know the crrL'umstances that we find ourselves Ln so --
MR. BELSKY: Okay. 9fel1, I can reach out.
MR. ZAYON: So let me, if I may with regard to

Nero, and I mean, you guys can ch:.me in or not chime in.
I have no r,lea. But my understanding -- and rt's fine.
I lust have to get brith my experts and get everything
done.

THE COURT: Um-hum.

MR. ZAYOT'I: But my urrderstandlng was always that
Nero was gorng after- Mrller. And the last tirne

everythrng $ras postponed, I wasn't invr.ted to that
giostpc,oernent party.

THE COURT: You sure weren't.

ACCUSCRIBES TRANSCRIPTION SERVICE
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MR. ZAYON: But my understanding was that's just
because you didn't get to me yet, and that case was going

to be postponed.

THE COURT: And here's the issue. As I stated
from the beginning, I did not expect my rulrng to go to
the Court of Special Appeals. I can only speak --

MR. ZAYoN: WeIl, none of us ezpecEed that, I
guess. So right but --

THE COUR?: So we are where we are. we're

trying these cases. We're moving forward so --
MR. ZAYON: Okay. Because we've been -- are you

fine wr.th that? I mean, I guess rt doesn't natter if
they're fine because we --

MS. BLEDSOE: It doesn't matter what we're fine
with, cIearIy.

MR. ZAYON: Okay. All right.
MR. BELSKY: Why don't we all talk?
MS. BLEDSOE: 9le're not calLing the shots on

this one.

THE CCTIJRT : Yeah . So we ' L l see where we are .

So you'll be gettlng a scheduling -- got t-o send thts out

laler today.

MR. BELSKY: Perhaps --
MR. ZAYON: We could save you a stamp, and you

can lust hand rt to us.
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THE COURT: No. lle'lI send it out. lle'll get

iL to you. okay.

MR. BELSKY: Perhaps we all could talk and --
THE COURT: '/ou all can do what you want. And I

don't mean that 1n a flippant way. I mean --
MS. BLEDSOE: we know what we need to do.

THE COIIRT: Right.
MS. BLEDSoE: And we'II do what we need to do.

THE COURT: And I'm sure that will happen. I'm
sure this l-s not the last I've heard of thi.s. What a

shock.

MS. BLEDSOE: I knobr, Judge.

THE COURT: Yeah.

MS. BLEDSOE: Is what it is.
THE COURT: Absolutely. But this will go out

later today saylnq that the trial in this matter

scheduled to begirr Eebruary 22nd, 20L6, barr:.ng me

hearrng anythi.ng from anyone who has more power than

me -- and candidly speakirrg, it's only a small group of
people whc, have more power than me on r-his issue -- rf I
hear from them, i do what they teII me to do. If I don't
hear frtnr Lhenr, we rnc.ve forward.

MS. BLEDSOE: Okay.

MR. BELSKY: Thank you, Your Horror.

MR. ZAYON: UndersEood. Okay.
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MS. BLEDSOE: Thank you, Your Honor.

THE COURT: AII righty.
(Bench Conference concluded - 03222:06 p.m.)

(The partj.es return to the trial tables where the

following ensues : )

THE COURT: Thank you everyone. Court's in
recess. You alI can go. I got to clean up and also got

to stand up slowl y.

(Off the record - 03:22:19 p.m.)
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TRANSCRIBER' S CERTIFICA?E

This is to certify that the proceedings in the

matter of State of Maryland versus Edward Michael Nero,

Case Number 115141033; State of Maryland versus GarretE

Edward Mi11er, Case Number 1L5141034, State of Maryland

versus Brian Rice, Case Number 115L41035; and State of
Maryland versus Alicia white, Case Number 115141036,

heard in Circult Court for Baltimore City on January 20,

20L5, was recorded on digltal media wrth video.

I hereby certi-fy that the proceedings herein
were transcribe,J by me or under my direction.
lranscript is a true and ar-'curate record to the

ability and constltutes the official
thereof.

In witness thereof, f have hereunto

my name on February 8th, 2015.

t'resident

cont a i, ned

That said
best of my

t rans cr i pt
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STATE OF MARYLAND

EDWARDNERO
***

RIC.TIViO FCE RECCRN
L rF.I'iJl ; coLj;)r Fni -

]1'.|]|1,.i,1-i.'t.

?01[ FEBrr; A ll: ZttrqrsB{. CIRCUIT COURT FOR. .,*' , . ,BALTIMORECITY
* CASENo. 115141033

STATE'S NOTICE OF APPEAL

NOW COMES the State of Maryland, by and through Marilyn J. Mosby, the State's

Attomey for Baltimore City; Michael Schatzow, Chief Deputy State's Attomey for Baltimore

City; Janice L. Bledsoe, Deputy State's Attomey for Baltimore City; and Matthew Pillion,

Assistant State's Attomey for Baltimore City; and pursuant to Section 12-301 of the Courts and

Judicial Proceedings Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland hereby notes an appeal on

behalf of the State from a final judgrnent of the Circuit Court for Baltimore City entered on

January 20, 2016, in the above-captioned case denlng the State's Motion to Compel a Witness

to Testify Pursuant to Section 9-123 ofthe Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article.

Respectfu lly submitted,

Marilyn J. Mosby

Michael Schatzow (#7 l7 87 6)
Chief Deputy State's Attorney
120 East Baltimore Street
The SunTrust Bank Building
Baltimore, Maryland 2 I 202
(443) 984-601 I (telephone)
(443) 9 I 4 - 625 6 (facsimile)
ms c h a t z on (tits t a I t o rn ey. o r p
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Bledsoe (+16877Q

120 East Baltimore Steet
The SunTnrst Bank Building
Baltimore, Maryland 2 1202
(4/,3) 98+6012 (telephone)
(443) 98+625 6 (facsimil6)

ibledsoe@e$9@,W

rw\-fuL^
Matthew Pillion (#65349 l)
Assistant State's Attuaey
120 East Baltimore Street
The SunTrust Bank Building
Baltimore, Id8ryld 21 202
(,143) 984-6045 (telephone)
(44.1) 98+6252 (facsimile)
moillion(ds tat t ornev. o rg

2
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certifu that on this 4th day of February, 2016, a copy of the State's Notice of

Appeal was mailed and e-mailed to:

Joseph Murtha
Murtha, Psoras & Lanasa, LLC
1301 York Road, Suite 200
Lutherville, Maryland 2 I 093
(410) 583-6969
imurtha@mpllawyers. com
Attorney for Offrcer William Porter

Marc L. Zayon
Roland Walker & Marc L. Zayon, P.A.
201 N. Charles Street, Suite 1700
Baltimore, Maryland 21201
(410) 727-3710
mzayon@walkerzayon.com
Attorney for O{ficer Edward Nero

Gary Proctor
Gary E. Proctor, LLC
8 E. Mulberry St.
Baltimore, MD 21202
410-444- 1500
sarveproctor@qrnail. com
Attorney for O{ficer William Porter

Respectfu lly submitted,
Marilyn J. Mosby

DEDutv State's Attornev
tlfEast Baltimore Street
The SunTrust Bank Building
Baltimore, Maryland 21202
(443) 984-6012 (telephone)
(4 43) 98 4 - 625 6 (facsimile)
ibkd;pe@a@Uorueyorg
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STATE'S MOTION TO STAY PR(rcEEDINGS PENDINGAPPEAL

Now comes the State of Maryland. by and tlrough Marilyn J. Mosby. the State's

Aftomey for Baltimore Cit)4 Michael Schatzow. Chref Deputy State's Anomey for Bahimore

Citf, Janice L. Bledsoe, D€?uty State's Attomcy for Baltimore Cig; and Matthew Pillion,

Assistant State's Attomey for Baltimore City; and pursuant to the Court's inherent power

requests that this Court issue a stay of the above.captioned proccoding pending resolution of the

ap,peal 6led by the State on Febnrary 4, 2016, from the final judgne.nt of this Court entered on

January 20, 2016, denying the State's Molion to Compel a Witness to Testi$ Purzuant to Section

9-123 of the Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article ('€ P" herernafter).

!,SgllprspfArsugcll

Despite the Court's good inteohons in seeking to avoid delay of the Defendant's trial, the

Court's dcnial of the State's Motion to Compet Officer William Porter's testimony ran controry

to the plain language of CJP $ 9-123 nd to the Lrgislanre's ant€nt in enaaing the immunity

statute. It also violated se?aration of powers prfurciples by app,ropriating to the Judiciary a

discnaionary power grantod to the Executive Branch. The State is now appcaling these errors

given their ramifications on the State's ability to prosecute this and other cases here and

throughout the State. As outlined bclow and previously argrred, this Court had no authority to

engage in judicial review of the State's Anorney's vested exercise of lawful discraion in

determining that Officer Porter's testimony may be n€cessary to tbe public inlerest in the State's

prosecution of the Defendant for his role in the fatal arrest and custodial transportation of Mr.
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Freddie Gray. Instead, this Court had only thc powcr ro vcriff fiat thc Statc's Motion to Compel

complied with the procedural and pleading requirements of Section 9-123. Upon finding such

compliancc, the Court was requirod to follow the mandate of the lrgislature ard issue the

immunity orrder.

Though the Court has disagreed with the State's assessm€ot of the statute's mechanics.

the State's argum€,nts about Section 9-123's power distribution ar€ strong. Moreover, the Court

aaod without any cxprcs authority or pidance on lhis issuc from either of Maryland's appellate

courts-and in the face of overwhelming preced€nt from other jurisdictions. lf, as the Stare

firmly maiatains, this Court was, in fact, wrong in ils denial of the Statc's Motion to Compel, to

deny the State any meaningful opportunity for appellate revrew of that decision would

potentially result in a miscarriage ofjustice in the Defendant's trial. The Poople of this State

des€rve that opportunrty. and this Court has always demonstrated a commrtment to givrng both

the Defendant and lhe People a hir trial. That commitment now requires allowing a higher court

to review this Court's dccision before rrcving fonvard in this case. As such, this Court should

exer,cise a discretronary power it unquestionably possess€s-tbe pow€r to stay the proceeding

pending the State's appeal.

II. Brckgroutrd

On January 14,2016,lhe State filed in the abovecaptionod casc a Motion to Compel a

Wih€ss !o Testiff Pursuanr to Soction 9-123 of the Courts and Judicial kocoedings Article. The

witness in question was Officer William Porter. The State's Motion, submrtted and srgred by

the State's Attorn€y hersel(, avenod that the State may call Olficer Porter to testiry ngainst the

Defendant and sa forth her daerminations thal Officer Porter's testimony may bc neccsary to

the public interest and that he is likely to refuse to testifu on the basis of his pnvilege against
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selFincrimination given his similar refirsal to tcstiry in the relatod cases of State v. Caesar

Croodron (No. I 15141032) and Sane v. Alicia While Q.lo.l15141036).

On January 15, 2016, the Defcndant filed an Opposition to the Staae's Motion to Compel.

The Defendant attacked the State's Motion as lacking an explanation of "why Officer Porter is

either necessary or material to tbe trial of Defendant Nero or how it is ncc$sary to serve the

public interest." Def. Opp. at t. The Defendant argued that Officer Port€r's testimony is, io facl

no, n@essary to the public interest based on his assessment of the State's reasons for filing the

motion and his view of the motion's effect on both his and Officer Porter's constitutional rights.

Def. Opp. at 2-3. As suclu hc urgcd the Court to deny the motion. Likcwisa on January 19,

2016, Officcr Porter filod an Opposition to the State's Motion in which he too requested that the

Court deny the State's Motion on grounds that the Court should fud that compelling hrs

testtmony would not be necessary to the pubhc interest and woutd violate his privtlege against

self-inoimination. Def. William Porter's Opp. at 8.

Oo the moming of January 20. 2016, the State filed a Response to the Def€ndant's

Opposition, arguing that Section 9-123 grantod nei0rer the undedying defendant nor the witness

standing to make such oblections to the State's roquest for a grant of immunity and rhat under the

plain terms of that statute, this Court lacked the discretion to deoy a motion to oompel

immuizod testimony when preseoted with a motion that comptied with the statute's procedural

rcquir€rn€nls. Because the State's Motion to Compel unquestionably did comply with Section 9-

123, tlrc Stare urged this Court to follow the slatute's mandates and i$ue the order to compel

Officer Poner's testimony under a grant of use and derivative use immrmity.

On the aftemoon of January 20,2016, this Coun conducted a hearing on the State's

Motion to Compel. At 0ut hearing the State repeated the arguments presenied in its Response.
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Nevertheless, the Court considered objections from both Officcr Porter and the Defendant and

then requirod 0te Chief Deputy State's Anorney to explain in open courl lhe reasons that

prosecutors believed that Officer Porter's testimony may be neccssary to the public interest.

Though fie State maintained that such a judicial inquiry was improper under Sec-tion 9-123 and

separation of powers principles, the Chief Deputy explaincd that the State sought to elicit from

Officer Porter testimony regarding nrro important aspects of the charges against the Defendant.

Consequently, the State's Attomey had d€termined that such testimony may bc ncccssary to the

public interest. The Court 0ren made its own daermination that granting hrm inrmunity would

not be tn the public inl6est, irrespective of the State's Attomey's cootsary detcmrination as

properly pled rn her Motion lo Compel. and the Court deniod the Motion. Fmm thrs denial. the

State filed a Notice ofAppeal on February 4, 2016.

III. This Court shouH stav tbc orocecdlpg pctrdins anp€llrtc revlew of the Court's

erroncous dcpitl of thc State'r Motion to Compel to rvoH a mircrrri.pc of lusdce

A. Denying the State's requet br a stay would imp€rpissiblv ftustrate an ap,pellate court's

ability to aci

Pending appellate review of this Court's denial of the State's Motion to Compe! Officer

Porra, the Stat€ requcts that the Court issue a stay of the proceodings. This Courl has the firll

power to issue such a stay and has granted one in the related case of Sute v. Alicia Mite (t{o.

It5l4l036). As tlrc Court of Appeals has described, when such an appeal is taken, "the trial

courl retains rts 'fimdamental lurisdicrion' over the causc, but its right to exencise such power

may be interruptod by . . . a stay granted by an appellate @urt, or the trial court itselt in those

cases wher,e a perminod appeal rs taken fr,om an interlocutory or 6nal judgneot." Pulley v. Snte,

2E7 Md. 406, 417 (1980). Though this Court raains 'fundamental jurisdiaion" over this
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prcceodin& the Court of Appeals has also held that "the propncty of the exercrse of that

jurisdiction" is a separate matter. Ia re Emileigh F., 355 Md. 198, 202 ( I 999). ln that regard,

"[a]ier an appeat is filed, a trial courl may not acl to frustrate the actions ofan appellate court,"

and "[p]ost-appeal orders which affect the subject matter of the appeal are prohibited." .ld. at

202-03; see abo State v. Peterson,3l5 Md. 73, E2. n.3 (1989) ("We think that a trial court

ordrnarily should nol proceed with a hearing [when a writ of certrorari has been iszued], thereby

mooting an iszuc before an appellate court."): accord Jaclcson v. State,358 Md. 612.620 (2000)

(While "a circuit court is not divested of fundamental jurisdiction to take post-judgnrent action in

a case merely becausc an appeal is pending from the judgne,nt." "[w]har thc court may no, do is

lo exercise that junsdichon in a manner that affects either the subject matter of the appeal or the

appellate proceeding itself-that, in effect, precludes or hampers the appellate court from acting

on the matter before it.') (emphasis in ongrnal). Were this Court to order that the Defendant's

rial wrtl not be stayed and thot the State musi procoed !o tfl8l without the testimony of Officer

Porter, such an order would uoquestionably frustsate the achons ofan ap,pellate court. effectively

mooting the State's appeal and preventing any furrher review of this @urt's denial of the Motion

to Compel.

B. Denying the State's roquest for a stay would needlesslv cause irrcparable harm

Moreover, a decision by this Court not !o stsy Oe prooeedings would cause irrcparable

harm to the State's ability to prosecute lhis case at no @mmensurate gaio to Officrr Porter or the

Defendant. Indeed, Olfcer Porter, the appellee in tlre appcal, will not be alfected by a stay.

Despite the State's r€quest to schedule his rctial soon aier the December mistsial and before

trial of the related cases, Officer Porter's retrial was s€t for June 13, 2016, due to the asscrted

unavailability of his couosel pnor to that date. Consoqueotln the State's appea.l should be
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r€solv€d by then. Regarding the Defendant, be will not be a party to Ois appeal. As such.

ganting the stay would cause the Defendant to lose only a legally rnsgrificant short amount of

time awaiting resolution of the appeet before starting his tnal.l orr the other hand, dcnying the

stay would cost the State a valuable witness in its case. 0fficer Porter would provide key

evidence regarding the Defendant's allegod misconduct and his alleged recklcssness. Once the

jury has been swom m the Defendant's trial, however. the State will be foreclosod fiom seeking

any meaningful rtrnedy to this Court's denial of the Motion to Compel. If the Defcndant were

acquined afler a trial without Officer Porter's testimonn the damage would be done and could

not bc undonc.

A stay would obviate the risk of such a potentially unfair result. a risk made all the more

compelling given the public interest that abounds rn this matt€r. At stake here is not only the

outcome of one of the most hrgh-profile cnminal trials in Maryland history but also the very

fiber of our State's constitutional separation of powers. This Court's denial of the Mohon to

Compel has deprived prosocuton of bolh a valuable witress in this case and also an

indispensable proseortorial tool that thc lrgislature pnovided to them over twenty-five yeors ago.

Wlreihcr this Court's ruling is oorect tr whaher the State's view is proper is a question which

an appellate court should be pamitted to timely answer. The public intenest desenes no less.

particularly in light of the stong m€rits of the State's case on appeal.

I Even rssummg tbat gtrorrng a rtry would rcsult io a nal dclay of serrcral montto, the Dcfrndan was rndrctod less
thaa nlrc rmnlhs ago aod so would st l comc rc rral on r datc tbat would barely be suflicl€ot to cvcn tnggcr s
legiirmale speedy tnal challeogc, much lcss rtually dcprivc tlr Dcfcodaot ofthat rigbt giveo tte cotelcrlty of thc
nsuee n lhra cce. *e Glowr v &are,386 Md.211.221(2002) C\vhrlc no spocifc duratron ofdclay conirituta3 s
per sc delay of comtihroonal &meosrco. we havc coployed the proposrtioo that a g+tsral dclay grcotrr itio oDc
ycrr and forteen days wo 'prcsuarptivcly prtludrcral' oo several ocaa!Dns.') (interDal ciradoc oniatcd).

E. 172



C. The State will likcly prcvail on appeal

The merits ofthe State's appeal will tum on the question ofwhether CJP 0 9-123 requires

a oourt to order compelld immunized witness testfurony affer verifuing that the statutory

pleading roquirements of the prosecutor's motion to compel have been met, or whe0t€r the

statute instead pomits a court to substitute its own discretion and judgrnent as to whether

compelling the witness's testimony may be necessary to the public interest such that tlrc court

may deny a prosecutor's motion to comp€l even if thc motion othenrrise complies with the

pleading roquirements of the immunity ilatute. By ils terms. CJP $ 9-123 squarely answeB this

question, vesting the decision about whether to seek immunity for a witness squarely within a

prosecutor's discr€tion and granting a court only the role of confirming that the prosecutor's

pleadings are procodurally comptiant and then issuing the immunity order as statutorily

prescribed. In relevant part. $ 9-123 states:

(c) Order requiring lestimony. -
(l) If an individual has been. or may be, call€d to testiff or provide other
informahon in a crrminal gosecution or a proceeding before a grand jury
of the State, rte aurt in which the proceeding is or nay be held shall
issue, on lhe request of the proseator rnde in accordance with
subsection (d) oI this section. an ordar roquinng the individual to give
t€stimony or provide other information which the individual has refirsed to
give or povide on the basis of the individual's privilege against self-
incrimination.
(2) The order shall have the effoct provided under subsection (b) of lhis
section.

(d) Prtrequisites for order. - If a posecutor secks to compel an individual to
te$iry or provide otho rnformatioru the prosecutor shall rcquest, by written
motion, the court to issue an order under zubsection (c) of this s*tran when the
pros ec utor dete rmines thal:

(l) The testimony or othcr infonnation from the indrvidual may be
necessary lo the pubtic interest; and
(2) The individual has refused or is likely to refuse to testiff or provide
other mformation on the basis of the irxlivrdual's privilege against selG
incrimination.
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Cts. & Jud. Proc. Art g 9-123(cXd) (2015) (emphasis added). This languagc leaves no

ambigrrity about the p(osecutor's and the judge's respective roles-ihe prosecuttr makes the

discr,etionary deiermination of the public's intercst and then requests immunizod tcstimonn

while the judge determines only the requ€st's accordance with the stanrte and then orders

immunized testimony. Nowhere docs this language permit the ooud to inquire into the

prosccutor's decision-making nor does the statute allow the subject of the immunity request or

the underlying defendant to objecl !o thc manner in which the prosecution has cxcrcised its

discretion. The court has no discrehon to deny a prosecutor's immunity requet p,roperly pled

under subsoction (d).

The history of$ 9-123 confirms that this plain language aclueves precisely the result that

fie legislarure intended. As described by the House of Delegates. the immunity statute was

rntaded

FOR the purpose of authorizing certain prosecutors in certain circumstances to
file a written motion for a oourt ordcr compelling a witness to testi$, produce
evidence. or provide othcr infomratiou spcciling Oe effect of the order:
pmhibiting testimony or other evidence compelted under the ordcr or certain
inforsration derived ftom the compelled testimony or evideoce from being used
rgainst the witness except under certain circumstances; requiing a court wtder
certain circ?lnstanc?s lo issue an order requiring a wthress to testifi or provide
other infonnotion uryn request bv a proseatoa establishing procedures for
e,nforcernent of an order to tetify or provide other information: defining certain
terms: and generally relating to immunity for witnesses in proceedings befoe a
court or grord jury.

l9E9 Md. L"aws, Ch. 289 (H.B. I 3 I I ) (ernphasis added). The phrase 'lequiring a court" does nor

oquate with'allowing a court": rather. the Legislature's purpose was to crcate a mandatory

judicial action.

Mortover, a formal Position Paper oootained within the legislative history bill file for HB

I 3 t I similarly describes the procedural mechanism of the p,roposed new immunity statute:
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By hr the most significant chaoges provided by the proposed statute are
prooedural. lmmuoity would no longer be conferrod automatically or
accidantalln but rather only through oourt order. To ensute coordinatod,
responsible r€qu€sts for immunity, the decisron to seek a oourt order requires
approval by the State's Attomey, Attomcy General, or State Prosecutor. The
Stste's Anomey, Attorney General, or State Prcsecutor will thereby have central
control and ultimate responsibility for the issuance of grants of immunity.

The judicial role under this statute is ministerial. Thejudge verifies that:

L The State's Attorney, Attontey Gmeral or State Prosecutor ha
approved the request/or an immunitv order;
2. The winess has refirsed or is likcly to refise to testify;
i The prosecutor has delermined that the wl'tzess's teslimony ,ra! be
necessarv to be the public iaerest [sicJ.

Once the iudge conchdes these three requlrements are met, he issues a court
order compelling testimony and immunizhrg the witness.

The Judge will not hmself determine whether the witness's testimony may
be necessary lo the public tnterest. To do so would transform the Judge into a
prosed,tor and require him to nake delicate prosecutofial judgments which are
inappropnate. Furthermore, a Wrticular tmmunity grant may be a very small
aspect to a large scale investigation, making it inpossible for the judge to makc
any meaninglfitl aaluation o! the pblic inter6t.

Position Paper on HB l3l l, Witness lmmunity, S-9. t989 Reg. Sess. (19t9) (emphasis addod)

(attached as State's Exhibit l).!

Additionally. the legislature's Division of Fiscal Reserch submrtted a Fiscat Note for

House Bill 13 I I , sumnrarizing the poposed immunity statute as follows:

SUMN{ARY OF LEGISLATION: This amendod bill provides for the granting of
'use' immunity to witness€s compellod !o t€sti& regatding a cnminal mattcr.
Specificatly, if a witness reftses to testiff on a criminal matt€f,, on the grounds of
pnvilege against self-incrimination, the Court may compel the witness to testi!
or provide rnformatioo by issuing a court order to that effect. The court order
would only be granted upon the written request o/ the prosecator, who has found
that the testimony or informttion of a witness may be necessarv to the public
inarest, and that the testimony or inlornution would not be fonhcoming absent
the order.

I Ttc Pooiuoo PrFr bcart m aurhor but was containod wrthrn thc mrcrofilm lcgislatrvE brtl btsiory for HB I 3 t I oo
Iile at the Libnry of thc Dcpartnrnt of Irgrlauvc Serviccs m Anrupolr.
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Criminal prosecution would be allowed egainst the witness for thc crimes that
were testified about; such testimony, however. would not be'used'against the
witness in any criminal case except those involving the failure to comply with the
Court's order.

Md. Gen. Assembly Drv. of Fiscal Research, Frscal Note Rerbed for H.B. l31 1,1989 Reg. Sess.

(Apr. 4, t989) (emphasis supplied) (attached as Srare's Exhibir 2).

These materials make clear that the General Asseorbly intended CJP 0 9-123 to gr.mt to

the Executive Branch the sole power to determine whether glving a wrtness rmmunity would in

fact be in the public inter*t and to aulhorize the Judrciary to s€rve only the miniscrial role of

supervising the procedure of granting rmmunity. Consequentll this Court's atteorpt-however

well intentrcned-to hmit md appropriate to itself the Foseculor's statutorily vestod immunity

authority violatod Maryland's separation of powers principles. See Md. Decl. of Rights, Art. 8

('the trgislative, Executive. and Judicial powers of Governm€nt ought to be forever separate

and drstinct ftom each other. . . ."). This plain language and legislative history analysis ofCJP g

9-123 by ilself makes clear that the State will prcvail on the merits of its appeal from 0ris Court's

deoial of the Motion to Compcl.

While Maryland's appellate oouris have yet to ooostrue CJP g 9-123's division of power.

the statute's ledslative history suggests that another ready source of grridancc lics in federal law.

As the Position Paper on HB l3l t correc-tly noted at the time g 9-123 was being oonsidered,

"[t]he proposod ststute is basod substatrtially on the federal immunity statut6: 18 U.S.C. 0$

6001-04 (1985)." Position Paper, supra at2. That fed€ral statutory scheme provides in relorant

psrt:

$ 6003. Court and gnnd jury pooeedings
(a) ln the case of any rndivrdual who has boen or may be called to testiry or
provide other informatrcn at any proceoding before or ancitlary to a court of thc
United States or a grand jury of 0re United Stat6. the Uniled States distria coun
for the judicial distria in which the proceeding is or may be held s&alt dsse, in

t0
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acootdance with subsection @) of this sectiorq upoa the request of the llnited
Sutes auoraey for such district, tr order roquiring such individual to grve
testimony or Fovrde other information which he refuses to give or provide on the
basrs of his privilege against self-incrimination, such order to become effective as
provided in soction 6002 of this title IE USCS $ 6002].

(b) A United Sates attorney nay, with the approval of the Anomey General, the
D€puty Attomey General, the Associate Aflorney Ge,neral or any designatod
Assistant Anomey General or D€puty Assistant A$omey General, request an
order under subsecnon @) of thr's section when in his judgment--

(l) the testimony or other inlormation lrom such indiidual nay be
necessary to the public interest; arld
(2) such individual has rcfused or is likely to refirse to testifu or provide
otlrer infomration on the basis of his privilege against self-incrimination.

18 U.S.C. $ 6003 (emphasrs added). This provision uses a materially identrcal proccdure as that

outlined in CJP $ 9-123, and Iideral courts have amassed a substantial body of law construing

this provision's distrbution of power benvcen the court and the proseortor rD a manner lhat

strongly indicates that lhe State will prevail on appeal.

At the fouodation of these federal precedcots lies the Supeme Court's construction of a

pedecessor immunity statute in Ullnam v. United Srares, 350 U.S. 422 (1956). There the

Suprcrrc Court considered the question of whe0rcr a witness oould propedy request a judge to

deoy an rmmunity application that o0rerwise componod with the statutory pleading prerequisites.

which at the timc rcquired an av€rment that "in the judgmcnt of a Unitod States Attomey, the

testimony of [the] witness . . . is noccssary lo the public tnterest" and also requircd that dre

United Stat6 Attomey obtain 'the approval of ttr Attomey Gcncral" before making an

ryplication to the court. ld. at 423424. The Government argrred '.that ore oourt has no

dissrction to daemrine whether the public inter,est would best be servod by exchanging

immunity from prosecution for testimony [andl that its only function is to order a witness to

testi$ if it det€rmincs that the case is within the framework of the statute." Id. at 431. Ttp

Suprane Court agced that "[a] fair readrng of [the immunity statutel does not indcate that the

ll
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district judge has any discretion to deny the order on the ground that the public interest does not

worrant il"; rath€r, the court's "duty under [the statute] is ozl/ to ascertain whether the statutory

reguirenents are complrcd with by [prosecutors]." Id. at 412-34 (emphasis zuppliod).

After Congress enacted the proceduratly similar prescntday rmmunity schemg the

federal Circuit Courts of Appea.l have uniformly constued those provisions in accordance with

IJllmann. For example, /r re Kilgo. 4U F .2d l2 I 5 (4d' Cir 1973), involved an ap,pellant who had

boen held in conlernpt after refusing to testiS despite being irnmunized and compelled under the

foderal immunity statute. He claimed, in part, "that the immunity order. on which the contempt

citation resttedl, [was] invalid [because] neitha he nor the court was apprised of the basis of the

Unitod States Attomey's oonclusion that his testimony was neoessary to the public rnterest . . . ."

Id. al l2l7 . The Fourth Circuil found no merit in this conlentioq explaining

No case interpretmg the public interest provision of 0re 1970 Act [enactrng the
immunity scheme] has been called to our attention. However, cases constnring
analogous roquircmenls in earlier immunity statute establ$h that the disuict
oourt is not enrpowered to retr'iew the Unrted States Attorney's judgnre,nt that the
testrmony of the wihess is nocessary to the public inter6t. Thc leading case is
Ulbunn v United Stares. 350 U.S. 422, 100 L. El. 5ll, 76 S. Ct. 497 (1956),
which construed the hununity Aa of 1954 [8 U.S.C. g 3a86] dealing with grand
jury inquiries involving national security. That Act also limited grants of
immunity to witnesscs whose testimony, in the judgment of the Unitcd States
attom€y, was necessary to the public interest. The Courl rocognizing thc potential
constitutional question that would rise if the judiciary reviewed the merits of
immunity. constnrod thc statute to withhold from the district court 'any discretion
to deoy the order on the ground that the public interest does not warrant il.' 350
U.S. at 432. It held that the fimaion of the distic{ @urt was limitod ro
asccrlaining whether the application complied with the statutory requirernent -
lhat is, had the Unitod States attomey cdrtfiod that in his judgnrent the tcstimony
of the witness was in the public mt€rest [...] Thcdmffcrsofthe 1970Actleftno
doubt that the constnrction given to the public intcret provbion in pr,evious
immunity acts was to be applied to g 6003, and Oe legislative histo,ry confirms
the limited role of the court. Because the Aci does not authorize the districl court
to review tbe United States attomey's judgmart that the testimony of the wihess
may be necessary to the public int€rest, no evidence pertaining to this judgnant
need be offered.

l2
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Id. a.l2lE-19.

Similarly, the Thitd Circuit described the procedural op€ration of the foderal immunity

statutes inrrl re Grand Jury Investigation,4S6 F.2d tOl3, 1016 (3'd Cir. t973), saying "[u]ndcr

the language of [8 U.S.C. $ 6003] the judge is required to issue the order when it is properly

requested by the United States Anomey," and "[hJe is given no discrction to dcny it." Likewisc,

the First Circuit in h re Lochiauo.4g? F.2d E03, E05 (lsr Cir. l9?4), constued $ 6003 in

accordance with Ulbunn as using language Oat "do€s not indicate that the district judge has any

drscretion to deny the order on the ground that the public interest do€s not wanant it." Acard In

re Maury Santiago,sl3 F.?A727, ?28-29 (l"t Cir. 1976) C'Thc U.S. Attomey 6led a later ft,om a

pmper official of the Justice Department authorizing him to request rmmunity for Maury. He

stated in open court that Mauqi/s tBtimony was, in his opinion, nec€ssary to the public interest.

The ludgnent of the U.S. Attomey rs unreviewable rn thrs matter. . . and we see no r€ason lo

roquire that this representation be put in affidavit b*."); Uuted Snes v. Levya. 513 F.2d 7?4,

776 (5h Cir. 1975) (holding that the witness was oot entitled to noticc and a hcaring bcfore an

immunity order is granted and oonsUuing that 'since the court's duties in granting the requested

order are largely miniserial, when the ordcr is properly roquestod the judge has no discretion to

deny it.'): Llrasaki v. United States District Cowt,5M F.2d 513, 5t4 (9'i Cir. l9?4) ("In passing

upon ao iurmunity application, the disuict oourt is confnod to an exmination of the application

and the doom€nts accomponymg lt for the purpose only of deciding wbether or not the

application meets the procedural and substantive requirements of the authorizing statute. [...]

Adversary procodure is not a part of the ledslative scheme in connection with the district oourt's

pcrformancc of its limited duties in granting or denying the apphcatron for immunity."). Lastly,

in Ryan v. Commissioner,s6S F.2d 531, 541 (7h Cir. 1977), the Court rejected an appellanl's
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claim that an immuruty order was invalid bocause the record 'did not cootain fscts showing that

the p,rosecutor had any basis for making the judgrrant that the gront of immunity would be in the

public interest." As the Court explaincd, "[s]ince that judgnent is entirely a matter for the

execuhve branch. unreviewable by a court, there rs no need for the reoord to contain any facts

supporting the decision of the Unitod Statcs Anomey:' Id.

In addition to this guidance frrom the foderal courts, the New Jersey Supreme Court has

squarely considered the propriety of the judiciary questioning a prosccrtor's decision that there

exists a pubtic need to grant immunity to a witness. tn /n re Tuso,376 A.2d 89j (N.J. 1977), the

appellant was a lawyer who had boen subpoenaed to te$iry before a Srand jury considering an

indictment. When the lawycr assertod his privilege against self-incrimination. the New Jersey

Attomey General petitioned the court to compel his testimony under New Jersey's similar use

and denvative use rmmunity $arute, which provrdes that upon such a pehtion 'the court shall so

orda and that person shall comply with the ordcr.* /d. at 896. Beforc the court could rule on

that petition, a different state grand jury indicted the tawyer on charges involving the sanre

subject mafier as oe testimony that the Aflomey General sought to compel. .ld. when the court

nevertheless granted the perition and ordered the lawyer to testift, the lawyer appealod to New

Jersey's intorr€diate Appell*e DivisiorL whiclr reverscd the trial oourt's oder as imp,rcper. /d.

-The principal basis for the conclusion of the Appellate Division was that the Stste did not nood

the information it was sed<ing from Tuso" bocouse the "Attomey Generat concoded at orat

argum€ot he had sulficient information for an indrctrnent against D'Anastasio but wanted Tuso's

testimony to as$re a conviction." Id. 
^t 

E96-97. Moroover, though the *Appellate Division

conceded that ihe foderal cases uniformly construe the parallel federal irnmunity statute to

wittrhold any discretionary right in the court to deny an order to testiff whol the prosocuting
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offic€r has met the pr€,fequisites of the statute . . . the Appellate Division felt the foderal cases

were not authoritative where the order sought was 'basically unfair, rnequitable or totally

unnec€ssary. "' Id. al896.

On subsequent appeal to New Jersey's highest court, the Attomey General challenged the

Appellate Division's intrusion into his authority. and the Supreme Court agreod with his

position. ln reversing the Appellate Division, the Supreme Court explained regarding the state's

immunity scheme:

[]t rs clear that the statute cited above delegates the firnction of detfinining n€ed
in such a situation to the Attorney General (or prosecutor, with fie approval of the
Attomey General), not the court, conformably wi0r thc duty of that officer to
attend to the enforcement of the c,nmrnat laws. Upon request by the Attorney
Gerral. the statute dir€cts that the court 'shall' oder the witness to testiry. [. . .]

/d. at 896 (emphasis supplied).

ln summation, on the question of the State's likelihood to prevail here on appea.l as it

bears on the issue of whether to grant o stay of the proccedings, every source of authoritl-from

CJP $ 9-123's plain text and leglslative hstory to its foderal oorollary's extensive appellate

constructioniemoDsbates Oat this Court e,ned in replacing the State's Attomey's

detennination of the public intenest with its own and thst the Stste will pwail on appeal

accordingly. The clear intent of the l*gislature was that the Executive Brandr, not lhe ludiciary,

$ould havc thc discraion to detcrninc whahcr a particular witness's testimony Day be

necessary to the public inter,est under Maryland's general immunity statute.

Wherefore, the State requests that this Court grant the State's Motion to Stay Proceedings

Pcnding Appeal.
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\ h.sou,rr.rol ,r,otrr!loa. rlto a.||xld bo ioro\t ll.tl tn! ttntprn
ln, nlrrol rr't rr.rl.rl r|'ni .r. .'rlnlln6l ,lol,rtlarn3.r, lhc lnrrro. trr
lrlr r..uld $uhp.l!.on '\' o. ill' lrclolc thc rannd ,n.y ,rt rhlrh
r rrx. '.1' .ixd 'll' $oold iorolc thcl. p.lraactc .tt{lnsl r.,lr.
rri. rmr|r.tl lon. thrlca ihC UrCaCot la$. liC Dr.rsa(olrra r.rr.rtd th.,n
,.r.. thc dllr'roa.ot hnrloi to alec .A. or ..O. t,roiflctti'ont
rxrllrnlt, .r. a total cratrpt lon lroo llrblllly tllr lhclt
nll\dr.cd3. 'A' or '0". thco. could conccltabl, not bo p..rs...,utcd
f.lr ttcar rolc lo tic coo3pl..tcy on clthc. tbc rtnic ol ,.rl...rl
l.i.l. ,, t.ootcd lransoctlo.rt lltitollr. fic, alio concctv.tDly
..Ur, noi locrr clrll ltxblllty ,or ti"lr lneolu.ncot.
r.rn.t,lsrblr oay not lorua ctrll Irr llabllltt, tr itrc ,r'.ln o,
p.o,rlllcs aid 'A" concaterblt, |l|i!t, not lnCC Drolcttronrl
.lrt..rOlloc ln thc ,orir o, lrccosc suspcoston ot rcror{tlor ty lrir
,'.rrlc\rlonrl llccnrtot iutioaltt,, To po.alt "A. o, ,tl" t., r.lt
.lrat ,,rm thcla alsdccdt rortd trolt' bo a orsclrrldrc ol ,(rtr.c.

B. Th-c lciotot toq

fhc .ctolotloo of tic dalcat It to ptovldc alre prosc.olo,
rlli 03. l|rrlnlt, to Dcr.at tac p.oaacrtor to Dulld r irr
Srorc.ullon casc rirlnst flaSDlo by l,rlnoalrlot .A. ,..r thc usc
ol .r\.r. 3catlmty ililr3t ila. oa a itrootlcE cosa b, tn...roarl,li
'0" ,r.n tha o'r ol lrl3 la3laDor a3rlosl iar. .1. rod -8. coutd
rta,, be p.o3ccotod ,oa licl] lreolvcfrc.t li ti(. consparar.y.
rooltt 3llll bc ,orccd to pay clrll trr pcnrltacr ..d .A- coutd
trill Dc aobr.ca to dtsctpllna oo a Daorc3ilooil basls.
Cor talnly. coos illetrt ion o, iarprarptlilc r.lact loos .tadanst . l- xnd
"ll" rh.ruld ood .rlsl ancludc ill pogalbalttr.r tirao thc ,[ltoltnil.
o, tltat, rnvolroical Ir lie ctlttlc.

a t . l,N)t{!itrD (:t \}.XA[ Uritr\ t y SlAnr?[
fhc p..rD,rrcd rtrtota ls lrircd rlbtlanllrtly o. thc ,.,rll,r.rl

rfiruorlt s!,.iutcr: l8 t,.S.C. 5i6O0t.0a llgCSr. (.h.rntos ,rl.rda rt
th.. lnrtunfc r.,. p,rnqrlll tho34 ;1q11.o6 b' thc rlrllr.rolr.r.s

2.
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l.r.t\rlrrr thr orXnnrrnlron.rl ..l,o.lora ol lra .'i.lo,rrnr'tl .rA.,r. rr'\
i$ tl.. l..lrr n I .rr.l \t.ila r!\lr'rxt.

lir' p,oposod lcrr,nl lnrmoll, ttololc .llft..J rrb\lnnl lrrl,
ll.t|n .rl\l lnl llr.yirnd slilrlc3 lll ih...c r,!yil

l. lt laoyldc3 toa oic tnd .tc.lritlrc ut. anti.nd .rl
I I nn\l.rl lona I lofion I tr:

2. lt lt gcncrally avilloblc arlic, tioo lrtDllcd to
\p.c l,lc ca loca 3

t. ll ii3 bollt-ln Daocciloral snlcaottds .ilri rrl,st bc
c.{pllcd rllh pilor to li3 utlllratloa. Ccoc.ally. lhc prcrcot
rlrl ul ca oParilG aulo.lllllcallt.

fic aropo3cd lrtEoll, 3trtrlc uoold ,cAlicc laa l.tioo l ay
prorltloor ,ol ipcclrlc crl[a3. Pl9scollr. iLrylr.d ios sop,trrt.
llrrlonlltr prorltlo.3 ,o. thc lolloolol c.l.rsat A.tlclc 2?. 923.
orllrcry ol nubllc Olalclrli:!/ lrtlctc 27. 52a,8rlbcry o,
,lthlatlc Partlclprnl8i Arllcla 2r. tt9. ConaClrrcy to Cooat
tt lbct1.2! ctdllnl or lottc.y vtottttonrt Arrtc;c 2r. 529f.
Coot.ollcd toa3caous Sob3tnncc3a A.llcla 2r. 9262. cn.tirl lnl!
A.llctc 3r. 53r1, f&torl Vlotrtlon3i AratctG e7. taOO. Sorrrot
Llq!o. lo Laoorri A.alcla 2r. tiao. Stbot13" Prcrentlooi Artlcla
33. 926-!6. Elcctlo. ltr.aultrlllca3 Pl..ncl.l lnrtltutloos 9r-

Ulrrlctc ttt. 55a
lic C.oc.rl Ai3a-1, to
l rroicat loml larto I tr.

o, llc Cor3lltullotl o, ib.yliod ..Oolrcr
,dopt a balbcr, aa.iotc (oolc..toi
Artlclc 8r. 5t2t aDtl 39 erc tic .c.r0.rosc

lo tia .nlldatc. Coo3cqucrt lt. obrcot a coostlrstlonnl o|!corh..nt.
inrnoo I ty ,oa brlbcry orrt cootlnua to bc .taaosictaoo!1" rs
oopor.d lo lho rmrc lloltcd 'o3c rad dc.lrrtlrc usc. Illrllloitt.

2/Traoroctaonel truuntl, ,ot coa3rltta, lo ..rurtr I ll,thc,yrlrt, rould lot bc rrrcctcd !l.ce ll, hra coo3tllotlo|lal .rtc.t.rnr.\.

- 3-
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rrl ! :,.rr rxX\ .rxtt t.r..tr t.t....r, l|r r.n, 1'

ttt. lt\\t5 ltn t.:.t t\rrt\trt

A. l..gnl ll,lsls r.rr lir. lrrr nlt,
In li9?. thc Soorc|Irc C.rora lald onconrt ltnt t.ro,|l n lfirrrt.l

lnanxnlty 6tnlolc rll..h bir.ad thc lntr.,.luct lon r.t crrrill'l l..rl
l.tl lttrroy bra gcrnrlItcd lt lO bG urcd aO ,orrlC .lthc,
cvldcoco.l./ Thc Coo.a acrsooc(t .- corioftly .. at.rt 3nrh
dcrarnt lyc o3a o, tlc Irlnlcd ctld.ncc ,co.lcr.d th. ln.r.xntty
,n.noloalcrt. Brl a6tha. thlto !lrety ta.lln, th,tt th.
C.rn3tllullon rcqul.cd dcalratlyo ai! ll'rirnlty; 1.c,. lll.$.roal,
,ro. boti tia lotrodocttoa o, c.rr0cl lcd aoatlftrny aod
crlrloatltloa o, rc ta3tlrDo, to rlrd lctdr. rc oplDloo spol. tn
btoad Itntuaac rilch Sccacd lo rcoolrc l?nnrnaalorlrl ll.nuolty.
Con.cqucotlt. Cor3rcr3 coitctcd t irnorrctto.il lllruntty !trtrrto
rilci srt optcld by tt! soDrooc court.!/ ood.ilci lrc. r.o thr
@dc! ,oa rtrtc lcalstrtlon. tLlgla. Coo3rca3 .cn.rtcd atc
-rja.sacl t.ral t,tmno t t, tt"tutcrffi

clrc cooa I
.tvlcrcd llC acr staiula. at i"ld till lhc tara6aftlonr.l l||.nontry
lrotur3c ln Counaclaii rtlcl trd bccn rclrad on tot olnort rrnc
Ituodrcd yaa.t rrs 4lc.aQ. Thor. 

-tia 
Coorl iald airt tic ,r.s

slttolc iilci br.r tic urc aod dcrlrlai; of I ntorantt aon
obta I o"d

ilarrliod" tarrstctlooal llralty rlrtutcS. t.te tlw rr..t.rnt

.-- l/trrnrrltl lr ttc aivtn33 aDO toci sltuatloo routdrno s E slacc ttc d{lat lo.l oa tlra lllrnaal 
'rc.orood-rol!:91!!q!.t9. ot thc rrcrdloa o.trorr rootd'b. rroiiio'i".rrcnston ol tic tuosct p.otl3lorr.

'/Corgtc torln r. llltcicocl. la? U.S. 54, ltSg?t.
S/n/*r, ,. g!tlcr. t6t U.S. S9t atao6f.
6/X[str3ar r. ttalt..l Statas. .tO6 tr.S. lat tlgr?).

.4.

rrnlt i n
th.
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rr...rtrlr \lnlnlr.\ tr.l.|.rl..l lll l{in. ntr. b,rrcrl I1'.}|| . r r.,,.,rh. t

r(lrrl.r.rl.tl ron o, lla ltll:! rlra.l\l.ro. ll l\ n..r alr.n, ttnt tr\.
rrnmorir alll nx.cl a'ontlll!li.ro.rl ,.qnl,..tn..nt\- \l.l,yln||rl,\ l.tr.
...o. l rr..,.tlh, c. trotrlntad.

e. Irnctl.ol Ratcr fo. lEc lnltlrotty
lo.rd.llll.ln lo l.orl.lln, tlrc ,|rrsrlblltt, th/rl o slto..i\

llrr.n urc l[onlt, lta, bc subrcct to rulricqocnt prosccrrtloo ,o.
hl! ...l.loil rctlratr. 1.c.. tiC Olarcr lbrti Dro3ccotlon. ,n.t
iollld bc arbrccl ao colartcrol coi3cilo.occs. tsc ri.r..lty
llrorid.g lor |rbrc c.rrrlolclc dlrcloro.G ol cvldcncc tbnn
l.r.!ictlooil lrtrnroltr. Ai Prorcr3o, G. nobarl Elalaly stnie.t ;

Itc l9ra Sc.loar ol tic tratlonil A33ocliilon3 o, Atto.ocy3
Ccnr.a! I :

lvltl arroslctlo.al loilnti, rll rc rltocat
h.a lo do 13.a.tlo! tia tronrictloot ic doer
ooa, hrrc to ,a lo tha dotrtar. So trlsltloroe, can tall il'l lo ,o3i ncrtloo lt. and
thca i!y. 'l doo.t ac.!arbGr.. Ott rlta t
'o3c' 3l.loa.. ! snrat attor.ay idrlsca tlscllcal lo tcll rll lo lno.t. b.crorc thc lm.c
hc tollrr ahc tctr ean bc litct used rtrtnrihlr. So "usc' rtitutct cocouar3c ,ulrca
dlrclosurc by-rltocarca. ald th!a Ir ritt liay..a .c!l ly rl I about,

.osolt. lodlvldoalr tcsairrlria oodGr r !r!ni of urc anru.it'
3.c.tc. .Ga3on to dlsclor! alclr lovolvcrna.r/
tortiar. . lcacrtl lrr[alt, tl!tttc. t.st.id ol tic prrsc,rt

e6t(hroal qtlll o, llturrr l ty saatutca tot parllculn. c.Ir.3. r.r[l.l
lilc.lsc ba Dra cooduclvc to ,ull dltctoruac ol ct a.lcncc b, ao
r-o.l.ad slincts. O,tGo tartarD.y aboul r d..3 t.ioro(tloo rrll
cncqtDr33 otlrca c.laca. ruci at rlolttlons ol c.lltloil lar
riltluicr. trdcr tla Drct".l ststao. a tatn?3r aubpoo..cd to
lcttary Dortor.l to tic lul,olty paorlslonE o, Aatlclc 2r, g2rt

A3 il
,16vc

?/ttict icr t .rroarict loor I o. usc
lr,.'t ludc ptosecul loo ,ot prtJur, oa
rrdl h. ..,

.!.

talncs3 rmillxaay d.rct lot
,ll.ll lea a.tlrr. ilntrnx.iit\ dnrl,.,
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(roxtrllll('d lr.rrr8r'a..o\ slh\l'lxr'a\l lt!l) lr.'l "'ln\'' 
l', l'\lrll

It.r.r{\r lr\rlnk.n} lr'fnlrllxF lIa t'rtnlillllrll rl'rn6rtorrs tul'rlnn" \

Ir.rhrr.'l rr.ll ro$lal ilnll.ll'lnr'.lt|rly lnl.tta'!atc t'lo ln lhn ''rTo'ri\lr'x
.rt ott'.'r ..lnx.s. ..3.r lnr po.,lx.y.0/ tol ltrl! clt''om\lnfir'
l,rt,\.'rlt lho ootslltlIllt.r, t llnp ,rt. lhc ntr'rty 1""\"r ll|'
tc{orllnt lalo dto! vlololloni nnd lnndvc.l.ntly arnnllna
t,..nlaallootl llttllunlty toa Solr Dtctloutl, onl'or.o "l.nro't
arrlrllY.

!'urtto.. thctc i.c no plor.'dr..a r.rfct[:rldt ln itl. 1""\"'rl
llnrllnlty 3tntnict ind cooscQuctll, tltcl, oo"ti'on l3 ltl*a"t'd
hnpi.rrr.dlr. r/lthoot ldlnlltlcillon o, $lia r rll"3t b'!lns lo
.cr'cauc rlrtoltr. Tio tlrlutG3 tlSo p.ovldc to 

"utixroll'llinl|nlty botlr'. Aclo33 lic narloo.Q/ slloca<ca gxho',"nncd b"'ot'
tlrc r.rnd jrt, oost cltlrot atsctl iic Ptlvl lcSc 'r;ilost sol' '
to.rt ln.taoa oi clrc ootll, liG Paotcculoa lhil lt at lh'i'
l.llrotloo to do io. lhc Orotcculol lhc. ntlS lhc c"!'l lo "t'1"
tciir.6tty !.d cc.tlflct that tic l|t.nl|nll, Gonacttcd tictebt lr in

rhr nobllc lotcrc.t. Thlt It tbG procodltc 3ot oot lo tils
proDorcd slalotc ond lt tho 9toccdrtr lncorPolttcd lo thc
.ar.ntl, ,dorrlcd trvlo33 ind lorn llr[i|nlly tc3l3ll.llon. ln rh"p
cotlatal. ,E3t P.csool tlr.rrtand 3ltlrlc3 attlttlzc clctroo' rho

,o9s.r3 4uarlloas It lla 3rard lrrry.lO/ No .l3sqtalon of llrc

;.lvlfcac ls rcqllrcd. .o, It ihc.a iol tcqol..m.l ot a

cc.ta,lcrtlori liat lhc l.ltoaiy l3 lc tiG Pobllc l'llctait' thc

urc"rirltlt oa ri"n lic slatotc ls trlgllctbla. cotplcd rlllr lh..

blaotal to[i ]c tttt3acl looll itlalty b!ti. o,.tlca trh,yl.,ld
lll|lunrty slatulcS boti btpilorttd nnd d olcfous. lnacas i.

t/tr rc; Ctinlnrl tnlcral3alloo No. t.t62. !0, lfl. 6'.i3
( l9trl.

9/!t,teclt,,rttnltr. Ml aoonl Asso.l.ll loo o,,lll.tl..'rt
C.t..r r l . Aulust. l0?e.

l0/state v. t'en.rgoulli. ?33 it. 699 ll959l
xppcrrcd volunld.aly 6cr.rac ttaod ,ury to oill!
tha.tl r3lad qoctl .oos rlls '('ott|lcl lcd' lo lcallly
b, rlrra!, rnurna l, strltulcll.

lllilo.sr rh.r
sl.tl cra..nl .rlld cn\
talhlo r..'.ln i xI o,

6.
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,l

l.t!,\..r ntoi r\ rr',t flrlrr",rnnl lll ltc l'i*'!t lo\ o' 'nrr \! r'''l r1'

g,.u,t ;ur1 lnr. tc o' rhe ar'r ldr'ilalll lltl' ln'.tllol,. ltlrl|.nlrll

t.rrarlt. ,ls o crro<"lut'$.. ol lhc tl\ir ttllrn: 
"' 

l thr hr.rl|l

.rut.rmil lc aranlnlly trcollr'll l'y nn,.tot. \llltlnx'nnr hrttttr' 'r Irrrrrl

,$rv lor.rlllnllnl 't'ol3' L'uitlloi nx(l 'lor 
lr.ln l'r$\' tllo lr''n'l

,n,I ,tcrlxc,tlly l,r'('{lll's t,ru\..bl' d3 on ln$'\lll'rl!v" l'lrrl llr

,Un.. nr."r. fic i'tutt l3 thtl lic 
' 
ln'ln(l'l n\I"' ls ol ldrlr

d,oa opc...t ltint .tonol bG lnrcrrl;n'cd l'' iii"l'rn'l Itnnrl lotl"(

.i'lorlty. dctpltG lic b'o'd btuti lrrtl|nl'sll"o llrc p".'"xl

,,r,",n4 0tovl.lc. tic, rl.u Itoolcill' d'0rlvc 0olcnllnl

.lc,co.lnnt3 oa ti" oDoottoolty lo provldc 'tcolnttoly "el'lt'nc' 
lo

t 3..rnd ,ury. A ,tosccolo' sio olltlt olhoirlSc c'rntcnl t" lhc

"rio"."n"o 
o, a dclcadtnt tto rlnl'lo tcrtl'y hcfotc lo

lovcaal3rllrG ltind ,ot, ot " ltrc ltlot G colL!'o o'''olao'G ' t

prnro"o,o, *io 13 tllll'a 
'o 

cill 'i 
tll"3r suPpotllrc ol lhc

aoion"c. D, dccllia lo do 30 b'Grosc lrc tratS aol',.nttl'

lliunlrat lon. Thcac ata oo llDl'll' rllvcl tlt'rlct ntd ttc

qoo3tloa of rlictltaa llo loto.r'tlc ltttx'lll t' cto bc 'alrcd 
h.ts l"

to b. tasolvcd by tltc ip9clltlc coott3'

IV' ltL(xtri'il) sIAn'T!

ttc ploeoscd stalol' sllbsl liolct tlc fot I l'rni'lcl lonnl

- tnontlyli/ bccersc o, tiG tddltloolll ,.cl'llndixt utr"tv ltnl

t3. ttlD.]t, P.orldG3. ll toold .ololuitc.ll, b.lo3 thc i[t',|nnd

lrr loto accord ttth llic Suetctc Colrt'3 coi'col vlc$ ot lhc

b.crdth oa tla Flati 
'\rlc'An"t '

Tia proposcd 3latota l3 
'rdc;co'rilly 

t[l9ll(nblc ptil'lrtrlt

,o. lro acasont. tl o33ulca li! cilItocllobll'ly o' lhc l'\l'xrlnl

reSir.lanl r ltootictaoo rtlci 'ly 
lololvc I rstlelt, o'

rntcrrclttcd ctlic3 rnd ttor Gltc!'vcntt toy conslllrtlonil

t l./116,|36i,.t iooal l-oolty ,ot lhc
,..tarocd bc(nosc ol lt3 aooslitutlooal
r,trlnls aod loaa ltrrsl,:,1 lolr b'r':lu:c

ca lnc o, lrtIbcaY l\
unth'.Plao ina nr.l ,o, lhr'
ol ilt I llnll$rl rlllr.rl irnr.

.t
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t.r..lrlrtr $r,l..lt x,.rt Irrrrntll "rrrf.l!/ r:rrirx.lrr. tt r\ xno
,rtr3...r..rl ti,rt a 5r.r{d 1tr1 i..r, lro nn tllnl.rr,ll!rlnt. r..,n.l. r.rr ,rr.
rnr,.\t r(!rt ll'n o, n r.r,ll'lt n, rrrnili. pn,il.otrrlt l,,rF.. \.,rtr
drna lltl..,nt ti',r\r ,{rna, lllxoriralnl. n,ld iir pr,trllar. lhr
..rlrlr.nco o, a G.r.'r,rlly nr.nllnhtc h||t llnltcd r||t||||Ollt \r.[nt.r
coold,r,tlcit, lhc donl D.oblcaS o, og lra,loalty ior rmsl 11g1r.j .rn4
t.rr lllor.h lnfitoli, ,o. datas. lnrltil l.r; nnd .l.ctton3 orr.,llios.

It, ,ra tlo tEra rlaolflcint ciiolcr provttta(, b, thc Oropos.rt
ranloic nao pao(C.lratl. ll.c|olty r.rold oO l.roac. Dc r.oorr.r,cil
.rolrnlllllctlly Or oc(ld.olally. bnl attlroa iroly lhr.rlat ron.t
.rrdra. To cnitfc cooadloitcd. actDontablc tc4!o3as ,oa rotnrolit.
lhc (1.'clrloo lo rccl ,r (ourt o.dca alqtl.cr.rlrplorrt lry tt.
Slata'g AttorarGy. Attoroqy c.ocr!l or Stalc prot..tlot. IItc
sirlc'3 Atloroctt. thc Atiornc, ccocrtl oa siato prorc..ulo. rrll
ali(,oby loec fcotrltl colltaol nod tlllrr.lac ,cspooriblllt, 10. th.
,<to6nac oa !atntt arf tn.tloolly.

fic ,odlclal .ol" 0.rdca alls 3tatotG t! trlna.tc.irt. tnc
Jurlac rcr lt lci ah.tl

l. thc Slofc't Attorrctr. 3ic Altor.c,caacral. or SlttC p.o3ocrtor has appr6rcd tbcrcqoc6l ,oa rr l.lrunl:, ordori
2.- Thc rttaa33 iir r(.ros!d o. l3 lllcly tororosc to tor I l,r:
l: Tlc ,tosceutor htr d.tcreiacd itrl lhcra.lacts't I c3t l,rrny n|y bc ac.catary to bc tlc
DoDl lc anl.ro.r -

(hcc th. Judtc aorcltdcr thcsc ttlr.c ,aqtl.rocotr nro !.rt. lrr.
arioca o c.rorl ordc. .inocllrit larttrlor.rn.l lrl|rtntrilrl thc
r a t oags.

llrr Ju.lac rtll not hl!.rcl, doi.,'lloc rhclttca tic rllncsi,

. l2lt'/,. ,n rc (.rrlntnil ltvosttSnlt.ro No. 1.t63. .|oor.l. n.G.trrtr.\. xdrrt r..,t\.rn.rhlt ,c . proi;r.utlon l,rt ,rrr._,"t',,i ."..r"r",ro,,rriri l.
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lrrl rrxrnt tl.rt h. [c...'$\.r,rr to ti. ,robl lr lntr,rl|t, l.) rtl. s.,
n.r$lrl lrr'l\rol.n lt. rx,lfi. lfit.r.r l.r.r,...ntl|, nr..l r...1l|r,. ttrrr. t.,
lhrl. .l|.ll.'.rt. t'ro\c(nlr,.lal J[.llir.nl$ rhr lh n.., lxnl,lr,r'p.rnt...
lolllrotnxraa, t 0lt,llaartia ll,l'Unlty atnttl lll,t, hr ra r.,l ..m.tll
n\l'rcl lo d l.,tta ranlc ln!.\l lr.rl 1..o. lntl tol I I txlrr\\rhr.. ,i,.
th. ,{.llc to nl'lc nnt ifr.iloa,rl ovaall.llloa o, ti. pDlrll..
i n t aa.tl .

9-
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trua e.|tur Gttarvrtf,trll c flscar ttutctt
oruttlo o fttarr l[ttrro|,E ll t. c .t. ortcro

fttctr ortrtrto
&.r3. ltll ltll (th. SB.r.r. .l .ll (orl.9ot. x.l3. Ch.trr.6. S!.cl.l
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*its:S&-}aonday, February 08, 2016

02/08/16 CRIMTNAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:15
CASE 115141033 DCM TRACK C DATE 090215 FELONY DRUG INIT

CASE 11514]-033 STATUS A DATE 052115 PREV ST CODEF YES CHANGE 020516
DEF NERO, EDWARD MICHAEL OFC ID A32383 SID 003783293 R: W S: M DOB 110585

ADDRESS 242 W 29TH ST BALTIMORE MD 272LL
DOA OOOOOO CMPL 715O4OOO PHYS LOC CASE LOC BAL O5O]-15
DOF 052115 TRACK NO 14-1001-52889-4 DrST CASE 4802294450 WAR 00 CJrS Rr 1

OO1 OOO A USER ASLT2 CODE 1- 14]-5
ARREST/CITATION NO O

PLEA DATE
SENTENCE TYPE DATE

PROBATION TIME
OO2 OOO A USER MISC CODE 2 0645

ARREST/CITAT]ON NO O

ASSAULT-SEC DEGREE DISP

PLEA
SENTENCE TYPE

PROBATION
OO3 OOO A USER MISC CODE

ARREST/CITATION NO O

PLEA
SENTENCE TYPE

PROBATION

VERDICT DATE
TIME BEG SUSP

TYPE COST FINE
MISCONDUCT IN OFFICE D]SP

VERDICT DATE
TIME BEG SUSP

TYPE COST FINE
MISCONDUCT IN OFFICE LISP

DATE
DATE
TIME
2 0645

DATE
DATE
TIME

VERDICT
TIME

TYPE

P/N

DATE
BEG
COST

NEXT PAGE

SUSP
FINE

PAGE OO1

Tnur coPY ' 'i.., --
TEST : ffi

{&1 )
LAVINIA G, ALH(AJDER, CLEII,K

E. 216



i?l5.5Ot Monday, Eebruary 08, 2016

C2t08/\6 C8IMINAL COI,3T oF BALtTMCRE cAsE :NQUIR)- 09: 15
CASE i15141('3-i Sl A \ERo. EDIIARD MICHAEL OFC A32383 CoD '/ DC!', C 090215

OO.I OOO A USER RECI(L CODE 1 1425 RECKLESS ENDAI.I'J3PMENT DISP
ARREST /CI TAT:OII NO O

PLEA DATE VERDICT DATE
SENTENCE T/PE DATE TIME BEG SUSP

PROBATION TIME TYPE COST FINE
EVENT OATE OPER PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVgNT ':OMMENTt01.ll5 P31 09:30 538 Pt(,7

022:t6 P3l 09:30 5?8 JT
CASI 052115 CKI', CASE ADDED THFo0GH oN-LINE ON THIS DATE 2013052:
CO}'M O5:1I5 CKI INDICTMENT TLD
COMM 052119 CKI'| FILED ASA - BLEDSOE, JANICE L , ESg 68?76
coMM 052115 gCB CCI 715C.10'J000
M')TF 052715 SCY IIOTION FOR SPEEO/ TRIAL
M('IP 051715 SCY MOTION TO PRCDUCE IIICUMENTS
i4OTF 09 2715 Sar- REQTJEST FOR OISCOVERY
MOTF 052?15 SCY MOTION TO SUPPRESS PORSUANT TO MD 4-:52 ANO 4-:53
I1OT 

' 
05:?15 SCY MOTION FOR GPAND JURY TESTII4ONY

MCTF 05:?15 SCY DEYAND FOP CHEMIS?
COMM 0527:5 SC' DEFENDAIIT NERO'S DEMAND FOR BILL OF PARTICULARS
coMM C52715 S':f .IOINT MOTIoN Tc DISMIgS FCR PROSECUTORIAL MISCONoUCT,

IIEXT PAGE P/N PAGE OO2

E. 217



9'rl i, 5 ?l Mondiy, Feb:uary 08, 2016

C2/()8/L6 CR:MINAL
CASE 11514 10 3I ST

EVE}IT OATE OPER
ccMM 052? r 5
coMM 0 52? 15
coMrl 052 ? l5
ccrvM 05:115
C,:'MM 05 2 715
coMM 052?19
coMM 052?15
coMM 0 52 715
FILE C52?i5
coMM 0i:9i5
coMM 060115
c..r!M 060115
coMv 060315
coMM 060315
ccMM 060415
coMM 060415
coMM 06c.r t9
coMM 0604 15
covM 060 415

NEXI PACE

scY
sCr
5UI
SCY

scY
sc7
saY
scY
CHH
scB
scB
sc6
scB
scY
scf
5Ul
scY
scY

COO3T OF BALTIMORE
A \ERO. EDWARD MICHAEL OFC

CASE INOoIRY 09: 15
A12383 COD Y DCM C 090215

SOPPORT OE MCTIOII
CC: PETERS. J

CITY STATE'S

, ESQ 917 96?

PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE. FOR SANCIIONS
MOTIOIi FOR PEMOVAL AND FEoUEST FOR A HEARIIIG tlC: PETERS, J
MEIIORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTIOII FOR REMOVAL AND REQOEST FOR

A HEARIN6 CC: FETERS, J
APPETIOI>: TO DEFENDANTS' MEMORAND(IM IN
FOP REMOVAL AND REQLIEST FOR A HEARING
JOINT MOTIO]I FOR RECUSAL OE BALTIMORE
ATToRNE'i 'S CFFI':E CC: PETERS, .,
FILED AOP - ZAYON, MARC L
CSET ARPG; tCg, 07102llS; CIH
STATE'S MOTION TO EXTEND TIME REQUIREMENTS TO RESPOND TO

DEF'S IIOTIONS FILEO, CC: .TUOGE PETERS
DEF'S JOITIT RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO STATE'S MOTIOIT
FOR EXTENSION ')F TIME FLD (OISK INCL(IDED,, CC: JOII'3E PETERS
DATE STAIPED 6 OROERED 6/4/L5, STATE'S MOTICN TO EXTEND TIME
REQIJIREMEN?S TO RESPOND TO DEFT'S MOTIONS,6 T:{E DEFT'S JOINT
FESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO STATE'S MOTIOII FOR 3XTE!iS:ON OF
T!ME, 6 HAVING FOOND CAOSE AS REQUIFED BY RUL3 1-204 (A). IT
IS ORDERED THAT THE STATE SHALL RESPONO TO DEFT'S MOTION FOR

P/N PAGE OO3

E. 218



9r-19:57 Mcnday. Febr.rary 08, :Ol6

02/08/16 CRIMIIIAL
cAsE 1151{ 1033 ST

EVENT DATE I)PER
coMM 0604 !5 SCY
coMM 060415
coMM c 60415
corrM 060 415
coMM 060415
cordY 060{ 15
coMM 060415
col{M 0 601 I5
coMM 06c 515
c('MM 0€ 0 515
C'lYM 06C,51r
covM 060 515
coMM 060 515
coMM 060815
COMI4 06')619
coMM 060919
coMlr Q60915
!'OMM (' 5: I I 5
coMM 0 61515

TIEXT PAGE

COURT OF BALTIMORE
A NERO, EOiiAFO MICHAEL OFC

CASE INQUIRY 09:15
A3:3S3 COD Y DCM C 090215

sc/
scY
scY
SCY
scY
scY
5UI
CPR
r'P?
CPR
cPk
CPF
scB
scB
scY
scY
S8T
cKll

FART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COI,IMENT
REMOVAL, JOTNT MOTION FOF RECUSAL OF BA],IIMORE CISi STATE'S
ATTI..S OFFI.E, 6 JOINT MOTION TO DTSMISS FC'R PROSEC(ITORIAL
MISCONDUCT OR. IN TTiE ALTERNATIVE. FOR SANCTIONS BY .JUNE :6,
2015; e IT I9 FURTHER ORDERED THAT TllE oEFT MAt FILE THE
MAIIDATORY MOTIONS SET FORTH IN RULE 4-2'2IA') 

'IITHIN 
45 DA'/S

AFTER TllE EARLIER oF THE APPEARANCe (,F COUNSEL OR THE FIRST
APPEAMNCE OF THE D3ET BEFORE TIIE COURT FURSUANT TO R(ILE
4-:13(C}. PETEFS, .T ICOPIES SENT BY CHAMBERS)
DEFEIIOANT'S PRELIMIIIARY REgPONSE TO THE STATEIS MOTION FOR

TSSUANCE BANNINS B)ITRAJUOICIAL STATEMENTS AND LIEFENDANT'S
RASPCNSE TL..' THE NEWS MEO:A INTERVENOKS MOTIOII ?O INTERVENE
ANO O?POSE THE STA?E'S MOTION FO8 ISSUANCE OF ORDER BARRING
EXTRAJI.II'ICIAL STATaMENTS: CC:.,UDGE PETERS
STAIE'S PESPOIISE TO DEF'S DEMAITO FOti BILL OF PARTICULARS ElO
CC: JIJL,GE PE:EFS
SU?PLEMENTAL T.] DEFENDANT.S J('INT MOTION FOR RECUgAL OF
BALTIMoRE CIT? STATE's ATTORNEY'S oFFICE L'C: PETERS. J
STATE'S FESPCNSE TO DEFENOANT'S OMNIBUS MCTIONS FILEO
STATE'S MOTION FOR PROTECTIVE OFDEB PUP.SUANT TO RULE 4-:63

P/N PAGE OO4

E. 219



9!.13:5Er Monday, Febr,.rary 08. 20r5

C2/08/!6 ':F:MIIIAL COU?.T CrF BALTIMoRE CASE IIIQUIRY 09:15
cAsE 1!5t4t(r3.i ST A ::EaO. EDWARO M1CHAEL OF(' A3.:38i COO Y DCM C 090215

EVENT DATE OPLR PART TI!,E ROC,M F?AS / AVENT COMI,IENT
COI|M 061C,15 Ch:l{ (M}. MEYORAIIOUM IN SUPPOR? THEREOF, ANO REOUES? FOR

EOMM 061515 CKT'I EXFEDITED HEARING FLD
MFRO 061915 CK"l MOIION FOR PFOTECT'VE OROER ;TICKLE DATE. 2O15OTO3
COMM 06I?15 CK9'' FILED ASA - SCHATZO}" MICHAEL . ESQ ?1?876
COMI4 06I?19 

'K}I 
OFEICE CF THE gTATE'S ATTOPNEY EOR BALTIMORE CITT'g

CCMM 06T?15 CIOI OPPOSITIOTI TCI DEFS JOINT MOTION FOIT RECUSAL OE BALTIMORE
coMM 061?15 CK9l CIT)i STATE'S ATTORNEY's oFFICE fLD
COMM 0'i2215 Ct|S ORDER OF coURT oAfE STAI'IPED 6-?2-15, THE COoPT
C')MM 062 115 cMS HnVINri LTETEPMINED tllAT THE ASSIGNMETIT oF THESE CASES TO
CCrMM 062119 cMS 9I1.,;LE JUDGE I9 A?PPOPRIATE. IT Is THIg l9TH DAY ')F
COMM O622Ii CMS JIJNE, :0I5, ORC'FEO THAT THESE CASES ARE ASSIGNED TO
C')!,I4 06:21i CMS .,UDGE BARRI- WILLIMS FOR ALL FI.IRTIIER PROCEEDINGS. CO?IES
COYM 062:15 CMS OF ALL PAPERS FILED IIITH THE CLER( SHOULO BE SIMIJLTANEOUSLI
COMM 062215 CMS SENI TO JUOGg 9IILI,IAMSI CIIAMBERS. W. MICHEL PIERSON J.
L.OMM 062215 CMS ORDER OP COURT DATE STAI''PED 6-22-15, UPON CONSULTATION
CC'MU 06::15 CMS IIITII TAE PARTIES fO THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASES TIiROUGH
COMM 06?215 CMS COUNSEL, :T I9 THIS 19TH DAY OF JOIIE, :015, OROERED Ti{AT
COMM 052]15 '-'MS A MOTIOUS HEAFING IS SCHEOULED FC'F SE?IEMBEF 2, 2015, AT
COMM 06::15 CI.!S 9:]O A.I' AND FURTHER ORDEREI,, THAT THE TFIALS IN EACH OF

NEXT PAGE P/N ?AGE ('05
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9.r.19:58r Mondey. February r)d, 2016

02/08/16 CRIMINAL COORT OF BALTIMORE CAS5 INQU:RY 09:15
cAsE 115141033 ST A NERO, ED'dARD MICHAEL OFC A32383 COLr I OCM C O9O2t5

EVENT DATE OP:R FART TIME RCOM REAS / EVENT COMMSNT
COMM 06:215 CMS iHE ABOVE-CAPTiONED CASES ARE SC!.IEDULED FOR CCTOBER 13,
COMM 062215 CMS 2015. AIID FURTHER ORDERED THAT THE AFRAIGIIMENTS SCHEDOLED
.:OMM 062:15 CMS FOR JUL'J :, ]015 SHALL BE CANCELLED UPON THE ENTB1 BY

COMM 062215 CI4S EACH DEEENDANT OF A PLEA OF NOT GLIILTi IN 9IP.ITING PURSUANT

CoM!.r 061215 CalS TC' RULE 4-242(B) oN OR tsEFOFE .rUNE 26. 2015.
COMM 062:15 

'-MS 
W. MICHEL PIURSON J.

COMU 06::15 CMg COPY OF OFDEES MAILED TO ALL COU:ISEL
COMM 0622T9 CNN PLEA ANC RSQUEST FOR JUR/ TR:AL
CC,MM 06:315 CKli SUPPLEMENT T'J OFFICE OF THE STATE'S AT'I'ORNEY FOF

C.)MM 062315 CK,, BALT:MORE CITY.S OPPOSITIOTI TO DEFS JOINT MOTION FOR

COMM Oti2315 T-'KW RSCUSAL ')F BALTIMORE CITY STATE'S ATTORNEY'S OFFICE PLD.I

COyM 062315 CKlf CC: .lUDGn WILLIAMS
COMI.I 062315 CNi ..TFiICE OF THl STATE.S ATTORNEY FOR BAj,TIHORE CITY.S

':C'UM 06]31' CKW CPPCSI:ION TO DEiS JOINT MO?ION TO DISMISS FOR

COMM 062315 CKO FROSECI.'TORIAL MISCONDOCT, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE, FOR

COMM 062-115 Cli.- SANCTIONS FLD
COMM 062415 sci ['AIE STAMPED 6 'IRDERED 6/24/75, THIS COURT IS IN RECEIPT OF

COMM 0624i5 SCY STATE'S I,IOTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER PURSUA}IT TO RULE 4'263
COMM O5:415 SCY (M, FILEO ON JUNE 15, 2015. PURSLIANT TO RULE 1-:03(C) AND

NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 006
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9i15.58' Mcn.Jay, February 08, 2Cl6

02/08/lo CPI.T4INAL coURT OF BALTIMORE
CASE I15I11033 ST A NERC, EDWARD MICHAEL OFC

CASE INQUIRT 09: l5
A3:363 coD r DCM C 090215

EVEN DATE OPER
coMl4 06:415 SCY
coMr,t 052415 scY
coMH 05:415 SCi
c.Jl,rM 062.115 SCY

':OMl't 06:415 SCY
coMM 06i415 SCY
coMM 0'624 15 SC i-
ccMM c62.t i 5 scY
ccMM 06:{ i5 scY
ccMM 062415 SCY
COMM 06:4 15 191
COMM 06:415 '-,))
COMM 062415 1.rl
coMi!, 062515 1DM
eoMM 0 62 615 Ct(l,'
coMM 0 6:615 S':B
CriMM 0 62 615 SCB
coMu 0 6,:615 SCB
coMM 063019 CZC

IIEXT PACE

PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVEIIT COMMENT
4-2521FT, ANY DEFENSE RESPONSE IS DUE ON OR BEFORE JULY 6,
2015. THIS C')URT NOTES TI{AT IN THE MOTION THE STATE
REQUESTED AN EXPEDITED HEARIIIG BUT FAILED TO COMPLY gI]TH

RULE 1-204 (A), WHICH PERMITS A COUBT TO SHOPIEN TIME EOR

A R'SPONSE. HAVING FAILEC TO SHOII THIS COURT THAT THE
CO]IDITION UNDER WHICII A MOTION TO SHORTEN TIME SI{OULD BE
GRANTED, & IS IIER3BY ORDEFEO THAT TTE STATE'S REQUEST FOB

AN EXPEOT1EO HSARING, OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE. TO SHOFTEN
THE TIME FOR RESPOIISA, IS DENIED. IIILLIAMS. J (COPIES
SENT Bi CHAMBERS )

SUPPLJTIENT T') OAFICE OF THE STATE.S ATTORNEY ]OR BALTIMORE
CITY'S MOTION FOR ?ROTECTIVE ORDER
FILED ASA - BLEOSOT. JANICE L , EgQ 68?76
cAsE PEMOVED FRC'M ARRG. oOCKET As PER JLIDGE PETEFS JICCR
STATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFS MOTION POR FEMOVAI, FLD
STATE'S MOTION FOR JOINT TRIAL CF DEFEIIOAIiTS FLD
STATE'S INITIAL DISCLOSURES. NO?ICES, AND MOTIONS FLD
STATE'S INDEY OF INFORMATIoN PROoUCEo IN DIS!'OVERY FLo
OEF'S JOINT MOTION III O?POSITION TO STATE'S MOTICN FOR

P/ N PAGE OO?

E. 222



gilS'S9l Monday. Fet,ruary 08, :Ci6

o2/C8/L6 CPIMINAL CCURT ci BALTIMORE CASE INQUIP'i 09:15
CASE 115141033 ST A NERO, EOWARD M:CHAEL oFc A32383 coD I DL-M C 090:15

EVETIT DATE OPER PART :IMg ROOM REAS / Ei,/ENT COI|MENT
COMM 063015 czc PROTECTIVE r.,RoER PURSUANT TO RULE 4-263 (Ml, MEMOIANDUM

CO}!M D63015 
'TC 

IN SUPPORT , AND REOJEST FOR EXFEDITED HEARING FLD.
t|CAL O?C:1S lDM 90rr;0930;509 ;ARRG; ; POST,'O?H; PETERS, CIIARLESTBB3
lcAL O?0215 SCB POEr093Q,509 ;ARRG; ;oTHR, ;SFEKAS, STEPHENTgE4
COIIM 0?U3r9 ScB SET IN EFROR, t'lo FILE IN COoRT
HCAL O?O:15 IDM pOB;0910;509 ;ARRG; ;TSET; ;r'llLIIAMS, BARRI';8C9
coMt4 070615 CKw DEiS PSPL/ TO STATE,S RESPONSE TO t'EFS MOTION FOR REMOVAL

COMM O?O€15 CKW- ANC REOUEST F('R HEARING FLD, CC' 'IUDGE T{ILLIMS
CCMM C?o'r:5 SCB CSET ARP6; P08; 0?/0:/15, SCB
COMM 0?OBi5 CzC DEFEIIoANI'9 JOINT I'lo?ION IN oPPOSITION T') STATE'S MOTION

COMM O?08I5 C:C FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER PURgUANT TO RULE 4-2'i-?(M) .
COMM O7!815 CZC MEMORAIIDUM IN SUPPORT, ANO REQUEST FOR EXPEDITED HEARING

COMY 07C815 CZC WH:CH I{AS FLO. 6-3C-15, HAND DELIVERED TO JUDGE }''ILLIA}'S'
coM!,! 07c815 CZC CHAMBERS.
CCMM 070815 CZC STATE'S RESPONSE TO OEFENDANTS' JOINT MOTION IN OPPOSITION
COMMO?C815C:]CTOSTAT9'SMOTIONFOREFOTECTIVEORDE8STATE'SREI'IEVIEO
COMM 070615 ':3C BEQOEST FOR I{EARING FLD.
COYM 0?0915 CZC STATE'S RESPCNS9 TO OEFENDANTS' JOINT MOI'ION IN OPPOSITION
COMMOTO9I5CZCTCSTATE'SMOTIONFORPRO?ECTIVEORDERSTATE'SRETIEWEO

NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE OO8
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9i l5:59i McnJay, Feoruary 08. :016

O2tCe/16 CBIMINAL CcURT CF BALTII'IoRE CASE INQUIRv 09: l'5
CASE T15:{10-?J ST A NERO. EOT'ARD MICHAEL OFC A32383 COD Y DCM C O9C:15

EVENT DATE OPEP PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMETIT

COITM 0?0915 CZC REOUEST FOR HEARINC IIANO OEL]VEREO TI] .IUDGE WILLIMS'
CCMM 0'7 C 915 aZC ':HAMBEFS.
MTAN 070915 1g] MOTION FOP SUBPOENA / TAIIGIBLE EVID;TICKLE DATE' 2015C?17
COMI,I I,7I')I5 CPR DEFENOANT.S MOTIO}; TO SUPPRESS STA:EMEIITS
COMM 0?1015 C?R OEFENSE OPPOSITIoN Tc, STATE'S MOTICN FoP. JoINt TRIAL C'F

COMM O? 1O I5 ':P! DEFETIDANTS
CO..,!M I-I?1315 SCI S9ATE'S APPENOIX OF EVIDS!:CE IN SUPPCRT OF MOTII)I'I FOR

CI:'!4M ('?1315 SCY PPOTECTIVE OP.DER PURUSAN:' TC FULE 4-.:ti3(M) CC: 9IILLIAMS. J
!'OMM 0?1315 -=^CY FILED ASA - FILLIoN, MATTHEW , ESQ 653491
COMM 0?1315 SCB DEFS MOTIOIi TCr SUPPRESS Tl{E SEARCTI AND SEISUPE OF OEFENDANTS

COMM 07i315 ScB DEPARTMEN?AL !'ELL PHoNES AND RBQUEST FoR FMNKS HEARING FLD
MPRO O?1t'15 CNN MI)TI')N FOP PROTECTIVE ORDER 

'TICKLE 
DATE' 2OT5O8C3

COMM C?1615 CNII STATE'S MOTION TO OTIASH TRiAL SUBPOENA BASEO ON ABUSE OF

CCMM 0?16"5 CNN FROCESS {':C'Pi. DELIVERED TO JUDGE IiILLIAT'IS CHAI4BERS PER

COMM O?16i5 CNN PER LAW CLERK)
COMM 0?1615 r-'PF .3TATE'S RESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR SUBPOENA FOR

COtM O?1615 CPR TANGIBLE EVIDENCE(CoPY DELIVERED TO .r(ltcE WILLIAMS CHAI'BERS

COMM O?T5I5 CPR PER LAW CLERT)
coMM 071715 S':B STATE'S SLTPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLD

NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE OO9
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9i 16 : 0C' Morrday, Fetruary 08, 2016

O2/05/L6 CRTMINAL COURT ('F BALTIMORE cAsE IIIQUIRY 09:15
,IASE 1151.1 1C33 ST A NEFO, EDwARo MICHAEL oFC A3:-183 CCrD Y DCM C 090215

EVENT OATE OPER PART TIME 3OOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 0?l?19 SCB ORDER DATED AI,ID DATE STAI4PED .rUt,Y 17. 2015; THAT THE STATE'S
COMM O?1?15 SCB MOTION FOR PROTECT'VE ORDER FURSUANT TO RULE 4-263(M) IS
COMM ')?I'/I5 .3CB DENIED; B. lIILLIAI,'S, J
COMM 072119 19: STATE.S DPPOSITICN TO DEFENDANT'S JOINT MOTION TO SUPPRESS
COMM O?:TI9 1?] THE SEARL.H ANO SEIZURE OF OEFEI.IDANT.S DEPARTMENTAL CELL
COMM 072115 tEl PHOIIES A!!D REQoEST FOR FRANKS HEARING
COMM 072319 CTW REPLY TC STATE'S RESPCNSE TO DEFS MOT'ON FOR SUBFOENA
COMM 07:31c, ':Kli FOR IAI|GIBLE EVIDENCE FLD; COPY DELIVEPED TO JUoGE
aOMM 07231:a ClQ, IIILLIAMS PER LAll CLERK
collM 07211; lT: !,,AITING (,N ?l':OllE CALL EB JtlDGE. WILLIAI S SEC. BEFORE
CCIYM 0724I5 IT2 SCHEDTILING THIS MATTER/NC TRIAI, SUMMARY/7-2:-15..TJ
COMM 0?:,115 lgl STATE'S ST.TPPLEMENTAL DISCLoSURE
COMM ('7?4]5 T?J FILED ASA . BLEDSOE, JAN:CE L , ESO 68776
COMM O?:'71' CPR S'TAIE'S RESPOIISE TO OEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS
COMM 072?15 CPR STAIEMENTS
COMM 07:915 CPR FEPT.7 TC, STAIE'S OFPOSITION TO MO1ION TO SUPPBESS THE SEARCH
COMM 072915 CPR AIIO SEIZURE OF T]EI.E}.DA!,TS. OEPARTMENTAL I.EL!, FHONES AND
COMM 0?2915 CPR REQUEST FOR FRANTS HEARING
MCOM 071015 l9l MOTIoN ?O !'OMPEL DISCOVERY ,TICKLE DA3E= 3015080?
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9': iri.00r t4ond.y, F:brLary C8, 2,.116

OZ.OE/16 CRIMIIIAL coURT OF 3ALTIMORE L'ASE INQUIRY 09:15
CASE 11'141033 ST A NERO, EDI{ARD MICHAEL OFC A]2383 COD Y DCM C O9O2I5

EVENT TIAIE CPEg PART TIME itOOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
(OYM ('73('15 TgJ COPIES DELIVEPED TO JODGE IIILLIAM'S CHAI,TBERS OER L.C.
COMI'I 073115 S8T RESPCNSE TO STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH TRIAL SUBPOENA BASED ON

C,)MM 073115 sBT ABUSE OF FFocEss FILED CC:J'JDGE I'IILLIAMS

':('MI,I O8O4I5 CK}I LINE iiTE], COPY DELIVERED TO JUDGE WILLIAMS PER ATTORNE'/
COMM 080615 SCB STATE'S SijPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLO
c,)MM 080615 9CB DEF'S SUPFLEMENTAL MEMORANDTJT! IN SUPPCTRT OF JoINT MOTION
COMM 08 615 SCB FOR RECUSAL CF THE BALTIUOPE CITY STATE,S ATTORNEY.S OFFICE
I.OMM OSOI'15 SCB COPI DELIVERED TO JUDGE WILLIMg. CHA},BEFS
COMM C80615 SCB STATE'S MCTION TO SANCTION THE OEF'S ATTORNEIS FOR

COMM 080615 SCB UNPROEESSIOIIAL CONDUCT AND ABUSE OF COMPULSORY PPOCESS FLD
corlM 080615 scB STATE'S MOT:')N TO STP.TKE As A SANCTION EOR DEF'S I'IOLATIoN
CoMM 060615 S':B OF P(ILE 4-263(I) oR. ALTERNATIVELY. STATE'S RESPoNSE TO
COMI,, 080615 Sr'B oEF'S Jo:NTLY FrLEo MOTION TO COMPEL AND FOR SANCTI('NS FLD
aCM!4 o,rl115 CKll DEFENDANTS IiAIVER OF APPEAMIICE FLD
COMl,l 081419 CPR STATE'S MOTION TO QUAsa HEARIN'; SUEPOENA REQUESTED BY

COMM OEI{15 CPR CATHEFINE FLYTIN AND SERVED ON ASSISTANT STATE'S ATTORNET
.OMM 081.;1C, C?R ALBERT EEISINGER
C,)MM 0E1ar5 CPR SIATa'S MO:ION TC oDASH HEAR:NG SUBPOUIIA SERVED CN 'tiAYNE

COMM OSI415 CPi WILLIAMS

IIEXT PAGE ?/II EAGS Cll
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9i16:oo'Mon.Jay. February 08, :0!6

02/08/16 aPIMIllAi. cooRT oF BALTIM')RE CASE INoUIRY 09:19
CASE 119111033 sT A NERO, Eo'rlARD MICHAEL cFc A32383 COD '/ DcM c 090:15

EV:NT OATE LI]UF PAFT TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMIIETIT
COMM O8I4I5 CPR STATEIS MOTION TO QUASH HEARING SOBPOENA SERVED ON AVOII

COMM O8I 41 5 CPR YACKEL
!'OMM 081.115 CKll STATE'S MOTION To QUASH HEARING SoBFOENA REQUESTED BY

CCMM O8I4:5 CKW CATHERITIE FLYNII ANO SERVED ON DEEUTY STATE'S ATTORNEY
coMM c81415 CKll ANTOIITO GrOiA
MPRO 061.ll5 Ch:!'l MOTIOII t'OR PROTECTM ORDER ,TICKLE DATE= 20150901
IIPRO OBl415 SCB MO:ION EOR PROTECTIVE ORoER ;TICKLE OATE- 20150901
MPRO 061415 Sr'B MO?IoN FoR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICTLE DATE' 10150901
MPPO 081415 scB MoTION FCR PFCTECTIVE ORDER ,TICKLE DATE= 3015C901
MPRO OEl415 SBT IIOTICN FCR PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICIiLE CATE= 20150901
COMM O8I4I: S8T STATEIS MOTION TO QUAS}I HEARING SOBPOENA REQUESTED BY

CI)I'IM Oi,l(15 58T CATHERTNE FLYNN E SERVED ON STATE,S ATTC'RNEY MARILYN
coMM 081415 S8T MCSB'i FiLE9
MPRC 081415 ':NN ITOTION FoR PROTECTIVE OFDER ;TICKLE D.qTE' 20150901
COMM 081415 CNtt STATE'S MOTION TO OUASH HEARING SUBPOENA FEOI.IESTED BY

CO,I4M ('81419 CNN CATI{ERINE FL'/NN AND SERVSD ON DR. CAROL ALLEN
MPRO 081415 l.it MCTIOII F)R PROTECTIVE ORDER ;TICKLE DA!E' 20150901
coMM 08:415 lSl
coMM 08 ! 415 lsj
NEXI PACE

STATE'S MOTIOTI TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTED BY
CAT9ERINE FLYUII AND SEBVED ON ASSISTANT STATE'S ATTORNEY
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,i l6:01' Mcn.tay, tebr':ary qtJ, 2a76

0: / 08 / 16 cRrMrlAL
cAsE 115!41033 ST

EVENT DATE OPEF
CCMM 081.115 lSj
coMr{ 0814 15 scB
coMM 031415 SCB
coMM 0814 15 3C3
MPRO 081415 SCB
eoMM 081419 gCB

COMM 0814 l5 Sr'B
coMM 0814 15 3CB
|PPO 0814 15 SCB
col4M 0818:5 SCY
coMM celS!5 scY
CrJBM Ur.11815 SCf
COMY 0E 1815 S,:Y
ccMM 06181: SCY
coMM 0,J 1815 SCJ
coMM 0 31915 SCY
coMM 081915 scY
coMl{ 081915 scY
coMM 081919 gCY

iIEXIT PAGE

COUFT O: BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:15
A NERo. EoUARD MI':HAEL OFC A32333 COD Y DcM C 090?15

PART TIME RO']M FEAS / EVENT COMMENT
LISA GOLDBERG
gTATE'S MOTION TO OUASH HEAFING
BY !'ATIIiRINE FLrNN AND SERVED otl
JANICE B;EDSOE FLO
MOTION FOR ?ROTECTIVE ORDER

SUBPOENA PEQUESTED BY
DEPOTY S?ATE'S ATTORNEY

,TICKLE oATE- 2t) 150 901
STAIE'S MOTION TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA REQ(IESTAD BY

CATHEPI:fE FLYNN AND SEBVED ON CHIEF OEPUTY STATE'S
ATTORIIEY I.|ICHAEL SCHATZOIi FLD
MoTl')ll gOR PRoTECTIvB ORDER ,TICKLE DATE- 20150901
DATE STAMPED 6 ORSEEEO 8/I1 II5, STATE'S MOTIOII TO OUASH
HEARII.IG SOBP')EUA REQUESTED BY ':ATHERINS FLYNN AND SERVEO
ON DF. CAROL ALLEII. ORDERED TIIAT THE HEABING SUBPOEIIA
SESVED ON DR. CAROL ALLEN FOR THE SEPTEMBER :, :015'
IIEARING l9 QUASHED. (SEE ORDER) !'lILLIA!'ts, ., (CC: ALL
A'I'TORIIEY OF RECORD}
['ATE STAMP9D 6 ORDERED 8/11 /15, STATE'S MOTIOII TO QUASH
HEAR!N6 SUBPOENA FEOUESTED BY CATHERINE FL?IIN AND SERVED
ON ASSISTAIIT STATE'S ATTORNEY, ALBERT PEI9IN6ER. ORDERED.

THAT THE TiEARING SOBPOENA SERVEO ON ALBERT PEISINGER FOR

P/ti PAGE 013
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9! 1€:01'Mon,tay, Fet,ruary 08, :Cl6

02/08/16 CRIMINAL C'OURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09: 15
cAsE 1151.1103-1 ST A NEFO, EDITARD MTCHAaL OFC A32383 COD Y OCM C 090215

EVENT OA1E OPER PAPT TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
rHE SEPTEMBSR Z, 2OI5 HEARING IS QUASHED. WILLIAI'S, J
(CC: ALL ATTORNE./'S OF RECORD)
fATE STA}4PED E ORDEREO 8/11 /I5, STATE'S MOTIOII :'O QLIASH
HEARING SUBFOENA REQUESTED BY CATIIERINE FLYNN AND SEFVED
ON ASSISIAN? STATE'S ATTORIIE'/ LISA GOL'BERG. ORDERED,
THAT THE HEAPING SUBPOENA SERVED ON L'SA GOLDBERG FOR THE

SEPTERMBEB 2, 2075 HEARING IS QDASIIED. !llLLIAyS, .r (CC: ALL
,:OUNSEL cE RECORD)
DATE STAMPED 6 ORDEREO 8/I'1 /I5, STATE'S MOTION TO QUASH
HEARIIiG SIJ?POENA REQUESTED BY CATHERINE FL'/NN AND SERVED
OII 9IAYNN WILLIA!,TS. OROERED. THAT lHE HEARING SUBPOENA
SERVED CN tlA:NE WILLIAMS FOR THE SEPTEMBER 2, 2Ci5 HEARING
Is QUASHED. iiILLIAMS, J (cC: ALL ':C'UIISEL OF REcoRo)
DATE STAI"IPEO S ORDERED 8/I1 /I5, STATEIS MOTION TO QUASH
HEARITIG SUBPOENA R3QUESTED BY CATHERINE FLI'NN AND SEFVED
ON AVOI{ MACKEL. ORDERED, THAT THA HEARING SUBPOENA SERVED
CN AVC'N MACTEL EoR THE SEPTEMBER 2, 2OL5 HEARIIIG IS tUASI{ED.
I':C: ALL COUIISEL OF RECORD)
DATE STAMPED 6 OFDEFED 8/11 /I5, STATE'S MOTION TO QOASH

F/N PAGE OI4

c,)Mat 08 i 91 5 SCY
coMM 081915 SC?
coMM c819 r 5 SCI
cct,rM 0 81915 SCr
coMM c 81915 scY
COM!r 0t l9l5 SC'/
ccMM ')!1il5 sc,
coMM 081919 SCY
coMM 081915 SCY
coMM 081915 SCY
coMM 031? r 5 SCI
coMM 081915 sc'i
coMM 0B 191-i SCI'
coyM 081915 SCI
coMM 081915 SCI
C,)MH 0B 1915 SCY
r'('MM (t8191 5 SCr'
coMM 08 L 915 scY
coMM 081915 SCY
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9! l6:02' Monday. Febr'.,ary 0E, :C16

O:/C8/1I6 .RIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INOIIIRY 09: 15
CASE 115141033 sT A NEkC, EowAFD MIL'HAEL oFc A3:383 COD Y DcM c 090:15

EVEN? DA'I'E L]PSR PART TIME RooM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 081915 SCY IIEARING SUBPOENA REQUESTEO BY CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVEO
CCMM 0819i5 SCY ON CHIEF DEPUTY STATS'S ATTORNEY MICHAEL SCHATZOW. ORDEREO,
coMM C81915 SCY THAT ?HE HEARING SUBP0ENA SERVED ')N MICHAEL sCHATzol,r FOR THE
COHM 081915 SCY SEPTEMBE3 2, 2015 HEARIIIG IS oUASI{EE. i{ILLIAMS, J (CC: ALL
coMv 061915 scY couNSEL OF RECORD)
cLrMM 081915 SL-y DA?E STAMPED 6 ORDERED g/L1 t\5, STATE'S MOTION TO QOASH
COMM (IAI915 SC'/ HEARING SUSPOENA REOUESTED BY CATHERINE FLYNN AND SERVED
COMM 08T915 SCt ON STATE.S I.TTORNEY MARILYN MOSEY. C'RDERED, TiIAT THE
COMM O3I9I9 SC/ HEAFING SOBPOgNA SERVED ON MARILYN IAJSBY FOR THE SEPTEMBER
COMM 081915 sct 2, 2015 HEARING IS QUASIIED. i'IILLIAMS, J (cC: ALL COUNSEL
C'IMM 031915 SCI OF REC'ORD)
COMI4 081919 SCT DATE STAI.IPEO 6 ORDEREO 8/Ii/L3, gTATE'S MOTION TO QUASH
CoMM 081915 SCI HEARING SUBPOENA RaQUSSTEo B)- aATHERINE FLI'NN ANo SSRVED
COMM O8:9I5 SC7 ON DEPUTY STATE,S ATTORNEY JANICE BLEDSOE. ORDERED, THAT

':('MM 08i915 S.Y IHE HEARI}IG SIIBPOENA SERVED ON JANICE BLEDS')E FOR THE
COMM 0819T5 SCY SEP:EMBEF 2, 2qL5 HEARING IS QLIASHED. WILLIAUS. J (CC: ALL
COMM 081915 SCY Crrl.lNSEL OF RECORO,
COMM 081915 SCY DAT' STAI''PED 6 ORDERED g/I1 /I5, STATE'S MOTICN TO QUASH
COMM 081915 SCY HEAPING SIJBPOENA REO(IESTED BY CATHERINE FLYIIN ANO SERVED

NEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 015
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!rl:6: oZ'Monday, February 08, 2016

0:/08/16 CRIMINAL COr.rRT oF BALTIMORE CASE IN0UIRY 09:15
CASE ll5l.!1033 ST A NaRo, EDWARD MICIIAEL OFC A32383 C')D'/ tlCM c 09021,

AVENT DATF. CPER PART TIME R')OM REAS / EVSNT COMMEIIT

COYM 08191; SCY ON DEPUTY STATE'S ATTORNEY ANTONIO GIOIA. ORDERED. THAT
Col.!14 081915 SCt THE HEARING SUBPOBNA SERVED ON ANTONIO GI'):A FOR THE

C.JMH 081915 SCY SEPTEMBER 2, 2OI5 HEARING IS QUASHED. I{ILLIAMS. J (CC: ALL
coMM 081915 SCi- COUNSEL OF RECORO)
COMM 081915 CPR STAIE'S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
I|PRC' 082415 SCB MOTICTiI 9OR PROTECTIVE ORDER ,TICKLE OATE= 20150911
CCI4M 08:415 SCB STATE'S MCTICN TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA SERVED ON

COMM 082415 SCB MAJCR SAY CO6AN FLO
MPR(' C8Z4 15 SCB MOTIOII FOP PROTECTM ORDER ,TICKLS DATE= 20150911
COM!, 08:415 SCB STATE'S MOTIoN To oUASli HEARING SUBFoENA SERVED ')N THE

CCMM 0E3415 SCB CUSTODIAII OF RECORDS FOR TIiE OFFICE OF TI.|E CHIEF MEOiCAL
COMM 082415 SCB EXA},IINER iLD
MPRO 082j15 scB MOTION FOF PROTECTIVE oRDER ;TIcrLE DATE' 20150911
MPPO 082{19 SCB MOTION EOR PRoTECTIVE ORoER ;TICKLE DAT9' 20150911
COMM 082415 SCB STAT3IS RESPONgE TO DEF'S SUPPLEMENTAL MEMORANDUM IN
COYM O8?4Ii SCB SUPPORT CIT' JOIIIT MOTION FOR RECOgAL OF BALTIMORE CITY

':C,!N.t 08]415 SCB STATE.S ATTORiiEY OFFICE FLD
MPRO 082515 CKvr..- YCTION FOR PROTECTIVE ORDER ,IICKIE DA?E= 20150912
COMM 082615 CMS ORD9R OF COURT DATED AUGUST 26, 2015, SEC(IRITY/MEOIA

NEXT PACE F/N PAGE 016
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9li6: O-1'M.)r,day. FebrLary C8, 2016

02108/16 CRTMIIIAL coURT OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:15
cAsE 115141033 ST A NERO, EDWARD MTCHAEL OFC A32383 COD Y DCM C 090?15

EVENT DATE OPER PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

coMM 082615 CMS PROTOCOL oRoER FILEo. ORDER IS SUBJECT T') MODIFICATIoN
COMM 082615 CMS BY IHE COURT AT AIIY TIME. N. M:CHEL PIEESON J
':OMM C,82615 CMS COPIES MAILED TO ALL CoUNSEL
COMM C8Jti15 SCB ORDER DATED AUGUSI 25, 2015 AND DATE STAT.IPEO AUGUST ?6, 2(T5
CCMM 0826i5 SCB THAT IHE SUBPOEITA SERVED ON DETECTIVE DAWNYELL TAYLOR FOR

CCI|M C82615 SCB THE SBPTEMBER 2, :015 HEARIN'; IS DoASHED; !|ILLIA|4S, J
COMU 08:515 CKW DATE STMPE: AND ORDEPED AOGUST :5TH 2OI5 THAT THE HEARING
COMM 06:615 CKW SU9POENA SERVED ON MAJOR SAM COGAN FOR THE SEPTEMBER 2 2OI5
ccMM 082615 CKlf HEARINTT IS oUASI{EO
COMM 002615 sCB OFDER DATED AUGUST 25, 2015 AND DATE S1AMPED AUGUST 36, 3015
COMM 08:615 SCB THAT THS HEARIIiG SOBPOETN SERVED ON TI.iE CUSTODIAN OF RECOFDS

COMM 08:615 S,:B FoR THE OFFICE OF Tl{E CHIEF MEoICAL EXAMINER FOR THE
(')MM 0826T5 SCB SEPTEIIB9R 2, :Ci5 HEARING IS Q(IASIIED FLO, 9IILLIAMS, J
COMM 08261i CKl,, STATE'S MoTIoN TO QUASH HEARING SUBPOENA SERVED Otl
COMM 082615 u'Kl{ COLIINEL STANLEY BRANFORD FLD
MPRO 081615 CK FIoTION FOR PROTECTIVE oRDER ,TICKLE oA:E= 20150913

':('MM 083€15 cKt,l STATE'S MOTIOII To QUASH ALL HEARING SUBPoENAS ISSUED B't
COMM 082€15 CKW ?HE DEFETISE T'OR TTiE SEPTEMBEF 2, 2O:5, MOTIONS TiEARING FLD

COMM C82?15 CPR ORDER DATE STATPED 8/2.1 /15, ORDERED THIS 26TH OAY OF AUGUST

IEXI PA6E F /N PAGE 017
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9l f6: OJ. Monday. iebr.rary 08, 2016

o2/Oe/16 CRIMINAL COURT OF BALTIMoRE CASE INQTJIP'/ 09:15
cAsE 115141033 ST A NERC, EOWARD M:CHAEL OFC A323E-: COo Y oCM C 09C215

EvEll? DATE 'IPER PART TIMS ROOM REAS / EVEN! CoMMENT
CCMM 08?/i5 CPB :0i5 THAT THE HEARING SoBPOENA SERVEO O.r- COLONEL STANLEY
COMM 082?15 CPR BRANPORD FOR THE SEPTEMBER :, :OI5 HEARING IS QUASHED
CCMI,! 06:?15 CPF J(ITEE B. WILLIAMS
COMM O8:?15 CPR COPY MAILED TO STATE A?TORNEY(S)AND OEFENSE ATTORNEY(S)
COMI'4 O8??I5 lgj SECOND REQOEST FOR AN EVIDENTIASY !{EARING ON THE

aOMM 082?15 lgt SUPPLEMENTAL MEMoMtlooM IN SUPPORT OF JoINT MOTION FOF

COYM 082715 Ig] FEC(ISAL OF THE BALTIMORE C,TY STATE.S ATT']RUEY,S OFFICE
C(IMM 083115 S8T SIATE'S PESPONSE TO DEFENDANT'S "SECOND REQUEST FOR AN

L'O|4M ot,J11i S8T EVIOENIIARY HEARING ON THE SUPPLEMENTAT MEMOBANoUI4 IN
COUM 083115 SBl SU?FORT OF JOINT MOTIOIi FOR RECUSAL CF THE BALTIMOPg C:TY
COMM 083115 S8T STATE'S ATTOI(NEY'S OFEI.:E' FILEO B'f MICHAEL SCHATZOW

COMM O,rrr15 1T3 CSET PM')T; P3l, 09/02/15, 1?2 (PER CoMPUTER/ORDER)
COMM O83II5 S8T STA:E'S SUPPLEMENTAI DISCLOSURE FILEU BY JANICE BLEDSCE

COMM C90215 1rM csE? ARRG,' P08, 0rl02/15; lDM
COMM 0rr'r:15 1DM CSET JT ; P3l; t0/13/15, lDl|
T3.At( 090215 1DM ASSIGNED To TRACK C - 120 DAYS C'N 09/0:/2015
COMM O9O2I5 !T2 CONSENT WAIVER OE PRESENCE OF OEFT'S "GRANTED" (JUDGE

COMY O9C:15 IT2 WI LLIAMS }
COMM ')90215 1T2 JOINT MOTICN !O f,IgMISS ON JUDICIAL STATEMEIITS HEARO AND

T.IEXT PAGE P/N PAJE ClB
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9! 15:03'Monday. February r)8, 2016

0:/08/16 CPIMIIIAL COURT OF EALTIMORE CAgE INQUIRY O9I 15
cAsE 1:5141033 ST A NEtr.O, zolIARD MIL'HAEL OFC A3:333 CoD Y oCM C 090215

EvEtlT O,'TE CPER PAP? TIME RCOI REAS / EVEN'I' COMMENT
C,JMM 090215 1T2 "DENIED" (JUDGE 9I:LLIAMS)
COMM O9O2i5 !.T2 .TOINT M.)TI')II FOR SANCTIONS HEARD AND "DEN]EDN (JUDGE
cOl4M 090215 i1? tll LLIAI1S )

COMM O9O:15 JT: DEF1'S FgQUAST FOR EVIDENTIARY HEARIIIG HEARD AND
!'OMM 03C115 iT2 "o3\IEo" (JUDGE IIILLIA!4S)
COMY 090215 1T2 JO:NT MC,TION IO RECOSF, BAT,TIMORE CITY ASA ANO OFFICE
CCI.IM 090215 IT? HEARD AIID "DENIED' (JUDGE lilLLIAMSI
COMM 090215 1T: STATE'S MOIION FOR JOINT TRIAL OF OEFT (NERO) HEARO

COMM O9O]15 1T2 AND "DENIED' (JUD6E I''ILLIAMS)
HCAL 090215 sCt 931r0930,,528 ;PMOT; ;OTHR; ,'!iILLIAMS. BARRYTBC9
COMM O9O:I9 S8M STATE'S MOTIOII FOR JOINT TBIAL OF DEFgNDANTS CD'S gEALED

COMM O9OEIs IE] DAFENDANT,S SIJPPLEMENTAI MEMORANDUM TO DEFENOANT'3 MOTION
COYI, 090,i15 19i FoR RUMOVAL
COYI4 090915 98T STATE'S SUPPLEMEIiTAL DISCLOSURE gILED BY JANICE BLEDSOE
cuvM 091015 L'PR FILED ASA - MoSBr", MARILYN J . ESQ 589290
CC,!4M 091T.,15 CPP DEFEN9E MOTIOII ?') TMNSFER VENUE IS HEREBY HEARD
|{CAL 091015 S.-.8 p3l;0930,528 ;H?AR; ;OTHR, ,.tllLLIAMS. BARRT';8C9
coMM 091015 SCB CSET HEAR, P3l, 09u l0/19; SCB
COMM 091015 SCB DE!'s MoTION FOR S0BPa')NA TO TANGIBLE RECORDS OF POLICE DEPT

TISXT PAGE P/N PAGE 019
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9i16ro4' Mon':ay, February 08, :cr6

02/08/16 CRIMINAL C,)oRT OF BALTIMOFE CASE INQUIRY 09:15
cAsE 115141033 ST A NERO, E9WARD I4TCHAEL OFC A12383 COO Y DCM C 090215

EVENT DATE OPEB PAFT TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT

':C,Mfi OYTO15 SCB TRAINING RECOROS AT THE ACADEMY HEARD ANI' IS HEREBY DENIED
COMI1 09:015 gCB IIITH L9AVa TO REFILE; OEF'S MOTION FOR SUBPEONA TO
C(TMM O91OI5 SCB TANGLIBLE RECORDS CF CHIE.C MEDTCAL EXAMINERS OFFICE
COMM 09t015 SCB lrITHDRAwll, DEF'S MOTION FOR SUBPEOIIA TO TAN6IBLE FECOROS

CCMM 091015 gCB OF CENTML BOOKING FOR FREDDIE GRAY WITHDRA'IN, DEF'S MOTION
COMM 0]1015 SCB F']P. SI.IBPEOTIA TO TANGLIBLE RECORDS FCR JATIUARY 1. 2OI2 TC,

CO].IM 031015 SCB A?RIL :01: OE POL:CE ACADEMY TMINING ON LEGAL ISSUES HEARO

COMM 091015 SCB AND D3NIEO; DEF'S I'OTION FOR SUBPEONA T') TANGIBLE RECOROS

COMY 091015 S':B OF STATE'S ATTY.S OI'FICE INVES?IGATIO}I FECORDS fOR
ccM!4 09101c- scB APRrL 12, 2015 THRo MAY 1, 2015 HEARO AND oENTED
CCMI,I O9I!15 SCB S'I'ATE'9 SLIPPLE]1ENTAI, OISCLOSURE FLD
COMM O9I!I9 SCY MOTICN TO DISMISS FOR FA]LURE TC CHAFGE A CRIME
coMM 091619 SCB STATE'S NOTICE oF 1NTENT T') USE DNA FLD
CO},,'M O9I615 SCg STAT''S SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLD
C')YM '.'91815 19] OEFETIT]ANTS' JOINT MOTION FOR RECORDATION ')F
COMI4 091815 l9t SaPTEMBEP '/.4,2015 SCHEDULING COtllEREtlCE
COMM 091815 lgl STAIE'S SUPPLEMEiITAL DISCLOSURE OF EXPERT NITNESS
MCOM 09?115 sCB MoTIoN TO COMPEL DISCOVERY ,TICKLE OATE- 20150919
COMM 092115 SCB DE9'S MOTION TO PRODOCE RECOROS FEGARDING DNA ANAL?SIS FLD

TIEXT PAGE P/\ PAGE O2O
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e:15:04' Mo:roay. February 08, 2016

02/08/!6 CRIMINAL cooRt CF BALTIMORa CASE INQUIT1Y 09:15
cAsE 1!5141033 ST A NERO, EDIIARD MICIIAEL OFC A32383 COD '/ OCM C 090215

EVENT CATE OPER PART TII,E ROOM REAS / EVENT I:OMMENT

COMM 092: 15 CKv,* STATE'S S0PPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE FLD
CCI4M 0923..5 SC? DATE STAI',,PED 6 ')RDEREO 9/22/13, THAT THE DEF!'S REQUEST IOR
COMM O9:3i5 SCY SEPTEMBER 24, :CLs SCHEDULJNG CONFERENCE TO TAKE PLACE ON

|.--OMM 0?1315 SCI THE BECORO, IS DEIIIED' WILLIAMS, J (CC: MARC ZAr"ON,
!'OMM 092315 SCY ATTORNEY FOR DEFT, JANICE BLEDSOg, DEPUTy STATE'S ATTORIIBY,
COM!4 092315 SCY OFFICE OF THE STATE'S ATTOR}IEY FOF BAL?IMORE CIIY)
McoM 09:315 CPF MOTION TO coMPEL DISCOVEFY ;TICKLE DATE' 10151001
COMM 092315 CPR STATEI9 MOTION TO COMPEL DISCOVERY
COMM 092315 CgR gTATE'! SOPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
COMM 092319 I:IIN STATA'S RESPONgE TO TIEFENDANT'S MO:ION TO PRODUCE RECORDS

COMM O9:3I5 CNN REGARDIIIG DNA ATIALISIS
C,)MM 092815 1T2 CSET HBAR; P3l. 09/:9/15, 1T2 IADD-ON/LAW cLrlJUDGE
COMM 092d15 T'I'2 IIILLIA.YS CALLING PT. 46 DKT. IN RM. 234 EAST}
COMM 09:315 SCi DATE STAI,.IPEO 9/28/15, & ORDEREO 9/:C'/L', THAT ALL PROV:SIONg
COMM 092'15 SCY CF lHE SE'URITY/MEDIA PROTOCOL ORNEF OAIED AUGUST 26, 2015
COMM O9:8T5 SCY SHAL' APPLY TO TI{IS HEARING. IN ADD'TION. gCR THIS HEARING.
COI4M 0?28:5 SCY MEMBEPS OF IIIE MEDIA SHOULD ARRIVE AT THE COURTIiOUSE AT 1:OO
coMM c928r5 SC'/ F.v. PrEFSoil, J
CO],M 0928]5 CKW STATE'9 RESP')IISE ?O DEFS MOTICII IO DISMISS FOR FAILURE TC

}IEXT PAGE F/N PAGE 021

E. 236



9i t6:04' u,:,n,Jar, February 08, 2vl6

O!/q8/1C r'FIMINAL COU3T OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIFY 09'15
CASE 115141033 sT A .\-ERO, Eu|'IARD MICHAEL OFC A3l38J COD Y ocM c 090215

EVINI' OATA OPER PART TIME ROOM FEAS / EVENT COMMENT
COM!,I 092E15 CKI'I CHARG9 A CRIME FLD
COMM 092915 CYH CSET JT ; P3l; 02/22/i6; C'lH
HCAL 092915 SCB P3I;02C0;528,'HEAR, ;POST;CAN;lIILLIAMS, BARRY;8C9
CoMM 09:319 SCB POSTPCNED TrL 2/i2/2016 PART 11 AT 9:30All; DEF SERVED
.CMV 092'19 58T DEFEIIOATIT'S MOTION FOR RECONSIOEMTION OF THE DENIAL OF
COMI.' 092.i15 S8T MOTION T'OR REMOVAL 6 FgOUAST FOR HEARING FILED
COMM 09:915 SBT SUP?LEMSNT T(' DEFENDAN!'S JOINT MoTIoN TO COIIPEL AND FOR

a')MM 092915 SBT SANCTIONS FILao
Ht{tlo 093vr5 s8l ?oSTFoNEMENT ['ORM FILED, HICKS (t'to RUI,E ,l-271) NoT llAIvED
coMM 09_1019 SC: IATE STAMPSO i ORoERED 9/30/t5, DEFT,S REQUEST FOR TtrE
COMM O93OI5 sCY SUP?RESSION OF THE SEARCH AND SEIZURE OF DEF?'S DEPARTMENTAL
COMM 093015 SCT CELL PHONES AND FOR A FMNKS HEARING IS DENIED. WILLIA}IS, J
COMM O93OI5 SCt (CC: }4AAC ZAYON. ATIORNEY FOR EDTIARD NERO, JANICE BLEDSOE,
COMM O93OI5 JCY OEPU?Y STA?E'S ATTORNEI', OFFICE OF THE STATE'S ATTORNEY
COMM O9JOIs SCY FCR BALTO. CITY)
COMM 093015 CNN STATE'S g'UPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE
COMM 1CO2I5 SCY OATE STAHPEO 6 ORDERED 1O/2/L5, THAT DEFT'S REQUEST FOR
.'JMI4 1OO2I5 SCY FZCONSIDEMTIOII OF THE OENIAL OF MOTION FOR F EMOVAL AND
L.OMM 1O'):I5 SCI DEFT'S PEQUEST FOR A HEARING IS OENIED WILLIAI4S, J

iIEXT PAGE P/N EAGE 02!
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9i 16r09'Monday, February 08, 2Cl6

02/08/16 CRIMINAL coURT OF BALTIMOFE CASE INQUIRY 09:15
CASE 115141033 ST A NEFC, Eoi/'IAFD MICHAE;, oFC A32383 CO) '/ DCM c 090:15

EViNT OA1E 
'PER 

PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 100:15 SCY tcc: MARC zArON, ATTORNEY FOR aDlfARD NERo, JANICE BLEDSOE,

':OMM I')0215 SCY OEPUT/ STATE'S ATTOFNEY. OFFICE OF THE SIATE'S ATTORNEY FOR

CrrMM 100115 SaY BALTO. CITi)
COMM IOO515 SCY DATE STAMPED IO/5/I5. 6 ORDERED IO/?/1', UPON CONSOLTATION
COMM TOO5i5 SCY IIITII TIIE PARTISS TO THE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASE THROOGH COONSEL

COMM 10C515 SCY ORDERUO THAT A MOTIONS HEARING IS SCHEDULED POR OCTOBEB 13,
CoMM 10C:15 SCY 2015 AT 9:30 A.M., ANo FURTHE3 ORDERED THAT A MOTION HEARING
CoMv 10C515 SCt IS scHEDu;ED FCR OCTOBER 14, :015 AT 9:30 A.M. WILLIAMS, J
CCtlM l('0t15 SC/ (CC: MARC ZAYON. ATTORIIEY FOR EDIIARD llERO, JANICE BLEIISOE.
COMM 1OCC,19 SC/ OEPTIT'/ STATE.S AITORNEI. OFFICE OF TI{E STATEIS ATTOFNEY FOR

COMM :0Ci19 SL'J BALTO. cITll
C')MM 100515 ScY oATE STAMPEo l0/5/15, & oRDEREo l0/2/15, UPON CoNSIDEMfION
CoMM 1OO5l5 SCi OF THE MT.TTION AND RESPONSE IN THIS INSTANCE, 6 HAVING FOUND

COMM lOO5IC, SCY THE STA?E'S REgPONSE IN PARAGRAFHS C, D, E. I, AND P IS
CL]MM IOO5I5 SCI INSOFFICIENT. IT IS ORDERED THAT THE STATE DISCLOSE THE

C':'MM 100515 scY DOCUMENTS REQUESTED B'/ THE DEFENDANT IN PARAGMPHS C, D, E,
COI4M 10051] SCT I, AND F. (SEE ORDER FOR DETAILS) WILLIAMS, J
COMM 100515 SCY (CC: MARC ZAYON, ATTORNEY FOR EDIIARO NERO, JANICE BLEOSOE.
C(II.:H 100515 SCY DEPUT/ SIATE'S ATTORTIEY. OFFICE OF TIiE STAIE,S ATTORNEY FOR

IIEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 023
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9'16:0f Monoay, FetJruaty Oe. !016

02/08/16 CRIMINAL CODRT OF BALTIyoBE i:ASE INQuIs, 09: 15
CASE 115141033 ST A NERC, EDI''ARD MICHAEL OFC A32383 COO Y DCM C 090215

EVETiT T'ATE OPER PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT COMI4ENT
coMM 100515 scr BAlTo. CITY)
COMM 100515 SCB STATE'S SUPPLEYENTAL DISCLOSURE ELO
COMM l00al5 vGI CSET PMoT, P31, L0/l4tl5, vGI (aR AoD otl FER Ltl CK GI)
COMM l00g:5 vCI csET PMoT, P31; 10/13/15; vGI (FR ADD ON PER L!{ CK GI}
CCIjM ]00815 SCY DATE STAMPED T ORDER9O IC/E/I1, HEAPING OPON PRE'TRIAL
COMM 10C815 SC./ MOTIC,NS IN TIIESE CASAS 19 SCHgOULED TO OCCUR ON OCT(IBER 13,
ri9lLY 10C815 SC'/ AND OCTOBER r4, 2015 AI 9:30 A.M. IT :s OPDERED, THAT ALL
COMM 10C815 SCY PP.OVISIONS OF THE SECURIT'I/MEDIA PROTOCOL ORDER DATED AUGUST

CCMM 10C815 ScY 26, :015 SHALI, AFPLY To THIS HEARINL:. PIERSoN. J
.:OMM 100815 SBT STATE'S SUPPLEMENTAL OISCLOSURE FILED BY JANICE BLEDSOE
aOMM iOO915 CNN STATE'9 RESPONSE TC, oEFEI,DANI'S SUPPIEMEIIT T') DEFRIIoANTS'
COMM 1OC9T5 CNN .'CINT MCTION ?O COMPEL AND FOR SANCTIONS
HCAL 101315 CYH ?31,090('r5:8 ,JT , ;POST;PAV;!IILLIAMS, BARR/rBC9
COMM 101315 SCY BEPLI' Tc STATE'S RESP('NSE TO DEFT'S MoTION T') DISMISS FCR

C')MM ]013T5 SC! FAILDRE TO CHAFGE A CRIME FLD
I{CAL lC1315 CKll P3l;0930;5:8 ,PMoT, tCONT, ;WILLIAMS. BARRTTBCg
coMM lCl3l5 r'Kll D9FENSE MoTION 1'O POSTPoNE FROM MoTIoNS HEARING IS
C C'Mlr 101315 Ch:U HaREBY HEARo AND DENIED; DEFENSE MOTION TO SUPPRESS
COMM rO131t ch'H STATEMETITS IS ll:Tl{DMwN, CoNTINUE ON 2/?2/16 PT37

iIEXT PAGE PlII PAGE 024
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9ff6:0d Monda,. Febr,rary 08, :01€

c2/cg/t6 cF I1'TINAL
cAs3 1151410 3 3 ST

EVENT OAT'E OPER
FILE 101315 CKlf
coM!4 1('r415 191
coMM 101 .l I 5 1,, )
COMM l0l4 15 1,rl
COMI4 !01115 lSj
COMM 1014 l5 191
coMM 1C 14 l5 l9l
COMM lC 14 15 lgl
a(,Mll l0l4l5 r9l
COMM 1014 15 l9l
coMal 1C !.1 l5 1gl
COMI| 10i415 lSl
COMM 101415 191
coMM 101515 SCY
coMM l0l5l5 scY
cor4M 101515 SCY
!'OMM 1015:5 scY
cor4M 101515 SCY
coMM l0l5 i 5 scY

NEXI PAGE

r-oURT O!' bALTIMORE CASA IN0UIRY 09: 15
A N8RO, EOIIAPO MICI{AEL OFC A3238;1 CQO Y DCM C 090215

PART TIME ROOM FEAS / EVENT COMMEIiT
FILED ADF - i',ALKER, ROLAND , USQ 862018
DAI'L STAI4PED ANO OFDEFED ON 10/i4l15 THAT IN COI'ISIDERATION
OF DEFENDANT'S 01 /3O/I5 JOIN1 MCTION TC COMPEL AND FOR

SANCTIONS, THE COURT HAVING EOTIND THAT TIIE STATE AAS FAILED
TO PROOUCE I TI FORI4AT i ')N ?HIS COORT OEEMS EXCILPATORY. IT IS
TI|IS I4TH DAY OF OCTOBER 1015 H3REBI ORDARED TIIAT DEF'S
MOTIONS IS GRANTEO ItI PART AND HEREBY ORDERED THAT IHE STATE
ON OR BEFORE IO/28/L5 PBOVIDE COUNSEL FOR DEFENDANT'S IIITH
COPIEg OF ANI ANO ALL T,OCUMENTS PERTAINING T(' THE
INVESTIGATI(,N AND PROSECUTION CF DEFEI,IOAIITS, ALL OTSER
REt(IEST Bi TlE STATE AtlD THE OEFENITANTS FOR SANCTIONS ARE
TiEREBY DENIED PER .]UDGE BABRY G.}''ILLIAMS (SEE ORf,ER' CC:
ADF MARC ZAYON AND ASA JANICE BLEDSOE
DAT9 STA}IPED 6 ORDERED LO/!4/L5, ON MAY T4, 2015, THIS COURT

F(EEEIVED THE STATE.g MOTION EOR ISSUANCE OF ORDER BAFRING
sxTMJ0olCIAL STATEMENTS. ON SEPTEMBER 29, ?015, THIS CC'oRT

RECEIVED THE OEFT'S MOTION FOR RECO]ISIDERATION OF THE DENIAL
OF i4OTION FOR REMOVAL 6 REQIJEST FOF HEARING. THE DEF?'S
MOTION NOTED HIS CONCERN FOR THE ACCUMULATION OF PRETRIAL

P/fl PAGE 025
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9!l6,o6t Mooday, February 08, 2015

02tO8tl6 CRTIIIIIAL couRT oF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIR? 09:15
CASE 11914:033 ST A NERO. EDWARO MICPAEL OFC A32383 CCD Y DCM C 090215

EVEN1. DATE I]PEB PART TIME ROOM REAS / EVENT CCI.,I',ENT
COMM TUI5T5 SCY PUBLICI'TI, INCSUDIIIG THE DISCIOSURE OF EVICgNCE NOT ilI TIIE
COMM iO15I5 SCt 9UBLIC 3ECOPD, 6 THE EFFECT CF SUCII ON T|IE VIOR DIRE PROCESS

COMM t01519 SCY 6 HIS RIGH! To A IAIR TRIAL. ACL'ORDINGLY, IT Is HEREB/
COMM IO15I5 SCY OROERED THAT: i.} THIS OROER IS BINDING ON THE DEFT, ALL
COMM 101515 SCT AITORNEYS FOR THE DE9T O THE STATE, 6 ON ALL EM?LOYEES.
COMM 101515 SCI F EPRESENTAT IVES, OR AGENTS OF SOCH ATTORNETS. IT SHALL
COMM IOI515 SCT FEMAIN IN FORCE UNTIL THE CONCLOSION CF THIS CASE ('R UNTIL
coMM 1C!515 s,:I FoRIHER ORDER C'F THIS COURT. 2.) NO PERS('N CCVEREo BY THIS
COMM 10i515 SCT OROER SHALL MAKE OR ISSUE ANY EXTFAJUDICIAL S:ATEMENT.
COMM 101515 SC7 IIRITTEN OR ORAL, CONCERNING ?HtS CASE FOR DISSEMINATION BY

COMM 101515 SCY MEANS OF FUBLIC COMMUNICATIOT|. 3.} COUNSEL ARE REMINDEO CF
COMM r0r519 ScY THEIR EII{ICAL ooTIES e OBLIGAIToNS AS SET F('RTH IN TllE
coMM 1015i5 SCy Mr' RoLES OF PROFESSTONAL CONoUCT. F|JLE 3.6, TRIAL PUBLICITT.
COMM IO15i5 SCY 4 ) tIO PEPSOIi CCIVAREO BT THIS ORDER SHALL AVOID OR

COMM 101519 SCY CIRT.'UMVENT :TS EFFEC! BY ACTIONS THAT INOIRECTL'/, 3UT
COMM 101515 SCY DELIEBPATELY, BFING ABOOT A VIOLATIOII OF ?IIIS ORDER. 5')
coMM 101515 S':Y IF ANY PERSON BEL:EVaS THAT EVENTS HAVE occURRED THAT SHCTJLD

COMM 101515 SCY RES'JLT IN A MODIFIATIOII OF TI{!S ORDER, SUCH PERSON MAY SEEI(
CCMI.! 1OI5I5 SC'/ RELIE6' FPOM THE COURT. 6.) THE PROHIBITION ON MAKING EXTRA

I{EXI PACE P,/N PAGE 026
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s-' rg: od Mo:rday. February u8, :016

,02/08/16 CHIMINAL COIJFT OP BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRY 09:15
cAsE 115141033 ST A NERC, EDITARD MICHAEL OFC A32383 COD Y DCM C 090215

EVg\T DATE OPER PARI TIME POOI! REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 101515 SCT JIJOI':IAL STATEMENTS APPL]ES TO THE REPOSTING OR REPUBLICA.
COMM 101'515 SCY TIoN oF ANY STATEMENTS MADE PRIOR To THE ENTRY OF THIS ORDER

COMM T01515 JCY HA: 9IOULD NOW CONSTITUTE A VIOLATION OP THIS ORDER. & 1.1
coMM 101515 SCY N')THING IN TI{IS ORDER sllALL BE CONSTRUED TO LIMIT ANY RIGHTS
CCMM IOI515 SCY OF TI{E MEDIA OR ThE PUBLIC PURSUANT TO THE FIRgT AI.'ENDT4ENT

CCMM IOT5I5 SCY OR TO LIYIT P(IBLIC ACCESS TO CCURT PROCEEDINGS AS ALLOTiED
COMM 1OI9I5 SCY BY STAT(ITE. RULE OR COORT OROER. }IILLIA!.!S, J (CC: I4ARC

COMM 101515 SCY ZA'ION, ATTORNEI FOP ED!,'ARD NERO, JANICE BLEDS')U, DEPUTY
CCMM 1('1515 SCY STATE'g ATTORIIEY. OFFICE OF THE STATE'S ATTORNEY FOR BALTO.
,:oMM 101915 SCf CITI) (SEE ORDER FOR GOOO CAUSE SHoWN)
COMM IO2IlC, SCB STATE'S SUPPLEMEN1AL OISCLOSORE FLD
COMM 010416 lgj STATETS SUPPLEMENTAL oISCLOSURE oF EXPERT WITNESS
COMM ')10515 SCT MOTICN TO INTERVEIIE TO SEEK ACCESS TO COURT RECORDS AND
COMM 010516 SCY PROCEEDINGS AND REOUEST FOR HEARING FLO
COMM 010516 SCB STATg's Mo?ION TC STAY PRO!'EEoIIIGS PENoING APPEAL FLD
C OMI4 OI14I6 .iCY OATE STAMPEO 6 CPT'ERED 1113/16, UPOII CONSTILATION WITH THE

CrrMM 011416 SCt PAPTIES TO TltE ABOVE-CAPTIONED CASE THRO0GI| CO(INSEL. IT lS
COI.IM 011416 SCI ORDERED TI:AT A HEARING IS SCHEOULEO FCR JANUARY 20, 2016
COMl"l 011416 SCY AT 2:00 P.M. IIILLIAMS, J (CC: !4ARC 3AYON, ATTi- FOF ED!,ARD

NAxl PAGE P/N PAGg 027
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iilorof Monday, Feoluary 08. 301.;

a2/08/i'6 cRrMrtlAL couRT oF BALTIMORE CASE rND(IIFY t)9t15
CASE 1151410-13 9T A NeRO. EDVTARD MTCHAEL OFC A32393 COD Y DCM C 090215

UVENT DATE ':'FEF PART ?IMS ROOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM 01I.I16 SCY NE3O, JAIIICE BLEDSOE, DEPOTY STATE'S ATTY, OII'ICE CF THE
COMI'I 01141,i SCY STATE'g ATTY FOt' BALTO. CITY)
COMM 011116 S8T STATE'S MOTIOIT TO COMPEL A WITNBSS TO TESTIFY PURSUANT IO
a')MM 01MO SBT SECTION 9-1:3 Ol' THE COUFTS 6 JUDICIAL PROCaEDING ARTL'LE
COMM 011116 S8T 9ILED BY MARILYII MOSBY
COMM 011316 SCI OEFT EDIIARD NERO'S OPPOSITION TO THE STATE'S MOTION
COMM 011516 SCY TO COMP!-L A 'II.ITNESS TO TESTIFY EURSUANT Tcr SEC:ION 9-l:3
COMM 0T13T6 SCt OF 'fHE COU3TS AND JUDICIAL PROCEEOII!6S ARTICLE FLD
CoMM 011516 CPR SE':(TRITY/MEoIA PRoTocoL ORoER
COMM 011916 r'NN DEFENoANT WILLIAI{ PORTEF'S OPPOSITIoN To THE STATE'S
COYTI ('II9lti CNN MOTIOTI TO COMPEL A IiIITNESS TO TESTIF/ PURSUANT TO SECTION
COMM OI1916 CNN 9-1]3 CF THE COUFTS ANO JUI,,ICIAL PROCEEDITI6S ARTICLE
COMTI OI2O16 CNN STATE.S RESPONSE IO CEFENDANT EO}IARO IIERO.S .)PPOSITI')N
C('MM ('1:016 cNN To THE STATE'S MOTIOII TO COMPEL A WITNESS T') IES?IFY
COMM 012016 CNiI PURS.iANT ?O SECTION 9-123 OF T!.IE C')URTS AND JODICIAL
COMM 012016 CN}I PROCEEDINGS ARTICLE
HCAL 012016 1 SCB F31r0930;518 ;HEAR,; ;CONT; ,wILLIAMS, BARRY,8C9
CCMM 01:0!6 ScB CSET }|EAR, P3l, 01/20/16; scB
COi4M 012016 SL-B STATE'S MOTION TO COMPEL PORTER.S TESTIMONY DURING TR:AI

IIEXT PAGE P/N PAGE 028
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,
gffO:O:^ Monday, Fqoruary 08. 2')16

ci toe / t6 cR:r.rlNAL
cAsE:1c,1.t103i sr

EVEIIT DATE OPER
COMM C 1:O I6 SCB
COMY 012010 SCB
coMM 012016 SCB
coMM 012115 SC/
coMM 01: i l6 scY
coMM 012! 16 SCi
C,)MM r.,l / I l6 Scl
coMM 0r2r16 SCt
ccrMM 0l:116 se'/
coMM 0r2116 sct
coMM 0l:116 SCr
coM 0t:116 scY
coMM (' 12116 SCY
co!4M 01 :: I 6 CKW
COMH Ql.1'716 CKI'I
C('MM ('l ld16 cPR
COMM 02 0116 SC')-
coMM 02 0l 16 ScY
coMM 0:0116 scY

NEXI PACE

CCORT CIF BALTIMORE
A NERO, EDWARD M:CHAEL ')FC A32383

PART ?IMA FO')M FEAS / EVENT COMMENT
IS HEREBY HEARD AND DENIED
DEFIS MOTION FOR SPEEDY TRIAL RIGHT IS

CASE INQUIP t 09: I5
coDYDCMC090215

oENlED, COIITINUE CN

ORIGINAL SC}IEDULE
DATE STAMgED 1/2I/76, 6 ORDEREO I/20/16, TI{E TRIAL IN THIS
MATTER IS SCHEOULEO TO BEGIN FEBRUARY :2, 20T6. ?HE DEFT
AND STATE SHALL PILA ANY OUTSTANDING PRE.TR:AL MOTIONS FOR

THIS MA?TE8 BY JAN(IARY 2A, 2016. AESPONSES TO THESE MOTIONS
SHALL BE FILEO BY FEBROARY 12, 2016. A COURTESY COPY OF
ANY MOTION fuID RESPONSE SHALL BE DELIVERED 10 THE CHAI.'BSRS
OF JUDGE BAFRY G. IIILLIAI,IS OII OR BETORE TIIE FILING DATES.
SO ORDERED. WILLIAMS. J (CC: ['4ARC ZAYON, ATTY 9OR EDI'IARD
NERO, JAIIICE BLEOSOE, DEPUTY STATE'S ATTY, OFPICE OF
STATE'S ATTY FOR BALTO. CITY)
DE'ENDANT'S DISCOVER? O1SCLOSLIRES FI LEO
STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINE TO PRECLUDE THE OSFENDANT FROV

STA1E'S SUPPLEMEIITAL DISCLOSURE
MLIT:ON IN LIMINE IO PRECLUDE REFERENCE TO OR AGUMENT APO(IT
9HE LEGALIT { OF 'I'HE KNI FE RECOVERED EROM MR . GRAY IN THE
COURSE OF HTs DETANTION AND ARREST FLO

P/N PAGE 029
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glroiof Monday. February 08, :016

02/08/16 CRIMINAL cooRT or' tsALTIMORE cAsE INQUIRY 09:15
CASE 1r51.i103-1 51 A NEFC, ED,TARD MTCHAEL OFC A3:383 COD Y OCM C 090215

EVENT OATE C?ER PAFT TII'E POOM REAS / EVENT COMMENT
COMM ('20I16 SCY !,IOTION IN LIMINE PRECLIIDE REFERENCE TO OR ARGOMENT ABOOT
COMIT 020116 SCI EXCESSIVE FOPL.E BEING USEO OII MR. GRAY IN THE CCURSE OF HIS
COMM 0:0116 SCi DETENTION OR ARREST T'LI)
CCMM O2I)IT5 SCY DEFT'S MOIION :N LIMINE TO EXCLODE VIDEC EVIDENCE RELATING
COMM 020116 SCY TC, MR. 6RAY'S ARRFST OB IN THE ALTEkNATIVE TO E:{CLUDE A0DIo
COMM O:011€ SC/ EVIOENCE ACCOMFANYING VIDEC EVIDENCS FLD
COHM 02.X11i. SCY E.EFT'S MOTIUN TO OISI''ISS FOR FAILURE TO CiIARGE A CRIME FLO
CCMy 0:J116 SCi M.)!ION IN LIMINE PFECLUDE REFERENCE 1'O OR At GliMEflT ABoLTT t4P.
COMM 02C116 S':/ FFAODIE GRAY.S IIIITIAI LTETENTION NOT BEING SI,PPORTEO tsY

CCMM 02C11;, SC./ PEASONABLE SUSPICIC,N, MR. GPAY.S ARPEST NOT BEING SOPPORTED
CCMU O:oi15 S'.'T BT ?ROBABLE CAJSE, OR MF. GRAY'S SEIZDRE IIOT BEING OIHEP.WISE
COMM O2Oi16 SCY LEGALLY JUSTIFIED FLO
COMM O2C1I6 SC./ DEFT ECWARD NAPOIS MOTI')N IN LIMINE TO PRECLUI,,B INTPOT'OCTION
COMM 02Li1r,6 SCI Ot' EVI.DiNC9. OR AF';UMENT, OF MR. GBAY'S INJORIES FLD
COI'IM 0:0116 CKII STATE'S MO?ION IN LIMINE 10 ALLOW .]UFORS TO VIEI{ AND EXMINE
COMM 0l0tl6 ('K{ THE POLICE i{AGoN THAT TRANSPORTEo THE vIcTIM FLo
COUi4 020116 CI'!I AITEMPTIN6 TO CALL PFOSECUTORS IN THIS CASE AS TRIAL
Covll 020116 cKtJ 'dITNESSES AND FROM ATTEMPTING TO CONTR')VEPT CERTAIII
COMM 0:0116 CKW ASPECTS OF OR TO RAISE BASELESS ACCUSATIONS ABOUT THE

NEXI PAGE P/N PAGE O3O
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sfto''ol Monday, February (t8. 2(r15

02 /0E,'1', ,:RIMI NAL
cAsE I r 514 10-13 9T

EVENT DATE OPEF
coMM 020!16 CKtl
coMM 020116 cK
coMM 0:0116 CKW

co!4M 020116 cKl{
coMM 020116 Ch:tl

':('MM 
('2011 ri Chll

COMM 02 0l 16 !-Kw*
CrjMM O: '.1116 C:aw"

COMM Cl01i ti Sc?
COMM C 201 16 S': r'
coMM 02c116 SCY
ccMl{ 020115 scY
cor4M 0:0:16 sc/
coMM 02 c 216 SC/
C')MM 02u:16 SCr
coMN o202t6 sct
coMM 0:0216 scY
coMM 0:0216 SCY
coMM 020? r 6 scY

IGXI PACE

COURT OI' BALTIMORE
A liEIiO. EDWARD MICIIAEL OFC

CASE INQUIRI' 09:15
A3t383 COD Y DCM C 09C215

PAR? TIME ROOM RAAS / EVENT COMMENT
STATEIS ATTORNEY'S PRETNDICTMENT ACTIONS IN THIS CASE FLD
STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINE TO PRECLUDE EVIOENCE OF,
AR'JIIMENT A3OUT, OR REE.ERENCE TO CERTAIN INFORMATICN
FEGARDIIIG THE VICTIM ELD
STATU'S MCTION !N LIMINE TO ALLO['' THE STATE TO PRESgNT
MET,I':AL EYPEST TESTIMOUY T(, PROVE THAT THE DEFENDANT,S
CONOUC? CREATED A SIIBSTANTIAL RISK OF DAATH CR SERIOUS
FH'/S I'JAL I NJIJFI FLD
STATE'J YCTION IN LIMINA REGARDING THE DEFf.S PROPOSED

EXPEFT TEST:MOIIY AIID REOUEST FOR HEARING F;D
STATE.S !,,OTI']II T4 SEAL THE STATE'S MOT,ON IN LIMINE
REGAT(DIllc THE DEEI'S PROPOSED EXPERT TESTIMCNT AND
FEOUEST FOR H3ARJN6 FLD
OATE STAI'{PEO ! ('ROERED 2/ 2/L6, OROSR FILEO ONDER SEAL'
I'TLLIAMS. J {CC. MARC ZA/ON. AT:Y EOP EDWARD IIgRO, JANICE
BLEDSOE, DEPUT? STATE'S ATTY, OEFICE OF THE STATE'S ATTI
FOR BALTO. CITY )

DATE STAMPEO S ORD9RED 2/:/i6, ORDEF FILED UN)88 SEAL.
WI.LLIAMS, .r (CC: !4ARC ZAYON, ATT'/ FoR EoWARD NERO, JANICE

P/N PAGE O3T
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rlro',00 M.rnda/, EeL'!uary 08. :016

02/0A/16 CRIMIIIAL COU:{T OF BALTIMORE CASE INQUIRI 09:15
CASE 115141033 ST A tiERO. EDIIARD MTCIIAEL OF: A32383 COO Y DCM C 09q215

EVENT DA E C,PEF PART TIME ROOM RgAS / EVENT COiO,tENT

COMU ')20: 16 SCY BLEDSOE. OEP(I?Y STATE'S ATTY. OFFICE CF TIIE STATE'S ATTY
COMM 0:0:,16 SCY FOR BAL?O. CITY)
COMM 020:16 SCY DATE STAI,IP9O 6 ORDERED 2/2/16, ORDER FILED UNDER SEAL'
.-OMM 020:16 SC? I|ILLIAMS. J (CC: MARC ZAION. ATTT FOR EDWARD NERO, JANICE
COMM 0:0216 SC? BLEDSOE, DEEUT/ STATE'S ATTY, OFFICE OF THE STATE'S ATTY
COMM 020?16 SCY FOR BALTO. CITY)
cot:M 020316 scr DATE STAXPEo s ORDEREf 2t?/16, THE STATE'S MOTIOI| TO SEAL
COMM O2O3I6 SCY THE STATE'S MOTION IN LIMINA RgGARDING THE DEFT'S PROPOSED

CoMM 0:0316 SCY EXPSRT TESTIM'INI AND REQUEST FoP HEABING IS DENIED.
!'OMM 020316 scY llILLIAl4S. J (CC: l4ARc ZAYON, ATTY aOR EDWAPD NERO, JANIL'E
CCMM C2O-1:6 SC? 3LEDSOE, DEPUTT STATB'9 ATTY, O:FICE OI"TI{E STATE'S ATTY
COMM 0203i': SC7 FoR BALTO. CITY)
COIIM O-'(t416 CSU STAI'E'S NOTII'E OF APPEAL FLO. ON OENIAL OF MOTIOTI T')
COMM 020416 CSO '](,MPEL FLD. PER YICHAEL SCHATZOII, ASA CHECI( III473 IN THE

ccMl,t 02c416 ':s0 AMoUNT oF;61.00. OljE TO TRANSMT1 04-0,1-:6.
c')MM 020115 *r..'iiliAss:GNaD TO LMH+l"rr"
COMM 0:0516 SCB 9IATE'S HO?ION TC' S1AY PROCEEDINGS PENDING APPEAL FLD
COtt FULL \..AME/ PHCNE ll0MBER IDENT ADD/PILE STREET/CI?I STATE ZIPCODE V/tii
ADF I'IALKER. BOLAIID 86:0i8 101415 201 N CHARLES sT t1700
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1 P R O C E E D I N G S

2 (Excerpt - Testimony of Officer William Porter

3 began at 10:48 a.m. )

4 MR. PROCTOR:  At this time, the Defense will

5 call Officer Porter.

6 THE COURT:  All right.  Very well.

7 MR. MURTHA:  Your Honor, just -- is there any

8 way that get turned off?

9 (Brief pause.)

10 MR. MURTHA:  Thank you.

11 THE COURT:  Swear the witness in.

12 THE CLERK:  Sir, raise your right hand, sir.

13 Whereupon,

14 WILLIAM PORTER,

15 the Defendant, having first been duly sworn, was examined

16 and testified on his own behalf as follows: 

17 THE CLERK:  Thank you, sir.  

18 Have a seat, and state your name.

19 THE WITNESS:  William Porter.

20 THE COURT:  You may proceed.

21 Ladies and gentlemen, you’ll note in a few

22 seconds that Mr. Proctor seems to have a cold that has

23 been going around this courthouse for the last couple of

24 months, just bear that in mind.

25 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you, sir.
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1 If anyone can’t hear, put a hand up.

2 DIRECT EXAMINATION

3 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

4 Q.   Officer Porter, did you know Freddie Gray?

5 A.   Yes, I did know Freddie Gray.

6 I saw Freddie Gray on a daily routine.  Every

7 day, I saw Freddie Gray out.  I worked foot -- on our

8 foot patrol in the Gilmor Homes up at North and Carey and

9 Pennsy and North.  He was a regular fixture up there.

10 And if he wasn’t dirty, he’d come over and talk

11 to me.

12 Q.   What do you mean?

13 A.   Dirty means, you know, that you have drugs, you

14 have, like, a pack of drugs on you.

15 If he wasn’t, he’d come over and talk to me. 

16 And I’d talk with Brandon Ross and to Davonte Roary.  I

17 talked to all the guys up there.

18 Q.   Did you have a problem with him?

19 A.   Not at all, no.

20 Q.   So then when he said he needed a medic, why

21 didn’t you call for one?

22 A.   Well, I didn’t call for a medic because after

23 talking to Freddie Gray, Mr. Gray, he was unable to give

24 me any reason for -- for any kind of medical emergency. 

25 Just talking with him, I didn’t see anything externally,
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1 any cuts or wounds or anything.  

2 And the medic usually takes a while to come --

3 come to a scene.  Where we were Mr. -- the transport

4 would have transported Mr. Gray to the hospital in 10

5 minutes.  It usually takes a little bit longer for them

6 to get to us, and for them to assess the scene, and take

7 him to a hospital.

8 Q.   And why didn’t you seatbelt him at Druid Hill

9 and Dolphin?

10 A.   Just prior training and experience, as everyone

11 has said, that wagon back there is pretty tight.  You

12 know, it becomes a -- when I’m walking in, my gun side --

13 I’m right handed, so my gun side is on the right.  So

14 going into the wagon, my gun is always presented to the

15 prisoners who are sitting along the wall.  So it always

16 presents a problem getting into the wagon.  

17 It’s just -- throughout all of my training,

18 I’ve seatbelted people inside my vehicle, but I -- my

19 personal cruiser, but never the wagon.

20 Q.   At Druid Hill and Dolphin, did Mr. Gray tell

21 you he couldn’t breathe?

22 A.   Absolutely not.

23 Q.   So why does Detective Teel’s report say

24 differently?

25 A.   Detective Teel’s report.  She called me on my
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1 way down to Virginia.  I was on my way -- I answered the

2 phone just because I knew it was a Baltimore City number. 

3 She asked me, you know, could I explain to her what

4 happened.   

5 And assuming that she had known -- that she had

6 investigated the case, that she had known that I had been

7 all of the stops from one to -- well, with the exception

8 of one, but one to six I had been at all the stops from

9 the beginning.  So I started from the beginning, which

10 was Presbury and Mount, in which Mr. Gray had been hurt,

11 saying he couldn’t breathe, and that he needed an asthma

12 inhaler.

13 Q.   Okay.  Now let’s start at the beginning.  

14 Where did you grow up, sir?

15 A.   I grew up in Baltimore City, West Baltimore

16 more specifically.  Within the -- in the Western

17 District, various areas.  Carey and Edmondson Avenue is

18 where I lived.  I lived on Braddish, 1800 block of

19 Braddish.  The 1700 block of Ashburton.  I lived on --

20 then on Riggs.  So a lot of areas in the Western.

21 Q.   And other than being a police officer, have you

22 had any other jobs?

23 A.   Yes, I have.  

24 Q.   And what are those?

25 A.   Other than being a police officer, I worked at
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1 Towson Commons Movie Theater when it was still there.  I

2 also worked at a computer company with one of my mentors.

3 Q.   What high school did you graduate from?

4 A.   I graduated from National Academy Foundation. 

5 Q.   And what did you do after that?

6 A.   After that I -- I went to Villa Julie

7 University -- started Villa Julie College, which is now

8 known as Stevenson University.  I attended there for two

9 to three years.

10 Q.   And when did you start coming into regular

11 contact with police officers?

12 A.   Very young.  Being young, my mom didn’t have a

13 -- or my family didn’t have much money.  So she couldn’t

14 pay for summer camp; she needed to work during the day. 

15 So I joined the Police Athletic League.  At the Police

16 Athletic League, I came into regular contact with --

17 contacts -- I’m sorry -- with officers every day.

18 Q.   Okay.  And how would you describe that contact?

19 A.   It was always positive.  You know, it was like

20 a camp setting, so I -- you know, we came in.  They gave

21 us a little breakfast.  We’d do activities throughout the

22 day.  They’d give us lunch.  

23 If you had gone to the PAL Center during school

24 time, they’d -- they’d help you with school -- I mean

25 with your homework.  
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1 Every Friday, they would take us out to various

2 places in Baltimore City, like the Baltimore Aquarium,

3 the zoo, things like that.

4 Q.   Did you ever think about joining the military?

5 A.   I did think about joining the military,

6 specifically the Air Force.  My dad and my grandfather

7 were both in the Air Force.  Unfortunately, I’m color

8 blind, so I was unable to do the Air Force.

9 Q.   What does your mom do for a living?

10 A.   My mom is a nurse.

11 Q.   So when did you decide to join the police

12 force?

13 A.   I decided to join the police force just from

14 the experiences I had with the Police Athletic League. 

15 And about 2010 is when I decided.  And even then, we were

16 -- the society was having a negative image of police.  

17 There were certain police cases that were coming up, and

18 people were having just a negative interpretation of

19 police.

20 And so I decided that I would become a police

21 officer, and give someone -- give -- give the people a

22 different view to police.

23 Q.   And what kind of a cop would you describe

24 yourself as?

25 A.   I was always fair.  I -- I had little things
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1 that would annoy me, such as, like, littering.  Littering

2 would annoy me because you should be proud of where you

3 come from, so you shouldn’t litter.  

4 I mean, like, Gilmor Homes in the Western

5 District is filthy.  It’s filled with, like, trash all

6 over the place.  There’s some people that walk out just,

7 you know, whatever they eat and whatever they’re

8 drinking, they’ll just drop on the ground.  So, you know,

9 I would get on them, and say, you know, you should be

10 proud of where you come from.

11 I always tell the guys up at Pennsy and North

12 that -- you know, Pennsy and North was like a pivotal

13 place where black people, in like the 1950s, Cab Calloway

14 would go there, and Lena Horn would go there.  And -- and

15 it’s become the heroin capital of the East Coast up at

16 Pennsy and North.

17 Q.   Did you write tickets for minor infractions?

18 A.   I wrote tickets for, like I said, littering. 

19 And sometimes I would have write tickets for

20 loitering.  It’s just a problem, loitering.  A lot of --

21 you know, we have 300 plus murders here in the City.  A

22 lot of those guys are just sitting outside loitering,

23 whether it be a corner store or a liquor store.

24 Q.   So what do you remember about your training at

25 the academy, sir?
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1 A.   Training at the academy, my academy was

2 extended.  It was for 11 months.  Typically, it's six

3 months -- during my training at the academy,

4 unfortunately I had a -- a trainee that was shot by an

5 instructor.  But other than that, I learned.

6 Q.   When the trainee was shot, did the people

7 teaching you change?

8 A.   Oh yeah.  They -- they basically moved

9 everybody out, and just did a reform of the -- of the

10 police -- of the training academy.

11 Q.   What kind of things did you learn at the

12 academy?

13 A.   At the academy, we learned law, ACT, which is

14 arrest control tactics; defensive tactics; you know, just

15 the basics on how to become a police officer.

16 Q.   What kind of medical training did you receive?

17 A.   I’m sorry.  Just what, I think her name is,

18 Officer Carson-Johnson.  Just that EMAT (phonetic) class,

19 just a three-day period, eight hours.  That’s basically

20 was my medical class, what we sat through there.

21 Q.   What about seatbelting?

22 A.   We were always told to seatbelt, but it -- I

23 had never been given any demonstration or anything about

24 seatbelting.

25 Q.   Okay.  So did you receive a copy of the General
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1 Orders at the police academy?

2 A.   I wasn’t -- I have never ever had a physical

3 copy of the entire General Order.  I know that I signed

4 for a piece of paper.  But coming from the civilian side,

5 when -- when someone says we’re going to hand you

6 something called the General Orders, I had no idea what

7 that was.  So, yes, I did sign for it.  

8 But during the academy, I was given a flash

9 drive, and I was -- I'm sorry -- the General Orders were

10 put on that flash drive.

11 Q.   After the police academy, what’s the next thing

12 that happens?

13 A.   After the police academy, you do field

14 training.  It’s supposed to be 10 weeks.  Unfortunately,

15 our class had done six weeks of field training.  You just

16 go under a field training officer, who's trained to train

17 officers.

18 Q.   And during your field training, was anyone

19 arrested?

20 A.   Yes.  Yes.  Lots of arrests.

21 Q.   And with your -- what do you call the person

22 responsible for supervising you?

23 A.   He’s called an FTO or Field Training Officer.

24 Q.   Okay.  So people were arrested during your six

25 weeks of field training; is that correct?
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1 A.   Yes, sir.

2 Q.   Were they put in a wagon?

3 A.   They were put in a wagon, yes.

4 Q.   Were they seat belted?

5 A.   They were not seat belted.

6 Q.   How many arrests have you been present at?

7 A.   I have an approximate number, probably 110

8 arrests for two years, but I’ve probably been a part of

9 200 arrests.

10 Q.   And of those 200 arrests, how many left in a

11 wagon?

12 A.   Probably around 150.

13 Q.   And of those 150, how many were seat belted?

14 A.   None.

15 Q.   What is your understanding of, when a detainee

16 gets in the wagon, whose responsibility are they?

17 A.   I think any officer would tell you it’s the

18 responsibility of the -- the wagon driver to get the

19 prisoner from Point A to Point B, whatever that Point B

20 may be.

21 Q.   So you’ve heard testimony about a PocketCop. 

22 What is a Pocketcop?

23 A.   A PocketCop is actually an application that,

24 you know, the police department and various police

25 departments have.  It’s placed on the departmental phone
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1 so that civilians can’t access that PocketCop app, and

2 it’s distributed throughout the police department.

3 Q.   Did you have one?

4 A.   I did not have PocketCop

5 Q.   So if you wanted to check your email, how would

6 you do it, sir?

7 A.   I would need to go in early or stay late, and

8 get on one of those antiquated computers that we talked

9 about earlier.

10 Q.   Your shifts, how many hours are they?

11 A.   Well, it just recently turned into -- well,

12 when I was there, it had recently turned into 10-hour

13 shifts.

14 Q.   And of those 10 hours, what are you expected to

15 be doing?

16 A.   I need to be patrolling, actively engaging the

17 public.

18 Q.   So of your 10 hours, how much time did you

19 physically spend at the District?

20 A.   Just roll call, which I think it’s 27 minutes

21 or something like that.  And then we would go on the

22 street.  We’re expected not to come into District unless

23 you need to come into the District.  And you’re out to

24 stay our and patrol.

25 The Western District is a pretty -- pretty
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1 violent place.  You know, I had plenty to do.

2 Q.   So tell me what the average day in the life of

3 a Western District patrol officer, like yourself.

4 A.   I can tell you about my first day of field

5 training.  First day of field training, we get a call to

6 Club International.  At Club International, we were just

7 doing some crowd control.  I’m with my field training

8 officer, the crowd was moving.  And I hear about seven

9 gun shots rang out.  

10 I then pull my service weapon, and I go into

11 the direction of the gun -- the gun fire.  There, I meet

12 up with my field training officer.  We located a number

13 one -- I’m sorry, a black male who had been shot.  I’m

14 not -- an unknown amount of times.  

15 I could actually see the -- a suspect running

16 down the street.  And my field training officer advised

17 me not to run after him, but to give his -- his -- what

18 he looked like, his appearance, and call it out on the

19 radio.

20 Then we called for an ambulance to -- the

21 gentleman on the ground.  He was taken away.  And we then

22 did the area canvass.  From there, we cleared out from

23 the scene, you know, did regular patrol.

24 But at the end of that night, about six o’clock

25 in the morning, I received a call of alarm of fire.  From
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1 there, I witnessed a fire at a church that had been

2 started by -- it was an electrical fire.  But, you know,

3 that’s a pretty exciting first day at work.

4 Q.   And what’s a typical day look like?

5 A.   A typical day looks like that.  It depends on

6 what shift you’re on.  Baker -- I’m sorry, baker shift,

7 which is their earliest shift, tends to be a little bit

8 slower. 

9 But Charlie shift is you’re going from

10 beginning.  You can go to domestic calls, to a missing

11 person's report, to shoplifting, you know.

12 Q.   Okay.  Now, talk a little bit about a

13 PocketCop.  If you wanted to check your email, sir, how

14 would you do that?

15 A.   Like I said before, I’d -- I’d either go in

16 early or stay late and get on one of the antiquated

17 computers.  And there were only two available.  So there

18 would be other people on the computers, and I’d just have

19 to wait and check those emails.

20 Q.   And if, for your shift, something was

21 important, how would you learn about it?

22 A.   It’s typically read out at roll call.  There

23 would be -- during roll call, they tell us about the

24 areas that we need more police presence in.  They tell us

25 about BOLOs, be on the look out for persons and wanted
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1 persons.  And it’s typically read out during roll call.

2 And whenever they have policy changes, they’re

3 read out during roll call.

4 Q.   Did you ever receive anything critically

5 important by email?

6 A.   We did, yes.

7 Q.   What kind of things?

8 A.   Like I said, the wanted persons, the BOLOs. 

9 They sent out emails every day for -- for anything.  I

10 mean, but your email could also contain something about,

11 you know, a retirement dinner from someone at the

12 Southern District.  

13 Q.   So in the month of April, do you know how many

14 emails you received?

15 A.   It’s approximately 1300 emails, over 1300.

16 Q.   And did you ever send emails from Baltimore

17 City Police Department?

18 A.   No.  I didn’t really send emails, no.

19 Q.   So -- and April 9 .  April 9 , the day thatth th

20 Lieutenant Quick sent out that email; are you familiar

21 with that?

22 A.   I am familiar with that, yes.

23 Q.   How many emails did you get that day?

24 A.   44 emails that day.

25 Q.   If you were present at an arrest, and drugs
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1 were recovered, what would you do with them?

2 A.   If I were the arresting officer, I would have

3 to, you know, place them in my pocket until I get to the

4 District where I could package them.

5 Q.   You were provided with evidence bags?

6 A.   They’re located at the District.  But, no, on

7 the street, I’m not provided with evidence bags, no.

8 Q.   So in your day-to-day responsibilities, right,

9 how much of that, what you do every day, did you learn at

10 the academy?

11 A.   Probably about 20 percent.

12 Q.   So where did the other 80 percent come from?

13 A.   On the street training and experiences.

14 Q.   By whom?

15 A.   Senior officers and field training officers.

16 Q.   Now, what’s use of force?

17 A.   Use of force is -- is -- you know, if I were to

18 use my baton to hit -- strike someone, that’s a use of

19 force.  If I were to use a taser, that’s a use of force. 

20 If I were to deploy mace, that’s a use of force.  

21 Q.   Did you ever have any findings that you used

22 force?

23 A.   No.  No findings that I used force.

24 Q.   So --

25 A.   I was -- I was always able to --
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1 THE COURT:  You need a question.

2 THE WITNESS:  I’m sorry.

3 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

4 Q.   So how could you de-escalate the situation

5 without using force?

6 A.   I was always able to use my rapport to kind of

7 talk the guy into cuffs, and not have to strike him or

8 anything.

9 Q.   Other than at the range, did you ever fire your

10 gun?

11 A.   No, sir.

12 Q.   What’s officer safety?

13 A.   Officer safety is just, you know, as I said,

14 officer safety, you -- you want to make sure your

15 officers are safety and yourself is safety -- I mean,

16 your safety.  That’s basically it.

17 Q.   And how important was that to you as a police

18 officer?

19 A.   It was paramount.  You know, as a police

20 officer -- I became a police officer to protect life and

21 property.  And before property, comes life.  So it was

22 pivotal.  It was paramount.

23 Q.   You weren’t trained on officer safety at the

24 academy?

25 A.   I can’t say that there’s specific training, but
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1 it’s just ingrained to protect life.  Your life, the

2 public’s life, and also your fellow officer’s life.

3 Q.   How did every roll call end?

4 A.   They would typically say make sure you, you

5 know, back each other up.

6 Q.   Okay.  Now, let’s talk about April 12 .  Aprilth

7 12th’s a Sunday; right?

8 A.   It is, yes.

9 Q.   So what’s the first thing you do every Sunday

10 morning?

11 A.   On Sunday, we have inspections.  So that’s a

12 gun inspections.  You get inspected as far as your

13 uniform and your appearance.  You also have vehicle

14 inspections every Sunday.

15 Q.   Okay.  So did you do a vehicle inspection that

16 morning?

17 A.   I did do a vehicle inspection that morning.

18 Q.   What, if anything, significant happened during

19 your vehicle inspection?

20 A.   While -- while waiting to wash my car,

21 Lieutenant Rice comes over the air and says that he’s in

22 a foot pursuit.

23 Q.   Okay.  Now, let’s step back a little.  You’re

24 title as a police officer is what?

25 A.   Police officer.
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1 Q.   Who’s your direct supervisor?

2 A.   My direct supervisor would be a sergeant.

3 Q.   And on that morning who’s the sergeant?

4 A.   Sergeant Alicia White.

5 Q.   And who’s her supervisor?

6 A.   Her supervisor is Lieutenant Rice.

7 Q.   And so when you say Lieutenant Rice called a

8 foot pursuit, that’s your boss’ boss?

9 A.   In a way, yes. 

10 Q.   And the -- explain, in case it’s not clear, is

11 Baltimore broken into separate divisions?

12 A.   Yes.  We have nine different districts.

13 Q.   Southeast, Northwest, that sort of thing?

14 A.   Yes, sir.

15 Q.   And you’re in the Western; right?

16 A.   I’m in the Western.

17 Q.   On that Sunday morning who’s in charge of

18 Western District?

19 A.   Lieutenant Rice is the shift leader.  He’s the

20 shift commander.  He’s the commander for the District

21 that morning.

22 Q.   Okay.  So Lieutenant Rice calls out a foot

23 pursuit; right?

24 A.   Yes, sir.

25 Q.   Does he use any codes?
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1 A.   I can’t say for certain.  But, you know, the

2 typical code would be, you know, 10-16.

3 Q.   Let’s talk about that a little, sir.

4 Q.   What’s a 10-16?

5 A.   A 10-16 is urgent backup.

6 Q.   Are you free to disregard that?

7 A.   There are very rare occasions.  You know, if

8 I’m protecting life, then yes, I’m free to.  But if I’m

9 just washing my car, then no I’m not free to disobey a

10 10-16.

11 Q.   So he says 10-16, what do you do?

12 A.   I immediately run out to my vehicle and respond

13 to the areas in which he called out.

14 Q.   And where is that area?

15 A.   He may have said Gilmor Homes or -- or, you

16 know, Mount Street and Westwood because I responded over

17 to Westwood and Bruce Street.

18 Q.   Okay.  And when you get there, what do you do?

19 A.   When I get there, I exit my vehicle.  I walk

20 southbound on Bruce Street where I can -- where I locate

21 Lieutenant Rice.  

22 MR. PROCTOR:  May I just retrieve one of these?

23 Thank you.

24 Judge, I’m not sure if the jury can see.  Could

25 Officer Porter get off the stand, and just have him point

21

E. 270



1 to the map?

2 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

3 Q.   Officer Porter.

4 Now, I’m the wrong person to be saying this

5 sir, but you have to keep your voice up.

6 Okay.  Can you see on this map where you parked

7 your vehicle?

8 A.   My vehicle was in Bruce and --

9 THE COURT:  The witness needs to move to the

10 right of it so all the jurors can see.

11 THE WITNESS:  I’m sorry.

12 My vehicle --

13 THE COURT:  No, no.  Let -- 

14 MR. PROCTOR:  How’s that?

15 THE WITNESS:  My vehicle would have been here.

16 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

17 Q.   Okay.  And what direction did you walk in?

18 A.   Southbound.  In this direction, down.

19 Q.   And who did you see as you walked that way?

20 A.   Lieutenant Rice was (indiscernible at 

21 11:11:30 a.m.)

22 Q.   And as best as you can point out on Defendant’s

23 Exhibit 1, where was Lieutenant Rice?

24 A.   Let’s see.

25 THE COURT:  You need to move out the way of the
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1 --

2 THE WITNESS:  I’m sorry.

3 It may be covered up.  Somewhere in here.

4 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

5 Q.   Okay.  You can take the witness stand again.

6 So when you see Lieutenant Rice, do you have a

7 discussion with him?

8 A.   Yes.

9 Q.   And based on that, what do you do?

10 A.   From there, I began searching for a second

11 suspect that he said was in this area, general area.

12 Q.   Okay.  I’m showing you what’s about to be

13 marked --

14 MR. MURTHA:  9.  9; is that correct?

15 MR. PROCTOR:  As a defendant’s exhibit.

16 THE CLERK:  Number 9.

17 MR. PROCTOR:  9.

18 (Defendant's Exhibit Number 9

19  was received in evidence.) 

20 THE COURT:  Is it for ID or for entry?

21 MR. PROCTOR:  It's for entry.

22 THE COURT:  Any objection?

23   MR. SCHATZOW:  No objection.

24 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

25 Q.   I’m showing you what’s been marked as
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1 Defendant’s Exhibit 9, and ask you if you recognize that?

2 A.   Yes.  That looks familiar.

3 Q.   What is it?

4 A.   That’s going to be Bruce Street, and that is

5 Presbury.

6 Q.   Okay.  And does that fairly and accurately

7 depict the area where you were looking for the second

8 suspect, part of it?

9 A.   I -- yes.  I would have been behind these

10 houses here.

11 Q.   Okay.  And you’re pointing to the top right

12 corner of the screen, to the right of where the person on

13 the bicycle is?

14 A.   Yes.

15 MR. PROCTOR:  I’d ask that be published to the

16 jury.

17 THE COURT:  Very well.  It’s entered and

18 published.

19 (Brief pause.) 

20 THE COURT:  Excuse me one moment.

21 (Brief pause.)

22 THE COURT:  You can retrieve it.

23 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you, sir.

24 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

25 Q.   So, Officer Porter, as you’re searching for the
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1 second suspect, do you hear anything?

2 A.   Yes, sir.  While searching for the second

3 suspect, I can hear a gentleman, I didn’t know at the

4 time, but I know now, to be Mr. Gray.  He was just

5 yelling inaudible stuff.  At some point in time, he said

6 I can’t breathe, I need an asthma inhaler.  He also said

7 something about his legs.  I could hear -- I was just a

8 block over, and I could hear what he was yelling.

9 Q.   So you can hear it, but can you see it?

10 A.   I cannot see it, no.  I’m behind houses.

11 Q.   So approximately how long do you spend

12 searching for a second suspect?

13 A.   I don’t have a good -- it was -- it wasn’t --

14 it was a short time.  It wasn’t very long.

15 Lieutenant Rice walks back over -- walks back

16 to me and, you know, tells me to 10-6, don’t continue

17 that search any longer.

18 Q.   Okay.  So again --

19 THE COURT:  Excuse me one second.  I need

20 Defense 9.  I need it over here with the exhibits 

21 until --

22 MR. PROCTOR:  Absolutely, sir.

23 THE CLERK:  Thank you.

24 THE COURT:  Thank you.

25 BY MR. PROCTOR: 
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1 Q.   What’s a 10-6, sir?

2 A.   A 10-6 just means to stand by.

3 Q.   It means -- okay.

4 So after Lieutenant Rice says 10-6, where do

5 you go?

6 A.   From there I just do some -- some crowd control

7 over -- I’m on Mount Street and Presbury.  Just standing

8 at that corner, there was some -- some citizens there

9 just expressing that they didn’t like the way Mr. Gray

10 was arrested.

11 Q.   At stop one, the -- with all -- you’ve been

12 present for testimony; right?

13 A.   Yes.

14 Q.   And you’ve heard people describe the six stops;

15 right?

16 A.   Yes.

17 Q.   And what we’re talking about at the moment is

18 Stop 1; is that true?

19 A.   Yes.  That is the moment -- that’s what we’re

20 talking about at the moment, yes.

21 Q.   Do you ever see the wagon at Stop 1?

22 A.   The wagon just may be pulling away, but no I

23 don’t see the wagon.

24 Q.   Do you ever see it with the doors open?

25 A.   No.  No.
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1 Q.   Did you ever see anyone inside it?

2 A.   No.  I never saw anyone get inside it.

3 Q.   Did you ever see anyone getting lifted up into

4 it?

5 A.   No.

6 Q.   So you’re talking about crowd control in Gilmor

7 Homes?

8 A.   Yes.

9 Q.   In your experience, how many of the arrests

10 you’ve been present at happened at Gilmor Homes?

11 A.   A large number happened in Gilmor Homes. 

12 Gilmor Homes -- yes, a lot.

13 Q.   So in your experience, when someone gets

14 arrested at Gilmor Homes, what happens?

15 A.   When someone gets arrested in Gilmor Homes --

16 it’s a housing project.  Typically, people tend to come

17 out and start -- a crowd starts to gather, and they --

18 they just start to yell things at us.

19 Q.   So why did you feel it necessary to do crowd

20 control?

21 A.   Just because I -- I -- during my shifts, I

22 frequently walk foot in Gilmor Homes, and I’m a familiar

23 face, and I know people by first names, and I talk to

24 them a lot.  So, you know, I can typically get people to

25 calm down in -- in the Gilmor Homes.
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1 Q.   Did you see the -- the video that was shown, I

2 think it was Mr. Moore recorded.  Did you see that video?

3 A.   I saw that video in court, yes.

4 Q.   And there were people screaming and hollering?

5 A.   There are, yes.

6 Q.   Is that a frequent occurrence?

7 A.   Absolutely, in Gilmor Homes, yes.

8 Q.   So after the -- how long do you spend, roughly,

9 doing crowd control?

10 A.   Not long at all.  Lieutenant Rice instructed

11 everybody to clear out and get out of Gilmor Homes pretty

12 -- pretty quickly.

13 Q.   So what did you do?

14 A.   I then walked back to my vehicle and controlled

15 -- I mean, continued my regular patrol duties.

16 Q.   Okay.  Roughly, do you recall what direction

17 you drove in?

18 A.   From Westwood, I probably went northbound on

19 Fulton and then went eastbound on North Avenue.

20 Q.   And what’s the next thing of any significance

21 that happens?

22 A.   I -- I hear someone call for the wagon to go to

23 Mount and Baker so that it could place shackles on, I

24 know now to be Mr. Gray, and fill out the Central Booking

25 Bin Number thing.
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1 Q.   Is that commonly called the toe tag?

2 A.   It is commonly called the toe tag, yes.

3 Q.   Tell the jury what a toe tag is.

4 A.   A toe tag is just, you know, we place --

5 there’s identification numbers when you take people into

6 Central Booking.  We call it the Bin Number.  You just

7 write down the Bin Number from the bracelet that we place

8 on the prisoner.  

9 And you just write on a piece of paper and the

10 wagon driver or the transport driver hands it over to the

11 people over at Central Booking.  And that’s how you --

12 that’s the receipt for the prisoner.

13 Q.   Okay.  So you hear someone say they’re going to

14 toe tag him.

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   Does anyone request for assistance?

17 A.   After -- after they -- after the wagon -- I

18 guess after the wagon heads back there, there’s another

19 call on the radio, just for one more unit I think they

20 said, and I respond.  I had just been up the street.  I

21 was going to Mount and Baker.

22 Q.   Was there a code given?

23 A.   I’m -- I’m not certain.  I don’t recall.

24 Q.   So why’d you go?

25 A.   Just that’s what I do.  That’s my sector.  I

29

E. 278



1 work in Sector 4.  And that’s my responsibility.

2 Q.   And, by the way, we talked about the hierarchy,

3 okay.  And your shift is Baker shift?

4 A.   At that time it would have been Baker shift,

5 yes.

6 Q.   How many people are supposed to be working on a

7 Baker shift?

8 A.   17 officers.

9 Q.   How many were there that day?

10 A.   It may have been 10 to 11 officers there.  

11 Q.   How many sergeants are you supposed to have in

12 a shift?

13 A.   Three sergeants, or it should be four sergeants

14 for every sector, but three to four sergeants.

15 Q.   How many on a shift?

16 A.   On a shift?  Like I said, three to four

17 sergeants, depending on how many sectors there are in the

18 District.

19 Q.   How many were there that day?

20 A.   Just one.

21 Q.   How many wagons are you supposed to have on a

22 shift?

23 A.   There’s supposed to be two wagons for my

24 District.

25 Q.   And how many were working that day?
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1 A.   Just one.

2 Q.   So now let’s talk about Stop 2; okay?  Because

3 I think everybody in here knows what Stop 2 is.

4 You said you headed over there.  When you go

5 there, what’s going on?

6 A.   I stopped my car about 20 feet back.  I could

7 hear the crowd.  I could hear people yelling at the

8 officers at the wagon.  They were saying, you know, don’t

9 -- you beat him, why’d you beat him, why’d you tase him. 

10 And there some expletive language.  

11 I then walked up to the back of the wagon. 

12 They were pulling -- at that time, I didn’t know who it

13 was, you know, because it was officers standing in front

14 of whoever the suspect was.  

15 And they were -- as they pull him into the

16 wagon, I turned around and I go to the crowd because

17 there’s three officers and one suspect.  So there’s no

18 need for me to be over there.  And I go to the crowd.

19 Q.   So who pulled him into the wagon?

20 A.   Well, I know now to be Lieutenant Rice.

21 Q.   Did you know at the time?

22 A.   Not at the time, I didn’t know.  I speculated

23 between either Lieutenant Rice or Officer Nero.

24 Q.   Okay.  And did you see Mr. Gray get lifted up

25 into the wagon?
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1 A.   I think he began to go before I turned around.

2 Q.   I’m sorry.  Can you repeat that?

3 A.   I’m not certain.  He may have been -- well, he

4 may have been just getting into the wagon.  I think I

5 said something about his feet were kicking, and the other

6 two officers grabbed his feet, and placed him in the

7 wagon.

8 Q.   So then within a few seconds, I think I heard

9 you say that you turned away from the wagon; right?

10 A.   Yes.  I turned around to the wagon to -- just

11 to do more crowd control.  We want to make sure someone

12 doesn’t come up to the back of the wagon and, you know,

13 do something, honestly.

14 Q.   Why didn’t you assist them in lifting Mr. Gray

15 into the wagon?

16 A.   Why did I or why didn’t I?

17 Q.   Why did you not?

18 A.   I did not because there were enough officers

19 there.  There was three officers and one detainee. 

20 There’s only --

21 Q.   Who was handcuffed?

22 A.   Who was handcuffed.  There was no need for me

23 to go over there.

24 Q.   Okay.  So I think I heard you say you did crowd

25 control?
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1 A.   Yeah.  I began walking over to the crowd.

2 Q.   What does that entail?

3 A.   Just trying to get them to calm down.  And --

4 and if I can, get them to leave the scene.  Just --

5 Q.   And is that the conversation you had with

6 Brandon Ross (phonetic)?

7 A.   That’s -- that’s when Brandon Ross asked me to

8 come over to him.

9 Q.   Now, Brandon Ross has testified; right?

10 A.   Yes.

11 Q.   Tell the jury what you know about Brandon Ross.

12 A.   I’ve -- I’ve -- Brandon Ross and Freddie Gray

13 hung out a lot.  I’ve seen -- like I said, Sector 4,

14 which is the area we’re talking about generally, is the

15 sector I’m in.  And I’m usually walking foot there.  I’m

16 usually talking with Brandon Ross or Freddie Gray or

17 various people in Gilmor Homes.  

18 So I’ve seen him a bunch.  I’ve never actually

19 arrested him, but I’ve been there while he’s been

20 arrested also.

21 Q.   Okay.  Have you ever arrested Freddie Gray?

22 A.   I never arrested Freddie Gray, no.

23 Q.   So you have this -- tell the jury about your

24 conversation, as you recall it, with Brandon Ross.

25 Q.   Well, being the type -- being the officer that

33

E. 282



1 I am, I built a rapport with Brandon Ross and the other

2 guys in the neighborhood.  So Brandon asked me to come

3 over.  And he was just explaining to me that he -- he’s

4 upset with the officers tasing Mr. Gray and beating Mr.

5 Gray.  And I’m just explaining to him I had never -- I

6 didn’t see anybody tase him or beat him or anything.

7 And he asked for a supervisor.  I -- I point

8 out my supervisor on the scene, and let him know that

9 Lieutenant Rice is the highest guy in the District, and

10 he would need to talk to Lieutenant Rice.  He said that

11 wasn’t good enough.  

12 I then instructed him to call 911.  He didn’t

13 think that was a good enough fix.  So he said, you know,

14 we got it on video.  And I told him, you know, if you’ve

15 got it all on video then, you know, go to the media with

16 it and get it broadcasted.  

17 Q.   And he did; right?

18 A.   I guess so.

19 Q.   You mentioned the taser.

20 A.   Yes.

21 Q.   Did you have one?

22 A.   I was not issued a taser.  No, I didn’t have a

23 taser.  

24 Q.   Did you see the wagon doors close?

25 A.   No.  I didn’t see the wagon doors close.  I was
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1 talking to Brandon Ross.

2 Q.   Do you know what position Mr. Gray was put in

3 inside the wagon?

4 A.   I saw him being pushed -- put into the wagon. 

5 But no, I didn’t -- I don’t know what position he ended

6 up in.

7 Q.   And do you know if he was seat belted when he

8 put in the wagon?

9 A.   I -- no.  I’d be making assumptions about it if

10 I were to say that.

11 Q.   And by the way, you’ve both put people in a

12 wagon yourself, and assisted other officers doing it;

13 right?

14 A.   Typically, when you arrest people, they 

15 don’t -- they don’t want to be arrested.  And they tend

16 to fight back sometimes -- or just sort of actively

17 resist.  Not fighting, not throwing strikes at the

18 officers, but actively resisting and refusing to get into

19 the wagon.  

20 So yes, I’ve had instances where I’ve -- you

21 know, I was hit with a wagon door.  Or they kick the

22 door, and the door hit me.

23 Q.   So --

24 A.   And I’ve seen that happen to officers, too.

25 Q.   Have you seen other officers get injured
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1 loading people into a wagon?

2 A.   Not injured to the point where they needed to

3 get medical attention, but, you know -- you know, maybe a

4 jammed finger or, you know, little cuts, little bruises.

5 Q.   So after talking to Brandon Ross, what did you

6 do?

7 A.   Oh.  After talking to Brandon Ross and -- he

8 then walks off.  Then I walk back over to the wagon

9 because I can hear the -- I can hear kicking -- or what I

10 think to be kicking.  I can hear there’s bumps, and I can

11 see the wagon shaking side to side, not back and forth

12 but side to side.  

13 Q.   Put your hand up as if it’s the wagon.  Show me

14 how it was shaking.

15 A.   It was going side to side.

16 Q.   You’re familiar with Freddie Gray; you’ve

17 arrested Freddie Gray.  Ballpark, what was he like?

18 A.   I haven’t -- I haven’t arrested him.

19 Q.   I’m sorry.  You’re right. 

20 Being in contact with him on a daily basis,

21 what does he weigh, roughly?

22 A.   Probably 130, 150 pounds, something around

23 there.

24 Q.   And the wagon is shaking; is that correct?

25 A.   Yes.  The wagon was shaking.

36

E. 285



1 Q.   And can -- is there any loud voices happening?

2 A.   There’s yelling.  It’s inaudible.  He’s not

3 saying any specific or distinct.

4 Q.   Now, let me show you what’s been marked -- 

5 MR. PROCTOR:  Let me show Mr. Schatzow first.

6 (Brief pause.)

7  BY MR. PROCTOR: 

8 Q.   What’s been marked as Defendant’s Exhibit 10

9 and ask if you recognize that?

10 (Defendant's Exhibit Number 10

11  was marked for identification.) 

12 THE WITNESS:  Yes.  It’s CCT footage from --

13 that appears to be Mount Street.  

14 Q.   And what does it depict?

15 A.   In the -- in the picture, I can see Brandon

16 Ross.  I also see myself.  And there’s another officer

17 there.  And it looks like there’s somebody behind us.

18 MR. PROCTOR:  Judge, I’d move Defendant’s

19 Exhibit 10 into evidence.

20   MR. SCHATZOW:  No objection, Your Honor.

21 THE COURT:  So entered.

22   (Defendant's Exhibit Number 10

23   was received in evidence.) 

24 MR. PROCTOR:  May I just publish it again?

25 THE COURT:  You may.
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1 MR. PROCTOR:  While the jury is looking at

2 that, if I can just reload?  

3 THE COURT:  Absolutely.

4 (Brief pause.) 

5 THE COURT:  Actually, Counsel, approach while

6 they’re looking at that.

7 MR. PROCTOR:  Yes, sir.

8 (Counsel approached the bench, and the

9 following ensued:) 

10 THE COURT:  (Inaudible at 11:30:00 a.m.)

11 MR. PROCTOR:  I’m doing all right.  I’d rather

12 keep going, but it’s up to you.  If you want to take a

13 break, I’ll take one.

14 THE COURT:  (Inaudible at 11:30:06 a.m.)

15 MS. BLEDSOE:  A break?

16 MR. PROCTOR:  Well, if it will make your life

17 easier, I won't stand in the way of that.

18 THE COURT:  Literally, five minutes.  As soon

19 as they finish, we'll break.

20 (Counsel returned to the trial table, and the

21 following ensued:)

22 (Brief pause.) 

23 THE COURT:  All right.  Ladies and gentlemen,

24 we’re going to take about -- not about, we’re going to

25 take a five-minute break.
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1 Please do not discuss this testimony, even

2 among yourselves.

3 Leave your notepads on the chair.

4 All rise for the jury.

5 (Brief pause.) 

6  (Whereupon, the jury was excused from the

7 courtroom at 11:31 a.m.) 

8 THE COURT:  Thank you.  Everyone may be seated.

9 Counsel, approach.

10 (Counsel approached the bench, and the

11 following ensued:) 

12 THE COURT:  I only need one.  I don’t need

13 both.  I just need one.  That’s all I need.

14 It's usually a five-minute break (inaudible at

15 11:32:04 a.m.)  And then we’ll just go until lunch.  And

16 lunch (Inaudible at 11:32:08 a.m.) break then.

17 I assume you have a bit more of the officer?

18 MR. PROCTOR:  25-30 minutes probably.

19 THE COURT:  So we may be able to begin with

20 cross, but maybe not.  We'll see.

21 (Counsel returned to the trial table, and the

22 following ensued:)  

23 THE CLERK:  All rise.

24 (Whereupon, a recess was taken at 11:32 a.m.,

25 and the matter resumed at 11:42 a.m.)
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1 THE COURT:  Thank you.  Everyone may be seated.

2 You may remind the witness.

3 THE CLERK:  You may be seated.  Just reminding

4 you you’re still under oath.  State your name for the

5 record.

6 THE WITNESS:  William Porter.

7 THE COURT:  You may proceed.

8 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you.

9 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

10 Q.   Officer Porter, when we left off, we just

11 admitted Defendant’s Exhibit 10 into evidence.  

12 Is that a captured image of the discussion with

13 Brandon Ross that you’ve already testified about?

14 A.   Yes, sir.  It is.

15 Q.   And what’s Brandon Ross doing?  Do you remember

16 that moment in time?

17 A.   Vaguely.

18 Q.   What’s Brandon Ross doing?

19 A.   He -- he was -- he was very upset.  He was

20 yelling.  He was very emotional.

21 Q.   And where are your hands, sir?

22 A.   Just down by my side, and in -- in -- we call

23 it the interview stance, just down by your side.

24 Q.   Now, what dose the interview stance -- what

25 does that mean?
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1 A.   You know, just when you’re -- I’m trying to

2 show Brandon Ross that I’m not being aggressive with him. 

3 I’m just keeping my hands by my side, and just having a

4 conversation with him with hopes that he’ll then calm

5 down and have a conversation with me.

6 Q.   And he did; right?

7 A.   Well, not really.  He kind of just walked away.

8 Q.   Okay.  So you testified right before the break

9 about the wagon shaking; is that correct?

10 A.   Yes.  Yes.

11 Q.   While the wagon was shaking, what were you

12 doing?

13 A.   I was then talking to Officer Miller.  Officer

14 Miller was filling out the toe tag.  But he was having

15 difficulty because the wagon -- he was filling it out on

16 the side of the wagon.  He was having difficulty because

17 the wagon was shaking back -- side to side.

18 Q.   So I understand and the jury understands,

19 you’re saying he was writing on the side of the wagon

20 like this?

21 A.   That’s correct.

22 Q.   But because the wagon was shaking, his hand

23 wasn’t steady?

24 A.   That is correct.

25 Q.   And during that conversation -- who is Officer
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1 Miller?

2 A.   Officer Miller is just a guy that I work with. 

3 We were in the academy together.  And, unfortunately,

4 he’s also a part of the Freddie Gray case.

5 Q.   Okay.  So at that point, did you learn

6 anything?

7 A.   At that point in time, I asked who -- who this

8 prisoner was because it was causing such a -- you know, a

9 ruckus in the Gilmor Homes and in the (indiscernible at

10 11:44:31 a.m.)

11 Q.   And who was the prisoner?

12 A.   The prisoner was Mr. Freddie Gray.

13 Q.   And --

14 THE COURT:  Counsel, approach.

15 (Counsel approached the bench, and the

16 following ensued:) 

17 THE COURT:  I just got a note from Juror Number

18 8 saying I’m having a difficult time consistently hearing

19 defense counsel.

20 MR. PROCTOR:  I’m doing what I can, Judge.

21 THE COURT:  I’m sure you are.  Your voice does

22 come in and out.

23 MR. MURTHA:  Should you stand closer?

24 MR. PROCTOR:  I’ll stand closer to the jury.

25 As long as Officer -- if Officer Porter can’t
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1 hear me, he won’t be able to answer the question.

2   MR. SCHATZOW:  Can you order him not to breathe

3 in my direction, Your Honor?

4 THE COURT:  I understand that.  That’s fine.

5 (Counsel returned to the trial table, and the

6 following ensued:)  

7 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

8 Q.   Officer Porter, if you can’t hear me, let me

9 know; okay?

10 A.   I will.

11 MR. PROCTOR:  And, Judge, if the jury can’t

12 see, can you let me know?

13 THE COURT:  Well, maybe -- it's a difficult

14 position.  This is the way the courtroom is set up.  

15 If you can’t see something, just signal, raise

16 your hand, and I’ll be looking for any of you.

17 Backup some anyway.  That’s forward.  Backup

18 and stop.

19 MR. PROCTOR:  I’ll try over here.

20 THE COURT:  That’s fine.

21 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

22 Q.   Officer Porter, you said that you learned from

23 Officer Miller that it was Freddie Gray; right?

24 A.   Yes.  Yes.

25 Q.   What did the name Freddie Gray mean to you?
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1 A.   Well, I’ve known Freddie Gray from the

2 neighborhood.  I’ve seen him a bunch of times.  But what

3 I said to Officer Miller was that he had done the same

4 thing or similar to the same thing about two weeks

5 earlier where he was arrested in Gilmor Homes, at Mount

6 and Baker again.  But this time he was attempting to kick

7 out the windows of an SUV.  

8 After being arrested, Sergeant Stevens asked

9 for backup because Gilmor Homes began to empty out again. 

10 And I responded there.  

11 Q.   And what did you see Mr. Gray do?

12 A.   I saw him attempt to kick out the windows.  And

13 that’s when we opened up the door -- or I didn’t open the

14 door, but one of the officers opened the door, and you

15 know, tried to calm him down.

16 Q.   Had you -- I think you already testified that

17 you, yourself, had never arrested Freddie Gray.  

18 A.   I have never arrested Freddie Gray, no.

19 Q.   Had you seen him be taken in police custody on

20 prior occasions?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   And typically, what would happen?

23 A.   He would --

24   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.

25 THE COURT:  Sustained.
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1 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

2 Q.   On these prior occasions you’ve seen him taken

3 into custody, what, if anything, did you see?

4 A.   He would use --

5   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor. 

6 THE COURT:  Overruled.  As to what he saw, he

7 can testify.

8 THE WITNESS:  He would usually act out and yell

9 and feign some type of injury.

10 BY MR. PROCTOR:

11 Q.   Okay.  Let’s take this one on one.

12 He would usually act out how?

13 A.   Just yelling and -- and sometimes he -- he

14 would, you know, actively resist not -- not attempt to

15 hurt any officers, but actively, you know, pull away

16 whenever you had him in custody.

17 Q.   Okay.  Yell?

18 A.   Yes, he would yell.

19 Q.   And let’s go back to Stop 1 for just a second.

20      When you were searching in the back of this --

21 in the back of those yards; you remember that?

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   You now know from the video where the wagon is;

24 right?

25 A.   Yes.
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1 Q.   So from where you were searching to where the

2 wagon was, how far is that?

3 A.   It’s not far at all.  I would have been

4 essentially in the backyard of the houses where the video

5 was filmed.

6 Q.   Okay.  So ballpark?

7 A.   I don’t know.  I don’t know.

8 Q.   Okay.  But you could hear him yelling from

9 however far away it was?

10 A.   Yes.  I could hear him.

11   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.  This is

12 --

13 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Sustained.  

14 Again, do not lead.

15 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

16 Q.   Could you hear -- you could hear someone

17 yelling?

18 A.   I could hear someone yelling, yes.

19 Q.   Now, back to Stop 2, over how long that you saw

20 it was the wagon shaking?

21 A.   Probably around five to eight minutes.

22 Q.   Okay.  And then what happens?

23 A.   Well, then the wagon pulls away, and I continue

24 to have conversation with Officer Miller and Officer

25 Nero.
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1 Q.   Okay.  And ballpark, how long was that

2 conversation?

3 A.   It’s not long at all.  Probably another four

4 minutes or so.  And then I get back in my car and

5 continue patrol duties.

6 Q.   Okay.  So where do you go?

7 A.   I -- I’m just driving around Sector 4.

8 Q.   Okay.  And what’s the next thing that happens,

9 if anything?

10 A.   The next thing that happens is Officer Goodson

11 asks for a 10-11, for someone to meet him over on Druid

12 Hill and Dolphin.

13 Q.   What’s a 10-11?

14 A.   A 10-11 just to meet -- just means to meet

15 someone.

16 Q.   Okay.  And who responded?

17 A.   I answered up.  And I didn’t know where Dolphin

18 was.  But from working in the Western District, I knew

19 where Druid Hill was.  So I just took Druid Hill down to

20 Dolphin.

21 Q.   Okay.  Stop -- we’re calling it Stop 5; right?

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   Which is where?

24 MR. MURTHA:  Four.

25 MR. PROCTOR:  Four?
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1 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

2 Q.   I’m sorry, Stop 4.  We’re calling it Stop 4,

3 which is where?

4 A.   Stop 4 is --

5 Q.   Druid Hill and Dolphin?

6 A.   I thought that was -- the other stop at --

7 Goodson stopped at by himself. 

8 Q.   That’s three.

9 A.   That’s three?

10 MR. PROCTOR:  Pretty sure.  Let me step over

11 here.

12 It’s over here.  Thank you.

13 If I may show it to the witness?

14 THE COURT:  You may.

15 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

16 Q.   So let me just hold that right here.  

17 Keep your voice in the microphone.

18 THE COURT:  Well, why don’t you do the same? 

19 There’s a microphone there.

20 MR. PROCTOR:  Yes.

21 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

22 Q.   So you just testified you left Stop 2; is that

23 correct?

24 A.   That was correct.

25 Q.   And you go back to your patrol duties?
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1 A.   Yes, sir.

2 Q.   And you hear a call over the radio for a wagon

3 check?

4 A.   Yes, sir.

5 Q.   And where was that?

6 A.   That was a Druid Hill and Dolphin.

7 Q.   Do you see that on this map?

8 A.   There.

9 Q.   And that’s Stop 4; isn’t it, sir?

10 A.   That is labeled as Stop 4, yes.

11 Q.   Okay.  Is Stop 4 in the Western District?

12 A.   It is not in the Western District, no.

13 Q.   So in your entire police career what District

14 was that spent in?

15 A.   From the academy, I went over to the Western

16 District where I walked foot.  I’m sorry.  Field

17 training.  From field training, I went to the Western

18 District where I walked foot.  And from foot, I became a

19 patrol officer in the Western District, all in the

20 Western District.  

21 Q.   So when you hear Druid Hill and Dolphin, do you

22 know exactly where that is?

23 A.   No.  But I know where Druid Hill is.

24 Q.   So then what do you do?

25 A.   At that point in time I was on North Avenue.  I 
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1 just take North Avenue over to Druid Hill Avenue.  And

2 from Druid Hill Avenue, there’s a one-way street, so I go

3 southbound on Druid Hill until I reach Dolphin.

4 Q.   Okay.  And when you get to Dolphin, what, if

5 anything, do you see?

6 A.   When I get to Dolphin, I stop just before the

7 intersection.  And across the intersection, I could see

8 the transport wagon pulled over into a parking spot.

9 Q.   Okay.  So said you stopped.  What did you do

10 next?

11 A.   From there, I exited my vehicle.  Officer

12 Goodson also exited his vehicle and began to walk to the

13 back.  By the time I crossed the intersection, he was --

14 just said to me, you know, help me check this prisoner --

15 check the prisoner.

16 Q.   Okay.  And what happens next?

17 A.   The doors are opened, and I see Mr. Freddie

18 Gray laying chest down or stomach down.  His head is to

19 the -- towards the cabin of the vehicle, and his feet are

20 to the rear of the door.  I then say to him, what’s up,

21 and he says, help.

22 From saying help, I say how can I help you;

23 what’s wrong with you.  And then he says, can you help me

24 up.  I think I help him up.  Or -- or we’re just

25 kneeling, and I’m talking to him.
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1 Q.   Hang on one second.  

2 So I just want to make sure I understand.  He’s

3 lying on his chest? 

4 A.   On his chest, yes.

5 Q.   And what’s his head facing?  

6 A.   I can’t remember what side his head may have

7 been facing to, but --

8 Q.   It was on one side?

9 A.   It was on one side or the other, yes.

10 Q.   So his chin was not touching the floor of the

11 wagon?

12 A.   No.

13 Q.   One cheek or the other was?

14 A.   One cheek or the other was.

15 Q.   Okay.  And when you have this conversation with

16 Mr. Gray, where is Officer Goodson?

17 A.   He was just to the rear of the wagon, just

18 standing outside the doors.

19 Q.   Could you estimate how far?

20 A.   I don’t have a specific length.  But, you know,

21 if I were to reach back, I couldn’t touch Officer

22 Goodson.

23 Q.   You could not?

24 A.   Could not touch Officer Goodson, no.

25 Q.   So he was a few feet away?
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1 A.   Yes.

2 MR. PROCTOR:  Judge, can Officer Porter come

3 off the stand?  And can I use Mr. Murtha?

4 THE COURT:  If you want to sit this way?

5 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

6 Q.   Officer Porter, could you come off the stand?

7 MR. PROCTOR:  Mr. Murtha?

8 And one more thing, Judge.  

9 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

10 Q.   Officer Porter, could you put Mr. Murtha in the

11 position Mr. Gray was when you opened the wagon?

12 MR. PROCTOR:  And, Judge, is it -- could you

13 tell the second row of the jury that they can stand up?

14 THE COURT:  Very well.

15 THE WITNESS:  All right.  This would have the

16 position --

17 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

18 Q.   Keep your voice up, sorry.  I know --

19 A.   This would have been the position that Mr. Gray

20 was sitting in -- or laying in.

21 THE COURT:  When I said everybody, I meant

22 everyone in the jury.  Everyone else, sit down, please.

23 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

24 Q.   Okay.  And pretend this chair’s the bench.  Put

25 the bench in relation to where Mr. Gray was.
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1 A.   Obviously --

2 Q.   You can hold this.

3 A.   It was expanded -- it was expanded, but it was

4 --

5 Q.   How far?

6 A.   It would have been, you know, just that far.

7 Q.   Okay.  And so -- so the record is clear, the

8 rear of the wagon is where, sir?

9 A.   Where you’re standing.

10 Q.   Okay.  So where were you standing?

11 A.   I would have been standing where you’re --

12 where you’re standing.

13 Q.   Okay.  Let’s trade places then.

14 So the wagon, you had gotten into it?

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   So then just show the jury, and if you could

17 because we’re trying to make record here, kind of talk us

18 through it as you do it, what you did?

19 A.   All right.  Well, at this point in time, he

20 would -- he asked for help.  So the wagon is kind of

21 tight.  So --

22 Q.   Is Mr. Murtha’s head where Mr. Gray’s head was,

23 or should he turn?

24 A.   I don’t remember which side his head was turned

25 to, but he wasn’t face down.
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1 Q.   Okay.  

2 A.   All right.  And I would have gone on the side,

3 and reached under his arms and tried to brace myself. 

4 You know, try to get him this way.  That's the way we

5 were.  I was just standing behind him this way, and I was

6 talking to him.  He was looking at me this way.

7 Q.   Okay.  And then did there come a time you

8 helped him on the bench?

9 A.   Yeah, eventually.  Then we, you know, we kind

10 of slid back and he assisted me in sliding back, and he

11 would have been on bench side.

12 Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  If you can you go back to

13 the stand.  I just wanted to walk through that.

14 MR. PROCTOR:  Judge, would you like to mark Mr.

15 Murtha and take him into evidence, there’d be no

16 objection.

17 THE COURT:  That’d be fine.  

18 (Laughter.)

19 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

20 Q.   So let’s walk through it one at a time.

21 THE COURT:  Hold on a sec.  Hold on, hold on.

22 Okay. 

23 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

24 Q.   So you put your arm under his left armpit?

25 A.   Yes.  My -- my right arm to -- under his left
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1 armpit.

2 Q.   And I should have asked this a moment ago.  Did

3 you have a gun on that day?

4 A.   Yes.  Absolutely.

5 Q.   And if you could stand up and just show the

6 jury where on your body your gun is placed.

7 A.   It was just on the side here.

8 Q.   Okay.  So on your right hip?

9 A.   On my right hip, yes.

10 Q.   Okay.  Thank you.  Have a seat, please.

11 So Mr. Gray’s hands, were they cuffed?

12 A.   They were cuffed.  They were in a -- flex

13 cuffs, but yes, they were cuffed.

14 Q.   In the rear?

15 A.   In the rear.

16 Q.   So as you’re helping Mr. Gray up, how close

17 were his hands to your gun?

18 A.   They’re very close.

19 Q.   So let me ask you this.  I just said as you’re

20 helping him up.  Did you lift him and pick him up and put

21 him on the bench?  How did that work?

22 A.   That would be -- that would be physically

23 impossible to pick up a 150 pound man.  I weight 220

24 pounds.  To physically pick him up and put him someplace. 

25 There’s no way I would able to do that.
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1 Q.   Okay.  So --

2 A.   He obviously -- he assisted me in helping

3 himself kneel.  And he obviously assisted me in sitting

4 on the bench.

5 Q.   You’ve heard testimony at this trial of what --

6 whether he was stuck; do you remember that?

7 A.   I do.

8 Q.   Based on your observations, was he?

9 A.   I -- I -- I’d be assuming if I were to say

10 that.  I have no idea if he were stuck.  He just asked me

11 to help him up on the bench, and I helped him on the

12 bench.

13 Q.   Okay.  So you put him on the bench, what

14 position is he in?

15 A.   I assisted him to the bench, and he’s just --

16 with his hands behind his back, and he’s just leaning 

17 against the -- I’m sorry.  Just sitting regularly, that

18 you would sit on a bench with handcuffs on.

19 Q.   And it’s hard to see you on that witness stand. 

20 Could you just come down for one more minute?

21 Could you sit in this chair the way Mr. Gray

22 was sitting on the bench?

23 A.   Just sitting like this.  And he’s leaning

24 against the back of the wall, the east wall.

25 Q.   Okay.  So -- go back to the witness stand,
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1 please, sir.

2 Is he supporting his own head?

3 A.   Yes, he is supporting his own head.

4 Q.   So do you have any further conversation with

5 him?

6 A.   There -- we talked about the -- you know, I

7 asked him just how we’re going to get to jail today

8 because we’ve already had to stop multiple times.  He was

9 acting out.  And I’m just like how are we going to get

10 you to jail today, man, you know, it’s taking way too

11 long.  And I was like what do you need, like, go to the

12 hospital, you need a medic or something.  Because

13 typically people feign injury or, you know, they just

14 don’t want to go to jail.  They --

15 Q.   Let’s talk about that a little.  Are you

16 familiar with the term jailitis?  

17 A.   I’m familiar with jailitis, yes.

18 Q.   What is it?

19 A.   Just feigning injury with hopes that, you know

20 -- we’re understaffed, so if -- if it’s just a petty

21 crime, we call -- like loitering or something like that,

22 the officer will write you a citation or find other means

23 in -- to not taking you to jail.

24 Q.   Tell the jury about the first arrest you ever

25 made.
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1 A.   The first arrest I ever made was a gentlemen by

2 the name Tyrone Johnson (phonetic).  It was in Gilmor

3 Homes, 1400 Mount More Court (phonetic), one of the

4 courts in there.  I’m sorry, one of the homes there.

5 And we had someone watching the CCTV, which we

6 had footage from.  Someone was watching the camera, and

7 they see -- see Mr. Johnson smoking marijuana.  

8 Me and Officer Miller attempt to stop Mr.

9 Johnson.  Mr. Johnson then attempts to flee into a house. 

10 Fresh pursuit, we go after him.  

11 After he’s in the house, he begins to resist. 

12 He puts his hand down by his dip, and he won’t move his

13 hands.  

14 And then we’re all -- we’re just sliding across

15 the floor.  By the time we get to a television stand, he

16 then throws his hands up like this, and we were able to

17 cuff him up.  And I bring him outside, and I’m talking

18 with him.  We’re trying to find the marijuana he was

19 smoking.   

20 Officer Miller went into -- or stayed in the

21 house and searched under the TV stand.  There, we located

22 CDS.  Once Officer Miller came outside and said we have

23 your CDS, then Tyrone Johnson said, oh, I’m having a

24 seizure, and he kind of just shakes and falls to the

25 ground.  
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1 Q.   Okay.  And what did you do?

2 A.   We called for a medic.  We transported him to

3 the hospital.  The doctor said he can’t be for certain,

4 but they definitely don’t think that he had a seizure,

5 especially if he was able to tell me that he was having a

6 seizure.

7 Q.   And you said you called for a medic.

8 A.   Yes.

9 Q.   Why did you call for a medic?

10 A.   Well, there was a -- he was shaking on the

11 ground.  There was an exigent circumstance.

12 Q.   And you and I know what exigent means, but --

13 A.   This is an emergency -- just it is apparent it

14 is emergent.  That’s what exigency means.

15 Q.   So when Mr. Gray called for a medic, what would

16 it have taken for you to get on the radio right there?

17 A.   I think what you -- what you mean is for me to

18 call for a medic for Mr. Gray.

19 Just talking to him, he never made, like, a

20 complaint of injury or pain or anything.  And I’m asking

21 him questions, and he’s not unresponsive.  He’s just not

22 responding to the -- to certain questions I’m asking. 

23 And when I asked him if he wanted to go to the hospital,

24 he said, yes, I want to go to the hospital.

25 So having just given me -- in order for me to
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1 call a medic or call an ambo, I need age, sex, I need to

2 tell them my location, and I need a complaint of injury. 

3 If there’s no complaint of injury, I have nothing to tell

4 the medics when they respond to the scene.  So --

5 Q.   So when you helped Mr. Gray up to the bench --

6 A.   Yes.

7 Q.   Did he appear to be in any pain?

8 A.   No, he did not appear to be in any pain.  No. 

9 He just, to me, he looked tired.  “Lethargic” is the word

10 I used.  He just looks tired.

11 Q.   What’s an adrenaline dump?

12 A.   An adrenaline dump is, you know -- I’ve had an

13 adrenaline dump chasing a guy for like eight blocks.  And

14 once I get to him, it’s just he and I, and he wanted to

15 fight with me, so I ended up taking him to the ground. 

16 And I’m just holding him on the ground until more

17 officers show up.  And then they cuff him up, and then

18 I’m just tired.  

19 And, you know, I had run for eight -- eight --

20 eight blocks.  And then I had to wrestle with this guy

21 for, I don’t know, 45 seconds until the other officers

22 showed up.  I was just tired, and I just, you know, felt

23 like I was going to throw up or something like that.

24 Q.   So when you said in your statement that Mr.

25 Gray was having an adrenaline dump, what did you mean by
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1 that, sir?

2 A.   It appeared to me that he was, you know -- just

3 based on my training and experience, it seemed to me that

4 he was having an adrenaline dump because he was -- it

5 takes some kind of force to make that wagon go side to

6 side, as opposed to back and back, where you’re using the

7 shocks.  Side to side is a little different.  He had been

8 doing it for a while.

9 Q.   Okay.  Was he making eye contact?

10 A.   He was making eye contact, yes.

11 Q.   When he was answering your questions, was he

12 answering them in a normal tone of voice?

13 A.   Just a normal tone of voice, yes.

14 Q.   Have you ever had a detainee refuse to talk to

15 you?

16 A.   Absolutely.  People -- you know, people

17 exercise their Miranda Rights all the time.

18 Q.   And you and I know what that is, but let’s talk

19 about a few terms that have just come up.

20 You said he had something in his dip.  What’s a

21 dip?

22 A.   A dip is just, you know, a front area of your

23 pants.

24 Q.   Okay.  What’s CDS?

25 A.   CDS is controlled dangerous substance.  It can
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1 be drugs.  It can be other things.

2 Q.   What are Miranda Rights?

3 A.   Miranda Rights are just your right to remain

4 silent.  You know, just ask for a lawyer to be present.

5 Q.   Okay.  And have you had detainees exercise

6 those rights?

7 A.   Absolutely.  I have detainees not talk to me

8 all the time.  They -- I mean, there’s a culture here in

9 Baltimore called no snitching.  You know, people don’t

10 say anything to police all the time.

11 Q.   So when Mr. Gray ceases to answer -- he didn’t

12 say much; is that fair -- did you testify to that

13 already?

14 A.   Yes.  He didn’t say much.

15 Q.   So he’s not saying much.  What are you

16 thinking?

17 A.   I didn’t think anything about it.  I mean, it

18 happens quite often.  Whenever someone’s arrested, they

19 don’t want to talk to police.

20 Q.   Did you have any belief that he was under 

21 any -- that he was injured beyond tired?

22 A.   No, sir.

23 Q.   Now, you were here when Detective Teel

24 testified; is that correct?

25 A.   Yes, I was present.
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1 Q.   And she said, did she not, that at Stop 4, you

2 reported Mr. Gray said he couldn’t breathe.  

3 A.   She wrote at Druid Hill and Baker that that’s

4 what I said.

5 Q.   Do Druid Hill and Baker ever intersect?

6 A.   They do not.

7 Q.   So at Stop 4, did Mr. Gray discuss anything

8 about his ability to breathe?

9 A.   No, he did not.

10 Q.   Did you hear him express that he couldn’t

11 breathe?

12 A.   No.  He was able to have -- to speak words.  He

13 had a regular tone of voice when he was talking to me.

14 Q.   At any point on April 12  did you hear him sayth,

15 he couldn’t breathe?

16 A.   Yes.

17 Q.   Where was that?

18 A.   At the first stop he said he needed an asthma

19 inhaler. 

20 Q.   And what did you tell Detective Teel?

21 A.   That’s what I told her from the first stop.  

22 Like I said earlier, when she called, I assumed

23 that she already the information that I had been at the

24 majority of the stops.  So once she had told me to tell

25 me -- when she said tell me what happened, I started from
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1 the beginning.  

2 Q.   And describe that conversation.

3 A.   I -- I can’t really remember what that

4 conversation was.

5 Q.   So you know it started at Stop 1.

6 A.   She just called and said in reference to April

7 12 , you know, what was my involvement.  I explained toth

8 her I was -- I was there.  And she said tell me what

9 happened.

10 Q.   Okay.  And let’s talk a little bit about Mr.

11 Gray said he needed a medic; right?

12 A.   I offered it to him, and he said, yes.  He

13 accepted.

14 Q.   So after he said that, what did you do?

15 A.   After then, then I -- I get out of the wagon.

16 And I’m talking with Officer Goodson, and I said that

17 guy’s asking to go to the hospital.  

18 So there’s no way he’s going to pass medical

19 down at Central Booking because the more he says he wants

20 to go to the hospital, they’re going to reject him.

21 Q.   Well, let’s talk about that for a minute.  Have

22 you transported prisoners to Central Booking?

23 A.   I have, yes.

24 Q.   And what’s the process?

25 A.   Like you hand them the toe tag, the prisoner
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1 goes in, then there’s a -- there’s a nurse on the inside. 

2 She asks them various questions, and maybe take his blood

3 pressure.  If their answers to the questions are correct,

4 then he’s able to serve or be accepted into Central

5 Booking.  If not, then he is medically rejected.  

6 Q.   Okay.  And if someone is medically rejected,

7 what do you have to do?

8 A.   We have to take them to the hospital, and they

9 have to get a medical clearance from a doctor.

10 Q.   Can a medic provide a medical clearance?

11 A.   They cannot, no.  It needs to be a doctor.

12 Q.   So let’s say you arrest me, and I say my elbow

13 hurts, but I look fine, maybe I’m even waving my hands. 

14 In your experience, is Central Booking going to take you?

15 A.   If you say those same things that you just said

16 to me right now, and you say that to the nurse, no, they

17 will not accept you.

18 Q.   So if I say my elbow hurts, but I look fine,

19 what would you do?

20 A.   Just transport you to the hospital.

21 Q.   And why would you do that, sir?

22 A.   Just -- we don’t have enough officers out on

23 the street as it is, just efficiency.  We need to be

24 efficient.  So it would be a waste of time to have you go

25 down to Central Booking and get rejected.  And have

65

E. 314



1 another wagon have to go down and pick you up, and then

2 take you to a hospital.

3 Q.   Have there been occasions when you’ve called

4 for a medic to the scene?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   Why would you do that?

7 A.   Just -- they -- they gave me a complaint of an

8 injury.

9 Q.   So in your mind, what’s the difference between

10 calling a medic and taking someone straight to the

11 hospital?

12 A.   A medic is like when you call for an ambulance

13 or if you have a medical emergency, and it needs to be

14 taken care of right then and -- like someone has been

15 shot, someone has been stabbed, there’s -- things of that

16 sort.

17 Q.   Okay.  And a sore elbow, what do you do in that

18 situation?

19 A.   A sore elbow, I could transport you to the -- I

20 could just transport you to the hospital via wagon.

21 Q.   Okay.  When Mr. Gray is in the back of the

22 wagon -- you with me?

23 A.   I’m with you, yes.

24 Q.   -- who is primarily responsible for him?

25 A.   It is -- primary -- it is the wagon driver’s
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1 job to get the prisoner or detainee from Point A to Point

2 B, or whomever is transporting that -- that detainee.

3 Q.   So at Druid Hill and Dolphin, who’s primarily

4 responsible for Mr. Gray’s safety?

5 A.   Officer Goodson never transferred custody to

6 me.  He is still under the custody of Officer Goodson.

7 Q.   So Mr. Gray says he needs a medic; right?

8 A.   He -- he says yes to my question, which is do

9 you need a medic, do you need to go to the hospital.  He

10 says yes.  So --

11 Q.   What do you say to Officer Goodson after he

12 answers that question?

13 A.   I suggest to Officer Goodson to take him to Bon

14 Secours or to a hospital. 

15 Q.   Can you order Officer Goodson to do anything?

16 A.   I cannot order Officer Goodson to do anything,

17 no.

18 Q.   Why not?

19 A.   He is my equal.

20 Q.   How many years experience does he have?

21 A.   I believe he has 17.

22 Q.   And in April of this year, how many years of

23 experience did you have?

24 A.   Three years.  I’m sorry, I had two years.  Two

25 years and a half --
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1 Q.   Okay. 

2 A.   -- as of April.

3 Q.   So as you’re having this conversation with

4 Officer Goodson, put in your own words what you suggested

5 to Officer Goodson.

6 A.   My -- just tell him that --

7   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.

8 THE COURT:  Sustained.

9 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

10 Q.   What did you tell Officer Goodson?

11   MR. SCHATZOW:  Same objection, Your Honor.

12 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Asked and answered. 

13 Next question.

14 MR. PROCTOR:  Okay. 

15 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

16 Q.   So after having this conversation with Officer

17 Goodson, does anything come across the radio?

18 A.   Lieutenant Rice asked for a 10-16 up at -- he

19 may have said North and Carey.  In that general area of

20 Pennsylvania and North, North and Carey, he asked for a

21 10-16.

22 Q.   And what’s a 10-16?

23 A.   A 10-16 is urgent backup.

24 Q.   Okay.  And Lieutenant Rice, is he your boss?

25 A.   He -- he is my superior, yes.
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1 Q.   So when he says 10-16, what’s your obligation

2 as a police officer?

3 A.   I need to respond to that 10-16.

4 Q.   So once you hear “urgent backup,” what do you

5 do, sir?

6 A.   I then, you know, walk briskly back to my

7 vehicle, which is across the intersection.  I get in, and

8 I radio that I’m going to head up to that scene.

9 Q.   Okay.  And as you walk to your vehicle, where’s

10 your back in relation to the back of the wagon?

11 A.   My back is to the back of the wagon.

12 Q.   So as you’re walking to your vehicle, can you

13 see the wagon?

14 A.   I can not see behind me, no.

15 Q.   When you get in your vehicle, do you look back

16 at the wagon at that point?

17 A.   When I sit down in the vehicle, the -- the

18 wagon is right in front of me, yes.

19 Q.   And what’s going on?

20 A.   I believe Officer Goodson may be closing the

21 door or -- or he’s getting into the wagon.  I can’t

22 recall at this moment.

23 Q.   After you walked away to get back to your

24 vehicle, do you ever see inside the vehicle again -- the

25 wagon again?
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1 A.   Up at North Avenue is when I seen the wagon

2 again.

3 Q.   We’ll get there in a second.  

4 But at Druid Hill and Dolphin, do you ever see

5 inside the wagon again?

6 A.   No.

7 Q.   Do you know that Mr. Gray was seat belted at

8 Druid Hill and Dolphin?

9 A.   I’d be -- I’d make assumptions if I said yes or

10 no.

11 Q.   So once you get into your car, where do you go?

12 A.   I respond back up to North Avenue and Carey or

13 Pennsylvania.

14 Q.   Tell the jury about that.

15 A.   When I respond up there, there’s -- I see Donta

16 Allan.  There’s Nero, Miller and Lieutenant Rice.  I can

17 see them pulling bags of marijuana out of Donta Allan’s

18 pockets, and he’s cuffed.

19 Q.   And what do you do?

20 A.   Just shortly after the wagon shows up, I then

21 go back and just -- just to confirm with Mr. Gray, do you

22 still want to go to the hospital, and he says yes.

23 Q.   Why do you ask him that?

24 A.   Just because sometimes, if it takes long

25 enough, people will say they don’t want to go to the
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1 hospital anymore.  They’d rather just go to Central

2 Booking and get it over with.

3 Q.   Could you explain that?

4 A.   That -- just -- that’s -- that’s it.  Whenever

5 -- sometimes people feign injury just to go to the

6 hospital, but then you realize it’s going to take way too

7 long.  Sometimes at the hospital they reject any kind of

8 treatment, and just say it’s taking way too long, and I’d

9 rather go to Central Booking.

10 Q.   So why did you ask Mr. Gray if he still wanted

11 to go to the hospital on North Avenue?

12 A.   Just to see if he would, you know, if he had --

13 if he had changed his mind.  That’s all.

14 Q.   And again, maybe I could -- well, Mr. Murtha --

15 MR. PROCTOR:  Mr. Murtha, can I borrow you for

16 a second?

17 Would you come off the stand, please?

18 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

19 Q.   When you got (inaudible at 12:16:32 p.m.), sir,

20 what position is Mr. Gray in?

21 A.   Well, his hands are behind his back.  He’s

22 kneeling on this --

23 THE COURT:  Keep your voice up.

24 THE WITNESS:  I’m sorry.

25 His hands are behind his back.  He’s kneeling
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1 on his feet.  And very close to the wagon, kind of like

2 in this position.

3 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

4 Q.   Bench?

5 A.   I’m sorry.  The bench, yeah, just kind of in

6 this position.

7 Q.   Now, where is the wall of the wagon?

8 A.   The wall would have been where this -- this --

9 the back of the chair is.

10 Q.   Is Mr. Gray’s head touching the wall?

11 A.   No.  

12 Q.   Is his shoulder touching the wall?

13 A.   No, it’s isn’t.

14 Q.   Thank you.  You can go back to the stand.

15 Is his head facing towards the doors or towards

16 the cabin?

17 A.   Towards the cabin is where his head is hitting.

18 Q.   So how much of his face can you see?

19 A.   Not much.  Just about the side, whenever I

20 walked the side.  When I’m standing on the side, I can

21 see just the side of his face.

22 Q.   And the totality of your conversation with Mr.

23 Gray, what was that?

24 A.   Just, hey -- I said, Freddie Gray -- hey,

25 Freddie, you just want to go back -- hey, Freddie, still
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1 want to go to the hospital?  And he says yes.

2 Q.   And then what do you do?

3 A.   Then Sergeant White was on the scene.  I then

4 go to her, and let her know that Freddie Gray still says

5 he wants to go to the hospital.  And that one of the

6 arresting officers should go with him to the hospital, do

7 the hospital detail.

8 Q.   Okay.  And totality of your -- did you ever get

9 in the wagon at North Avenue?

10 A.   No, I do not.

11 Q.   The totality of your conversation with Mr.

12 Gray, how long does that last?

13 A.   Seconds.

14 Q.   So after your conversation with Sergeant White,

15 what do you do?

16 A.   From there, I believe she goes and may check on

17 Freddie Gray.  

18   I -- there I’m just talking to Nero and Miller,

19 again, let them know that Freddie Gray says he wants to

20 go to the hospital and that --

21 Q.   And let’s talk about that for a minute, sir. 

22 If you arrest me, and I say I don’t feel well, whose job

23 is it to take me to the hospital?

24 A.   A wagon would transport you to the hospital. 

25 And --
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1 Q.   A wagon --

2 THE COURT:  Well, let him answer the question.

3 MR. PROCTOR:  I’m sorry, Judge.

4 THE COURT:  Don’t interrupt him.

5 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

6 Q.   Continue.

7 A.   A wagon would transport you to the hospital. 

8 And when you get to the hospital, that wagon driver will

9 wait until the arresting officer gets to the hospital. 

10 And then he would pass custody to you, and you would take

11 that detainee into the hospital.

12 Q.   So what I think I’m hearing you say is you, as

13 the arresting officer --

14 THE COURT:  Sustained.

15 Ask a question.  I don’t need you to restate

16 whatever he said.  Just ask him a direct question.

17 BY MR. PROCTOR:

18 Q.   So at the hospital, that person is in the

19 arresting officer’s custody?

20 A.   It --

21 THE COURT:  Sustained.

22 Ask a question.

23 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

24 Q.   Whose custody is the arrestee in at the

25 hospital?
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1 A.   He’s returned back to the arresting officer’s

2 custody.

3 Q.   Now, had you been at the hospital with

4 arrestees?

5 A.   I have, yes.

6 Q.   What’s the range of how long you can be there?

7 A.   According to General Order, it says two hours. 

8 But I’ve been there for the entirety of their stay, which

9 can be an hour to 10 hours.

10 Q.   Do police officers -- do you call it the

11 hospital detail?

12 A.   It’s called the hospital detail, yes.

13 Q.   Do police officers like that detail?

14 A.   It’s not the most fun, no.

15 Q.   Why not?

16 A.   The radio doesn’t work in the hospital. 

17 Cellular devices don’t work in the hospital.  You just

18 have to stand by while somebody gets medical treatment. 

19 Hospitals tend to go really slow, so it’s a really long,

20 monotonous day.

21 Q.   So when you’re talking to the bike cops; right?

22 A.   Yes.  The bike cops.

23 Q.   What are you saying to them?

24 A.   I’m just telling them that -- or I’m suggesting

25 that one of them do the hospital detail because they
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1 arrested Freddie Gray.

2 Q.   After this conversation, what happens next?

3 A.   You know, I say again to -- or Sergeant White

4 comes over, and she says I have to do the hospital detail

5 because she can’t split up the bike officers.  There

6 needs to be two of them.  So that if you are attempting

7 to detain someone, you have to -- someone has to watch

8 the bikes so the bikes don’t disappear.

9 Q.   Are bicycles getting stolen in the Western a

10 common thing?

11 A.   Yes.

12 Q.   So after your conversation with Sergeant White,

13 what do you do?

14 A.   She tells me I need to follow the wagon -- or I

15 need to follow the wagon to the station.  And from the

16 station, we’ll go to the Bon Secours.

17 Q.   So after that conversation, where do you go

18 next?

19 A.   I go to Western District.

20 Q.   Okay.  And when you leave North Avenue, is the

21 wagon still there?

22 A.   No.  It had already left before I had gone.  

23 Q.   Could you estimate how many minutes after the

24 wagon you left?

25 A.   Not -- it’s a very short time, two to five
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1 minutes or so.

2 Q.   How long was the drive to the Western from

3 North Avenue take?

4 A.   Four minutes.

5 Q.   And let me show you what I’d like to mark as

6 Defendant’s Exhibit 12 --

7 THE CLERK:  Eleven.

8 MR. PROCTOR:  Eleven.

9 Let me show it to Mr. Schatzow first.

10 (Defendant's Exhibit Number 11

11  was marked for identification.) 

12 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

13  Q.   And ask you if you recognize that, sir.

14 A.   Yes, that’s the Western District.

15 Q.   Okay.  And does it fairly and accurately depict

16 it?

17 A.   Yes.

18 MR. PROCTOR:  Move Exhibit 11 into evidence.

19 THE COURT:  Any objection?

20   MR. SCHATZOW:  No, Your Honor.

21 THE COURT:  So entered.

22   (Defendant's Exhibit Number 11

23   was received in evidence.)

24 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

25 Q.   Can you see on this picture where you parked
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1 your vehicle?

2 A.   Yes.  I actually parked my vehicle where that

3 police car --

4 Q.   Come down off the stand for just one second,

5 sir.

6 And if you could, let’s scoot over this way,

7 can you see -- point on Defendant’s Exhibit 11 where you

8 parked your vehicle, if you see it.

9 A.   My vehicle would have been where this police

10 car is.

11 Q.   Keep your voice up.

12 A.   My vehicle would have been where this police

13 vehicle is, just along the parking lot.

14 Q.   So on the right side of the picture, next to

15 the “No Entry” sign?

16 A.   Yes.

17 Q.   Can you see on this picture where the wagon

18 was?

19 A.   No.  The wagons would be in between this side

20 and this side.  And it would go in between that building.

21 Q.   Okay.  Can you return to the stand, please?

22 When you get to the wagon, sir, what do you do?

23 A.   From the wagon, I believe I just -- they may be

24 pulling Donta Allan out of one side, and I’m opening up

25 the other.
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1 Q.   Okay.  So how far is it from where you parked

2 to where the wagon is, ballpark?  

3 A.   50 feet.

4 Q.   So you walk over these 50 feet, and the second

5 arrestee is already getting out?

6 A.   I believe he’s getting out.  I’m -- I’m not

7 certain on that.

8 Q.   Okay.  And you’re opening up the other side?

9 A.   Yes.

10 Q.   Why are you doing that?

11 A.   Just to -- I want to put Freddie Gray into --

12 I’m sorry, Mr. Gray into the holding cell until we were

13 ready to go to Bon Secours.

14 Q.   Why not just leave him in the wagon?

15 A.   Someone’s got to have, you know, custody of

16 that prisoner.  You can’t just leave them in the wagon.

17 Q.   Okay.  So when you open the door to -- what

18 side of the wagon, if you remember, was it?

19 A.   He’s on -- he’s on the right side.

20 Q.   When you open the door, is -- there are two

21 sets of doors in the wagon; right?

22 A.   Yes.  There’s an exterior, and there’s an

23 interior door.

24 Q.   When you get to the Western, are both sides of

25 the right closed?
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1 A.   No.  No, no, no.  The -- the -- the -- both

2 exterior doors are open.

3 Q.   Okay.  So when you -- do you open the interior

4 door?

5 A.   I believe I opened up the interior door.  

6 Q.   What do you see?

7 A.   I see Mr. -- Mr. Gray there.  I’m calling -- I

8 call his name.  He doesn’t answer me.

9 MR. PROCTOR:  And for the third and final time,

10 could I borrow Mr. Murtha to show what position Mr. Gray

11 was in?

12 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

13 Q.   Could you put Mr. Murtha -- if I’m standing at

14 the rear of the wagon, and the jury is the cabin, could

15 you put Mr. Murtha in position?

16 A.   His hands would have been behind his back.  He

17 --

18 Q.   Keep your voice up, please.

19 A.   I’m sorry.

20 His hands would have been down.  And from my

21 recollection, it would be a more exaggerated -- it would

22 be way more exaggerated than he was up at North Avenue.

23 Q.   So at this point, is his shoulder against the

24 side?

25 A.   I can’t -- I can’t remember that.
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1 Q.   Is his head against the side?

2 A.   Is -- his head wasn’t in the same position it

3 was at North Avenue.

4 Q.   Okay.  

5 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you, Mr. Murtha.

6 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

7 Q.   Go back to the stand, please.

8 So when you opened the door, and you see Mr.

9 Gray in that position, is there anyone else around?

10 A.   I think Nero is -- I’m sorry, Novack is coming

11 out.

12 Q.   Now, I don’t know if we’ve talked about him. 

13 Who is Novak?

14 A.   Novak is just another officer in the Western.

15 Q.   Okay.  And you say he’s coming out.  Where is

16 he coming out from?

17 A.   It would have been the holding cells.  The

18 processing -- where we process people.

19 Q.   Okay.  And when you see Mr. Gray in the

20 position you just described, what do you do?

21 A.   I called out to him.  And at this time, he

22 doesn’t -- typically, he would answer me.  But he didn’t

23 answer me this time.  And I call him, and he doesn’t

24 answer.  

25 So now I climb in, and I pull him back, and
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1 there’s -- there’s a mucus on his mouth.

2 Q.   Let’s talk about that for a second.  At Stop 4,

3 was there any mucus in his mouth?

4 A.   At Druid Hill and Dolphin?  No.

5 Q.   Yes.

6 A.   No.  No mucus on his mouth, no.

7 Q.   Did you see any blood, any bumps, any bruises,

8 anything?

9 A.   No.  I didn’t see any of that, no.

10 Q.   At Stop 5, did you see anything?

11 A.   His head was facing away from me, but no, I

12 didn’t.

13 Q.   Okay.  But at the Western, you saw this mucus?

14 A.   Yeah.  There was some kind of -- there was

15 clear mucus around nose and mouth.

16 Q.   So when you saw that, what did you do?

17 A.   I think on my testimony I said, oh shit, and I

18 tried to pull Freddie Gray out.  And now he’s just

19 leaning on me.  And we’re standing at the -- he’s not all

20 the way out, he’s just -- his upper half is outside of

21 the wagon and I’m holding him.  Trying to hold his back

22 straight, trying to clear his airway.  

23 Novak tries to do a sternum rub.  We don’t get

24 any response.  

25 Q.   Let’s talk about that for a second.  Let me
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1 stop there.  What’s a sternum rub?

2 A.   A sternum rub is just something I’ve seen EMTs

3 do whenever we have a non-responsive person.  They do a

4 sternum rub.  If they’re, like, in an overdose or

5 sleeping or something like that, they’ll get an immediate

6 reaction.  

7 Q.   Okay.  So what I’ve seen you do is with your

8 knuckles rubbing straight across the chest.

9 A.   Yep.  

10 Q.   And so your testimony is Officer Novak did one

11 of those?

12 A.   Yes.  He did a sternum rub, yes.

13 Q.   And did Mr. Gray react?

14 A.   No.  He did not react, no.

15 Q.   So based on that, what happened next?

16 A.   From there, I believe Novak then radioed for a

17 medic to respond to the District.  

18 After that he began to hold Mr. Gray’s head.

19 Q.   Okay.  So you’re standing behind him?

20 A.   I’m standing behind him, trying to hold his

21 back straight so he can have a clear airway.

22 Q.   And what’s Officer Novak doing, if you know?

23 A.   Officer Novak is just on the side of me, and

24 he’s holding his head trying to support his head.

25 Q.   Who taught you to do it that way?
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1 A.   That was -- that was something that we learned

2 at the academy from our LEMAT (phonetic) class.

3 Q.   Okay.  Tell the jury what did you learn at the

4 academy in regard to how to hold a non-responsive person.

5 A.   I believe they called it the lifesaving

6 position.  You would hold the victim’s back straight, and

7 try to hold his head straight, so he can have a clear

8 airway and be able to breathe.

9 Q.   So after Officer Novak calls for a medic, what

10 happens next?

11 A.   We wait for the medic to show up.

12 Q.   How long did the medic take?

13 A.   It felt like an eternity.  I don’t know.

14 Q.   And by the way, at -- let’s go back to Stop 4

15 for a minute, okay?

16 A.   Druid Hill and Dolphin?

17 Q.   Yeah.

18 Ballpark -- you’ve called a medic many times?

19 A.   Yes.

20 Q.   Ballpark, how long do they take?

21 A.   They -- it depends on -- all right.  So when I

22 radio it goes to my dispatch.  From my dispatch, it has

23 to go to fire dispatch.  From fire dispatch, they have to

24 send it down to the ground units.  They then respond. 

25 And it -- it -- not all the time is it the closest
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1 firehouse, it’s who answers up.  And so it can -- can

2 vary as to how long it takes.

3 Q.   Okay.  Have you had one take 15 minutes or

4 more?  

5 A.   Oh, absolutely.

6 Q.   And from Druid Hill to Dolphin on a Sunday

7 morning, how long would it take Officer Goodson --

8 A.   Sunday morning, no traffic --

9   MR. SCHATZOW:  Excuse me, Your Honor.

10 THE COURT:  Sustained.

11 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

12 Q.   To get -- what -- to Druid Hill and Dolphin,

13 what’s the nearest hospital?

14 A.   I’m -- I’m not familiar with that part of the

15 City.  I couldn’t tell you.  I don’t know.

16 Q.   Okay.  Bon Secours.  How far to get to --

17 A.   To get to Bon Secours, it would probably take

18 them around 10 minutes.

19 Q.   I’m sorry.  I lost my train of thought.

20 So you -- where we left off is you said it felt

21 like the medic took an eternity; right?

22 A.   That’s what it felt like, yes.

23 Q.   When the medic arrives, what happens next?

24 A.   She -- she then places her hand on his chest. 

25 She says she can’t -- she can’t -- he’s not breathing,
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1 something like that.

2 Q.   Did you see the medic testify here today?

3 A.   I did -- well, yesterday.  Yes.

4 Q.   And when she came and walked past the wagon,

5 did you see her?

6 A.   No.  I didn’t see her, no.

7 Q.   Where are your eyes while awaiting for the

8 medic to arrive?

9 A.   I was looking down at Freddie Gray.

10 Q.   So when she locates the prisoner, what happens?

11 A.   She puts her hand on his chest, and says he’s

12 not breathing.  And then we then pull him out of the

13 wagon, the entire -- the whole way.  And they put -- put

14 the collar on, put him on a backboard, and they put the

15 respirator in his mouth, started to give him air.  And

16 then put him into the ambulance.

17 Q.   And where do you go?

18 A.   I’m standing by because I was instructed to do

19 the hospital detail.  So I have to stand by with Freddie

20 Gray.

21 Q.   So when he goes to the hospital, where do you

22 go?

23 A.   I followed behind Medic 43 to Shock Trauma.

24 Q.   And how long do you stay at Shock Trauma?

25 A.   It had been a while.  Ballpark, six or seven
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1 o’clock.  And then I had to go and submit Mr. Gray’s

2 goods.

3 Q.   And where did you submit his clothes and

4 property?

5 A.   I submitted his property at ECU.

6 Q.   You have seen, have you not, the statement of

7 Officer Novak?

8 A.   I have not, no.

9 Q.   Are you aware that Officer Novak recalls Mr.

10 Gray being in a different position?

11 A.   I did.

12   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.

13 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Strike the question.

14 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

15 Q.   Are you certain that Mr. Gray was in the

16 position that you just described at the Western?

17 A.   I can’t be a hundred percent certain.  It was a

18 very traumatic thing for me also, just being the officer

19 there, and knowing him in the neighborhood, seeing him

20 every day, and calling his name, and not getting a

21 response, then having to do the hospital detail, and

22 seeing everything they had done to him.  I can’t be

23 certain.

24 Q.   The first phone call you had from Detective

25 Teel on April 15 , did you answer her questions?th

87

E. 336



1 A.   Yes.  I answered some questions.

2 Q.   Did you arrange to meet with her to come in?

3 A.   She arranged with me to come in, yes.

4 Q.   Did there come a time when you changed the time

5 of that meeting?

6 A.   She changed the time.

7 Q.   Did you agree?

8 A.   I agreed, yes.

9 MR. PROCTOR:  Can I have a second please,

10 Judge?

11 (Brief pause.) 

12 MR. PROCTOR:  Can we approach, please?

13 (Counsel approached the bench, and the

14 following ensued:) 

15 MR. PROCTOR:  I think I’m just about done.  But

16 rather than make the jury wait while I look through my 42

17 pages of notes, can we just break for lunch?  And after

18 lunch, I might have a couple of questions?

19 THE COURT:  (Inaudible at 12:35:08 p.m.)

20   MR. SCHATZOW:  Yes, Your Honor.

21 THE COURT:  (Inaudible at 12:35:15 p.m.)

22 MR. PROCTOR:  It’s 12:35.

23 THE COURT:  We will break.

24 MS. BLEDSOE:  We can do that, yes.

25 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you.
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1 THE COURT:  (Inaudible at 12:35:19 p.m.)

2 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you.

3 (Counsel returned to the trial table, and the

4 following ensued:)  

5 THE COURT:  Ladies and gentlemen, we’re going

6 to take our lunch break.  

7 Please do not discuss your testimony even among

8 yourselves.

9 Please leave your notepads on the chair.

10 Court will resume at 1:45.

11 All rise for the jury.

12  (Whereupon, the jury was excused from the

13 courtroom at 12:36 p.m.) 

14 THE COURT:  Thank you.  Everyone may be seated.

15 Again, we’ll resume at 1:45.

16 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you, sir.

17 (Whereupon, a luncheon recess was taken at

18 12:36 p.m.)

19 - oOo -

20

21

22

23

24

25
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1 A F T E R N O O N  S E S S I O N

2 (Excerpt resumed at 1:59:27 p.m. with the

3 testimony of William Porter.)

4 THE COURT:  You may remind the witness.

5 THE CLERK:  Just reminding you you’re still

6 under oath.  

7 State your name for the record.

8 THE WITNESS:  William Porter.

9 THE COURT:  You may proceed, Counsel.

10 MR. PROCTOR:  Thank you.

11 DIRECT EXAMINATION (Resumed)

12 Q.   Officer Porter, just a few questions.  

13 I forgot to ask you earlier, at Stop 4, when

14 you helped Mr. Gray onto the bench, you remember that?

15 A.   I do remember that.

16 Q.   Why didn’t you seat belt him?

17 A.   Well, in the academy and then through my

18 experience and training as an officer, even the most

19 docile detainee presents a risk.  Any time I am in an

20 altercation with any kind of detainee, there’s a gun

21 involved, so there’s always an ever present officer

22 safety issue.  

23 Q.   Okay.  And it’s -- are you sorry Freddie Gray’s

24 dead?

25 A.   Absolutely.  Freddie Gray and I weren’t
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1 friends, but we had a mutual respect for each other, and

2 we built a rapport, you know.  He -- I had a job, and he

3 understood that.  And he did things, and I understood

4 that.  And --

5   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor, to what

6 Mr. Gray understood.

7 THE COURT:  Sustained to anything Mr. Gray

8 understood.

9 THE WITNESS:  I had a job --

10 THE COURT:  No, no.  Question.

11 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

12 Q.   Explain your relationship with him.

13 A.   I had a job to do, and he did things.  And 

14 we -- I built a rapport.  And we weren’t friends, but we

15 definitely had respect -- or I had respect for Mr. Gray.

16 And absolutely am sorry to see -- any kind of

17 loss of life, I’m sorry to see that.

18 Q.   Do you like being a police officer?

19 A.   Absolutely.

20 Q.   Would you do anything to jeopardize that? 

21 A.   Never.

22 MR. PROCTOR:  That’s all I have, Judge.

23 THE COURT:  You may cross.

24  CROSS-EXAMINATION

25   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  
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1 Q.   Did you just say that you didn’t seatbelt Mr.

2 Gray because even though he was docile, he was still a

3 risk?

4 A.   I didn’t say Mr. Gray specifically, but

5 prisoners -- I mean, there’s a reason why the -- the

6 deputies walk with two people or the prisoner through the

7 courthouse, and he’s shackled and restrained.  They --

8 there’s an ever present risk.

9 Q.   Excuse me.  Mr. Goodson, did you understand --

10 A.   My name is Porter.

11 Q.   Excuse me.  Mr. Porter, did you understand my

12 question to be about the sheriffs in the courthouse?

13 A.   Just giving --

14 MR. PROCTOR:  Objection.

15 THE COURT:  Overruled.

16 THE WITNESS:  Giving you just -- using my

17 training and experience.

18   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

19 Q.   But the question that your lawyer asked you was

20 at Stop 4, why didn’t you seatbelt Mr. Gray.  And didn’t

21 you say that even though he was docile, you were still

22 concerned about some risk?

23 A.   Yes, I did.

24 Q.   Now, the vans, the police transport wagons, are

25 equipped with seatbelts; aren’t they?
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1 A.   They are.

2 Q.   And you have said that Mr. Gray was docile, and

3 you previously said he was not combative, and that he was

4 calm at Stop 4; correct?

5 A.   That is correct.

6 Q.   If you weren’t going to seatbelt Mr. Gray at

7 Stop 4, I guess that means you would never seatbelt

8 anyone?

9 A.   I’m not typically a wagon driver.  I -- the

10 primary responsibility for the wagon driver is to make

11 sure the safety of a detainee from Point A to Point B.

12 Q.   Again, Officer Porter, I’m talking about you. 

13 My question is about you.  You testified that you didn’t

14 seatbelt him even though he was docile because you were

15 concerned of a risk.

16 And my question to you is does that mean that

17 you would never seatbelt anyone in a wagon?

18 A.   No.  That isn’t -- that isn’t -- that’s not

19 what that means, no.

20 Q.   But you never have?

21 A.   I haven’t before.  I’m not typically a wagon

22 driver.

23 Q.   But --

24 A.   But, no, I haven’t before, no.

25 Q.   So you haven’t.  Okay. 
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1 And you didn’t -- Officer Goodson was standing

2 outside the wagon; correct?

3 A.   He was behind the wagon, yes.

4 Q.   You didn’t hand him your gun when you first

5 went into the wagon; did you?

6 A.   That’s ridiculous.  I would never hand anyone

7 my gun.

8 Q.   A fellow officer.  If you were concerned about

9 somebody taking your gun, you wouldn’t hand it to a

10 fellow officer; is that you’re saying -- what you’re

11 saying?

12 A.   I wouldn’t hand my gun to anyone is what I’m

13 saying.

14 Q.   Okay.  All right.  That’s fine.

15 Now, you said you worked at a computer company.

16 What did you do for a computer company?

17 A.   I -- there I built computers, and I reimaged

18 them.  That’s what -- reimaged.

19 Q.   Okay.  And on April 12  -- well, let’s taketh

20 the period between April 9  of 2015 and April 12  ofth th

21 2015, did you have a home computer?

22 A.   I do have a home computer, yes.

23 Q.   Did you have one then?

24 A.   Yes, I did then.  Yes.

25 Q.   Okay.  Did you have a cell phone?
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1 A.   I -- I had a cell phone, yes.

2 Q.   Okay.  Now, you don’t like hospital details;

3 right?  They’re long and boring.

4 A.   No, I don’t like hospital details.  No.

5 Q.   But when you testified you said that the

6 General Order provides that when you’re on a hospital

7 detail, you only have to be there for two hours; is that

8 correct?

9 A.   There’s something in it about that.  It also

10 says -- states that there need to be two officers, and

11 some other things.

12 Q.   Right.  And so let’s take a look at Exhibit 11,

13 in evidence, which is 11-14 on page 8, “One of the

14 directives is do not guard detainees for more than two

15 consecutive hours.  When the hospital detail nears or

16 exceeds two hours, notify your supervisor and request a

17 replacement member”; is that correct?

18 A.   That is correct.

19 Q.   Okay.  So you’re familiar with what 11-14

20 provides.

21 A.   No, sir.  I’m not familiar.  That was probably

22 adopted from the previous General Order.

23 Q.   Here’s Exhibit 8, take as much time as you

24 want, tell me where the two hour limitation is in there.

25 A.   I don’t know.  I can’t find it in here.
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1 Q.   It’s not in there; is it?

2 A.   It isn’t, no.

3 Q.   Now, you deny that you told Detective Teel that

4 Mr. Gray, at the fourth stop, said I can’t breathe.

5 A.   Yes, that is true.

6 Q.   If he had said I can’t breathe, and you heard

7 him say I can’t breathe, would you agree that that would

8 be a reason to get medical attention?

9 A.   I do agree, yes.

10 Q.   You know Detective Teel from when she was at

11 the Western District; correct?

12 A.   I do, yes.

13 Q.   When she saw you at Shock Trauma on April 12 ,th

14 2015, she gave you a hug; didn’t she?

15 A.   Perhaps.  I’m not certain.

16 Q.   And when she saw you, when you came down to

17 Police Headquarters to give the statement that was video

18 and audio recorded, she gave you a hug then, too; didn’t

19 she, before the statement?

20 A.   I can’t say if she did.

21 Q.   You heard her testify she did.

22 A.   I heard her testify, yes.

23 Q.   You don’t deny that she did?

24 A.   I’m sorry?

25 Q.   You don’t deny that she did?
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1 A.   That she did what?

2 Q.   Gave you a hug.

3 A.   I can’t confirm nor deny.

4 Q.   She -- you guys were friendly; weren’t you?

5 A.   I’m friendly with my fellow officer, yes, I am.

6 Q.   Well, with Officer Teel.

7 A.   With the general public, I tend to be friendly

8 with the general public.

9 Q.   When Officer Teel called you, on or about April

10 15 , she called you specifically to talk to you aboutth

11 Druid Hill and Dolphin Street, what we’ve been calling

12 Stop 4; didn’t she?

13 A.   That’s not true.  She asked me about the

14 incident.

15 Q.   She called you because she had seen the KGA

16 that said 43 was responding to Officer Goodson’s request

17 for assistance to check out the prisoner; isn’t that

18 right?

19 A.   I can’t confirm it nor deny it.  I don’t know

20 that answer.  I don’t know why she called me.  She could

21 -- she could tell you that.

22   MR. SCHATZOW:  Could I have Exhibit 31-D,

23 please?

24   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

25 Q.   You heard her testify about her reason.
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1 A.   I heard her testify.  But, you know --

2 Q.   Okay.  Didn’t you confirm to her that you were

3 the unit that responded to the call for assistance that

4 came from Unit 7B91?

5 A.   I’m sorry.  Repeat the question.

6 Q.   Didn’t you confirm to her that you were the

7 unit on April 12  who responded to the call to assistth

8 Unit 7B91?

9 A.   That is true, yes.

10 Q.   And 7B91 was Goodson as the van driver;

11 correct, Officer Goodson?

12 A.   Officer Goodson was the wagon operator that

13 day, yes.

14 Q.   And 7B91 is an identification number; correct?

15 A.   That is true, yes.

16 Q.   And you told her that when you arrived, Officer

17 Goodson got out and responded to the rear of the wagon;

18 correct?

19 A.   I -- that’s one of the things I told her, yes.

20 Q.   Okay.  And responded to the rear of the wagon

21 for people who aren’t police officers, simply means he

22 got out and walked to the back of the wagon; is that

23 right?

24 A.   That is true.

25 Q.   Okay.  And you told her that as the doors
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1 opened, you observed Mr. Gray lying on his stomach, head

2 facing the front of wagon, with his feat towards the

3 doors, saying help; is that what you told her?

4 A.   I did tell her that, yes.

5 Q.   And then you further advised that you asked Mr.

6 Gray what he needed, at which time he said he couldn’t

7 breathe.

8 A.   No.  That’s not true, no.

9 Q.   She got that wrong?

10 A.   She got that wrong, yes.  She --

11 Q.   And, Officer Porter, you -- you then told her

12 that you asked Mr. Gray if he needed a medic, and Mr.

13 Gray said -- stated yeah.

14 A.   This is -- that’s like -- a condensed version

15 of our conversation.  It doesn’t go in chronological

16 order, but it’s a condensed version of what we spoke on

17 the phone.

18 Q.   Thank you, Officer.  If you could please just

19 listen to my question.  

20 Did you tell her that you then asked Mr. Gray

21 again -- excuse me.  That you asked Mr. Gray if he needed

22 a medic, and Mr. Gray stated yeah?

23 A.   That’s a part of this conversation, yes.

24 Q.   And that you then asked -- you then asked Mr.

25 Gray again if he needed a medic, and you asked Mr. Gray
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1 to get up; is that what you told her?

2 A.   I -- I don’t believe I told her that, no.  It

3 wasn’t phrased that way.

4 Q.   How was it phrased?

5 A.   I asked him -- like I testified to earlier,

6 what do you need, and when he asked me -- he said can you

7 help me up.  I helped him up.  And afterwards, I asked

8 him how are we getting to the hospital today?  Do we need

9 -- do you need a medic or do you need a hospital?  He

10 responded yes.  

11 Q.   So he stated I can’t get up; didn’t he?

12 A.   No.  He said can you help me up, is what he

13 said.

14 Q.   Uh-huh.  I see.

15 And --

16 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

17 THE COURT:  Sustained.

18   MR. SCHATZOW:  Oh, to the comment?  I’m sorry,

19 Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  Yes.  Please let’s not have any

21 comments.  Just ask questions from both sides.

22   MR. SCHATZOW:  I apologize, Your Honor.

23 THE COURT:  Apology accepted.

24   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

25 Q.   So let me -- excuse me.
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1   MR. SCHATZOW:  Strike that, Your Honor.

2   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

3 Q.   Both at Stop 4 and at Stop 5, Mr. Gray never

4 asked you for a medic; did he?

5 A.   No, he did not.  I -- I asked him if he wanted

6 --

7 Q.   I’m sorry.

8 A.   I’m sorry.

9 I asked him -- offered one to him.

10 Q.   Right.  And at Stop 4 and Stop 5, Mr. Gray

11 never asked you to take him to the hospital; correct?

12 A.   No, he didn’t.  No.

13 Q.   You are the one who introduced the term medic

14 to the conversation you were having with Mr. Gray;

15 correct?

16 A.   That is true, yes.

17 Q.   And you are the one who introduced the term

18 hospital to the conversation you were having with Mr.

19 Gray; correct?

20 A.   That is true, yes.

21 Q.   Okay.  Now, what you’ve been telling us here

22 today is that you didn’t tell Detective Teel that Mr.

23 Gray said I can’t breathe at Stop 4, but that she got

24 confused because you told her you heard him saying I

25 can’t breathe at Stop 1; isn’t that right?
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1 A.   When she asked me to begin about my -- when she

2 said can you tell me what happened, I started from the

3 beginning.

4 Q.   Well, when you sat for the video and recorded

5 interview on April 17 , 2005, Detective Teel andth

6 Detective Anderson were there; correct?

7 A.   That is true, yes.

8 Q.   And you went down there voluntarily; correct?

9 A.   I -- well, she asked me to come in.

10 Q.   She asked you to come, but she didn’t force you

11 to come in; did she?

12 A.   No, she didn’t.  No.

13 Q.   She didn’t threaten you with anything if you

14 didn’t come in?

15 A.   She didn’t, no.

16 Q.   She didn’t promise you anything if you would

17 come in?

18 A.   No, sir.

19 Q.   She asked you to come in?

20 A.   Yes.

21 Q.   And during that interview, she and Detective

22 Anderson asked you questions about all -- everything that

23 happened that day insofar as you and Mr. Gray were

24 concerned; is that right?

25 A.   Yes, that’s true.  Yes.
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1 Q.   And you never told them that you heard Mr. Gray

2 say I can’t breathe when you were at Stop 1; correct?

3 A.   That’s correct.  I did not tell them that, no.

4 Q.   You didn’t tell that.  

5 What you told them, at least three times, was

6 that all you could hear was yelling and screaming;

7 correct?  Isn’t that what you told them?

8 A.   I’m not certain.  Could you produce that for

9 me?

10 Q.   Sure.  We could.  Let’s start with page 6.

11 You want to listen to it?

12 A.   No.  I don’t need to listen to it, no.

13   MR. SCHATZOW:  Your Honor, this is the

14 transcript that we used simply as an aid to listening.  I

15 can use that, or I can play it, Your Honor, whichever you

16 prefer.

17 THE COURT:  It’s your witness.  He said he

18 didn’t need to hear but, but that’s -- you're crossing.

19   MR. SCHATZOW:  Thank you.

20 THE COURT:  Just identify it for the record.

21   MR. SCHATZOW:  Yes, Your Honor.  

22 This is a transcript of -- it’s entitled “In

23 the Matter of Freddie Gray Investigation, William Porter,

24 April 17 , 2015.”  It’s a transcript prepared of theth

25 audio and video interview that took place that day.
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1 THE COURT:  Hasn’t it already been marked?

2   MR. SCHATZOW:  I don’t think it was actually

3 marked, Your Honor. 

4 MR. MURTHA:  It was used as a demonstrative

5 exhibit.

6   MR. SCHATZOW:  It was used as a demonstrative

7 exhibit for the jury during the playing of it.

8 THE COURT:  All right.  It will be marked as

9 State’s 34-A for identification only.

10 (State’s Exhibit Number 34-A

11  was marked for identification.) 

12   MR. SCHATZOW:  Thank you.

13 THE CLERK:  You’re welcome.

14   BY MR. SCHATZOW: 

15 Q.   Now, I’m directing your attention to Page 6,

16 and I’m specifically -- this is line 12.  And it’s

17 talking about the time that you testified that you were

18 on Westwood and Bruce, and you were looking for someone

19 else.

20 A.   All right. 

21 Q.   And don’t you say he was just yelling and

22 screaming?

23 A.   That is on the paper, yes.

24 Q.   Okay.  Isn’t that what you told them, or do you

25 want to hear it?
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1 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

2 THE COURT:  Sustained.

3   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

4 Q.   Are you questioning whether this is --

5 A.   No.  I’m not questioning it.  That’s -- that’s

6 on the -- yes.

7 Q.   Okay.  And then on -- on Page 12, lines 1 and

8 2, you said, “The entire time I could hear that there was

9 someone one street over just yelling”; is that what you

10 said?

11 A.  You can yell, “I can’t breathe.”  That’s --

12 Q.   Did you --

13 A.   You can yell that.  But --

14 Q.   -- say --

15 A.   No.  I didn’t elaborate, no.  They didn’t ask

16 me to elaborate.  But you can yell, “I can’t breathe.”

17 Q.   One can yell, “I can’t breathe.”  But did you

18 ever tell anybody until you came to this court today that

19 Detective Teel was wrong, and you had heard Mr. Gray

20 yelling, “I can’t breathe,” when you were at Stop 1?

21 A.   Had I told anyone before today?  Yes, I have. 

22 Yes.

23 Q.   Well, I don’t mean about your -- I don’t mean

24 your attorneys.  I -- had you gone -- these officers, at

25 the end of this interview --
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1 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

2 THE COURT:  Sustained.

3   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

4 Q.   Okay.  At the end of this interview --

5 THE COURT:  Sustained.

6 Get to a question.

7   MR. SCHATZOW:  Yes, Your Honor.

8   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

9 Q.   You were asked this day, at the end of the

10 interview, whether there was anything you cared to add

11 which may aid in the investigation or clarify anything

12 I’ve asked of you, or clarifying anything you said;

13 weren’t you?

14 A.   I was asked that, yes.

15 Q.   And you said, “No, sir”; didn’t you?

16 A.   I think I might have said something about

17 seatbelting afterwards.

18 Q.   Well, here’s where it is, sir, if you’ll direct

19 your attention to Page 79, at the bottom of the page,

20 going up to Page 80, which is --

21 A.   If I could -- could I manipulate this?

22 Q.   Could you what?

23 A.   Manipulate this.  Can I --

24 Q.   No.  I’m just -- I’m asking you about this --

25 this section, sir.
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1 A.   But on my statement --

2 Q.   This page where you said -- did you -- what the

3 transcript reflects is that Detective Anderson said, “All

4 right.  I just want to clarify anything you -- else you

5 care to add at this time, which may aid in this

6 investigation or clarify anything I’ve asked of you or

7 clarify anything you said”; isn’t that what he asked you?

8 A.   He did ask me that.  And that’s the second time

9 he asked me that.

10 Q.   Right.  And you said, “No, sir”; correct?

11 A.   Yes.  The second time, yes.

12 Q.   The second time.  

13 And this was at the end of the interview. 

14 There’s no more interview after that.

15 A.   After that part, no, there’s no more interview

16 from there. 

17 Q.   Okay.  And then on Page 15 -- at Page 15, you

18 say, starting on line 18 through line 23, “Because the --

19 I guess they had called for more units because the crowd

20 was -- was -- I was more concerned with the crowd than I

21 was with whomever they were arresting.  I could hear that

22 he was yelling or whatever.  But I -- I was trying to

23 keep the crowd back from getting to those officers”; is

24 that what you said, sir?

25 A.   I did say that, yes.
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1 Q.   When you arrived at Stop 2 you told -- well,

2 strike that question.

3 When you met with Detectives Teel and Anderson,

4 you told them that when you arrived at Stop 2, you parked

5 about 20 feet away from the van.  Stop 2 being the stop

6 at Baker and Mount Street; is that right?

7 A.   Yes, that is true.

8 Q.   Okay.  And you told them that you got about

9 halfway to the van when Mr. Gray was put into the van;

10 correct?

11 A.   Perhaps.  Yes.

12 Q.   And you told them that you couldn’t -- you

13 weren’t close enough to see whether Mr. Gray had leg

14 irons on; correct?

15 A.   That is correct.

16 Q.   And you told them that you couldn’t identify

17 the officers who were putting him into the van; correct?

18 A.   That is -- that is not correct, no.

19 Q.   Okay.  I’m going to direct your attention --

20 I’m sorry -- 

21 MR. MURTHA:  What page is that, sir?

22   MR. SCHATZOW:  I think if we -- it depends on

23 how much -- we’ll start on 33.

24 MR. MURTHA:  Okay. 

25   BY MR. SCHATZOW: 
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1 Q.   Detective Anderson says, “So what side was this

2 officer standing on, the right side of Mr. Gray or the

3 left side?  I mean, if -- if the wagon was facing south;

4 right?”  

5 And you say, “South, right.”

6 A.   True.

7 Q.   I’m reading accurately; correct?

8 A.   That is accurate.  Yes, sir.

9 Q.   Okay.  And so Detective Anderson says, “So is

10 he -- was he on the, like, the west side of Mr. Gray or

11 the east side.” 

12 And then Mr. Anderson interrupts you and says,

13 “You understand what I’m saying?”

14 And you say, “I don’t -- I don’t recall.  I

15 don’t know, man.”

16 So Anderson -- you then say, “So he’s standing

17 behind him, is what I thought.”  And him is Mr. Gray

18 there; right?  The officer is standing behind him who is

19 putting him in the car; correct?  That’s what you’re

20 talking about?

21 A.   No.

22 Q.   No?

23 A.   In the wagon is what I’m talking about.

24 Q.   Putting him in the wagon. 

25 A.   Yes.
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1 Q.   Yes.

2 Okay.  At Stop 2.  

3 A.   I -- I believe this is at Stop 2.  I don’t know

4 where we’re -- where in reference we’re talking about.

5 Q.   And he said -- well, here’s where -- “So you

6 know west would be facing towards, like, the Fulton side;

7 right?”

8 A.   That’s what it says.  

9 Q.   So --

10 A.   No.  I didn’t say that.  Detective Anderson

11 said that.

12 Q.   Right.  But that helps you orient yourself.

13 He then goes on, you say “Right,” and he says,

14 “And East would be toward, like, I guess toward, what,

15 Mount Street?”  

16 So doesn’t that orient you that we’re talking

17 about Stop 2 now?

18 A.   That’s -- yes.

19 Q.   Okay.  And he says -- you say, “He was behind

20 him.” 

21 And Detective Anderson says, “Okay.  So he was

22 -- he was more like on -- on this side of him, or I

23 guess, but if he’s facing this way, I guess he’d be on

24 his right side.  Was he on the right side of Mr. Gray?”

25 And you say, “He was -- he was on neither left
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1 nor right.  He was behind him.  He was directly behind

2 him, grabbing him from behind.”

3 And Detective Anderson says, “Oh, directly

4 behind him.”

5 And then he asks you where his feet were

6 positioned, and you tell him that.  

7 And then you say -- well, he asked you where

8 the feet were positioned, and you say, “All right.  So --

9 so picture people were at the wagon.”  This is you

10 talking.  

11 A.   That’s me.

12 Q.   “All right.  So you need to get this prisoner,

13 who is facing southbound, and the wagon here facing

14 southbound at the wagon.  The officer is behind him.  He

15 grabs him from behind.  The door is already open.  He’s

16 pushing him and pulling him into the wagon.  He pushes

17 him into the wagon.  He tries to, like, kick his feet out

18 or whatever.  Then the officer goes on the other side of

19 him and pulls him into the wagon is what I saw.”

20 Detective Anderson, “So the officer got into

21 the wagon and pulls him in.”

22 And you say, “Right.”

23 That’s accurate so far?

24 A.   That is accurate so far.

25 Q.   Okay.  And Detective Anderson says, “So someone
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1 climbed up in the wagon and pulls him in.”

2 And you say, “After he had tried to pull him

3 in, he got him halfway in through the doors, and he’s,

4 like, kicking his feet -- his feet.  And the officer goes

5 around him, and then pulls him into the wagon.”

6 And Detective Anderson says, “So the officer

7 did it by himself?”

8 And you say, “Right.”

9 And Detective Anderson says, “You saw all of

10 that, and you don’t know which officer it was?”

11 And you say, “I don’t know.  I was back out

12 far, man.”

13 Isn’t that right?

14 A.   That’s what it says.  Yes, that’s what it

15 reads.

16 Q.   Okay.  And that’s what you -- and it reads that

17 way because that’s what you actually said; isn’t it?

18 A.   Well, you’re leaving out parts.  But sure, yes. 

19 And then it goes on to say that it’s a bicycle officer

20 who has the -- who happens to be slender, so it’s either

21 Nero or Lieutenant Rice.  But, yes, you’re leaving out

22 things.

23 Q.   Well, I’m not leaving anything out in what we

24 just read.

25 A.   In what we just read, no.  No.
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1 Q.   And you didn’t identify the officer because you

2 told them I was too far back, man.

3 A.   It was -- I said it was a white, slender

4 officer, Nero or Lieutenant Rice, is what I said.

5   MR. SCHATZOW:  Excuse me one second, Your

6 Honor.

7   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

8 Q.   When he said -- when Detective Anderson said

9 you saw all that and you don’t know which officer it was,

10 your response was, “I don’t know.  I was back out far” --

11 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

12 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Sustained.

13 Ask another question.

14   MR. SCHATZOW:  Okay. 

15 THE COURT:  That hasn’t already been answered.

16   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

17 Q.   But the fact of the matter is you wasn’t -- you

18 weren’t back out far; were you?

19 A.   I -- I don’t -- I wasn’t back out far?  

20 Q.   From the wagon?

21 A.   I walked up to the wagon.

22 Q.   You were right up at the back of the wagon;

23 weren’t you?

24 A.   I walked up to the wagon.

25 Q.   Right.  Even though you told the officers when
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1 they interviewed you you were only halfway back.

2 A.   I’m sorry.  It was -- it was about a week ago

3 when I had done that testimony.

4 Q.   It was --

5 A.   It was a week later.

6 Q.   It was -- it was five days later.

7 A.   Oh, I’m sorry.

8 Q.   It was on Friday; right?  Correct?

9 A.   I can’t remember.  Perhaps.

10 Q.   It was April 17 ; wasn’t it?th

11 A.   All right.  Yes.

12 Q.   And that’s five days after April 12 ; can youth

13 agree with that?

14 A.   Yes.  That is five days after April 12 , yes.th

15 MR. SCHATZOW:  In fact, if we could see which

16 exhibit number is it, the cell phone video, 25, Your

17 Honor?

18 THE COURT:  Okay. 

19 (Brief pause.) 

20 (Whereupon, a portion of Exhibit 25, the cell

21 phone video, was played in open court, but is

22 untranscribed herein.)

23   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

24 Q.   Stop right there.  That’s you getting out of

25 the car; isn’t it, sir?
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1 A.   That is me getting out of the car.  Yes, sir.

2 Q.   Okay.  

3   MR. SCHATZOW:  Would you continue to roll it?

4 (Whereupon, a portion of Exhibit 25, the cell

5 phone video, was played in open court, but is

6 untranscribed herein.)

7   MR. SCHATZOW:  Stop it.

8   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

9 Q.   And then, sir, in the -- in the dark blue

10 uniform, back to the camera, something coming out of his

11 back pocket, that’s you, sir?

12 A.   That is me, yes.

13 Q.   Okay.  And you’re right on back of the camera

14 camera.

15   MR. SCHATZOW:  If you could keep rolling,

16 please.

17 (Whereupon, a portion of Exhibit 25, the cell

18 phone video, was played in open court, but is

19 untranscribed herein.)

20   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

21 Q.   You were right there, and you didn’t see

22 Lieutenant Rice come out of the wagon?

23 A.   At that that point in time, I didn’t know it

24 was Lieutenant Rice.  I just knew it was a white, slender

25 officer.
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1 Q.   Didn’t you have -- but Lieutenant Rice is a

2 shift commander there.

3 A.   He is a shift commander, yes.

4 Q.   There were only -- I don’t know what Mr.

5 Proctor said, 11 people working that day; right?

6 A.   That is true, yes.

7 Q.   You’d been there for two years.

8 A.   Yes.

9 Q.   Right.  But you couldn’t identify -- you didn’t

10 identify him to the --

11 A.   I didn’t identify him.  I said it was one of

12 the bike officers that was present at that arrest.

13 Q.   One of the bike officers.

14 Sir, were you -- you had talked about, in your

15 testimony in response to a question, you said something

16 about the don’t snitch culture in Baltimore; do you

17 remember being asked about that?

18 A.   There was a -- not -- don’t -- stop snitching

19 is what it’s called.  Yeah.

20 Q.   Stop snitching.  Right.

21 Is that a culture in the Baltimore Police

22 Department?

23 A.   Absolutely not.  I’m actually offended that you

24 would say something like that.

25 Q.   Well, sir, did you not tell the officers who
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1 were investigating this truth the truth about where you

2 were standing and what you saw because you didn’t want to

3 involve other officers?

4 A.   No, that’s not true.  I -- I identified the

5 officers.  I said they were -- I said everyone’s name.  I

6 gave all the officer’s names.  Lieutenant Rice, Nero,

7 Miller.  I said every officer that was there.

8 Q.   You didn’t say the officer who was coming out

9 of the wagon --

10 A.   I -- I --

11 Q.   -- right while you were standing at the back of

12 wagon; did you?

13 A.   I didn’t know who it was.  I’d be assuming if I

14 -- if I said who -- which one it was.  I didn’t know.

15 Q.   And would it be fair to say that, at the time,

16 you were as close to that officer as I am to you now?

17 A.   Possibly.

18 Q.   When -- after Mr. Gray went into the wagon, at

19 Stop 2, there came a time when you had a conversation

20 with Brandon Ross; correct?

21 A.   That is true.  I -- yes.

22 Q.   You say that you told Brandon Ross to call 911?

23 A.   I said to him to call 911 for a supervisor

24 complaint, yes.

25 Q.   Did you -- you listened to the cell phone video
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1 that was played here in court; correct?

2 A.   I -- I did listen to it, yes.

3 Q.   And you’ve listened to it before then; haven’t

4 you?  Before today in court and before we played it?

5 A.   No.  I hadn’t seen this video before we got to

6 court, no.

7 Q.   Okay.  You didn’t hear anything on that video

8 about telling Brandon Ross to call 911; did you?

9 A.   You can’t really hear any other voices other

10 than Brandon Ross because he’s yelling, but I’m having a

11 conversation with him, much like I’m having with you.

12 Q.   You didn’t hear on the cell phone Brandon Ross

13 -- you -- you didn’t hear yourself telling Brandon Ross

14 to call 911 on the cell phone video; did you?

15 A.   You don’t hear much on the -- on the recording

16 because it’s in Brandon Ross’ pocket, and he’s yelling. 

17 And I’m having a conversation like I’m having with you

18 right now.

19 Q.   Sir, my question is what you heard.  You didn’t

20 hear on the cell phone video Brandon Ross -- excuse me,

21 you telling Brandon Ross to call 911.

22 A.   You didn’t hear much, other than Brandon Ross

23 yelling, because he was yelling.  The pocket was in his

24 phone.

25 THE COURT:  Sir, answer the question that was
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1 posed to you, please.

2 THE WITNESS:  No.

3   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

4 Q.   And, in fact, when Brandon Ross -- when you

5 told Brandon Ross the supervisor here is Lieutenant Rice,

6 and Brandon Ross says, in effect, he’s the guy who was --

7 who’s here who’s involved; I need somebody else.  What

8 you told him to do was go to the media; right?

9 A.   That’s what I instructed him to do, yes.

10 Q.   You didn’t tell him to call Internal Affairs,

11 did you, at the police department?

12 A.   No, I didn’t tell him that.  No.

13 Q.   No.  

14 And your telling him to go to the media was

15 like telling him to go fly a kite; wasn’t it?  

16 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

17   MR. SCHATZOW:  You just wanted to get rid of

18 him.

19 THE COURT:  Overruled.

20 Did you?

21 THE WITNESS:  No.  That is not -- I didn’t want

22 to just get rid of him.  No.

23   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

24 Q.   You thought you were being helpful to him?

25 A.   Yes.  Absolutely.
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1 Q.   He wanted -- he wanted somebody from the police

2 department to intervene in this situation.  And what you

3 told him to do was go talk to the media; right?

4 A.   No.  I instructed him who my superior was, and

5 I gave him that information. 

6 Q.   Right.  And then you told him go talk the

7 media.  You know what to do.  Not go to the police

8 department and seek help from the way the situation is

9 being handled, but go to the media; that’s what you told

10 him?

11 A.   After I instructed him to talk to my

12 supervisor, yes.

13 Q.   When you arrive at Druid Hill and Dolphin

14 Street, what we’ve been referring to as Stop 4, you were

15 aware that Officer Goodson had made a radio call for

16 someone to come because he -- I need to check out this

17 prisoner; isn’t that what he said?

18 A.   Those are the words he said, yes.

19 Q.   And when you arrived there, didn’t you ask Mr.

20 Goodson why do you need my help to check out this

21 prisoner?

22 A.   I did not, no.

23 Q.   You didn’t ask him anything about why he was

24 seeking assistance from another unit; did you?

25 A.   When I walked up he said, hey, help me check on
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1 this prisoner, is what he said.

2 Q.   My question, sir, is you didn’t ask him any

3 questions about why --

4 A.   No, I didn’t.  I didn’t ask him any questions. 

5 No.

6 Q.   And when you were interviewed -- let me strike

7 that.

8 When you did the demonstration with your two

9 lawyers today about how you got Mr. Gray off the floor of

10 the van at Stop 4 and onto the bench, you said that you

11 were just assisting Mr. Gray because he was using his own

12 muscles to get up; is that right?

13 A.   Those are the words I said, yes.

14 Q.   Okay.  But, in fact, when you were interviewed

15 by Detectives Teel and Anderson on April 17 , you neverth

16 say that Mr. Gray helped in any way to get from the floor

17 to the bench; did you?

18 A.   No.  I didn’t elaborate on how I got him from

19 the floor to the bench.  I thought it was obvious.

20 Q.   In -- in fact -- but you thought it was obvious

21 to Detectives Teel and Anderson without explaining it to

22 them?

23 A.   Yes.

24 Q.   Okay.  In fact, didn’t you repeatedly tell

25 them, “I put him on the bench”?
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1 A.   Those are my words, yes.  But it would be

2 physically impossible for me to place someone onto a

3 bench in that tight of a space.  

4 Q.   You -- you told them you put him on the bench,

5 you placed him on the bench; correct?  He was on the

6 bench.

7 A.   He was on the bench; that is correct, yes.

8 Q.   And you told them that you put him there?

9 A.   I assisted him there, yes.

10 Q.   But you never told them that Mr. Gray played

11 any role in getting himself from the floor to the bench;

12 did you?

13 A.   I apologize.  They didn’t ask me that question,

14 no.

15 Q.   And -- well, they ask you whether you put him

16 on the bench.  And when you said yes, or when you said,

17 “I put him on the bench,” you never said, “I put him on

18 the bench, but it was really with his assistance.  He

19 was, you know, actively involved in getting on the

20 bench.”  You never said anything about that in words or

21 substance; did you?

22 A.   That didn’t come into question until today, no.

23 Q.   The question, “Did you put him on the bench,”

24 would not have generated that response from you because

25 that’s what you were asked; wasn’t it?
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1 A.   No.  That would not generate that response, no.

2 Q.   You would have had to have been specifically

3 asked, “To what extend did Mr. Gray use his own muscle

4 power to get on the bench?”

5 A.   That didn’t come into question until today,

6 sir.

7 Q.   Please listen to my question.  Let’s -- let’s

8 get the exact question.

9 If we could go to -- in fact, why don’t we just

10 -- 

11   MR. SCHATZOW:  Your Honor, with the Court’s

12 permission, I think it’s easier to just play the audio

13 portions.  I think -- do we have the video --

14 THE COURT:  It’s your witness.

15   MR. SCHATZOW:  -- (Inaudible at 2:37:58 p.m.)?

16 THE COURT:  What’s the -- there’s no question. 

17 So I don’t understand what you mean.

18   MR. SCHATZOW:  I’m about to ask the question,

19 Your Honor.  I apologize.

20   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

21 Q.   Weren’t -- weren’t -- didn’t you describe what

22 you did?  

23 MR. MURTHA:  Who -- can I get a page, please?

24   MR. SCHATZOW:  Sure.  42, line 5.

25   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  
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1 Q.   Page 42, line 5.  The question that Detective

2 Teel asks is, “Okay.  And what did you -- take me from

3 that point, what happened?”  We’re at Dolphin and Druid

4 Hill.

5 And you start talking about what happened. 

6 You’re giving your own narrative about it.  And you say,

7 “And he doesn’t say anything.  And he’s like, help me,

8 help me up.  So I was, like, what -- what’s the deal.  So

9 I pulled him up”; isn’t that what you said?

10 A.   If I could -- if I could go along with you if

11 you don’t mind.  I’m sorry.  I can’t see what you’re

12 reading.  I apologize, sir.

13 Q.   Well -- you haven’t -- you haven’t studied this

14 statement --

15 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

16   MR. SCHATZOW:  -- when --

17 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Strike the question.

18 Ask a question.

19   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

20 Q.   Sir, weren’t you -- weren’t you asked by

21 Detective Teel to --

22 MR. MURTHA:  Line and page?

23   MR. SCHATZOW:  -- from --

24 THE COURT:  Line and page.

25   MR. SCHATZOW:  Page 41.  
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1   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

2 Q.   She said -- you say that, on 41, line 12, “I

3 think I may have been, like, right at the intersection of

4 Dolphin and Druid Hill”; correct?

5 A.   That is what it says, yes.

6 Q.   And Detective Teel says, “Were you behind the”

7 -- and you say, “I was behind, yes”; is that what --

8 what’s said?

9 A.   That’s what it says, yes, sir.

10 Q.   Okay.  And then Detective Teel says, “Okay. 

11 And what did you -- take me from that point, what

12 happened”; isn’t that her question?

13 A.   That is what happens, yes.

14 Q.   And then you proceed to tell her what happened;

15 correct?

16 A.   That’s -- yes.

17 Q.   And part of what you tell her when it comes to

18 putting Mr. Gray on the bench, you say, “So I pull him

19 up”; correct?

20 A.   If you skip everything else I’ve said, and go

21 there, then yes, that’s what it’s says.

22 Q.   Well, is there -- is there anywhere where you

23 told them that Mr. Gray played any role in getting on the

24 bench?

25 A.   That didn’t come into question until today,
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1 sir, no.

2 Q.   Well, she asked you what happened; didn’t she?

3 A.   She did ask me what happened, yes.

4 Q.   When you were asked today by your lawyers what

5 happened, you told them that you were merely assisting

6 Mr. Gray, that he was using his own power to get to the

7 bench.

8 A.   Because that came --

9 Q.   Correct?

10 A.   -- into the question, yes.

11 Q.   No.  They just -- they asked you what happened,

12 and she asked you what happened, and you gave two

13 different answers; didn’t you?

14 A.   No.  I didn’t give -- I further explained my

15 answer from here.

16 Q.   But you didn’t have that explanation anywhere

17 in this statement; correct?

18 A.   When I made that statement, I was making it as

19 a witness.  I didn’t know I was a suspect in the case.

20 Q.   Was that a reason to provide less information?

21 A.   I didn’t know I needed to defend myself in that

22 statement, no.

23 Q.   Because I -- did you think that you had an

24 obligation to tell them the truth?

25 A.   Absolutely.  I told them the truth.
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1 Q.   Did you think you had an obligation to tell

2 them the complete truth?

3 A.   Absolutely.

4 Q.   So why didn’t you tell them about Mr. Gray

5 helping you up -- Mr. Gray helping himself up, as you

6 helped him up?

7 A.   Why didn’t I tell them that he was assisting? 

8 I thought it was obvious.  

9 Q.   Now, you had -- at Stop 4, you had the

10 opportunity to put that seatbelt around Mr. Gray; didn’t

11 you?

12 A.   That is true.

13 Q.   And you didn’t do it; correct?

14 A.   I did not, no.

15 Q.   And you didn’t call a medic?

16 A.   No, I didn’t.

17 Q.   And your testimony is that you got this call

18 for an urgent backup, and that’s when you got out of the

19 van?

20 A.   No.  That’s not -- no.

21 Q.   You were already out of the van?

22 A.   I was already out of the van, yes.

23 Q.   All right.  And the call for urgent -- it

24 wasn’t an urgent backup.  It was a call for 10-16.  It’s

25 just a backup; isn’t it?

127

E. 376



1 A.   There was some urgency.

2 Q.   Single 13 is an emergency --

3 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

4 THE COURT:  Sustained.

5   MR. SCHATZOW:  I’m asking a question.

6   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

7 Q.   Isn’t single 13 the emergency call?

8 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

9 THE COURT:  Overruled.

10 THE WITNESS:  That is officer down, send

11 assistance.

12   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

13 Q.   Right.  And 10-16 is -- is I need a backup. 

14 And it could be an emergency, or it could not be an

15 emergency; right?

16 A.   Would you like for me to explain to you the 10

17 codes, and how they go?

18 Q.   I would like --

19 THE COURT:  No.  Probably what he wants you to

20 do is answer the question that he poses, and not ask him

21 a question.

22 THE WITNESS:  All right. 

23 Can you repeat your question?

24   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

25 Q.   Yes.  A 10-16 is the way one calls for backup,
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1 whether it’s an emergency or non-emergency; isn’t it?

2 A.   The way I understand it, in my training and

3 experience, 10-16 is urgent backup.

4 Q.   Okay.  Let’s talk about your training a little

5 bit.

6 Do you remember the part of your medical

7 training that Officer Carson-Johnson testified about

8 teaching you involving calling a medic when someone

9 requests a medic?

10 A.   I recall her testimony, yes.

11 Q.   No.  Do you recall that part of your training?

12 A.   Hmm.   It’s not vivid, but I got that training.

13 Q.   When you say it’s not vivid, do you recall some

14 part of it?

15 A.   Some parts of it, of the LEMAT (phonetic)

16 class, yes.

17 Q.   No.  I don’t mean parts of the -- I mean part

18 of you call a medic when somebody requests a medic.

19 A.   No.  I think what she said -- I’m sorry.  No,

20 no.  I --

21 Q.   You don’t recall it?

22 A.   She said you’ve got to be a detective, I think

23 the words that she used.  You’ve got to be a detective

24 and use your discretion is what she said when she

25 testified.
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1 Q.   You also heard her say, didn’t you, that when

2 somebody requests a medic, you get them a medic, and then

3 you ask them questions so you can get information to give

4 to the medic?

5 A.   I did hear her say that, yes.

6 Q.   Okay.  Do you remember that from your training?

7 A.   I -- I remember that here, not necessarily in

8 my training, no.  No.

9 Q.   But you do remember parts of your medical

10 training; don’t you?

11 A.   I do, yes.

12 Q.   Just not that part?

13 A.   Just not that part, no.

14 Q.   And also in your training, you were trained to

15 put a seatbelt on anybody you transport unless it would

16 be a safety issue.  Dangerous for you; correct?

17 A.   I -- I never -- until Agent Bilheimer

18 (phonetic) got up here, I -- I never heard that.  We had

19 no wagon training.  There was no such things as a wag --

20 we didn’t have a wagon training.

21 Q.   Well, he was teaching you vehicle procedures;

22 wasn’t he?

23 A.   Yeah.  He was teaching you vehicle procedures;

24 wasn’t he?

25 A.   Yeah.  He was -- he was the EVOC (phonetic)
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1 teacher; that is true, yes.

2 Q.   Right.  So you don’t recall him teaching what

3 he said he taught about seatbelts; is that right?

4 A.   No.  I don’t.  I’m sorry, I don’t.  No.

5 Q.   But it is what’s right in that K-14 order,

6 which you say you received on flash drive?

7 A.   I received the General Orders on a flash drive,

8 yes.  

9 Q.   Right.  And during the 11 months you were in

10 the academy, did you ever look on the flash drive at any

11 of the Orders?

12 A.   Just the specific ones that they asked us to. 

13 There’s a lot of General Orders.

14 Q.   Well, this one involves persons in custody. 

15 Did you think it was important to look at the one called

16 Persons in Custody?

17 A.   I looked at the specific General Orders that

18 they asked us to do for -- as far as our curricular in

19 the -- in the academy.

20 Q.   My question is did you think it was important

21 to look at an Order called Persons in Custody?

22 A.   There’s no way -- I don’t know what the General

23 Orders are called until -- until they -- I think I don’t

24 -- there’s no guide that says Persons in Custody.  It

25 says General Order, whatever the number is, and then they
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1 tell us to look it up.

2 Q.   So if you -- you didn’t look at the General

3 Orders?

4 A.   I looked at the General Orders specifically for

5 the classes in the academy.

6 Q.   And let me show you what’s in evidence as

7 Exhibit 5, which is a receipt.  Is that your signature on

8 the bottom of the receipt?

9 A.   That’s my signature at the bottom, yes.

10 Q.   And you signed for acknowledging receiving the

11 General Orders; correct, among other things?

12 A.   I did sign there, yes.

13 Q.   My question, did you sign it acknowledging

14 receipt of the General Orders, among other things?

15 A.   Yes.  Yes.  I said yes.

16 Q.   Okay.  When you were interviewed by Detectives

17 Teel and Anderson on April 17  of this year, you neverth

18 said anything about concern about your gun being a reason

19 why you didn’t seatbelt Mr. Gray; did you?

20 A.   That is true.

21 Q.   When you were at Stop 5 -- well, excuse me. 

22 Before we get to Stop 5, you were at -- let’s go back to

23 Stop 4.

24 You’re outside the wagon, and you say you had a

25 conversation with an Officer Goodson about the prisoner

132

E. 381



1 and going to the hospital; correct?

2 A.   Yes, sir.

3 Q.   Okay.  And then you say you got called away by

4 the call for backup; is that right?

5 A.   Everyone got the call for backup.

6 Q.   Okay.  There was a call for backup.  But, in

7 fact, someone responded to that call before you did;

8 didn’t they?

9 A.   Yes.

10 Q.   And there was a call for a wagon; wasn’t there?

11 A.   There was.  Immediately after the backup, there

12 was a call for a wagon.

13 Q.   Right.  And then Officer Goodson responded to

14 the call for the wagon before you responded; didn’t he?

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   And, in fact, then Lieutenant Rice, who was the

17 one who was making the call, indicated that he didn’t

18 need any more back up, and then there was a subsequent

19 call where he asked for somebody to do crowd control at

20 North and Carey; correct?

21 A.   I can’t say for certain.

22 Q.   Okay.  

23   MR. SCHATZOW:  If we could have the -- that

24 portion of the KGA played.  Do we have Exhibit 30?  It’s

25 Exhibit 30.  Can we have transcript --
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1 Your Honor, the transcript of this will be on

2 the screen.  It’s Exhibit 30.

3   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

4 Q.   If you’d take a look at this, sir.  Can you see

5 it from where you are?

6 A.   Kind of.

7   MR. SCHATZOW:  Your Honor, may he get closer if

8 he needs to?

9 THE COURT:  He may.

10   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

11 Q.   Now, at 9:06 and 57 seconds, where it says,

12 “09", that’s Lieutenant Rice; correct?

13 A.   I’m sorry.

14 Q.   First line.  Top line.

15 A.   Yes.  Yes.

16 Q.   Okay.  And he says 10-16, that’s the backup

17 call; correct?

18 A.   That is correct.

19 Q.   1600 North is the address; correct?

20 A.   That is the address he gave, yes.

21 Q.   Okay.  Then on the next line, four seconds

22 later, that’s the dispatcher; correct?  Saying 1600 North

23 need a 10-16; correct?

24 A.   That is correct.

25 Q.   And the next thing that happens, five seconds
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1 after that, is 22, I’m in route; correct?

2 A.   That is correct.

3 Q.   And that is the officer who is Number 22 that

4 day?  That’s -- he’s identifying himself, and he’s saying

5 he’s on route; correct?

6 A.   That is 7 Baker 22.

7   MR. SCHATZOW:  We’re going to play it in just a

8 minute.  Well, actually, why don’t you -- why don’t you

9 play it, so we can --

10   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

11 Q.   And then there’s a 10-4 from the dispatcher;

12 correct?

13 A.   Yes.

14 Q.   Okay.  

15   MR. SCHATZOW:  Why don’t you go ahead and play

16 that for him.

17 (Whereupon, the call was played in open court,

18 but remains untranscribed herein.)

19   MR. SCHATZOW:  Stop there.

20   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

21 Q.   Okay.  Then the next thing that happens is

22 about two seconds after the dispatcher says -- yes, two

23 seconds after the dispatcher says 10-4, the request is

24 for a wagon; correct?  

25 A.   Umm --
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1 Q.   If you look at the time?

2 A.   Yeah, yeah.  I see it.  Yes, I see it.  Sorry. 

3 Yes.

4 Q.   9:07:09.  You got it?

5 A.   I got it, yes.

6 Q.   Okay.  And there’s a request for a wagon;

7 right?

8 A.   Yes.  It says, “And a wagon and a wagon.”

9 Q.   And a wagon and a wagon.

10 And then, just about a second after that,

11 there’s a call for 91; correct?

12 A.   Yes.

13 Q.   And seven seconds after that, because there’s

14 no response, there’s a call Baker 91; correct?

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   Okay.  And Baker 91 is Officer Goodson;

17 correct?

18 A.   He is.

19 Q.   And then about two seconds after that, you hear

20 someone say, “Hang on, I’m going to have to turn around

21 and come back up there, 1600 North”; you see that?

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   Okay.  We’ll play that for a moment -- in a

24 minute --

25   MR. SCHATZOW:  Well, why don’t we run it, play
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1 it through, and you can tell me whether that’s Officer

2 Goodson.

3 (Whereupon, the call was played in open court,

4 but remains untranscribed herein.)

5   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

6 Q.   Okay.  Then -- and then you hear the dispatcher

7 say that 1600 North --

8   MR. SCHATZOW:  Why don’t you -- Joe, play it

9 all the way through for us.

10 (Whereupon, the call was played in open court,

11 but remains untranscribed herein.)

12   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

13 Q.   So, sir, what happened was --

14 A.   Can I take a seat?

15 Q.   Yes, please.

16 Lieutenant Rice, who is 09, says we have things

17 contained, but we have a crowd forming, and we need North

18 and Carey covered; correct?

19 A.   He does say that, yes.

20 Q.   And you’re the one who responds to that when

21 the dispatcher says, okay, I need a unit at North and

22 Carey, you identify yourself by saying 43; correct?

23 A.   Yes.

24 Q.   Because that is who you were that day, that was

25 your number; correct?
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1 A.   That is true.

2 Q.   Okay.  And you say I’m coming behind 91 up

3 there; right?

4 A.   Yes.

5 Q.   And 91 is the wagon, Officer Goodson; correct?

6 A.   That is true, yes.

7 Q.   All right.  And you are coming behind him;

8 correct?

9 A.   I -- at the time when I said that, I was behind

10 where the wagon was, yes.

11 Q.   Right.  And at no time did you call Officer

12 Goodson, or when you were talking -- well, let me ask you

13 this.  Did you hear all of this conversation while you

14 were talking with Officer Goodson behind the wagon?

15 A.   I think as a soon as -- I can’t really recall,

16 but I’m going -- as soon as it came out 10-16, I would

17 have been heading back to my vehicle at that time.  And

18 those seven seconds would have been getting in my car.

19 Q.   At any time, did you radio dispatch or Officer

20 Goodson, wait a minute, you can’t go respond to this,

21 you’ve got a prisoner you’ve got to take to the hospital?

22 A.   I can’t do that.  I -- I can’t do that.

23 Q.   What do you mean you can’t do that?  Your radio

24 worked; didn’t it?

25 A.   There’s -- there’s a hierarchy.  I can’t tell
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1 Officer Goodson what to do.  And -- and -- I can’t tell

2 Officer Goodson what to do.

3 Q.   Okay.  Now, my question is did you ever make an

4 effort to use your radio to contact Officer Goodson and

5 say you’re supposed to take this guy to the hospital?

6 A.   No, I didn’t.  No.  There never came a time I

7 did that.

8 Q.   All right.  And did you -- there are other --

9 there were no other wagons in the Western that day?

10 A.   There were no other wagons in the Western that

11 day.

12 Q.   But there are other wagons in the City; aren’t

13 there?

14 A.   That is true, yes.  There are other wagons.

15 Q.   And if a wagon is out of service because it’s

16 taking someone to the hospital or because it got a flat

17 tire, then the dispatcher can get another wagon from

18 another district; can’t they?

19 A.   I don’t make that decision.  

20 Q.   Sir, I’m not asking you whether you made the

21 decision.  I’m asking you if a dispatcher can ask for a

22 wagon from another district.

23 A.   Yes.  Yes.  A dispatcher can -- has the power

24 to do that, yes.

25 Q.   Okay.  So did you really have a conversation
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1 with Officer Goodson about taking Mr. Gray to the

2 hospital?

3 A.   I think I already answered that.  And the

4 answer to that is yes, I did have a conversation.

5 Q.   But you went to this scene, North and Carey,

6 behind the wagon, knowing full well that the wagon was

7 not going to the hospital; correct?

8 A.   I -- no.  That’s not true.

9 Q.   You did know the wagon was not going to the

10 hospital?

11 A.   I got to the scene before the wagon got to the

12 scene.

13 Q.   Right.  But you left behind the wagon; didn’t

14 you?

15 A.   I was behind the wagon when I left, yes.

16 Q.   Right.  And you weren’t -- you said I’m coming

17 behind 91 up there; correct?

18 A.   Be -- be -- yes.  That’s what I said, yes.

19 Q.   And you said it because you were behind 91;

20 correct?

21 A.   My car was parked behind 91, yes.

22 Q.   Well, you said, “I’m coming behind 91.”  You

23 didn’t say, “I’m parked behind 91"; did you?

24 A.   No.  No.  I didn’t say that, no.

25 Q.   And you knew that 91 had just said that he was
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1 going to the scene; correct?

2 A.   Yes.  That’s what it says, yes.

3 Q.   And at Stop 5, you say that Sergeant White

4 ordered you to follow the wagon to the station house;

5 right?

6 A.   She --

7 Q.   Western District.

8 A.   She said -- she ordered me to do the hospital

9 detail, yes.

10 Q.   Didn’t she also order you to follow the wagon?

11 A.   I’m sorry?  She ordered me to do the hospital

12 detail.

13 Q.   Right.  Didn’t she order you to follow the

14 wagon to the District?

15 A.   Not that I can recall, no.  It would have been

16 to do the hospital detail, and I would have gone behind

17 the wagon.  But she didn’t order me to do that.  She

18 ordered me to do the hospital detail.

19 Q.   You couldn’t -- you couldn’t very well do the

20 hospital detail if you weren’t with the wagon; could you?

21 The wagon would -- would -- could get to wherever the

22 wagon was going to go, and you wouldn’t be there.

23 A.   I’m sorry.  Repeat your question.

24 Q.   Didn’t Sergeant White tell you that you have to

25 take over the hospital detail, and just to follow the
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1 wagon down to the station?

2 A.   She did tell me to do the hospital detail.  She

3 -- there -- she never said anything about the wagon.

4 Q.   When you met with Detectives Teel and Anderson

5 on April 17 , 2015 --th

6   MR. SCHATZOW:  At page 47, lines 2 through 7,

7 Counsel.

8 Thank you.

9   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

10 Q.   Weren’t you asked the following question, and

11 didn’t you give the following answer?

12 A.   I’m sorry --

13 Q.   Detective --

14 A.   -- hold on.  What -- where was it?

15 Q.   47, lines 2 through 7.

16 Detective Teel:  “After she finished to talking

17 to Mr. Gray what happened?”

18 Officer Porter:  “Uh.  Well, she told me that I

19 would have to take over the hospital detail, and just to

20 follow the wagon down to the station.”

21 Is that what you said?

22 A.   That’s what it says, yes.

23 Q.   But you didn’t do that; did you?

24 A.   Yes, I did do that.

25 Q.   Your own testimony this morning was that you
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1 waited two to five minutes --

2 A.   I --

3 Q.   -- before you went down to the station;

4 correct?

5 A.   That is correct, yes.

6 Q.   And -- and when you went down to the station,

7 you didn’t go down Mount Street; you went down

8 Pennsylvania Avenue; didn’t you?

9 A.   No.  No.

10 Q.   Okay.  

11   MR. SCHATZOW:  You’ve got that?

12   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

13 Q.   Your car number -- I think I already asked you

14 this.  Just to be clear, your car number that you were

15 driving that day is 9239; isn’t it?

16 A.   Mmm.

17 Q.   I’ve handed you Exhibit 5, the run sheet.

18 A.   Yes.  It says 9239.  That’s what it says, yes.

19 Q.   And on the top of Baltimore Police cars, the

20 number of the car appears, but only the last three

21 digits; correct?

22 A.   Yeah.  That’s true, yes.

23   MR. SCHATZOW:  What’s our next exhibit number?

24 THE CLERK:  77.

25   MR. SCHATZOW:  Your Honor, at this time,
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1 pursuant to stipulation, I offer a CCTV disc, which is

2 Exhibit -- 

3 I’m sorry?

4 THE CLERK:  77.

5   MR. SCHATZOW:  -- 77.  

6 (State’s Exhibit Number 77

7  was marked for identification.) 

8 THE COURT:  And specifically what?

9   MR. SCHATZOW:  This is a -- this is a scene --

10 this -- CCTV of the wagon and the police cars, the wagon

11 leaving the scene at North and Pennsylvania.  And --

12 THE COURT:  Okay. 

13   MR. SCHATZOW:  -- showing the delay -- the

14 timing and the direction of Officer Porter’s car, Your

15 Honor.

16 THE COURT:  Okay. 

17 Any objection?

18 MR. MURTHA:  I believe it’s stipulated to, Your

19 Honor.  No, Your Honor.

20 THE COURT:  I hear it, right, a stipulation. 

21 That’s fine.  Okay.  

22 No objection.  So entered.

23 (State’s Exhibit Number 77

24  was received in evidence.)  

25   MR. SCHATZOW:  Okay.  
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1 (Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open

2 court.)

3   MR. SCHATZOW:  Stop it right there. 

4   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

5 Q.   This is the wagon leaving the scene that we’ve

6 called Stop Number 5; isn’t it, Officer Porter?

7 A.   Yes.  That is, yes.

8 Q.   Okay.  And your car was the first car in front

9 of the wagon; wasn’t it?

10 A.   I -- I can’t -- I don’t know.  I can’t

11 remember.

12 Q.   Okay.  We’ll have a shot in a moment that will

13 let you see the numbers.

14   MR. SCHATZOW:  Go ahead, please.

15 (Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open

16 court.)

17   MR. SCHATZOW:  Stop it there for just one

18 second.

19   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

20 Q.   Sir, what -- what is this -- this street here,

21 that we’re looking down?

22 A.   That’s North Avenue.

23 Q.   Okay.  

24   MR. SCHATZOW:  Go ahead.

25 (Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open
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1 court.)

2   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

3 Q.   Excuse me, sir.  That’s your car, or one of

4 those cars is -- one of those cars --

5 A.   One of those cars are mine.  Yes, that’s true.

6 Q.   -- is yours.  And that’s on North Avenue,

7 facing eastbound; correct?

8 A.   That would be westbound.

9 Q.   Westbound.  I’m sorry.  Westbound.  Fine.

10 (Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open

11 court.)

12   MR. SCHATZOW:  Stop it there for a second.

13   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

14 Q.   Officer, you see that the officer for the first

15 car is now getting into his car?

16 A.   I can see that, yes.

17 Q.   Okay.  

18   MR. SCHATZOW:  You can keep rolling.

19 (Whereupon, the CCTV video was played in open

20 court.)

21   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

22 Q.   Sir, isn’t this your car, 239 -- get up as

23 close as you need to to see it -- turning down

24 Pennsylvania Avenue?

25 A.   I see nine -- I see 239, yes.
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1 Q.   Turning down Pennsylvania?

2 A.   Yes.  He turned onto Pennsylvania; yeah.

3 Q.   And that’s you.  239 is your car; right?

4 A.   Can I see that again?

5 Q.   The run sheet?  Sure.

6 A.   Yes.  Can I see the run sheet?

7 Q.   It’s State’s Exhibit 29.

8 A.   It says 9239, yep.

9 Q.   When you got to the Western District, you

10 opened up the door for Mr. Allan?

11 A.   No.

12 Q.   You opened up the door for Mr. Gray?

13 A.   Yes.

14 Q.   Okay.  And when you opened the door at the

15 Western District, which we’ve been referring to as Stop

16 6, you saw Mr. Gray in the same position that you had

17 seen him at Stop 5; correct?

18 A.   As I explained earlier, it was -- it was more

19 exaggerated.  

20 Q.   When you were interviewed by Detectives Teel

21 and Anderson on April 17  of 2015, you did not indicateth

22 that it was more exaggerated.  You simply said, “He was

23 in the same position”; didn’t you?

24 A.   Yes.  I -- I elaborated today.  

25 Q.   But you didn’t elaborate to them on April 17 ?th
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1 A.   I did not, no.

2 Q.   All you told them was that he was in the same

3 position.

4 And so what your testimony today is is

5 different than the information you gave to Detectives

6 Teel and Anderson; correct?

7 A.   Not correct, no.  I just elaborated today.

8 Q.   Well, isn’t that different?  Didn’t you add

9 something to what you told them?

10 A.   I just expounded upon what I said.

11 Q.   Well, but all you had told them was the same

12 position.  Isn’t same position different than same

13 position but more -- more exaggerated?

14 Q.   I think you just said exactly what I’ve been

15 saying.  The same position, but more exaggerated.

16 Q.   Could you --

17 A.   You just said that.

18 Q.   Sir, answer the question.  What -- is what --

19 when Detective Anderson, on April 17 , asked you, “Whatth

20 did you see,” didn’t you say the same was he was -- he

21 was --

22 MR. MURTHA:  Excuse me.

23   MR. SCHATZOW:  -- still sitting there leaning

24 against --

25 MR. MURTHA:  Excuse me.
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1   MR. SCHATZOW:  I’m just going to play it, Your

2 Honor, if you don’t mind.  I think that will be easier.

3 THE COURT:  Well, no.  

4   MR. SCHATZOW:  Can you get that queued up?

5 THE COURT:  Is there an objection?

6 MR. MURTHA:  I’m just -- when he starts

7 reading, I would ask that --

8   MR. SCHATZOW:  I’m sorry.  

9 MR. MURTHA:  That’s all I’m asking for.

10   MR. SCHATZOW:  62, 11 -- well, let’s go back to

11 line 8.

12 MR. MURTHA:  Okay.  Thank you.

13   MR. SCHATZOW:  Start at 62 on line 8.

14 And, Your Honor, in order to demonstrate what

15 he said, if we could play the video of that portion

16 alone.

17 You’ve got it?  62, page 8.  

18 MR. MURTHA:  Line 8.

19 MR. SCHATZOW:  I’m sorry.  Page 62, line 8.

20 Your Honor, we’ll go back to the old tape now.

21   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

22 Q.   62, line 8.  Detective Anderson says, “So when

23 you opened the door for Mr. Gray, Officer Porter” --

24 You say, “Yeah.”

25 Detective Anderson says, “What did you see?”
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1 And you say, “The same was -- he was -- he was

2 still sitting there leaning against the bench.”

3 Isn’t that what you say?

4 A.   That is -- that’s what I said, yes.

5 Q.   Okay.  

6   MR. SCHATZOW:  Your Honor, if I could have a

7 Court’s indulgence for a moment?

8 THE COURT:  You may.

9 (Brief pause.)

10   MR. SCHATZOW:  I’m sorry, Your Honor.  I’m

11 apparently looking at 6 when I should have been looking

12 at 9.

13 And I think, Your Honor, I’m ready to conclude

14 now, if I can.

15 THE COURT:  Okay. 

16   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

17 Q.   Officer Porter, this is State’s Exhibit 9.  I

18 want to show you what’s marked as State’s Exhibit 9 on

19 page that’s numbered P0677.

20 A.   Uh-huh.

21 Q.   There’s some typed information there, and then

22 there’s handwriting; do you see that?

23 A.   Yes.

24 Q.   Is that your handwriting?

25 A.   That is my handwriting, yes.
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1 Q.   And that’s something you wrote when you were in

2 the training academy; correct?

3 A.   That is something I wrote in the training

4 academy.

5 Q.   And what you wrote when you were in the

6 training academy was, “We do not transport injured

7 people.  We rendered aid -- we render aid per our

8 training, and contact the medic.  We cannot render aid

9 while driving.  There are civil liabilities.  We risk

10 bodily fluid exposure.”  

11 Is that what you wrote?

12 A.   That is an answer that I wrote that question,

13 yes.

14 Q.   And also, when you were in the academy, you

15 said that you only looked at the General Orders that were

16 referenced in the materials that you had; correct?

17 A.   That is what I said.

18 Q.   And, in fact, in State’s Exhibit 7, which is

19 the course materials for the vehicle procedure course you

20 took that was taught by Officer Bilheimer (phonetic) -- 

21 THE COURT:  Identify for the record.

22   MR. SCHATZOW:  Yeah.  I’m sorry, Your Honor. 

23 Exhibit 7, State’s Exhibit 7 in evidence.

24   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

25 Q.   On page marked 0013013, there’s a reference 
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1 to -- there’s an X next to reference documents.  And on

2 the next page, under the reference materials, there’s a

3 specific reference to K14; isn’t there?

4 A.   Yes.

5 Q.   Now, finally, you said that what was ingrained

6 in you as a police officer was to protect life; isn’t

7 that right?

8 A.   That is true.  That is ingrained in every

9 police officer.

10 Q.    But at Stop 4 and Stop 5 on April 12 , 2015,th

11 you did not protect Freddie Gray’s life; did you?

12 A.   Mister -- I’m sorry?  Repeat that question.

13 Q.   At Stops 4 and Stops 5 on April 12 , 2015, youth

14 did not protect Freddie Gray’s life; did you?

15 A.   Untrue.

16   MR. SCHATZOW:  That’s all I have, Your Honor.

17 THE COURT:  Ladies and gentlemen, we’ll take

18 our afternoon break.

19 Please do not discuss the testimony you've

20 heard, even among yourselves.  

21 Please leave your notepads on the chair.

22 We’ll take about 10-minute break.

23 All rise for the jury.

24  (Whereupon, the jury was excused from the

25 courtroom at 3:17 p.m.) 
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1 THE COURT:  Everyone may be seated.

2 Take a 10 minute recess.

3 Counsel, approach for one -- don’t -- don’t

4 worry about it.

5 Actually, I just need -- let’s do one of each. 

6 Let’s do one of each.

7 (Counsel approached the bench, and the

8 following ensued:) 

9 THE COURT:  Does he have any voice left?

10 MR. MURTHA:  He does.

11 THE COURT:  Okay.  All right.  Just checking to

12 see if he had a voice.

13 MR. MURTHA:  Yes, Your Honor.

14 THE COURT:  You don’t know how long he’s going

15 to be?

16 MR. MURTHA:  I don’t think it’s going to be

17 really long.  We’re sending for our next witness.

18 THE COURT:  Okay.  

19 MR. MURTHA:  Just to have him around.

20 THE COURT:  Good enough.  Okay. 

21 MR. MURTHA:  Thank you.

22 THE COURT:  Thank you.

23 (Counsel returned to the trial table, and the

24 following ensued:)  

25 (Whereupon, a brief recess was taken at 3:18
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1 p.m., and the matter resumed at 3:42 p.m.)

2 (At 3:42 p.m., a bench conference was held, but

3 remains untranscribed herein, and the testimony resumed

4 as follows at 3:46 p.m.)

5 THE COURT:  You may remind the witness.

6 THE CLERK:  Just reminding you you’re still

7 under oath.  

8 State your name for the record.

9 THE WITNESS:  William Porter.

10 THE COURT:  You may proceed with redirect.

11 REDIRECT EXAMINATION

12 BY MR. PROCTOR:

13 Q.   Officer Porter, let’s finish -- let’s start

14 where Mr. Schatzow finished.  His last question to you

15 was at Stops 4 and 5, you failed to protect Mr. Gray’s

16 life, and you said that was untrue.

17 A.   That is untrue.

18 Q.   Why is it untrue?

19 A.   It’s untrue because Freddie Gray wasn’t injured

20 at Stop 4 or 5.  It’s just that simple.

21 Q.   And if he had been, what would you have done?

22 A.   Had he been injured, I would have called for a

23 medic.

24 Q.   Now, right before that, Mr. Schatzow showed you

25 a State exhibit, I think it was 9; do you remember that,
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1 sir?

2 A.   Yes.  

3 Q.   And this answer you wrote?

4 A.   Yes.

5 Q.   Was that test an open book test?

6 A.   It was an open book test, yes.

7 Q.   So when you wrote, “We don’t transport injured

8 people,” where did you get that information from?

9 A.   Probably the EVOC manual.  I don’t recall.

10 Q.   You just copied it?

11 A.   Yes.

12 Q.   Right before that, he asked you about the

13 position at the Western District; do you remember those

14 questions?

15 A.   I do.

16 Q.   And on --

17 MR. PROCTOR:  Counsel, page 62.

18 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

19 Q.   And he pointed out you said Mr. Gray was in the

20 same position; do you see that?

21 A.   Yes, I see that.

22 THE COURT:  Well, what is the page and line, so

23 the State has --

24 MR. PROCTOR:  Page 62, line 8.

25 BY MR. PROCTOR: 
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1 Q.   Do you see that, sir?

2 A.   I do see that, yes.

3 Q.   What did you say right after that?

4 A.   “I pulled him back, kind of.  He went limp. 

5 Like completely limp.”

6 Q.   So if Mr. Schatzow had read on a little

7 further, you would have described how he was different;

8 right?

9 A.   Yes, sir.

10   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.

11 THE COURT:  Overruled.

12 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

13 Q.   Do you remember the questions about why didn’t

14 you use your radio to tell Goodson to go to the hospital?

15 A.   I do remember those questions.

16 Q.   What’s the answer?

17 A.   I can’t tell Goodson to do anything.  I’m not

18 Goodson’s supervisor.

19 Q.   And at those points, at Stop 4 and Stop 5, did

20 you see any emergent need?

21 A.   No.  I didn’t see any need for the medic for

22 Mr. Gray.

23 Q.   Did you tell the wagon to go anywhere that day?

24 A.   No.  I suggested for Officer Goodson to just go

25 to the hospital so he doesn’t waste time, you know. 
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1 We’re about efficiency.

2 Q.   Now, Mr. Schatzow talked about following the

3 wagon to the Western; do you remember those questions?

4 A.   I do.

5 Q.   What is your understanding -- when you were

6 told to follow what did you think it meant?

7 A.   Just to meet the Western -- I’m sorry, meet the

8 wagon at the station.

9 Q.   Does it mean to keep eyes on the wagon at all

10 times?

11 A.   No.

12   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection.

13 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Leading.  Strike the

14 question and the answer.

15 BY MR. PROCTOR:

16 Q.   What did you believe your obligation was with

17 regard to following the wagon?

18 A.   Well, up on North Avenue, I continued to talk

19 to the sergeant, and she was directing me to do things.

20 And then after I’d gone to the District, I was to follow

21 that wagon to -- to a hospital, Bon Secours,

22 specifically.

23 Q.   Okay. 

24   MR. SCHATZOW:  I move to strike as non-

25 responsive, Your Honor.
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1 THE COURT:  Overruled.

2 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

3 Q.   So when you were asked questions about coming

4 behind 91; do you remember those questions?

5 A.   I do, yes.

6  Q.   Describe your journey between Stop 5 and Stop

7 6.

8 A.   Well, when I say I’m going behind 91 is because

9 91 answered up right before me.  So I was right behind

10 him, and physically I was right behind where the wagon

11 was when I had answered that question.

12 Q.   Okay.  And who gets to North Avenue first?

13 A.   I get to North Avenue first.

14 Q.   And how did you get there before the wagon?

15 A.   I don’t remember the direct route that I took,

16 but -- I -- I drove faster than the wagon did to get

17 there.

18 Q.   Do you remember the question Mr. Schatzow asked

19 you about you didn’t say you were concerned about your

20 gun; do you remember those questions?

21 A.   Somewhat, yes.

22 Q.   Is there ever a time when you’re not concerned

23 about your gun?

24 A.   No.  Basically, any time I’m talking to any

25 citizen, any police officer, or anytime, there’s always a
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1 gun involved because I bring the gun there.  So I’m

2 always concerned about my gun on my hip.

3 Q.   Now, Mr. Schatzow showed you Exhibit 5; do you

4 remember that?  Let me show it to you.

5 A.   I do remember that, yes.

6 Q.   And what is it?

7 A.   It just says -- I don’t know.  It says the

8 below listed benefits of Interior General Orders and

9 Police Commissioner’s memorandums pertaining to sworn

10 police personnel of this agency has been -- have been

11 provided to,” and I wrote my name.

12 Q.   Okay.  What’s the date on that, sir?

13 A.   July 23, 2012.

14 Q.   What date did you start at the academy?

15 A.   I don’t remember specifically, but it was in --

16 it was either in late August or early September.

17 Q.   Of which year?

18 A.   Of 2012.

19 Q.   So you signed that document before you even

20 entered the academy?

21 A.   A few months before I entered the -- the

22 academy.

23 Q.   You said, when Mr. Schatzow asked you a

24 question about stop snitching, that you were offended by

25 that; do you remember?
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1 A.   Absolutely.  Absolutely was offended by that.

2 Some prosecution --

3 THE COURT:  No question.

4 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

5 Q.   Why were you offended by that?

6 A.   I was offended by that because the prosecution

7 works directly with police officers.  So why would he --

8 why would he ever say that the police officers lie? 

9 That’s a contradictory on himself.

10 Q.   Have you ever covered up for another police

11 officer?

12 A.   Absolutely not.  I would never do that.

13 Q.   You remember saying to Mr. Schatzow that you

14 were -- may I explain 10 codes?  Why don’t you explain

15 them now.  What’s a 10 code?

16 A.   A 10 code is just a short version -- we just --

17 just so -- for efficiency we use 10 codes to -- just so

18 we can communicate with others efficiently.

19 Q.   When did you first become aware that anyone was

20 saying that Mr. Gray’s neck was broken by Stop 4?

21 A.   I’m sorry?

22 Q.   You’re aware that Dr. Allan believes by Stop 4

23 that Mr. Gray’s neck was broken?

24 A.   Yes.

25 Q.   My question is when did you first become aware
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1 of that?

2 A.   During this court trial.

3 Q.   So when you were questioned back on April 17 ,th

4 were you aware that it was believed that Mr. Gray’s neck

5 would have been broken at Stop 4?

6 A.   No.  I -- we didn’t -- we didn’t know where his

7 neck had been broken.

8 Q.   So when you’re being asked questions by

9 Detective Teel and others, and Mr. Schatzow asked you --

10 do you remember the questions about is this the first

11 time you ever said he used his legs?

12 A.   Yes, I do remember those questions.

13 Q.   Were you aware that it might be significant at

14 that point whether he used his legs or not?

15 A.   I was not aware that that would have made any

16 significance.

17 Q.   Mr. Schatzow said you never said that you

18 helped him onto the bench; do you remember those

19 questions?

20 A.   I do remember that, yes.

21 Q.   Did you ever say you lifted and carried him?

22 A.   I never said that either.

23 Q.   Do you remember the questions about you told

24 Brandon Ross to go to the media?

25 A.   I do remember that, yes.
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1 Q.   What did Brandon Ross say to you to make you

2 say that?

3 A.   He just said he’s got it on tape.  He’s got it

4 on camera.  He recorded the entire thing.

5 Q.   So why did you tell him to go to the media?

6 A.   Because he had a -- he said he had a recording

7 of what happened there.

8 Q.   Remember Mr. Schatzow asked you if Lieutenant

9 Rice was as close from me to you, and he stood about here

10 in terms of those questions?

11 A.   I do remember, yes.

12 Q.   Mr. Schatzow have a bicycle helmet on when he

13 asked you that?

14 A.   He did not, no.

15 Q.   Did he have two similar people standing next to

16 you when he asked you that?

17 A.   He was standing alone.

18 Q.   At Stop 2, what was your primary focus on, sir?

19 A.   Just crowd control.  I could hear the crowd.  I

20 mean, from the video, you can hear Brandon Ross yelling

21 pretty loudly and saying obscenities.  And so my focus

22 was on the crowd more so than the detainee.

23 Q.   Why were you not concerned about the detainee?

24 A.   There were -- he was -- there were three

25 officers, and there was one detainee.
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1 Q.   When and how did you learn that it was

2 Lieutenant Rice lifting him in?

3 A.   I believe Detective Anderson told me on -- 

4 on -- in my -- during the interview.

5 Q.   When was the first time you learned -- wait a

6 second.  I’m showing you what’s been marked for

7 identification as State’s Exhibit 31.  Did you see that,

8 sir?

9 A.   Yes.

10 Q.   And you’ve seen that before; right?

11 A.   I have, yes.

12 Q.   And that report says that Mr. Gray -- well, the

13 State believes that report says that Mr. Gray told you he

14 couldn’t breathe at Stop 4; is that correct?

15 A.   That is correct.

16 Q.   When was the first time you learned that

17 Detective Teel attributed to you that the can’t breathe

18 was at Stop 4?

19 A.   During motion hearing.

20 Q.   So when you’re being asked questions on a April

21 15 , do you have any knowledge of what Detective Teelth

22 believed your conversation concerned a few days earlier?

23 A.   I’m sorry.  Can you re --

24   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.

25 THE COURT:  Overruled.
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1 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

2 Q.   When you’re talking to Detective Teel on video

3 --

4 A.   Mmm-hmm. 

5 Q.   -- do you know the contents of that report?

6 A.   No, I do not.  No.

7 Q.   Do you know that she wrote down that you said

8 Mr. Gray couldn’t breathe at Stop 4?

9 A.   No, I didn’t know that.  No.

10 Q.   Did you know there was any discrepancy to clear

11 up?

12 A.   No, I did not know there was any discrepancy to

13 clear up.  No.

14 Q.   And let’s talk a little bit more about that

15 report.  Where does Detective Teel say that conversation

16 occurred?

17 A.   It says Dolphin and Baker Street.

18 Q.   And again, do Dolphin and Baker Street ever

19 meet?

20 A.   They do not.

21 Q.   How does Detective Teel spell Mr. Gray’s last

22 name?

23 A.   From the report here in front of me it says 

24 G-r-e-y.

25 Q.   So she got the location wrong; right?
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1 A.   Yes.  That’s what’s on the paper, yes.

2 Q.   And she got Mr. Gray’s last name wrong?

3   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.

4 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Strike the question.

5 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

6 Q.   In the course of preparing this case, you’ve

7 met with Mr. Murtha and I; have you not?

8 A.   I have, yes.

9 Q.   And one of the things, State’s Exhibit 11, we

10 asked you to look at and discuss with us, Policy 1114;

11 isn’t it?

12 A.   Yes.  This is Policy 1114.

13 Q.   So when you talked about two hours at the

14 hospital; do you remember those questions?

15 A.   Yes, I do remember those questions.

16 Q.   Did you read that while preparing for

17 testifying?

18   MR. SCHATZOW:  Objection, Your Honor.

19 THE COURT:  Overruled.

20 THE WITNESS:  Yes, I did, yes.

21 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

22 Q.   On April 12  --th

23 THE COURT:  Actually, sustained, as to form.

24 MR. PROCTOR:  Okay. 

25 THE COURT:  I switch people around sometimes.
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1 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

2 Q.   Let me see if I can -- were you aware --

3 THE COURT:  Mr. Proctor, hold on one second.

4 MR. PROCTOR:  Sorry, Judge.

5 THE COURT:  Counsel, approach, while my

6 sheriffs do what they need to do.  I just need a moment

7 with Counsel.

8 (Counsel approached the bench, and the

9 following ensued:) 

10   MR. SCHATZOW:  Oh geez.  Don’t let it be the

11 blind man.  Please, Lord Jesus, don’t let it be the blind

12 man.  Don't let it be the blind man.

13 MR. MURTHA:  It is.

14 MS. BLEDSOE:  Who is it?

15   MR. SCHATZOW:  Please don’t let it be the blind

16 man.  Please, Father, don't let it be the blind man.

17 MS. BLEDSOE:  Who is it?  It is.  It is.  It

18 is.

19   MR. SCHATZOW:  Oh, geez.  Oh, geez.  Really? 

20 Seriously?

21 MS. BLEDSOE:  Yes.  It is.

22 THE COURT:  Well, pray that I did not scream. 

23 I didn't scream.  

24 MS. BLEDSOE:  Don't scream.

25 THE COURT:  I’m not.  I’m not.  I’m not.  I'm
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1 not.  But, really, of all people, seriously?  It had to

2 be the blind man.  This is like, oh Lord, help me.  Now I

3 look like the scrooge, the ogre, the wrong person.  

4 MS. BLEDSOE:  It’s okay.

5 THE COURT:  Did they walk him out?

6 MR. PROCTOR:  He's almost there, 10 steps from

7 the door.

8 THE COURT:  Don't look.  Don't look.  Don't

9 look.  Don't look.  Don't look.  

10 MS. BLEDSOE:  Are we all good?

11 THE COURT:  See.  Now I look all bad and

12 everything, oh, Jesus.

13 MS. BLEDSOE:  Take a deep breath.

14 THE COURT:  Go get out, and bring him back in.

15 And they’re going to stay up here with me.  They got --

16 if I've got to go through this, they've got to go

17 through.  Hook it up.  Thanks.

18 MR. PROCTOR:  Just put him next door.

19 THE COURT:  See?  See?  

20 MS. BLEDSOE:  Nice.

21 THE COURT:  See?  Right, right.  See?

22 THE COURT:  See.

23 MS. BLEDSOE:  That's really nice.

24 MR. PROCTOR:  Motion to reconsider.

25 THE COURT:  See?  I know.  Motion to
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1 reconsider; right.

2 MS. BLEDSOE:  Kicked him out of the courtroom. 

3 Keep the evidence away. 

4 THE COURT:  I know.  I know.  I know.  But,

5 notice, you've got to give me credit.  Because what I was

6 about to do is just scream and say, I told -- but I

7 didn't.  

8 MS. BLEDSOE:  I know.  That was good.  There

9 was something there.

10 THE COURT:  There was something.  There was

11 something that said just bring it down a little bit.  I

12 have you all as my shields.

13 MS. BLEDSOE:  That counting works.

14 THE COURT:  It does.

15 MS. BLEDSOE:  It does.

16 THE COURT:  It really does.

17 Are you almost done?

18 MR. PROCTOR:  I have about two questions left.

19 THE COURT:  Okay.  

20   MR. SCHATZOW:  I have about four.

21 THE COURT:  That’s fine.  

22 And then what do you have after?  Do you have a

23 witness in the hallway?

24 MR. MURTHA:  Yes, right outside.

25 THE COURT:  Okay.  
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1   MR. SCHATZOW:  Is Novak next?

2 MR. MURTHA:  Yes.  

3   MR. SCHATZOW:  It’s still Novak next.

4 THE COURT:  Is he back in yet?  Okay.

5 MS. BLEDSOE:  I’m not going to look.  So --

6 THE COURT:  No, you're not.  He's at the edge,

7 so that’s his job.

8 MS. BLEDSOE:  Right.  Nice.

9 THE COURT:  Well, thank you.  And you want to

10 make me feel any worse?  Okay.  So now that we're up here

11 and we're waiting for him, here's a quick story.

12 I'm young on the bench.  I don't really care

13 about people standing up or sitting down when I come out,

14 but my sheriff is a stickler.  No.  When you come out,

15 they have to stand up.  Blah, blah, blah.  

16 Okay.  So, fine, so finally I get used to it. 

17 I come out.  Everyone is standing.  Everyone except one

18 person.  Me, the man who doesn't care.  Sir, stand up.  I

19 see the sheriff going like this.

20 (Laughter.)

21 THE COURT:  And I'm, like, he is blind and

22 deaf.  Oh, Lord, now what else is going on.

23 MR. PROCTOR:  Someone else is talking out loud,

24 Judge.

25 MS. BLEDSOE:  Well, at least he wasn’t
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1 paralyzed.

2 MR. PROCTOR:  Judge, do you want to consider

3 sending the jury out.  Someone else is mouthing off.  I

4 can hear them over the husher.

5 THE COURT:  Yeah, it will be all right.  Well,

6 we've got one coming in.  We're taking one out, so it's a

7 one for one.  It's a one for one.

8 MR. MURTHA:  I'm less sympathetic to that guy

9 being escorted out.

10 THE COURT:  Right.  Oh, so you want to go

11 there?  You want to put the cane on me?  Okay, fine,

12 thanks.  Because I wanted to take a break now, but I want

13 to like --

14 MR. PROCTOR:  If he hits you with that cane,

15 Judge, we'll prosecute him.

16 THE COURT:  Well, I know him well, actually.  I

17 see him all the time.  (Inaudible at 4:02:45 p.m.)

18 resolve that issue.

19 THE COURT:  I guess he's sitting right here. 

20 Do I need to take a break?  Cause here's the thing.  They

21 don't know whose side that person is on, so it doesn't

22 matter. 

23 THE COURT:  Well, I know well, actually.  I see

24 him all the time.  That resolves that issue.

25 MR. MURTHA:  Maybe we should take a break
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1 because it looks like he’s --

2 MS. BLEDSOE:  Yeah, let’s take a break.

3 (Counsel returned to the trial table, and the

4 following ensued:)  

5 THE COURT:  Ladies and gentlemen, we’re going

6 to take a break.  

7 Put your notepads --

8 Go that way now.

9 THE CLERK:  All rise.

10  (Whereupon, the jury was excused from the

11 courtroom at 4:03 p.m.) 

12   MR. SCHATZOW:  We don’t need to --

13 THE COURT:  No.  I need you all for second.

14   MR. SCHATZOW:  Oh, you do?

15 THE COURT:  Yes.  Because there’s no reason for

16 you all to be involved in that.

17 Once he’s out, everyone remain in the courtroom

18 until the sheriff tells you can leave the courtroom for

19 the moment.

20 (Counsel approached the bench, and the

21 following ensued:) 

22 THE COURT:  (Inaudible at 4:04:12 p.m.) hadn't

23 caused the issue.  I would have had time for that.  Hang

24 on one second.

25 Darlene, go tell them that I’m not letting
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1 anyone out until the sheriff will let people out.  Tell

2 the sheriffs that I’m not letting anyone out until the

3 sheriff allows it.  Go tell them that.

4   MR. SCHATZOW:  Judge, this case has moved.

5 THE COURT:  Oh, no, it has.  No, no.  I'm just

6 saying --

7 I’m going to leave -- I'm leaving the white

8 noise on so don't leave.  Someone has to share my pain.

9 It may as well be you all.

10 (Laughter.)

11 THE COURT:  Well, because see, if the white

12 noise is on, then we're talking about something, and it

13 gives a reason for them to stay.  If I leave, then they

14 want to run out.  

15 MS. BLEDSOE:  I understand.  I understand.

16 THE COURT:  I think it was -- just so that you

17 know, I think he was saying something, I'm family, but

18 anyone, you know, that's North Carolina.  I got that. 

19 That's what I'm saying.  But I think that's what he was

20 saying.

21 MS. BLEDSOE:  Because I immediately identified

22 the family and --

23 THE COURT:  Right.

24 MS. BLEDSOE:  -- I was like it's not.

25 THE COURT:  Yeah.
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1 MS. BLEDSOE:  Okay?

2 THE COURT:  Yeah.  I understand.

3 MS. BLEDSOE:  I don’t know --

4 THE COURT:  All right.  So who’s next, just out

5 of curiosity?

6 MR. PROCTOR:  Another police officer.

7 THE COURT:  Another police officer.

8 MR. MURTHA:  I think -- I think in assessing

9 it, we probably are going to carry over to Friday.

10 THE COURT:  Okay.  That’s fine.

11 MR. PROCTOR:  We’ll be done Friday.  Definitely

12 Friday.

13 MR. MURTHA:  We’ll definitely be done Friday.

14 THE COURT:  Okay.  Then we can tell our jury

15 instructions on Friday.  I'm actually going over some of

16 them now.  Not now.  But I'd like to go over them now,

17 but I have to actually listen to you all, so.

18 (Brief pause.) 

19 THE COURT:  Okay.  So can they leave the

20 courtroom now?

21 THE SHERIFF:  Yes.  They can.

22 THE COURT:  Five minute recess, ladies and

23 gentlemen.  You may leave the courtroom if you so desire.

24 (Whereupon, a brief recess was taken at 4:06

25 p.m., and the matter resumed at 4:17 p.m.)
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1 THE COURT:  All right.  Thank you.  

2 Everyone may be seated.

3 You may remind the witness.

4 THE CLERK:  You may be seated.

5 Just reminding you you’re still under oath.

6 State your name for the record.

7 THE WITNESS:  William Porter.

8 THE COURT:  You may proceed.

9 DIRECT EXAMINATION (Continued)

10 BY MR. PROCTOR: 

11 Q.   Officer Porter, do you remember the questions

12 Mr. Schatzow asked you about working at the computer

13 company?

14 A.   Yes.

15 Q.   Back on April 12 , did you know whether or notth

16 you were able to check your BPD emails remotely?

17 A.   No, I did not know that.  No.

18 MR. PROCTOR:  That’s all I have.

19 THE COURT:  Recross based on redirect?

20   MR. SCHATZOW:  Yes, Your Honor.

21 Your Honor, based on the redirect, we would

22 offer into evidence Exhibit 31, which was read to the

23 jury -- was read from during his redirect examination.

24 THE COURT:  Any objection.

25 MR. PROCTOR:  Object.  Still object.
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1 MR. MURTHA:  Can I just see?

2 THE COURT:  Yes.

3 Objection sustained.

4 MR. MURTHA:  Thank you.

5 RECROSS-EXAMINATION  

6   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

7 Q.   You were furnished the flash drive before you

8 went to the academy?

9 A.   I’m sorry?

10 Q.   You were furnished the flash drive before you

11 went to the academy?

12 A.   No, sir.  No, sir.

13 Q.   Didn’t -- didn’t you just say that you had

14 signed the receipt for it two months before you entered

15 the academy?

16 A.   No.  I signed the receipt for various things,

17 including the General Orders.  But I hadn’t received that

18 until I was in the academy.

19 Q.   Are you saying you signed the receipt before

20 you got to the academy, but you got the materials when

21 you got to the academy; is that your testimony?

22 A.   That is what I’m saying, yes.

23 Q.   Okay.  When you were asked questions about

24 whether you were concerned about Mr. Gray at Baker and

25 Mount; you remember your lawyer asking those questions?
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1 A.   I don’t remember him asking me about Baker and

2 Mount specifically.

3 Q.   You don’t remember him asking you about why you

4 weren’t concerned because it having something to do with

5 other officers being present?

6 A.   Oh, yes.  Yes, I remember that.

7 Q.   Well, when you walked up to the back of the

8 wagon at Baker and Mount, and you saw Mr. Gray with his

9 hands cuffed behind his back and his legs shackled, being

10 put into the van, on the floor of the van, did you say to

11 any of the other officers there, isn’t there a better way

12 to transport him than like an animal on the ground?

13 MR. MURTHA:  Objection.

14 THE COURT:  Sustained.  Strike the question as

15 inappropriate.

16   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

17 Q.   When you were interviewed by Detectives Teel

18 and Anderson on April 17  of 2015, you were aware thatth

19 Mr. Gray had suffered a broken neck; weren’t you?

20 A.   I was aware, yes.

21 Q.   And then, finally, you were asked some

22 questions about whether -- what -- about what you had

23 told the officers on April 17  about whether Mr. Grayth

24 was in the same position at Stop 5 -- in Stop 6 as he was

25 in Stop 5.  And I think you were asked about the upper
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1 part of page 62.  I’m going to ask you about the bottom

2 of it.

3 You’re the one who opened the door on the side

4 that Mr. Gray was on at -- at the Western District;

5 right?

6 A.   That is true, yes.

7 Q.   Okay.  

8 MR. PROCTOR:  I would object.  

9   MR. SCHATZOW:  And --

10 THE COURT:  Overruled.

11   BY MR. SCHATZOW:  

12 Q.   Your lawyer pointed you to some language here

13 on page 62, at about line 12.  But at line 24, isn’t it a

14 fact that Detective Anderson said to you, “Okay.  But

15 when you opened the wagon, he was still in that same

16 position?” 

17 And your answer was, “Yeah.  He was still”;

18 right?  That’s what you told him.

19 A.   And that he -- he interjects me --

20 Q.   And then he said, “Did you call his name?”

21 And you say, “Yeah.”

22 But there’s nothing else here about the

23 position.  You said he was still in the same position;

24 correct?

25 A.   But he, as you read right here, it says he
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1 interjected me.  That’s what that says.

2 Q.   Yeah.  Did you say, "Yeah"?

3 A.   I said yes, but I was interjected.  Like you

4 just cut me off, he cut me off also.

5 (Laughter.) 

6 A.   That’s what happened, sir.

7 Q.   He -- he --

8 THE COURT:  Quiet, ladies and gentlemen.

9   MR. SCHATZOW:  Never mind, Your Honor.  That’s

10 all I have for Officer --

11 THE COURT:  Next witness.

12 MR. PROCTOR:  Very limited area, a couple

13 questions.

14 THE COURT:  Oh no.

15 MR. PROCTOR:  That's all I have.

16 THE COURT:  It works for both sides.

17 You may step down.

18 (End of Excerpt - Testimony of William Porter

19 concluded at 4:22 p.m.)

20

21

22  

23

24

25
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REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE

I, Patricia A. Trikeriotis, Chief Court

Reporter of the Circuit Court for Baltimore City, do

hereby certify that the proceedings in the matter of

State of Maryland vs. William Porter, Case Number

115141037, on December 9, 2015, before the Honorable

Barry G. Williams, Associate Judge, were duly recorded by

means of digital recording.

I further certify that the page numbers 1

through 178 constitute the official transcript of an

excerpt of the proceedings as transcribed by me or under

my direction from the digital recording to the within

typewritten matter in a complete and accurate manner.

In Witness Whereof, I have affixed my signature

this 4th day of January, 2016.

____________________________
Patricia A. Trikeriotis
Chief Court Reporter 
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